

Durham E-Theses

The works of Besa, from a MS in the British Museum (Or.8810): edited with translation and commentary

Kuhn, K. H.

How to cite:

Kuhn, K. H. (1952) The works of Besa, from a MS in the British Museum (Or.8810): edited with translation and commentary, Durham theses, Durham University. Available at Durham E-Theses Online: http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/10336/

Use policy

The full-text may be used and/or reproduced, and given to third parties in any format or medium, without prior permission or charge, for personal research or study, educational, or not-for-profit purposes provided that:

- a full bibliographic reference is made to the original source
- a link is made to the metadata record in Durham E-Theses
- the full-text is not changed in any way

The full-text must not be sold in any format or medium without the formal permission of the copyright holders.

Please consult the full Durham E-Theses policy for further details.

K.H. Kuhn. Abstract of Ph.D. thesis.

The Works of Besa, from a MS in the British Museum (Or.8810); edited with translation and commentary.

The portion of the Sahidic MS, BM Or.8810, containing Besa's writings is part of a parchment codex probably dating from the 8th century. The edition of it, together with a translation, forms the main part of the thesis. The MS contains epistles by Besa admonishing and exhorting his monks and nuns. Fragments of other writings by Besa are extant, most of which are unpublished. A study of them, and of BM Or.8810, has yielded material for an appraisal of the life and work of Besa and has thrown light on an important section of Coptic monasticism of the 5th century.

Besa was a monk under Shenoute who appointed him to be his successor as abbot of the White Monastery (about 451 A.D.). Throughout his life, Besa continued to be strongly influenced by Shenoute's example, and by the Bible, and by his respect for monastic tradition. His essentially mild and peace-loving character was moulded by his high sense of duty towards God and his charges, enabling him to carry out his task of governing the monastery.

From BM Or.8810 it can be seen how prominent a place

Biblical quotations and allusions occupy in Besa's writings. An investigation of their text provides material for the study of the Sahidic Bible. Besa's use of the Bible is always subordinated to the subject-matter of his epistles.

Besa's writings, though not theological treatises, give some idea of his religious beliefs. His preoccupation with ethical teaching causes him to emphasise God's Judgment and lays him open to the charge of having neglected the importance of Christ's redemptive work.

Of monastic life in Besa's day, his writings tell something of the ideal of fellowship, the vow, the renunciation of property, separation from the world, organisation, discipline, moral standards, work, the monks' charitable ministrations to laymen, religious exercises, and worship.

The Works of Besa,

from a MS in the British Museum (Or.8810);
edited with translation and commentary.

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author.

No quotation from it should be published without
his prior written consent and information derived
from it should be acknowledged.

Contents.

	rage
Abbreviations	1
Description of BM Or.8810	4
Other Besa Writings	17
Besa the Man	43
The Text of the Biblical Quotations in BM Or.8810	58
Besa's Use of the Bible	83
Besa's Christianity	103
Monastic Life in Besa's Day	121
Epilogue	149
Text and Translation	15r-90v
Index of Biblical Passages in BM Or.8810	i
Index of Greek Words in BM Or.8810	viii
Index of Proper Names in BM Or.8810	xxiv

Abbreviations.

- (This list does not include abbreviations which are self-explanatory.)
- Amélineau, Schenoudi.- E.Amélineau, Oeuvres de Schenoudi, Paris, 1907-1914.
- Budge, Mart. E.A. Wallis Budge, Coptic Martyrdoms etc. in the Dialect of Upper Egypt, London, 1914.
- Budge, Ps.- E.A. Wallis Budge, The Earliest Known Coptic Psalter, London, 1898.
- C41.- J.Leipoldt, Sinuthii Archimandritae Vita et Opera Omnia, Corpus Scriptorum Christianorum Orientalium, Scriptores Coptici, Series Secunda, Tomus II, Paris, 1906.
- C42.- Tomus IV, Paris, 1908. C73.- Tomus V, Paris, 1913.
- Cauwenbergh, Etude. P.van Cauwenbergh, Etude sur les moines d'Egypte depuis le Concile de Chalcédoine (451) jusqu'à l'invasion
- arabe (640), Paris, 1914.

 Ciasca.- A.Ciasca, Sacrorum Bibliorum fragmenta coptosahidica Musei Borgiani.... Rome. 1885-1904.
- Crum, BM. W.E.Crum, Catalogue of the Coptic Manuscripts in the British Museum, London, 1905.
- Crum, Dict .- W.E.Crum, A Coptic Dictionary, Oxford, 1939.
- Crum, Mon.- W.E.Crum, Catalogue Général des Antiquités Égyptiennes du Musée du Caire, Coptic Monuments, Cairo, 1902.
- Crum, Ryl.- W.E.Crum, Catalogue of the Coptic Manuscripts in the Collection of the John Rylands Library Manchester, Manchester, 1909.
- Heuser, Personennamen. G. Heuser, Die Personennamen der Kopten, Leipzig, 1929.
- Heussi, Ursprung. K. Heussi, Der Ursprung des Mönchtums, Tübingen, 1936.
- Holl, Enthusiasmus. K.Holl, Enthusiasmus und Bussgewalt beim griechischen Mönchtum, Leipzig. 1898.
- Leipzig, 1898.

 Horner, Sah.- (G.Horner) The Coptic Version of the New Testament in the Southern Dialect, Oxford, 1911-1924.
- Hyvernat, Check List. H. Hyvernat, A Check List of Coptic Manuscripts in the Pierpont Morgan Library, New York, 1919.

JEA .- The Journal of Egyptian Archeology, London.

JTS .- The Journal of Theological Studies, London.

Kittel, TWNT.- G.Kittel, Theologisches Wörterbuch zum Neuen Testament, Stuttgart, 1933 ff.

Ladeuze, Étude. - P.Ladeuze, Etude sur le cénobitisme Pakhômien pendant le IVe siècle et la première moitié du Ve, Louvein, 1889.

Lantschoot, Recueil. - A.van Lantschoot, Recueil des colophons des manuscrits chrétiens d'Égypte, Louvain, 1929.

Leipoldt, Schenute. - J.Leipoldt, Schenute von Atripe, Leipzig, 1903.

Migne, PG.- J.-P.Migne, Patrologiae Cursus Completus, Series Graeca. Paris, 1857 ff.

MMAF.- Mémoirs...de la mission archéologique française au Caire, Paris.

Mor. - H. Hyvernat, Bibliothecae Pierpont Morgan codices coptici photographice expressi...., Rome, 1922.

Mun.- H.Munier, Catalogue Général des Antiquités Egyptiennes du Musée du Caire, Manuscrits Coptes, Cairo, 1916.

Mus.- Le Muséon, Louvain.

Pleyte-Boeser. W.Pleyte and P.A.A.Boeser, Manuscrits coptes du Musée d'antiquités des Pays-Bas à Leide, Leide, 1897.

Plumley. - J.M. Plumley, An Introductory Coptic Grammar (Sahidic Dialect). London, 1948.

PSBA.- Proceedings of the Society of Biblical Archeology, London.

Spiegelberg. - W.Spiegelberg, Koptisches Handwörterbuch, Heidelberg, 1921.

Stegemann, Pal.- V.Stegemann, Koptische Paläographie, Heidelberg, 1936.

Steindorff.- G.Steindorff, Koptische Grammatik, Berlin, 1930.

Stern.- L.Stern, Koptische Grammatik, Leipzig, 1880. ThLZ.- Theologische Literaturzeitung. Leipzig.

Thompson, Acts.- H.Thompson, The Coptic Version of the Acts of the Apostles and the Pauline Epistles in the Sahidic Dialect, Cambridge, 1932.

Wessely, Studien .- C. Wessely, Studien zur Paläographie und Papyruskunde, Leipzig, 1901 ff.

Worrell, Prov. - W.H. Worrell, The Proverbs of Solomon in Sahidic Coptic, Chicago, 1931.

- Worrell, Texts.- W.H.Worrell, Coptic Texts in the University of Michigan Collection..., Ann Arbor, 1942.
- Zoega, Catal.- G.Zoega, Catalogus codicum copticorum manuscriptorum qui in Museo Borgiano Velitris adservantur, Rome, 1810.
- LXX.- H.B.Swete, The Old Testament in Greek, Cambridge, 1887 ff.

Note.

In all references to the O.T. I have throughout followed the numeration in LXX.

Description of BM Or.8810.

The MS is now in the possession of the British Museum, having formerly been part of the collection of Robert Curzon, Baron de la Zouche, when it was known as Curzon 109. In his "Catalogue of materials for writing, early writings on tablets and stones, rolled and other MSS, and oriental MS books in the library of the Hon. R.Curzon at Parham in the County of Sussex". (London, 1849), it is described on p.28 as follows: "Quarto, ninety leaves, containing part of the works of the Abbot Besa, who founded the monastery of Amba Bischoi on the Natron Lakes: he died in the early part of the fifth century, to which period the date of the MS may be referred; it is written in a bold hand in double columns". From within the cover of the present binding of the MS we may add Curzon's note that he acquired it in 1838. Curzon's description is not, however, altogether accurate. It seems almost certain that the MS originated in the scriptorium of the White Monastery of which Besa was abbot (cf. Cauwenbergh, Étude, p.5; PSBA 28. p.54; Crum, BM, p.xii). Moreover the MS is actually in three distinct parts:

1) fols.1-6 contain a fragment of Exodus in Sahidic (Ex.16.6-19.11). It is edited and described by Seymour de

Ricci in PSBA 28, p.54ff.

2) fols.7-14 contain a Shenoute fragment which is edited as follows: In C73, p.14-21, under No.49 De malis operibus sive de gladio prophetico. It is described as "F = codex Curzonianus 109, pars prior, pag. $\overline{\tau}$ OH = $\overline{\tau}$ $\overline{\tau}$ OH = $\overline{\tau}$ OH = $\overline{\tau}$ $\overline{\tau}$ OH = $\overline{\tau$

In C42, p.216-218, under No.46 De ecclesiarum sanctitate. It is described as "A = codex Curzonianus 109, pars prior, pag. $\overline{1710}$ - $\overline{148}$."

In C42, p.67-69, under No.21 De Aethiopum invasionibus II. It is described as "B = codex Curzonianus 109, pars prior, pag. $\overline{\tau_{q}}$ 8 et $\overline{\tau_{q}}$ "."

3) fols.15-90 contain writings of Besa. Hereafter I shall be concerned with this last part of BM Or.8810 only.

The MS is now in modern binding. The writings of Besa comprise nine complete and one incomplete gatherings. The gatherings consist of eight folios each, which have been made up in the usual way. Four sheets of fine parchment have been laid down alternately flesh side and hair side first. Thus when they are folded two flesh sides or two hair sides face each other and the first page of each gathering is a flesh side. The Besa fragment begins on the first page of the twenty-fourth gathering. Each gathering is numbered on its first and last page and the following

table gives these numbers with the first page number of each gathering.

Gathering No.	Page No.	Folio No.	
ΚΔ	TZE	15r.	
ΚĒ	TITA	23r.	
K5	T43	3lr.	
ĸ3	775	39 r.	
KH	YKO	47r.	
ΚΘ	THE	55r.	
入	4 <u>7</u> 2	63r.	
$\lambda \overline{a}$	703	71r.	
λs	741	79r.	

The last gathering which would have borne the number $\overline{\lambda r}$ is incomplete. Folios 1, 4, 5, and 8 are missing.

The MS is in an excellent state of preservation. Only a few pages are slightly torn and in some places the ink is faded. The last page is discoloured. Each leaf measures approximately 30cm x 24cm. The text is written in two columns each measuring about 22cm high by 7-8cm wide. The space between the two columns measures between 1.5cm and 2.5cm. The MS is ruled throughout. The ruling was done on the flesh side of each leaf in such a way as to dent the parchment thereby leaving a raised ridge on the hair side

which was sufficient to guide the scribe. Four vertical lines are ruled on each page to act as guide lines for the breadth of the columns. Nevertheless the lines of writing are by no means regular in length. The horizontal ruling allows normally for 29 lines. There are only 28 lines on the following pages: 45v, 46r, 58r, 87r, 87v, 88r, 88v, 89r, 89v, 90r, and 90v. On 46v, col.II, there is an extra line at the bottom (30 lines) written in smaller letters and now badly faded.

The MS is written in ink which now appears as dark brown. The scribe sometimes uses enlarged initials at the beginning of paragraphs. There are a number of paragraphmarks in the form of scroll ornaments of varying design. It is difficult to tell what their original colours were but red, black and various shades of brown can still be distinguished. Sometimes paragraphs are indicated by a line protruding into the lefthand margin immediately above the new paragraph. The significance of the rough cross (X) which occurs occasionally in the margins is unknown to me. It seems impossible to determine whether these crosses were made by the original scribe or added later. The only more elaborate ornament is on 47r where the downstroke of a † is lengthened to form a branch on which a

small bird perches. I endeavour to reproduce the ornaments in my copy of the MS.

The MS has page numbers in the usual way. There are, however, so many inaccuracies that it will be best to list the pagination in detail:

ΤΞΕ - ΤΙΕ; ΤΙΞ (for ΤΙΞ); ΤΙΞ - ΤΧΘ; ΤΙΙ - ΤΙΙΔ (for ΤΙΙ - ΤΙΙΔ); ΤΙΙΕ; ΤΙΙΕ (for ΤΙΙΞ); ΤΙΙΞ - ΤΙΙΘ; ΤΙΙΑ (for ΤΙΙ); ΤΙΙΑ - ΤΙΙΑ (for ΤΙΙΒ); ΤΙΙΒ (for ΤΙΓΙ); ΤΙΙΔ - Φ΄Ξ; [ΦΗ]; 1 fol. missing; ΦΊΑ - ΦΊΔ; 2 fols. missing; ΦΊΘ - ΦΚ΄Β.

In addition I have throughout followed the modern numbering of the folios as it now appears on the MS, i.e. fols.15r-90v numbered consecutively, disregarding the missing folios.

It may be of interest to attempt a reconstruction of the original codex of which BM Or.8810 (15r-90v) formed part. Other leaves of the same codex are extant (cf. p.19ff). The extant portions add up to 14½ gatherings out of an original codex of 33 gatherings, that is to say, less than half the codex has survived. On the following chart the position of the extant leaves in the codex is shown.

Gathering No.	۱ .	^	F	'oli		٠.	-	o l	1
1	777	2 777	_ ئ	4	_5_	6	_1_	8_	
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9	ľ ′ ′	, , ,							
3									
4 5	x		X	X	X	X			Zoega CCIV. Zoega CCIV.
6	^								2068a 0014.
7	5								
8				X	X				Zoega CCIV.
10	X	X	X			X	X	X	K.965.
11	}								
11 12 13 14									
13	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	X	Zoega CCIV.
15	X	X	X	x	X	X	X	X	C Booga Corr.
16	x	X	X	x	X	X	x	x	
17									
18 19 20 21 22									
20									
21									
22									
23 24 25 26	x	X	x	x	x	x	x	x	٦
25	x	X	X	X	x	X	X	x	
26	x	x	X	x	X	X	x	x	
27 28	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	x	
28	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	> BM Or.8810.
29	x	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	
29 30 31 32 33	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	11
3.5 2T	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	
)∠ 22	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	4
))	l	X	X			X	X	///	LI

Blank pages now lost are marked thus: ///

The two folios of Ryl.63 cannot be placed as the pagination is lost.

Script and Date.

The MS is written in a late square uncial hand. The characters are bold and heavy. The script is by the same hand throughout and has a fairly regular appearance. In Zoega, Catal., a fragment (No.CCIV) which is of the same MS as BM Or.8810 is assigned to class IV, No.XVI in the classification of scripts.

Another script is represented in the headings of which there are six examples in our MS. They are written in small rounded uncials with the exception of the last on 90v, which is written in the same script as the body of the MS. In this last case, sub-scription would be a more fitting nomenclature than heading for it is clear that this marks the end of the work. In four other cases it is not certain whether a heading or a sub-scription is intended, viz. on 19r, 22r, 31v, and 39r. On 77r, however, the context leaves no doubt that a heading is intended. The following list gives these phrases in detail:

- 19r. ATID BHCD
- 22r. TOY ATTOY
- 314. TOY DYTOY
- 39r. TOY AYTOY
- 77. BHCA MIEXAXICTOC ETBENENTAYAPNA ÑTEYZYMOLLONH EAYBUK EBOX ÑZHTN

90v. AMA BHCA

The script of the pagination is also of the rounded uncial type and is similar to that of the headings. In my copy I try to reproduce the small ornamental lines accompanying the pagination.

Punctuation and other signs are freely used. The supralinear stroke is used in the normal way though there are inconsistencies. Another sign employed is a circumflex accent over certain letters which seems to indicate the end of words and served perhaps as a reading aid. It seems to occur for the most part over vowels, e.g. $\hat{\lambda}$, \hat{H} , \hat{O} , û. The end of words is also indicated by a little hook at the top of the last letter of the word, thus e.g. N, n, T', 2'. The Greek particle H is always written with a thick dot over it, thus H . The ' with two dots over it may also be noticed in such forms as Mai, Mei, 040i, 29di, Xoic. The following punctuation marks may be distinguished: two dots (:) are sometimes used at the end of a paragraph: a single dot has the value sometimes of a full-stop and sometimes of a comma. It is placed at various levels of the line, e.g. $-\varepsilon$, $-\varepsilon$, $-\varepsilon$. Finally a comma-like sign must be mentioned. Its function is not always clear. It is possible that it sometimes marks the end of a word and

sometimes serves as a comma. It too occupies varying positions being sometimes in the middle of the line and sometimes at the bottom.

In order to complete a word or syllable at the end of a line the scribe uses various devices. The last letters are written one on top of the other, thus $n\beta - \tau \in , \in \mathbb{N}$, cook, south. At the end of a line the final N is indicated by a stroke, e.g. $\in \mathbb{N}$. All these signs I have endeavoured to reproduce in my copy. There are, however, variations occasionally in the size of the letters which I have not copied. It should be noticed that even when the scribe is obviously pressed for space, he never compresses the letters or in any way sacrifices their squareness.

The usual abbreviations for nomina sacra are used, e.g. IC, XC, IHA, OIAHU, CFOC.

The difficulties of dating a Coptic MS are well-known. The number of dated MSS which would make comparison possible is small. Nor can Greek palaeography be used as a safe guide, "weil die Kopten die Entwickelung der griechischen Schrift zur Minuskel nicht mitgemacht und nur die Unziale, ausgehend von der frühen Form, die sie übernommen, in eigener und sehr konservativer Weise ausgebildet

haben." (J.M.Heer, Neue griechisch-saidische Evangelien-fragmente, in Oriens Christianus, N.S., Band 2, Heft 1, Leipzig). There are great differences of opinion as to the probable date of BM Or.8810. In Crum, Ryl., No.63, which is of the same MS as BM Or.8810, is assigned to the 10th-11th centuries in the list of approximate dates of the MSS (p.241). On the other hand G.Garitte in his article, A propos des lettres de S.Antoine l'Ermite, Mus.LII, p.22, note 42, speaks of the MS as "du VIe siecle environ". It would ill become one who is not an expert in palaeography to pronounce a verdict as to the date of the MS. The following observations may, however, be offered.

The script most nearly akin to BM Or.8810 which I have been able to find is that of the Evangeliarium Graeco-Sahidice in Mor., vol.11 (M615, No.50 in Hyvernat, Check List). In Hyvernat, Check List, the author, adopting the classification of scripts from Zoega, Catal., considers that this MS belongs to class IV. He gives the date as 7th-8th centuries. J.M.Heer in the above mentioned article edits some leaves of the same MS. He there includes a very valuable discussion of the palaeographical data but does not arrive at an absolute date. Crum, cited by Heer, p.20, note 3, favoured a date in the 11th century. Not only is

the main hand of BM Or.8810 very like that of M615, but also the headings of the two MSS are written in the same rounded uncial hand. It may be of interest to note that the latter script also occurs in the set of dated Morgan MSS (9th century). There the body of the MS is written in this hand. Since the accents are also very alike, the general impression given by a comparison of BM Or.8810 and M615 is one of great similarity. Of the slight differences in detail the following may be mentioned: the vertical strokes of such letters as N, n, ρ , τ , have usually a square foot in BM Or.8810, while in M615 they are as a rule pointed. Thus —

и прт ипрт

Also the letters \triangle and λ generally have curved tops in BM Or.8810 but are straight in M615. Thus -

2 ? **2 3**

These letters with curved tops are in common use in the rounded uncial script of the 9th century, cf. the dated Morgan MSS. From Stegemann, Pal., it would appear that letters of this type do not occur earlier. Is it possible that BM Or.8810 marks a late stage in the transition from square to rounded uncials? If so, a date in the second half of the 8th century may perhaps be tentatively suggested.

Analysis of Contents.

BM Or.8810 comprises part of a collection of Besa's epistles.

- 1) fols.15r-19r. The beginning is missing. Addressed to Mary, mother of John, and Talou, mother of Macarius, reproving them for sinfulness and discontent.
- 2) fols.19r-22r. Addressed to nuns who cause disturbances.
- 3) fols.22r-24v. Addressed to Mary, sister of Matai, reproving her for pride and disobedience.
- 4) fols.24v-3lv. (Here I agree with Cauwenbergh, Étude, p.5, in thinking that a new epistle begins with the words: TIAHN TAW TAWOC. Crum, Ryl., p.27, thinks, however, that a single epistle runs from 22r to 3lv.) Addressed to members of a monastic community, reproving them for thefts and lies.
- 5) fols.31v-37r. Addressed to monks who steal from the sick.
- 6) fols.37r-39r. Addressed to nuns who are accused of sinfulness and theft.
- 7) fols.39r-44v. Addressed to monks who transgress the laws of God and the commandments of the fathers.
- 8) fols.44v-60v. Addressed to monks, containing exhortations.

- 9) fols.60v-66r. Addressed to Matthew who has renounced his monastic vows.
- 10) fols.66r-71r. Addressed to the nun Antinoe who is reproached for sins of the tongue.
- 11) fols.71r-77r. Addressed to the nun Herai exhorting her to remain constant.
- 12) fols.77r-78v. On monks who have renounced their constancy and left the monastery.
- 13) fols.78v-86v. The end is missing. (Crum, Ryl., p.28, appears to consider that 78v-90v all belong to one epistle. Cauwenbergh, Étude, p.5, thinks that this epistle extends to 88v.) Addressed to the nun Herai who broke the pledge of her constancy.
- 14) fols.87r-88v. Part of a letter containing protestations of the writer's innocence with regard to the treatment of one of his charges in the face of the accusations of evil men.
- 15) fols.89r-90v. Part of a letter. (Possibly it is part of No.14.) It contains more protestations of the writer's innocence and references to active hostility against him.

Other Besa Writings.

The compilation of a list of Besa's works is by no means an easy task. The fragments that have survived the ravages of time have been dispersed throughout the world and are now to be found in libraries and museums as far apart as Michigan, Vienna, and Cairo. Identification is made even more hazardous by the fact that many collections are far from adequately catalogued. Yet another obstacle to be overcome is the poor state of preservation of some of the fragments: they are torn, mutilated and discoloured. Sometimes only a single leaf or less remains and to assign it to any one author is highly precarious. Judgment based only on the writer's style is necessarily subjective. Even W.E.Crum, whose knowledge of Coptic literature is unrivalled. in his Dictionary seldom differentiates between the writings of Besa and those of Shenoute (cf. Crum, Dict., p.viii).

In spite of all these difficulties, the time is ripe for an attempt to draw up a new list of the works of Besa since the accounts of Ladeuze, Étude, p.154, of Leipoldt, Schenute, p.17, and of Cauwenbergh, Étude, p.3ff, are neither comprehensive nor detailed. Besides the help which I have had from these and other books, I owe a special

debt of gratitude to the Rev. Canon A.van Lantschoot for much valuable information. Nevertheless the list cannot claim to be complete. I shall not describe the MSS discussed below, as I have only seen photostats or edited texts, not the originals.

Besa's Life of Shenoute can be dealt with briefly.

Its Bohairic version has been edited both by E.Amélineau in MMAF, IV, p.1-91, and by J.Leipoldt in C41. The original Sahidic is lost except for a few fragments. Arabic and Syriac versions are also extant. The material is fully discussed in Leipoldt, Schenute, p.12ff, and also in C41, p.1ff. Two additional Sahidic fragments which have been brought to my notice may be mentioned, both now kept in the Oesterreichische Nationalbibliothek in Vienna.

K.9471. One folio, pagination $\lambda \epsilon$, $[\lambda 5]$. It contains part of a story about Apa Paul of MANHT who receives money from a man who is subsequently made a monk by Shenoute. There follows a story, which is incomplete, containing apparently the Sahidic version of the story edited in C41, p.14f (beginning with para 14).

K.9803. One folio, pagination od, oB. It contains a story of healings in a city. Shenoute's name is mentioned. Honours are lavished on someone, probably Shenoute. The MS

is badly torn and faded. In view of the many panegyrics upon Shenoute (cf. C41, p.1, and Leipoldt, Schenute, p.18f), it is difficult to say whether the two Vienna fragments go back to Besa or not. The parallel with the Bohairic "Life" makes the case stronger for K.9471.

It will now be convenient to consider the set of fragments which must have originally belonged to the same MS as BM Or.8810.

EM Or.8810. For a description and analysis see above p.4ff. For text parallels see under Zoega CCV, Paris 130⁵, fols.109-110, Munier 9292.

Zoega CCIV. MSS so numbered are catalogued in Zoega, Catal. This MS is now kept in the Biblioteca Nazionale at Naples. Pagination $\overline{\mu \theta} = \overline{N5}$, $\overline{3}\lambda = \overline{3}B$, $\overline{\rho i} \in -\overline{\rho i}H$, $\overline{Cr} = C\overline{NB}$.

Fragment $\overline{\mu}\theta$ - $\overline{N}5$. Addressed to members of a monastic community exhorting them to lead a good life in prayer, fasting and virginity and to beware of the devil. Sayings of "our father" (probably Shenoute) to this effect are recalled. Neither the beginning nor the end of the letter are extant.

Fragment 22 - 28. To members of a monastic community reminding them of what they have been taught and calling them to repentance. Neither the beginning nor the end of

the letter are extant.

Fragment $\rho = \rho + \rho + 1$. For a parallel text see Zoega CCV, $\tau = 12$, col.I, line 9 - $\tau = 12$, col.I, line 11. To monks. The end of one letter demanding repentance. On $\rho = 12$ a new letter begins. They are exhorted to remember the Lord. Sinfulness will not profit on the Day of Judgment. The letter is incomplete.

Fragment CT - CNB. For a parallel text to CB, col.II, line 20 - CIB, col.II, line 18, see Zoega CCVI, 730 - 70. Beginning missing, addressed to an erring monk who is upbraided for the theft of the loaves for the Eucharist and for absenting himself for the night along with a younger monk. Exhortations to all to avoid evil ways and warnings and threats to the disobedient follow. On CKB a new complete letter begins introduced by a prayer-like heading expressing trust in God in time of trouble. To the brethren. They are reminded of "our father's" exhortations and reproved for theft, intercourse with people outside the monastery and vanity. There follow regulations concerning work and concerning the sick in the infirmary. On CNA a complete letter to the nun Aphthonia begins. She is reproached for having disgraced her convent and broken many rules. On CN an incomplete letter begins addressed to the

nun Antince (cf. BM Or.8810, 66r). Besa is here explicitly mentioned as the writer. He reminds her of the vow of poverty and emphasises its importance.

Ryl.63. This MS is kept in the John Rylands Library, Manchester. For a description see Crum, Ryl. Part of two folios, pagination lost. To a nun reproving her for law-lessness and vice.

<u>K.965.</u> MSS so numbered are now kept in the Oester-reichische Nationalbibliothek, Vienna. K.965 is edited in Wessely, Studien, XVIII, p.135ff under its old number K.u.K. Fidei-Commiss.-Bibliothek 17.548. 309/6. Pagination $PKE - P\lambda$, $P\lambda E - P\lambda Z$, PKH for $P\lambda H$, $[P\lambda \Theta]$, PN for $P\lambda L$. The six folios are all part of the quire Θ . Part of a letter containing exhortations to the brethren to do good and eschew evil. Sins of the tongue and acts of violence are reproved with the support of a saying of "our father".

The rest of the MSS which appear to contain genuine

Besa writings may be grouped according to the places where
they are now kept.

The following four MSS are now in the Biblioteca Nazionale, Naples.

Zoega CCV. Pagination $TN\theta - TO$, $XQ\theta - QB$. A parallel text to $T\overline{2}B$, col.I, line $9 - T\overline{2}5$, col.I, line 11 may be

found in Zoega CCIV, $\rho \in -\rho H$. Also $xq\theta - \varphi B$ is paralleled in BM Or.8810, 50v, col.II, line 23 - 52v, col.II, line 17.

Fragment $TN\Theta$ -TO. Subject-matter additional to that discussed under Zoega CCIV, $\rho \in -\rho H$ comprises moral counsel and warnings against sin but the beginning of the letter is not supplied. At the end of the next letter further exhortations are added and promises of eternal bliss awaiting the virtuous. The end of the letter is missing.

Fragment X40 - 48. Exhortations to monks.

Zoega CCVI. Pagination γ¾θ - γο, ΦΝΓ - Φ¾Β, Φ¾€ - ΦΟ5, [ΦΠΔ] - ΦΥΔ.

Fragment $\sqrt{3}\theta$ - $\sqrt{0}$ is paralleled in Zoega CCIV, $\overline{C}\sqrt{3}$, col.II, line 20 - $\overline{C}\sqrt{\theta}$, col.II, line 18, q.v.

Fragment $\phi N\Gamma - \phi \xi B$. End of a section referring to suffering caused by a famine. A prayer to God to spare the monastic communities follows. On $\phi N\Gamma$ a new section begins with a heading containing a doxology. There follows an account of famine and disease in the 9th year, the 6th year after Shenoute's death, on the 12th day of the 7th month. The monks cared for the afflicted who took refuge with them. The end is missing.

Fragment $\overline{\phi_{1}^{2}}$ C - $\overline{\phi_{0}}$ 5. To the brethren. Both the beginning and the end are lost. Repentance is urged and respect for

the superiors. Warnings against thefts, lies, defilements and vanities.

Fragment $[\phi \cap \lambda] - \phi \psi \lambda$. To nuns. Beginning missing. Exhortations and warnings. A personal visit is threatened. In the meantime the bearers of the letter are empowered to make further investigations. On $\phi \psi \beta$ a new section begins with a heading expressing trust in God. Reference to the sinfulness of and grief caused by the false brethren. Exhortations follow. The end is missing.

Zoega CCVII. One folio without pagination. It commences with the following heading, "Catechesis of our holy father Apa Besa the archimandrite which he gave on the commemoration day of our lord the holy father, the prophet Apa Shenoute on the 7th of the month Epiphi in the peace of God. Amen". The blessing of God is invoked on those assembled. Shenoute's honour in life and death is extolled. The end is lost.

Zoega CCXXXVI. Two folios, pagination $\rho i \Gamma - \rho i \Delta$, the pagination of the second folio is lost. A parallel text to that of $\rho i \Gamma - \rho i \Delta$ is found in BM175, c K 5, col.I, line 8 - c K 3, col.II, line 24. The text of the second folio is paralleled in BM175, c K 3, col.I, line 3 - c K 7, col.II, line 19. For the edition and an analysis of the subject-

matter see under BM175 below.

The following two MSS are now in the British Museum, London.

BM175. The numbers are those given in Crum, BM. See there for a description of the MS. Pagination $CKA = C\overline{\lambda}\Delta$. For text parallels with Zoega CCXXXVI see above. Also, BM176 is parallel with BM175, CKH . col.II, line 17 - $CK\Theta$. col.II, line 31. The text is edited in Amélineau, Schenoudi, vol.II, p.268ff. The text begins with the words, "O foolish virgins" which is almost certainly not the beginning of the epistle. It seems to be addressed to nuns. They are reproved and told that they alone are responsible for their sins. In this connection the writer pleads his innocence and that of the fathers already dead. The writer refers to the first and second fathers, both dead, whose identification is difficult. Cauwenbergh, Étude, p.147, identifies them with Pgol, the founder of the White Monastery, and Shenoute. Pshoi is next mentioned. Again to suggest an identification seems precarious. Leipoldt, Schenute, p.37, and Amélineau, Schenoudi, see in him the founder and abbot of the Red Monastery of the same name. There follows a reference to Shenoute and Papnoute. From a further reference to them on $c\lambda d$ it seems probable

that they were entrusted with the task of supervising the nuns. Amélineau's identification of the former with the famous abbot is impossible if Besa be accepted as author. The writer goes on to say that for their sins the nuns can blame no one but themselves. Judgment will fall upon them alone. Because of their unworthiness, the Spirit cannot live in them. They are the abode of unclean spirits and demons. The writer states that he intended to write before, viz. three years before "our father's" death, but Satan prevented him. At the Last Judgment the writer will be judged by his fathers, his predecessors, and will himself judge his charges. On $\overline{c\lambda} 8$ a new letter also to nuns begins. The responsibility of the mother superior and her deputy is stressed as is also that of each nun. Troubles should be reported to the writer who will settle them either through the superiors or through envoys. The nuns are upbraided for being secretive. The end is missing. Following Leipoldt, Crum and van Cauwenbergh. I have assigned this text to Besa. It should be noted, however. that Amélineau edits it as Shenoute's and Zoega, Catal. also considers the parallel text (No.CCXXXVI) to be by Shenoute.

BM176. Part of a leaf, pagination lost. The text is

paralleled in BM175, q.v.

The following MS is now in the Rijksmuseum van Oudheden, Leyden.

Insinger 57. MSS so numbered are catalogued in Pleyte-Boeser. The text of this MS is edited in the above catalogue. Pagination $\overline{\tau q a} - \overline{\tau q b}$. A parallel text to $\overline{\tau q a}$, col.I, line $1 - \overline{\tau q b}$, col.II, line 5 is to be found in K.9224, $\lceil \overline{\rho \lambda \tau} \rceil$, col.I, line $24 - \overline{\rho \lambda b}$, col.II, last line (27). Addressed apparently to monks. They are exhorted not to lie nor to slander their fellows. They are reminded of the curse pronounced by "our father" on those who do so. The section on $\overline{\tau q b}$ which is not paralleled in K.9224 contains warnings of judgment and of the desert of the sinner. Both the beginning and the end are lost.

The next MS is now in the University of Michigan General Library, Ann Arbor, Michigan.

Michigan 158/22 (550/22). Pagination PG3 - PGH. To nuns. The writer threatens that it may become necessary for him to visit them in anger. It is not his task to visit them except in grave matters, but rather to teach them by means of letters. He accuses himself of weakness in his dealings with his nuns which displeased God while "our father" lived who has not been long dead. But God will

give him strength instead of weakness when the time requires it. Both the beginning and the end of the letter are lost.

The following MSS are kept in the Oesterreichische Nationalbibliothek, Vienna.

K.9224. One folio, edited in Wessely, Studien, IX, p.155. The recto has no pagination, the verso is paged $\rho \lambda \lambda$. $\lceil \rho \lambda \tau \rceil$, col.I, line 24 - $\rho \lambda \lambda$, col.II, last line (27) is paralleled in Insinger 57, $\tau \Psi \lambda$, col.I, line 1 - $\tau \Psi \lambda$, col.II, line 5. For an analysis of subject-matter see under Insinger 57 above. K.9224 has in addition a number of quotations from Proverbs before the parallel text starts. The beginning and end are lost.

K.9323. Pagination TAQ - TAB. I have published the text in Mus.LXIV, p.26lff. Only the top half of the leaf is preserved. TAQ, col.II, line 1 to the end of the fragment is parallel to Paris 130⁵, 127r, col.I, line 3 - 127v, col.II, line 4. As the Vienna fragment is very badly mutilated the subject-matter will be dealt with under Paris 130⁵, fol.127. All of interest that can be read in the first column of TAQ, which has no parallel, is a reference to "the godloving presbyter archimandrite."

The following MSS are now in the Bibliothèque Nationale, Paris.

Paris 130', fols.8-21. Pagination $\forall \kappa[3] = \forall \lambda H$, the pagination of 14r-16v is lacking. 17r-19v are very badly mutilated and also without pagination. Then follow $\forall \lambda \in \neg \forall \lambda \in \neg$

Fols.8-16. To members of a monastic community. Exhortations and threats of punishment in the monastery and warnings of the Day of Judgment supported by a reference to "our father's" words. Rules about fasting and work. No gifts from people outside the monastery may be accepted, nor may the neighbouring town or village be visited without permission from the superior.

Fols.17-19. More rules concerning the strict separation of those within the monastery from those without. Reproaches and exhortations.

Fols.20-21. Exhortations to obedience and promises of rewards for the good.

Paris 130^5 , fol.42. Pagination lost. It is the first folio of a quire (\ddot{q} ?). To members of a monastic community. It contains threats of punishment for jealousy, fighting, hatred etc. Possibly there is a reference to one sinner in

particular. Exhortations and denunciations with a reminder of "our father" and "our fathers". Neither the beginning nor the end are extant.

Paris 130⁵, fols.109-110. The two folios are badly mutilated and the pagination is lost. The text is paralleled in BM Or.8810, 43r, col.II, line 11 - 45r, col.I, line 15. For subject-matter see Analysis of Contents of BM Or.8810, p.15.

Paris 130⁵, fol.127. Pagination lost, last folio of quire κθ. I have published the text in Mus.LXIV, p.26lff. The text of 127r, col.I, line 3 - 127v, col.II, line 4 is paralleled in K.9323, τωφ, col.II, line 1 to the end of the fragment. End of a letter with references to the preaching of the word of God. A new letter begins on 127r with the heading, "A letter of our godloving father Apa Besa to the people living in the villages (ἐποίκιον) when they began to fight one another, urging them not to war with each other". Besa writes to the presbyters, deacons, administrators (προνοητής), headmen (κεφαλαιω-τής) and all the people. He disapproves of their quarrel over a "piece of wood" as unworthy of Christians. The end of the letter is missing.

The next MS is now in Cairo.

Munier 9292. MSS so numbered are catalogued in Mun. One folio, pagination lost. The text is edited in the above catalogue. It is parallel with BM 0r.8810, 84v, col.I, line 6 - 85v, col.I, line 5. For subject-matter see Analysis of Contents of BM 0r.8810, p.16.

The MSS so far listed may be ascribed with some measure of certainty to Besa. It will now be necessary to turn to a number of MSS the authorship of which is rather more doubtful though they have been connected with the name of Besa by various scholars at one time or another.

The following MS is kept in the Bodleian Library, Oxford.

Clarendon Press b.4, fragment 22. Pagination TNE - TNH.

To monks. The writer inveighs against the following funerary customs, the building of tombs (not as Cauwenbergh, Étude, p.150, says, "une hutte de paille". He misread NETNA TOALA SPAI NEHTN NOYOEIW NILL EPEWB NTEISE EKETOMA ENERCOMA AS NETNATO... 2 SPAI NEHTN NOYOEIW NILL EPEWB NTOS EKET OYLA —), and the appointing of a day of commemoration for themselves. Moreover they must not use force against pagans and idolaters in order to bring them into the monasteries.

It is true that the prophets used force but this, though

good in its time, is superseded by our Lord's teaching. Some monastic rules are referred to, viz. not to buy or to sell without permission, not to use the ferry without payment, not to go out making the necessity of the sick an excuse. All these things the writer commanded apart from that which was laid down by "our holy fathers" previously. Only he is entitled to make rules in the communities. The beginning of the letter is not extant. The scribe clearly assigns the text to Shenoute for he writes as the heading of the next section ONGIOC CIMONGION (TNH) for which Shenoute's authorship is not doubted. Leipoldt, Schenute, p.41, followed by Cauwenbergh, Etude, p.4, attributes Clarendon Press b.4, fragment 22 to Besa chiefly on account of the information contained in the following reference, "After this long time since our first holy father died and our second holy father died too and after the sixty years after my insignificant self entered this way of life and donned the habit"(TN3). Leipoldt identifies the two fathers as Pgol and Shenoute respectively. The precariousness of such an identification has already been pointed out above (cf. p.24). Moreover Crum's note in his review of Mun., under No.9270, in JEA IV, p.69 may be mentioned. Munier 9270 also contains a reference to

two fathers already dead but Crum confidently attributes it to Shenoute. Another argument adduced by Leipoldt in favour of Besa as author is that the use of force against pagans is deprecated, while it is known that Shenoute himself used force. But this may well prove to be of doubtful value. Besa's loyalty to Shenoute was such (cf. p.47f) that it seems unlikely that he would have explicitly forbidden the following of his predecessor's example and precept, although he might have let it lapse. For these reasons, not to mention the style which does not seem in any way characteristic of Besa, I am disinclined to accept Besa authorship for this MS.

Munier 9255. Three folios without pagination. It is edited in Mun. To a nun. The beginning is missing. Exhortations to be submissive. Work is an essential duty in order that food may be earned. She is upbraided for iniquity and boasting and encouraged to be virtuous. It closes with a colophon which led Munier to attribute the text to St.Antony. But, as Lantschoot, Recueil, p.148, states, an Antony is the donor. Crum in JEA IV, p.68 also describes Antony as the donor and gives Shenoute or Besa as author. The Rev. Canon A.van Lantschoot (in a letter to me) does not however consider Besa to be the author. Both subject-matter and style seem to give little indication of

the author's identity.

Munier 9262, fol.3. No pagination. It is edited in Mun. To village-headmen, upbraiding the villagers for quarrelling and fighting and exhorting them to keep the peace. Munier attributes the whole MS (4 fols.) to Shenoute. But Crum in JEA IV, p.69 attributes fol.3 to Besa on the grounds that, "its opening words are from the initial words of his 'Epistle unto the people that dwell in the villages (¿TTOCKCOV), at the time when they began to contend together, (wherein) he admonisheth them not to fight with one another (Paris 1305, 128)". Crum clearly refers to Paris 1305, fol.127 (cf. p.29). A comparison between the Paris leaf and the edited text of Munier 9262 shows that only very few words are actually identical and the similarity of subject-matter does not seem to warrant the acceptance of Besa as the author.

K.923. One folio, pagination $C_1^23 - C_2^3H$, the latter being marked as the last page of the quire IH. To a nun accused of favouritism. Both favourer and favoured shall be made miserable at the Judgment. The favouritism referred to seems to be over food. It results in unhappiness for the slighted and arises from fleshly desire and lack of true love. Or else it results in vain joy for the favourite. Repentance is urged. Crum suggested that this fragment

might possibly originate with Besa (cf. Crum, Dict., p.496b). In spite of the smallness of the fragment both subject-matter (cf. perhaps BM Or.8810, 56v) and style certainly suggest that it might well be by Besa.

K.9027-9029 and K.9100. These are all fragments of the same MS. According to the pagination their order should be as follows: K.9100, K.9028, K.9029, K.9027, viz. $CK\Theta - C\lambda$, C[U] CNB. Probably to monks. The writer says that they are blessed who, though sinners first, repent and reform at the end while woes are pronounced on those who lapse from virtue and remain unrepentant. Many who wear the monk's habit though thinking they live are dead. They think that their abode is "heavenly Jerusalem" but it is really Amente. This even applies to those at the altar and those connected with the body and the blood of the Lord (probably those celebrating the Eucharist). The writer inveighs against man-hating which he addresses in the vocative. He extols virginity but says that it cannot be perfect without love for God and man. Repentance is commended and rewards are promised for the good. The sinners are warned of God's wrath. Professor W.Till kindly drew my attention to notes which he had collected made by former users (especially W.E.Crum and L.Th.Lefort) of the Vienna MSS. K.9100, K.9028, K.9029 and K.9027 were marked

as possibly by Besa. Though the subject-matter does not preclude his authorship, the style, I think, is very different from that usually employed by Besa. It is highly rhetorical and antithetical. Moreover the rhetorical device of personifying a vice, viz. man-hating on CNH-CNO, does not occur elsewhere in Besa's writings as far as I know.

K.9099. Pagination CTT - CTA. Probably to a monk or monks. Both the beginning and end are missing. The writer demands full obedience. He wishes to be informed of everything that is done. The stewards (NETOKONOME)) are to ask permission for all they do and those who are to be in authority have still to be tested. In the past nothing was ever done without the writer's knowledge and consent. He received weekly reports and no selling or buying was done without authorisation. My attention was drawn to this fragment by the Rev. Canon A.van Lantschoot who suggested that it might merit examination in connection with Besa's writings. The subject-matter is such as might well have been dealt with by Besa. But the language is insufficiently characteristic to enable one to affirm that Besa is the author.

Zoega CCXXXVIII. Two folios. Pagination lost. Part of a letter to a nun. She has betrayed her trust, causing

others to fall, and deceived the writer with sweet words. The writer assures her that he does not hate her and exhorts her to cease from hypocrisy and to report honestly to him. He is hated by God because he forbore with her. He states that it is wrong to pamper men whom Jesus entrusted to those in charge. Such a course will lead to grief and disturbance in the community. Epistles written previously by someone else are referred to together with former messages from the writer. The nun is upbraided for having conversed alone with the elder who holds a position of trust at the gate of the convent. Such an indiscretion was expressly forbidden in the epistles referred to above and by the writer himself. Amélineau assigns this fragment to Shenoute (cf. the edition in Amélineau, Schenoudi, vol.II, p.324ff). Zoega leaves the question of authorship open. There are, I think, several indications that it may have been written by Besa. The references to epistles, apparently carrying great authority, by someone other than the writer may perhaps refer to rules contained in epistles of Shenoute. (For a similar rule of Shenoute on monastic seclusion see Leipoldt, Schenute, p.145f. The Coptic text referred to may be found in C73, p.107, line 22ff.) The writer's self-accusation of having forborne with a sinner

is similarly expressed in Michigan 158/22 (cf. p.26), and his concern for severity in enforcing discipline is also in line with Besa's attitude. Moreover the style and the general trend of subject-matter support the attributing of the fragment to Besa. There is of course no conclusive evidence for the author's identity but it remains, I think, possible that it originated with Besa.

Insinger 89. Pagination $\phi N\theta - \phi_2^2$. The fragment is edited in Pleyte-Boeser. It contains the end of one epistle and part of another. Only a few lines remain of the first letter asking who will weep for him on whom these infirmities were brought. The letter closes with the exclamation 22 32, a rare interjection which also occurs in BM213, see below. The next letter (headed EMICTONH) is addressed to a nun and obviously written by an abbot or monastic superior. The following summary of the subjectmatter is based on the reconstruction of the text in O.von Lemm, Koptische Miscellen, I-C, Leipzig, 1914, (Misc.XXVI). O.von Lemm ends his discussion with the words. "Sollte nicht vielleicht in diesen spärlichen Überresten ein Brief des Schenute oder eines seiner Nachfolger stecken?" The nun is called blind and full of fleshly passions. She had apparently asked to be transferred from

"mother" Maria to the house of Theodora. The prudence of her request is questioned. This fragment was brought to my notice by the Rev. Canon A.van Lantschoot who thought it worth including in a study of Besa's works. Crum, Dict., p.536b, refers to the fragment as Sh(?) i.e. possibly by Shenoute or Besa. The mutilated state of the fragment makes it difficult to place. It may be noted that the name Theodora does not occur in Besa's writings elsewhere. The fragment bears no distinctive characteristics which would indicate Besa as author.

Cairo 8008. MSS so numbered are catalogued in Crum,

Mon. Pagination $\overline{\Gamma} - \overline{\lambda}$. The text is edited in C42, p.195ff.

To a monastic congregation. It contains warnings of God's wrath towards sinners at considerable length. Punishments for the wicked and rewards for the good are foretold.

There is a reference to "our first father who died commanding us not to sin". Crum, Mon., p.4, attributes the text to Shenoute or Besa. Leipoldt edits it as Shenoute's. I have little doubt that the text is not by Besa. Though its subject-matter is in line with much that he has written, the style is far more vivid and rhetorical than is Besa's wont. Another alien feature is the long and detailed exegesis of one Biblical quotation, viz. Jer.6.11.

If, as seems likely, Shenoute was the author, the "first

father" is probably Pgol. In addition to this it may be noticed that Mun. says that No.9265 is of the same MS as Cairo 8008. Munier 9265 he attributes to Shenoute. Both may well have originally formed part of one work.

Zoega CCXXXII. Pagination CUT - T, TF - TA, TO -TIS, TKA - TKH . It is edited in C73, p.114ff. Various monastic rules. Zoega, Catal., ascribes this text to Besa and is followed by Ladeuze, Etude, p.154. Leipoldt, Schenute, p.6, on the other hand attributes it to Shenoute (cf. also his edition in C73). I have no doubt that this text is not by Besa. The character of its contents is legalistic and the writer seems to be trying to draw up a detailed set of laws. This is in contrast to the compositions of Besa which usually deal with a specific situation. In a later section of the text the writer employs highly rhetorical language and his involved exegesis of Biblical passages is unlike Besa's customary style. The reference to a sojourn in the desert at the beginning of the fragment would also seem to suggest that Shenoute and not Besa is the author (cf. Leipoldt, Schenute, p.36f).

Finally a group of fragments must be examined which are all of the same MS: BM213, Ryl.71, Insinger 68, Cairo 8009. The Rev. Canon A.van Lantschoot thinks it pos-

sible that Paris 130⁵, fol.42 (cf. p.28f) also belongs to the same MS. As far as can be seen from a study of photostats of these fragments it seems extremely probable that this is the case. Needless to say, fragments of one MS are not necessarily by the same author. The authorship of each fragment must therefore be considered separately.

BM213. Pagination A3 - AH (for AH). Part of the last folio of quire \(\tau \). On prayer, quoting Mt.6.5-(6). The validity of this dominical saying is stressed because he who pronounced it is creator and judge. On AH there is the heading KANWH IWANNHN in the top margin of the page.

There follows teaching on fasting (Mt.6.17-18). The writer regrets (note the interjection W2 W2 &2 &2 , cf. p.37) that man did not know his (God's) glory. Servants who receive from their masters' substance owe obedience. The beginning and end are lost. Authorship: Crum, BM, says that the fragment is perhaps by Shenoute. In Crum, Dict., p.536b, he quotes it as "Sh(Besa?)". The heading on AH does not seem to support Besa authorship. The text itself is too short and too fragmentary for conclusions to be drawn.

Ryl.71. Pagination [Qd] - [QB], Qr - Qd. To members of a monastic community. On the blessings for the good and the punishments for the sinners. There are references to say-

ings of "our holy father". One of these has been shown to be by Shenoute, while another is probably by a John (cf. Crum, Ryl. under No.71). The beginning and end are lost. Authorship: According to Crum, Ryl. the fragment is by a successor or disciple of Shenoute, possibly by John. The subject-matter could lead one to think that Besa is the author except that, in denouncing the sinners, the writer puts them into the same category as the heretics and all who divide the Catholic Church. Elsewhere the conceptions both of heretical factions within the Church and of her Catholicity do not, as far as I know, come within Besa's orbit.

Insinger 68. One folio without pagination. It is edited in Pleyte-Boeser. Apparently to a monastic community. The fragment opens with a list of virtues by which the gate of righteousness is opened so that Christ's reward may be received. Warnings of judgment for sinners follow. Christ will judge. The fragment closes with a phrase which seems to imply that "my holy father" will be associated with the giving of judgment. Authorship: My attention was drawn to a marginal note in Crum's copy of Pleyte-Boeser where he says that this fragment may perhaps be by Besa. Certainly the subject-matter and style suggest that Besa might well be the author.

Cairo 8009. (now Coptic Museum No.3742). One leaf without pagination. The folio begins with a difficult heading: (which I read and which is perhaps more likely than that in Crum, Mon. under No.8009, H)KE TOY OT KAI TOY ATIOY MATPOC HUWN AMA CINOYDIOY B It is discussed in Crum, BM, under No.213. Perhaps the following tentative translation may be suggested, "Of John, both (the man) of God and also (the man) of our holy father Apa Shenoute, 2". The fragment contains part of a discourse on the coming of Christ and exhortations to the brethren to cleave to the flock of the true shepherd Jesus. Authorship: If the above translation of the heading be correct the fragment is by a certain John (cf. above under BM213 and Ry1.71) connected in some way with Shenoute. But Crum's suggestion must be noticed that perhaps both BM213 and Cairo 8009 are "parts of a commentary on St. John" (cf. Crum, BM, under No.213). Explicit references to the Fourth Gospel, however, only occur in the Cairo fragment. Though it seemed necessary to examine this fragment as it forms part of the same MS as those preceding, I have little doubt that the text is not by Besa. Not only the difficult heading but also the subject-matter, which is more technically theological than is customary with Besa, militates against the acceptance of Besa as author.

Besa the Man.

To write a biography of Besa is unfortunately impossible. No Life of Besa, even if such a thing was ever written by one of his monks, has come down to us. The little that can be said has to be culled from his own writings which do, to some extent, portray the man, and from the few references to him which have survived in Coptic literature.

The name Besa seems to be connected with the Egyptian god Bes, the ending -a being an abbreviation of the Greek ending -ac (cf. Heuser, Personennamen, p.44). The relationship between the name and ancient Egyptian mythology must not lead us to infer that Besa's parentage or background were non-Christian. In fact nothing can be deduced from it. Christians in Egypt had no scruples over adopting names associated with the names of pagan divinities because the ancient mythologies had to a large extent lost their power and attraction (cf. Leipoldt, Schenute, p.28ff).

Very few chronological data of Besa's life are known. Both the date of his birth and that of his death are un-known. From a fragment of a leaf now in the British Museum (BM359) it would appear that an Apa Besa had an interview with the emperor Zeno who came to the throne in 474 A.D. (cf. Crum, BM, under No.359). Dr. P.Kahle kindly informed

me that a fragment of the same leaf is in the Bodleian Library, Oxford (MS Copt. g-3-18). But even when pieced together nothing new of interest emerges. If Crum's reading and identification of the two names be correct, it can be concluded that Besa, Shenoute's successor, lived until after 474 A.D.

From a date given by Besa himself and contained in Zoega CCVI, $\phi_{N\Delta}$, the date of Shenoute's death, and consequently that of Besa's succession as abbot of the White Monastery, can be calculated. The reference is to a famine in the 9th year, the 6th year after Shenoute's death, on the 12th day of the 7th month. The 9th year is reckoned from one of the indiction years. These were the years of the tax assessment which was carried out every 15 years from the time of Diocletian (297 A.D.). According to Leipoldt's detailed discussion (cf. Leipoldt, Schenute, p.44ff), the year of Shenoute's death is 451 A.D. by which time Besa, no doubt, had become abbot of the White Monastery. The date of the famine (457 A.D.) provides a more certain terminus a quo for Besa's death than that based on Crum's conjecture discussed above.

For those who, like Leipoldt and van Cauwenbergh, accept Besa as the author of Clarendon Press b.4. frag-

ment 22 there is another date to be considered. On TN3 it is made clear that the writer has been a monk for at least 60 years (but cf. p.3lf). The additional fact that Besa was probably succeeded by Zenobios, a secretary of Shenoute's (cf. JTS, V, p.132), does not enable either the length of Besa's life or his tenure of office to be defined any more closely.

What other external facts of significance are recorded concerning Besa's life? On 89r-89v Besa seems to refer to a plot against his life. He asks his readers to pray for him, "that we", he says, "may recover from the infirmity". Cauwenbergh, Étude, p.151, note 4, comments, "La maladie de Bésa.....est peut-être la conséquence d'une tentative criminelle". I feel, however, that the reference is not to a physical illness but rather to human frailty in the sight of God, an interpretation which seems to be supported by Besa's quotation of Jer.18.23 in the same context. Apart from this, no other notable incident in Besa's life is known.

That Besa spent some considerable time as a monk under Shenoute seems clear from a reference in his Life of Shenoute (cf. C41, p.7). Moreover a reference in BM175, CKZ suggests that Besa, already in Shenoute's life-time, had

attained to a position of trust and responsibility. He tells his readers that he had intended to write previously, that is to say three years before the death of "our father". It is clear from the context that the proposed letter was to have contained exhortations and pastoral advice.

The panegyric on Macarius of Tkoou (MMAF, IV, p.110) states that Shenoute in his old age nominated Besa to be at the head of the brethren in his stead.

Like his predecessor Shenoute, Besa too had the title archimandrite. This is attested by the heading of the catechesis contained in Zoega CCVII and also by a panegyric on Besa in Paris 131, fol.37. And like him Besa also had a secretary (cf. BM175, CK5) who helped to lighten the heavy burden of his work. The Paris fragment is also interesting in that it throws light on the esteem in which Besa's memory was held after his death. Unfortunately it is impossible to date the composition of this panegyric. It would appear probable that this Paris leaf is only a 9th century copy of it. At the beginning of the fragment there is a section in praise of the Virgin Mary. The writer declares that his tongue cannot adequately praise the holy Virgin, "rather", he continues, "I will

memory of Apa Besa, the archimendrite, has come into my heart...". The eulogy extolling Besa's righteousness occupies the remainder of the leaf. An indirect testimony to Besa's reputation in monastic circles of later ages is the preservation of his writings and their continued copying.

In order to appreciate Besa's character and work more fully, it is necessary to examine the various influences which were at work in his life. Again the main source of information is Besa's own writings. There, no doubt, the Bible is the element most readily discernible. In fact the Bible holds so prominent a place in the writings of Besa that his use of it has been made the subject of a special study (cf. p.83ff). But his writings also reveal a high regard for monastic and ecclesiastical tradition. Most pronounced, of course, is Besa's dependence on his master and predecessor Shenoute. His great regard for Shenoute is expressed at length in his Life of Shenoute which, in spite of its conventional form, gives a clear picture of Besa's admiration for his master. His grief on the latter's death is described in the Life (cf. C41, p.74 and 76). Besa's style of writing makes it impossible to say whether he is conscious not only of the loss of a great teacher and abbot but also of a personal friend.

Among his other writings, part of a sermon preached on the commemoration day of Shenoute is preserved (Zoega CCVII). Again Besa extols Shenoute's honour in life and death in conventional phraseology. In his writings to his monks and nuns his frequent references to "our father", which in the majority of cases almost certainly refer to Shenoute, bear testimony that Besa not only revered the memory of his predecessor but also remembered his advice and precepts and acted upon them (cf. e.g. 38v, 47r, and Paris 130, fols.llr-llv).

There is no doubt that the Bible and Shenoute were the most active influences on Besa. Otherwise there is little that can be deduced from his writings. On 49v he quotes Athanasius and, though the quotations are possibly wrongly attributed to the patriarch of Alexandria (cf. 49v, note 5), the fact that he mentions his name shows that he not only knew of him but also respected him. His regard for Antony is proved by a set of quotations from his works (cf. 68r and 71r ff). Besa's respect for tradition is revealed also in his frequent references to the commandments of "our fathers" (cf. e.g. 39v, 40v, 77r) and their customs. Though it is of course not possible to identify the "fathers" with certainty, it may be suggested that, when the reference is not to superiors within the monastery at

the time, Besa wishes to remind his readers of his predecessors Pgol and Shenoute, and perhaps also of other prominent monastic personalities like Pachomius and Antony. One quotation on 42v is attributed to the "wise men". It is difficult to say whether or not they too represent the group which is otherwise called the "fathers".

A break with tradition is implied in the deprecation of the use of force in the dealings of monks with pagens referred to in Clarendon Press b.4, fragment 22. But as I have reasons for doubting the Besa authorship of this MS (cf. p.31f), this point may be disregarded.

The Coptic dialect used by the monks of the White Monastery from the time of Pgol was Sahidic (cf. Leipoldt, Schenute, p.39 and 95). Besa's works also are written in Sahidic. The Bohairic Life of Shenoute is only a translation of the Sahidic original which, except for a few fragments (cf. p.18), has been lost. I have drawn attention to the few non-Sahidic forms which occur in EM Or.8810 in the Notes to the translation. The Greek loan-words which occur in his writings were, no doubt, an integral part of the Coptic language of his day. It may be interesting to note that of the 316 Greek words used in BM Or.8810 all but 45 occur in the Sahidic N.T. A comparison with the

Greek Bible shows that of the 316 only 9 occur neither in the LXX nor the Greek N.T. They are: $\Delta\Gamma\beta\Delta\varphi\circ C$, $\Delta\omega\epsilon\lambda\epsilon_i\Delta$, $\Delta\omega\epsilon\lambda HC$, $\Delta\Pi\circ T\Delta KTIK\circ C$, $\Delta\Pi\circ \varphi\Delta\epsilon_iC$, $\epsilon\Gamma\Gamma\beta\Delta\varphi\circ C$, $K\circ INOBIOC$, $\omega\circ N\Delta CTHPION$, $\omega\circ N\Delta X\circ C$. Of these the last 3 are technical monastic terms as is also perhaps $\Delta\Pi\circ -T\Delta KTIK\circ C$. Legal terminology would seem to account for $\Delta\Gamma\beta\Delta\varphi\circ C$ and $\epsilon\Gamma\Gamma\beta\Delta\varphi\circ C$.

The question must now be asked whether Besa had any knowledge of the Greek language. Unfortunately there is no evidence to make it possible to give a definite answer. Attention may however be drawn to a play on words on 44v. The passage runs, "If I say 'Joyful Greetings', now where indeed is the joy?" (EïWANXOOC XE XAIPE. TENOY PÛ EUTUN TRAWE). This play on words hinges on the writer's knowledge not only that XA/PE is a formula of greeting but also that the Greek xxipw means "rejoice". In this context it may be significant that the Sahidic N.T. uses Xd/PE and Xd/PETE as formulae of greeting only and does not use the cognate noun xapa. The same is true of Shenoute's works edited by Leipoldt (cf. the Index Graecorum Verborum in C41 and C73). These facts may suggest that Besa knew some Greek, but they are in themselves very far from conclusive.

It may be convenient here to note another play on words. In Zoega CCIV, CND, Besa writes to Aphthonia. There he says, "You are indeed called by your name Aphthonia, but you bear malice against yourself" (CE-MONTE MEN EPÔ ZMITONPAN ΣΕ ΑΦΘΟΝΙΑ. ΤΕΦΘΟΝΕΙ ΣΕ ΕΡΟ ΜΑΝΑΑΤΕ).

Besa's style is difficult to characterise. It is largely conditioned by the subject-matter. In his writings other than the Life of Shenoute he is concerned for the most part with moral precepts and exhortations of a general nature. There his style is often formal, stilted, and diffuse. Sometimes Biblical quotations are strung together with very little intervening text from Besa's own hand. On the other hand, when he is concerned with a specific problem in which he seems to have a more keenly personal interest, then his pen comes to life and his style becomes vivid and persuasive. An example may be found in Besa's letter to Matthew (60v ff) where there seems to be a clear manifestation of a personal writer-recipient relationship. In the Life of Shenoute Besa's style is controlled by the fact that he conforms to the formal pattern of this literary genre.

Various attempts have been made in the past to sum up

Besa's character. Cauwenbergh, Étude, p.139, writes, "La personalité de Bésa diffère notablement de celle de Schenoudi. Alors que celui-ci agissait souvent avec violence, Bésa se distingue par sa modestie et sa douceur. Les écrits de Bésa trahissent un homme érudit dans les Ecritures, qu'il cite abondamment, et un supérieur énergique mais conciliant". This estimate of Besa's character, in spite of some valuable observations, would appear to me to do less than justice to the abbot's personality. Considerably more provocative though much less just, I think, is W.H.Worrell's account of Besa's character. In 'A Short Account of the Copts' (Ann Arbor, 1945), p.26, he writes, "Besa was a timid, apologetic creature, as was indeed inevitable, considering the overbearing character of the master (i.e. Shenoute). His writings are pale and characterless. He quotes the Bible and his master, in the worship of whose memory his effort is exhausted." Even if it is taken into account that Professor Worrell wrote avowedly from a "secular and human" standpoint (cf. his Preface, p.v11), which perhaps militates against a sympathetic appraisal of Besa, his summing up must nevertheless be questioned.

The main source of material for a character sketch of

Besa is, of course, the abbot's own writings. A few general considerations may however be offered which most clearly seem to be at variance with the picture of the man painted by Professor Worrell. Though it is impossible to give the exact number of the monks and nuns in the White Monastery in Shenoute's time. Leipoldt accepts the estimate of the Arabic version of the Life of Shenoute of more than 2200 monks and 1800 nuns (cf. Leipoldt. Schenute. p.93f). If it be assumed that these figures had not changed substantially under Besa's rule, his task was a formidable one. There is no reason to believe that he did not discharge his duties satisfactorily. Difficulties there were, but it would seem that Besa was well capable of dealing with them. It should also be remembered that Shenoute himself nominated his successor (cf. p.46). Even if it should seem likely that, because of the forcefulness of his character, Shenoute attracted an inner circle of weaklings and acquiescent men, yet is it probable that he would endanger his life's work by appointing some one who had not the positive qualities necessary to continue his work? Surely there is an a priori likelihood of Besa's having had at least the potentialities of a spiritual leader who was, at the same time, capable of governing his charges wisely.

There are, however, passages in Besa's writings which

lend colour to the charge of weakness against him. In his Life of Shenoute (C41, p.19) he records Shenoute's verdict on him that he is not a sinner (for Shenoute's conception of sin, cf. Leipoldt, Schenute, p.79), but fainthearted (OMKOMA) NOHT). But the context may suggest Shenoute's expectation of some spiritual growth and progress in his disciple.

In Michigan 158/22, Besa accuses himself of weakness in his former dealings with the nuns to whom he writes. This weakness displeased God while "our father" lived and is again a source of dissatisfaction to him now.

In Zoega CCXXXVIII, if I am right in attributing it to Besa, he again accuses himself of former weakness because he forbore with a sinful nun. But it is important to note that Besa, both in Michigan 158/22 and in Zoega CCXXXVIII, consciously sets out to rectify this error and to fulfil his duty in dealing more severely with the sinners. His acute awareness of his responsibility to God for his charges (cf. also BM175, CKT) is the driving force working in him. He knows that it would be wrong and sinful in him to endanger the moral progress of his monks and nuns by his inclination to be weak when severity is required. So convinced is he that in administering them he

is administering a trust given to him by God that he can expect God to strengthen him in his task, so that his weakness becomes strength. It would therefore appear that his character with its essential conciliatoriness and desire for peace is transformed by the stringent requirements of his duties.

If Besa's consciousness of duty towards God and thence to his charges is looked upon as the key to the understanding of his character, its otherwise unintelligibly diverse manifestations fall readily into place. The man Besa does indeed come to life and becomes wholly credible in all his varied attitudes and actions. In pursuit of his duty he reproves his charges in harsh terms (e.g. 19v. 22v, 35r), he reminds them of their duty by means of persuasion (e.g. 64r), he threatens to visit the refractory in anger (e.g. 20v, 37v), and he decrees punishment for them (e.g. 23r). But after an impassioned denunciation he can assure them of his love (e.g. 54v), and many times he expresses his grief for the sinners and erring members of his monastic communities (e.g. 17r, 52v, BN175 CK5). Besa's endeavours to be just and reasonable are revealed in his desire to provide opportunity for complaints to be heard (e.g. 53r, 61v) and for the examination of evidence

(e.g. 24v). He is no respecter of persons as can be seen from his letter of rebuke to the nun Aphthonia, the daughter of the comes Alexandros (Zoega CCIV, CUL ff). Even his consciousness of authority is, I think, derived from his high conception of his duty. He does not hesitate to appropriate some words of St. Paul to the Corinthians thus clothing himself, as it were, with apostolic authority (e.g. 17v, 18r). Yet there is no reason to doubt his essential humility which he realised to be one of the Christian virtues. Often, of course, its expression is no more than a conventional formula as in some of the addresses of his letters (e.g. 60v, 71r), but on other occasions the expressions of his humility ring true, as when he identifies himself with sinners (e.g. 21r, 22r, 24r; for other expressions of humility cf. e.g. 60r, 60v, 90v).

As the above examples have shown, Besa's devotion to duty causes him to display a wide range of human emotions. His is no frigid and grudging attitude towards responsibility. It is clear that there was considerable warmth of feeling behind the writing of such a letter as that to Matthew, to choose only one example (60v ff). The lovable simplicity of his character is revealed when he almost re-

fuses to believe that one of his trusted monks could so cruelly betray his confidence. "For we in fact chose you as an earnest man, and sent you", writes Besa. "If your mind was not at rest about your going, why did you not tell us that we might know and not send you?" (64v).

It is perhaps inevitable that the figure of Shenoute should dwarf that of his successor. Nevertheless this fact ought not to blind us to the many positive qualities of Besa. His advice to the elders under him (55v f) might well have been the motto for his own life's work: and that advice can be summed up in the verses which he himself uses (I Pet.5.2-3), "Tend the flock of God which is among you, exercising the oversight, not of constraint, but willingly, according unto God; nor yet for filthy lucre, but of a ready mind; neither as lording it over the charge allotted to you, but making yourselves ensamples to the flock."

The Text of the Biblical Quotations in BM Or.8810.

The writings of Besa abound in Biblical quotations and allusions. It is pertinent to ask whether they are of any value for the study of the text of the Sahidic Bible and its history. Though the evidence of patristic material is necessarily subordinate to that of MSS containing Bible texts, nevertheless quotations from the Fathers have a part to play in textual criticism. But there are many difficulties which must not be disregarded. Besa was writing during the 5th century but, as has been seen, the MS with which we are here concerned was written at least three centuries later (cf. p.12ff). In the intervening period Besa's writings were, no doubt, copied many times and the copyists were themselves monks, well versed in the Scriptures. Thus the danger here, as always, is that the scribe may assimilate the Biblical sayings of his exemplar to the text of his own day with which he is familiar. But even if it could be assumed that BM Or.8810 faithfully reproduces what Besa actually wrote, the question would still arise as to whether Besa's quotations can be used as trustworthy evidence for the Bible of his day. Indeed it cannot be said with any certainty that there was a standard text of the Sahidic Bible at so early a date. And in any case

it seems improbable that Besa always quoted from a written source; often no doubt he relied on his memory. An evaluation of the material is far from easy since it is complicated by the very great extent to which Besa is dependent on the Bible. Often his language is reminiscent of Biblical idioms. Two examples may be given: on 15v Besa alludes to Mk.9.50, "Have salt in yourselves", in the words "the ignorant who have no salt"; on 43v there is an allusion to Lk.21.34, "lest.....that day come upon you suddenly like a snare", while Besa's words are, "before the day of our end comes upon us suddenly like a snare". Such verbal reminiscences are, of course, valueless from the textual point of view.

Turning now to those occasions on which Besa clearly intended to quote from Scripture, the fact that he may have relied on his memory must be taken into account. How far this reliance went cannot be assessed but some hints can be gleaned from those Biblical passages which Besa uses more than once. Sometimes the passages so repeated are in complete verbal agreement (e.g. I Thes.5.7 on 30v and 38r), on other occasions, however, there are divergences as for instance in II Cor.12.20 on 17v and 20v. A further example is Prov.28.24 quoted on 36r and 51v. On

the latter Besa's quotation agrees with the known Sahidic text, "He who uses violence against his father and his mother...."; on 36r he has changed the verb to "despise". Such divergences do little to enhance Besa's reputation as a reliable textual witness.

In a great many cases Besa, when using Biblical sayings, adapts them to the situation which confronts him. Sometimes this involves no more than a change of person, e.g. in Ps.51.7 (80r). But in Ps.51.8-9, which Besa also uses on 80r, there are further examples of the ways in which he alters the Biblical text. The changes involved can best be seen by setting the two texts side by side:-

The Biblical text (from Budge, Ps.)
Ps.51.8-9 (Budge, Ps.51.6-7) Besa's reference to Ps.51.8-9 on 80r.

CENANAY FIGI FIDIKAIOC FICEPROTE CENANAY EPO FIGIFIDIKAIOC ETPROTE TICECUBE ESPAT EXWY TICEXOOC DE SHTY JUTIETO. TICEXOOC DE EIC OYPULLE ENTIFIED TIMOYTE MAY TIBOHOOC. alla ayælnize extu MAUJAI NTEGUNTPULLAO. ALM YARMON ESBY! EXT MEUMETWOYETT.

EIC OYCZIUE EUTĪCKATINOYTE NAC TBOHBOC. dalla accelinize extu MAUDI NTECHNIZACIENT.

UNTECHNITPEYKARTHC EPOC MAYLAC.

The above example shows how difficult it is in many in-

stances to extract any reliable textual evidence from Besa's Biblical references. In the majority of such cases it would seem wisest to disregard the passage as evidence for the text of the Sahidic Bible. On occasions, however, such passages in spite of Besa's alterations exhibit one or more points of interest which are worth noting. One example may be given. On 48r Besa uses I Pet.4.3, considerably altered. The point of interest is that whereas the text in Horner, Sah. has Nowwy as one member in the list of vices, the corresponding member in BM Or.8810 is Now. The Greek text has Motors and Besa's text which agrees with it would seem to have preserved an interesting reading.

In spite of these and other difficulties and in spite of the inevitable subjectivity of selection, nevertheless an examination of the Biblical material in BM Or.8810 is of value because of the paucity of evidence for the Sahidic Bible and the many gaps which can often only be filled from patristic quotations.

Of the O.T. material contained in BM Or.8810, I have made a special study of the Book of Proverbs, both because it is the book most used by Besa and also because there is a critical edition of the whole of Proverbs available. In

the following survey I have taken as standard the text edited in Worrell, Prov., and set out the variants thus:

Worrell's text BM Or.8810 and supporting authorities when of interest.

Symbols used: W - Worrell's text. Otherwise I have used the symbols employed in Worrell, Prov. I have disregarded allusions and adaptations, unless they contain points of interest. Verse numbers do not necessarily imply complete verses in BM Or.8810.

- 1.7 [MTNOY]TE]TUTILOEIC
- 1.24-27 (84r) adapted but note:
 - v.25 WOXNE]WAXE
 But 26v, where the passage is adapted again, has WOXNE
 - V.27 EPANJEPUAN 225
- 2.13-16 (41r) NCWOOY]NCWOY 225

NZENZIODYE] NNE ZIOOYE
Thus also on 84r where the passage is adapted.

- v.14 ΝΕΤΕΥΦΡΑΝΕ]ΕΤΕΥΦΡΑΝΕ
 Thus also on 84r where the passage is adapted.
- v.15 epenerua]eperua
- ental mre[parada mre 81.4 02-1.2
 - v.19 POWTE INPOMITE Z25 Leyd.
 - V.20 ENENTAYLOOUS JENENTAYTALLOOUSE

 LICC JAIKAIOC Z25 Leyd.

	•
3.34 (bis)	Hat]t
	qnat]qt It is impossible to be certain which passage the writer had in mind, viz. Prov.3.34, I Pet.5.5, Jam.4.6.
4.19	W
4.25 (68v)	adapted but note:
	OYZE] BOYZE BMC951 Thus also on 50v and 87r where the verse is again adapted.
	ELLUNTUE] ENUNTUE Thus also on 87r where the verse is again adapted.
5.12 (bis)	W
5.13	NTYOOC DE LE VILICOUTUJETBEOY VILICOUTU
	EMETCABO] WHETTCABO
6.23	PEUPOYOÏN] PEUPOYOEIN
	TNTOAH]TENTOAH
10.19	W
11.8	W
12.18	THETKUNG EN OYCHUE TRENCHUE EYKUNG BMC951
12.24	Δ∈] om.
13.1	EIWT]ïWT
	EPEOYUHPE] EPEMUHPE
13.13	adapted but note:
	Sapes

14.1	perhaps adapted but note:
	ricabh]oycabh
	SENHIJOTHI
14.3	eeband]eebab
14.14	W
16.17 (bis)	∆∈] om.
16.27	W
16.28	and waynupk] and waynupk Since Worrell has not commented, is the W reading perhaps a printing error?
	MENDANDEND LASENDENDENDENDENDENDENDENDENDENDENDENDENDE
17.13 (ter)	Naki]Nakin
17.20	DE NATURIT] NATURIT
17.27	W
18.1	W
18.6	700ST3N[70083M
	ELIKAYI]ELIKAYEI
18.7	De Die Die Die Die Die Die Die Die Die D
	Macy macy q
18.21	ũπλας] ιικπλας
	NETALLATE] METALLATE
	Madywallmacei
19.4	DE VINDARE DOLL DE EXPRINCY OF
19.23	W

19.24	OYUMPE EYKU] MUHPE ETKU
	indsa asphilosadpsamh
20.10	ειωτ] ϊωτ
	MKEKE DE] MKEKE
21.23 (53r)	METEAPER] METEAPER TAP
	pwu]eρωu Z24 Thus also on 66r.
	TECHTYXH] ETECHTYXH Z24 Thus also on 66r.
21.24	EPNTU]PNTU (PANTU 224)
23.12 (42v)	adapted but note:
	CBTE]PIKE But on 21v, 50v, and 68v, where the verse is again adapted, BM Or.8810 reads COBTE
24.8-10 (46r)	TWUNT] TWUT Thus also on 34v.
	Thus also on 34v.
₩.9	$\lceil A\theta HT \rceil$ NACEBHC On 34v the clause $\lceil A\theta HT \ldots 2\varepsilon NNOB\varepsilon \rceil$ is omitted.
	Epune]eypune 224
24.22	EMEBOOY]EMMEBOOY Z24
	UNALYMIJUNATAKO 224
24.42	SBHYE]SBHOYE
	ETEKZIH]ETEZIH Z24

28.24 (36r) METXI... NOONIC] METCUL

(51v) W

29.8 W

29.11 W

29.24-25 NTEUWYXH] NTEUWYXH MAYAAY

V.25 FICE FICEXIWITE FICEXIWITE Z24 Tur. FIRPULLE] FIZENPULLE Z24

Disregarding orthographical differences, the remainder of the above variants may be analysed thus:

- 1) Cases in which obvious errors in the W text are corrected in BM Or.8810, generally supported by other MSS referred to in the textual apparatus in Worrell, Prov. 1.27, 2.13, 2.20, 4.25 (ter), 16.28, 17.13 (ter), 18.7, 21.23 (2 errors, bis), 24.8 (bis), 24.9 (bis), 29.25.
 - 2) Obvious errors in BM Or.8810. 2.15, 2.20, 18.21.
- 3) Changes, additions, and omissions of the article.
 2.13 (bis), 2.14 (bis), 2.19, 4.25 (bis), 13.1, 14.1 (2 changes), 18.21, 19.4, 19.24, 24.22, 29.25.
- 4) Changes, additions, and omissions of conjunctions, prepositions, or pronouns of emphasis, ($\neg Ap$, ΔE , E -, $\square Add$, $\square \neg \Box \Box$). 12.24, 16.17 (bis), 17.20, 19.4, 20.10, 21.23, 21.24, 29.24.

- 5) Changes of verbal forms (tenses etc.). 2.18, 3.34 (bis).
- 6) A number of variants of a more far-reaching character remain which it will be necessary to discuss individually. They are, of course, of varying textual value. 1.7. The Biblical reference on 42v occurs both in Ps.110.10 and Prov.1.7. In the former the LXX agreeing with BM Or. 8810 has Kupiou while Budge, Ps. reads JUTINONTE; in the latter the LXX reads $\theta \varepsilon o \hat{v}$, LXX mg. $\overline{\kappa v}$. 1.25. The verses 1.24-27 are twice adapted by Besa. One point of interest emerges. On 26v there is the correct reading WOXNE for the LXX BOUNN , while on 84r WAXE occurs instead. If the copyist wrote from dictation, is it possible that this variant arose from mishearing? 5.13. Two different ways of continuing the construction begun in 5.12 account for this variant. The W text repeats the LXX EPECs , while BM Or. 8810 repeats the LXX Trûs In the second variant of this verse little change of meaning is involved. Neither the W text nor that of BM Or.8810 follow the LXX closely.
- 12.18. The BM Or.8810 reading is supported by one Sah. MS and also by the LXX text; the W reading on the other hand is supported by a Greek reading (cf. LXX mg.).

- 13.13. The BM Or.8810 reading disagrees with the W text and the LXX. It should be noted, however, that the same verb occurs in this verse in another Besa fragment, viz. Zoega CCIV. $\subset 3$.
- 16.28. The BM Or.8810 addition wisenpunh is not otherwise attested. Possibly it is an elaboration of Besa's.
- 18.21. The BM Or.8810 reading ($\bowtie c \in I$) may be due to a harking back to 18.20 q.v.
- 19.24. May the BM Or.8810 reading (UNACE ESPAN) perhaps have arisen from dictation having been misheard? It may be noted that the LXX text differs considerably here.
- 23.12. This verse is adapted by Besa four times, but only once does he change the verb (on 42v).
- 24.9. On 34v BM Or.8810 omits 24.9a, while on 46r the subject and number of 24.9a are changed.
- 24.22. Here BM Or.8810 uses another verb. The relevant clause is not in the LXX.
- 24.42. BM Or.8810 uses the definite article instead of the personal pronoun.
- 28.24. On 51v BM Or.8810 agreeing with W reads ΓΕΤΣΙ ...
 ΓΙΘΟΝΌ , apparently translating ἀποβίωζετων (LXX mg.).
 On 36r the verb is changed to ΓΙΕΤΟΝΟΝ apparently in agreement with the LXX reading ἀποβάλλετων

For the difficulties connected with Prov.15.23, cf. 53r, note 2.

Next the Psalm quotations in EM Or.8810 may be considered. A comparison with the text edited in Budge, Ps. reveals little of interest. In the following instances the two texts agree (the bracketed numbers refer to Budge's edition): 18.9 (18.8), 30.5 (30.4), 33.8 (33.7), 48.11 (48.10) bis, 54.24 (54.23) for which cf. 53v, note 7, 56.5 (56.4), 62.11 (62.10) on 41v, 82.3-4 (82.2-3), 88.11 (88.10), 108.1 (108.1), 108.3 (108.3), 108.5 (108.5), 118.9 (118.9), 118.21 (118.21), 118.105 (118.105), 118.118

In the following passages there are only insignificant spelling variants between the text in Budge, Ps. and the quotations in BM Or.8810: 18.8 (18.7), 32.6 (32.6), 82.2 (82.1).

The remaining variants, though of no particular interest, may be listed:

31.9 (31.9) MINAC]NINEC

VETUIN[LOTUIN

62.11 (62.10) 36v NBAWOP NNBAWOP

108.2 (108.2) LTPEUPNOBE LTTPEUPNOBE

108.4 (108.4) MCELLEPITT] MCELLEPIT AIABARE] DIABARA In the Psalm quotation on 28v it is impossible to decide with any certainty whether it refers to 48.13 (48.12) or 48.21 (48.20). A collation with both verses is therefore given:

48.13 (48.12) סיוגדיס[סיוגדיס] סיוגדיס (48.13) פיוגדיס[סיוגדיס] סיוגדיס פייגדי פייגדי

48.21 (48.20) MPWLE OTAEIO OTAEIO

The few quotations from the Book of Ecclesiastes I have collated with the text edited in Worrell, Texts.

6.4 adapted to 2 pers. fem. sg.

EYMABUKJAPBUK

2NOYKAKE ZNOYMETWOYET as also in Budge, Mart., p.81 and 84. The LXX agrees with the Worrell reading.

DYM EPE-] YEKAC EPE-

STUTKAR] STUTKAKE as also in Budge, Mart., p.84 and in agreement with the LXX.

8.5 as in Worrell, Texts.

12.8 MEKYHCIACTHC] MEKKYHCIACTHC

POTHSVITED TIEVOUTENT TIEVOUTENT

12.14 MTALLIO] MICUNT

POSSTAND [POSSTAN STYONTI

Very little can be done with the remaining O.T. quotations. The texts that can be used as standards of com-

parison are often incomplete, and such fragments as have been published are scattered throughout numerous books, catalogues, and periodicals. From the material that is accessible to me, I have selected only those passages which seem to be of special interest. The text which I have used for purposes of comparison is Ciasca.

Hos. 7.13 (41r) 070] 070EI

AYTHUT EBOY] AYPAKTON EBOY

(82r) adapted to 2 pers. fem. sg., but note: מאחשד] אורשיד] אורשיד] אורשיד] אורשיד

Mic.7.1-2 0101]010E1

TIXX EJGEBÝS , LXX Mg. EJZABÝS

ENTYWOOT AN] NTYWOOT AN

In 17.9 BM Or.8810 agrees with Ciasca in reading TENAUWITE against the LXX reading ESOVTAL and the Coptic CENAUWITE in G.Maspero's edition in MMAF, VI.

V.10 MOTHOTE IT NOTE

AS IN MMAF, VI.

TOTOTOTUSETE TOTE PRIME OF TOTOTE PLANTS IN MMAF, VI.

In the following instances I have been unable to compare the quotations with any other Sah. text. Points of interest have been mentioned in the Notes to the translation. Amos 6.12 see 49r, note 3, cf. also 80r.

Jer.2.12 see 28r, note 3.

Jer.3.10 see 80v, note 1.

Jer.17.6 see 90r, note 1.

Turning now to the N.T. a special study has been made of the quotations from the Pauline Epistles (including the Pastorals and Hebrews). The reasons for such a course are that there is in Thompson, Acts, a complete and homogeneous text for comparison. Moreover the problem of harmonising readings, which is so acute in the Gospels, does not arise here. Also of value for this study is J.L.Koole, Studien zum koptischen Bibeltext, Berlin, 1936.

It may be advisable to repeat that allusions and adaptations unless they contain points of interest are disregarded in the following. Verse numbers do not necessarily imply complete verses in BM Or.8810. The variants are set out thus: Thompson's text] BM Or.8810 and supporting authorities when of interest.

Symbols: T - Thompson's text; H - Horner, Sah.;

M - the Pierpont Morgan MS (used from the collation in Thompson, Acts); N - E.Nestle, Novum Testamentum Graece, Stuttgart, 1949.

Rom.

1.21-22 (45r) v.22 ansencabe] anon sencabe M so also on 38v where it is otherwise adapted. 1.28-32 MOTENOTE V.29 NICHT PIZHT THSISARO[THISARO 18.V M v.32 TUTUON TUTON CTMETBOKI]CTMETBOKEI 2.5-6 bis (32v)METANOÏ JUETANOEI (70r) v.6 2BHYE] 2BHOYE 9.28 T 13.12 bis (43v)6€] (21r) om. Kataly] Katalye 14.20 MAPAKAZITAPAKAZEI 16.17-18 ≥e] om. V.18 WHENZOEIC] WHILE 16.19 T STYOMIN SE POTIFICALINA 16.20 Proportion Jeneral I Cor. uniprie] unieprie 3.17

```
(I Cor.)
                   NETZIJETZI
6.8
15.33
16.13-14
                   T
II Cor.
                   KATABE] NOE
8.15
                   ETSISHTSHT3NCTH3NIA
10.18
                   YOEIC] YOUC
                   ABKT] ABHT
11.19-20
                   MIETA-ENTETA-
                   MINETKKTO] WINETKTO
        v.20
11.21
                   M SKNYMSZ SLISENYMZS H
12.10
                   (SENSHYMYS
12.20 bis (17v,20v) THEI] NITHEI
                   SELTI [35 LOT
                   epoijepoi son
         (20v)
13.2
                   T
Gal.
                   NTEGIZE]NTETZE
1.6-7
5.13
                   T
6.2
                   allusion but note:
                   TUTNOYTE TUTNETO H N
6.7
                   T
```

```
Eph.
1.21
                   T
5.6
                    T
                   TITNETUATIKON TITNIKON
5.19
6.4
                    T
Phil.
2.12-16 v.12 (ter)
       V.13 (bis) ENEPTIJENEPTET
                    MTYHTTHS M [MTHS M
    v.14 (31r,48v) T
        V.15 (bis) XEKAAC]XEKAC
                    ETETHELIMINE] ETETHALIMITE
                    roosanus[roosana
        v.16
                    900Sroin[900Sran
3.2
Col.
                    DE]GE
3.8-10
                    TUNTPEYXIONA OM.
                    unpouse Nac Junpunac
        v.9
                     KATACHOT] ZTICHOT
3.20
                     ZOEIC]XOÏC
I Thes.
                     MCEAPECKE] ENCEAPECKE
2.15
```

```
(I Thes.)
                    NETETN-INNETETN-
5.4-10
                    Tro[340
          v.5
         v.7 (bis)
                    XEKAAC]XEKAC
         v.10
                    NTETNKWT]ETETNKWT
5.11
5.12-13
5.21-22
                    TETNUYXH]TETLUYXH
5.23
                     MAPOYCIAMAPOYCIA
II Thes.
                     NUXEKTHYTNZEUNAXEKTHYTN
1.11
                     H WWON [WWONS
3.5
                    T
                    Δ€] om.
3.6
                    NECHHY] om.
                    ENTATETNITE ENTAYLITE (NTATETN- H; NTAY- M)
                    rap] om.
3.11
                    341305[JUIOS
                    MCEP-]ENCEP-
I Tim.
                    3MI30S[3MÏOS
5.15
```

```
Tit.
                   XEKAAC]XEKAC
 2.14
 3.3
                   T
Heb.
3.1
                   T
3.14
                   T
                   SOUNEJSOEINE
10.23-27 v.25
                   NTEEIZE NTEÏZE
                   NO PORTUDIA PORTUDIA
         v.26
                  EEWWT] EWWT
         v.27
                   KWET]KWZ N
                 ∆∈] om. H M N
10.31-36
                  DE] om.
        v.32
                   MEYCUBE]EYCUBE
        v.33
                   θλιψις]θλιψεις
                   KE]KET
                 Mapshcialrapphcia
        ▼.35
                   xp12]xpe12
        ₩.36
                    XEKAAC IXEKAC
11.13-16 v.13a
                  allusion
                  dn (bis) dnon (bis)
        v.13b
                  MITERIZE MITE IZE
        v.14
                  M - Grana[-grann
        v.15
11.35
                  T
```

(Heb.)

11.37 roogs shwists rotators.

13.17 NETO]CEO H

HXYYMTHETHYXH

An attempt may now be made to classify those readings of BM Or.8810 which differ from Thompson's text. Spelling variants and obvious scribal errors are not included.

- 1) Readings agreeing with M only among Sah. MSS.

 Rom.1.22, I Cor.6.8, II Thes.3.6, Heb.10.33.

 The first two readings are of little interest. In Rom.1.22

 BM Or.8810 and M have the absolute form of the personal pronoun while T has the construct. In I Cor.6.8 no difference of meaning is involved. In II Thes.3.6 the T reading is supported by the N text, while the readings of BM Or.8810 and M find support in some Greek MSS, cf. N apparatus. In Heb.10.33 BM Or.8810 and M have a different tense from that in T.
- 2) Readings agreeing with M and H. II Cor.12.10, Heb.10.31.

The first reading is of interest in that it is supported by a Greek reading (cf. N apparatus). Note, however, the peculiar spelling in M (cf. Thompson, Acts, p.xxix, note 1). In Heb.10.31 BM Or.8810, M, and H, in omitting DE, agree with N.

- 3) Readings agreeing with H. Gal.6.2, Phil.2.13 (bis), II Thes.1.11, Heb.10.27, Heb.11.15, Heb.13.17.
- Only the first two readings are of interest. In Gal.6.2

 BM Or.8810 and H agree with the majority of Sah. MSS and also N (cf. Thompson, Acts, p.197). In Phil.2.13 BM Or.

 8810 represents the standard Sah. and Greek text against a minority reading of T and M (cf. Thompson, Acts, p.210).

 The remaining four readings hardly alter the meaning. In Heb.11.15 the T text has a rare spelling of the imperfect form (cf. Stern, para 373).
- 4) Readings peculiar to BM Or.8810.

 Rom.1.29, Rom.13.12 (21r), Rom.16.17, Rom.16.18, Rom.16.20
 (bis), II Cor.8.15, II Cor.10.18, II Cor.12.20 (20v),

 Phil.2.15 (bis), Phil.2.16, Phil.3.2, Col.3.8 (bis),

 Col.3.20, I Thes.5.4, I Thes.5.5, I Thes.5.11, II Thes.1.11

 II Thes.3.6 (bis), II Thes.3.11, Heb.10.27, Heb.10.32,

 Heb.10.33, Heb.11.13b (bis), Heb.11.37.

These readings may be sub-divided thus:

- II Cor.12.20, Col.3.8, I Thes.5.5 perhaps a spelling variant, II Thes.3.6, II Thes.3.11, Heb.10.32 cf. H apparatus.
- b) changes a preposition II Cor.8.15, Phil.2.16, Col.3.20.
- c) changes article form Phil.3.2 but possibly a change of article into demonstrative pronoun.
- d) changes form of same word Heb.10.33 perhaps a spelling variant.
- e) has personal pronoun in absolute instead of construct Heb.11.13 (bis).
- f) changes tense Rom.16.20, Phil.2.15, I Thes.5.4, I Thes.5.11, II Thes.1.11.
- g) omits noun Col.3.8, II Thes.3.6.
- h) Other variants: Rom.1.29 "and" for "of". Rom.16.18 "the Lord" for "our Lord". II Cor.10.18 the first member of the negative particle is omitted. Heb.10.27 BM Or.8810 agrees with the Greek against all other Sah. MSS. Heb.11.37 a change of order of words which is supported by the order in N, where however there is an extra word.

The remainder of the N.T. quotations may be dealt with more summarily. In the quotations from the Synoptic Gospels, the close interrelationship of the first three Gospels and the consequent tendency to conflate parallel

passages when quoting renders any textual investigation most precarious. Sometimes it is even impossible to say from which Gospel Besa intended to quote, e.g. 50v where the quotation may come either from Lk.3.9 or from the parallel in Mt.3.10. As examples of quotations in which two parallel Gospel texts are conflated, the following may suffice: Mt.13.6 and Lk.8.6 on 74v; Mt.18.6 and Lk.17.2 on 18v, 61r, and 81v.

Some remaining N.T. readings of interest in BM Or.8810 may now be listed:

Acts 7.51 ETETH this reading agrees with Thompson, Acts, against all other Sah. MSS which read TETH

Acts 20.26 ANOK added by BM Or.8810 against all other Sah. authorities, but cf. H apparatus.

Jam.2.15-16 Horner, Sah. TAP] om. cf. H apparatus.

- €4KH]KH

- ETERPE OF. H apparatus.

v.16 - ∆∈] om. cf. H apparatus.

- NAY. O'] NAY RITETICULLA. OY of. H apparatus.

I Pet.4.3 Though only an allusion note:

Horner, Sah. ΜΝΝΕΠΙΘΥΜΙΑ] om.

- unnawy unna of. p.61.

I Pet.4.7 - △€ om.

I Pet.5.1 Horner, Sah. AW TKOINWHOCJAYW SWC OIKONOUOC cf. 56r, note 1.

Such are the textual peculiarities of the Biblical quotations in BM Or.8810. From them it is clear that sometimes this MS has preserved a reading otherwise lost in the Sahidic tradition. Sometimes too it bears further witness to a text that has otherwise little support. In a field such as this even the smallest points can be of value when so great a proportion of the material has been irrevocably lost. This enquiry, then, has not of course produced any spectacular results but it is hoped that it has provided some additional material for the study of the text of the Sahidic Bible.

Besa's Use of the Bible.

As we have seen there is a great number of references to Biblical passages in BM Or.8810. If we consider the practical character of the writings contained in the MS, this may seem strange. It shows clearly how important a place the Bible occupied in Besa's thought and therefore the question, how did Besa use the Bible, is of considerable interest. Examples will be drawn from BM Or.8810 only, but a study of the other Besa material has shown that the position and use of the Bible is uniform throughout. Many of the fragments are composed almost entirely of Scriptural quotations and allusions and many of those found in BM Or.8810 recur more than once. That the "Life of Shenoute" is the only exception is natural in view of its different subject-matter.

In this discussion all types of Biblical references will be included, allusions as well as quotations. The proportion in which the various books of the Bible are used may reveal some of Besa's special tendencies, though Besa's choice, no doubt, is to a large extent dependent on the subject-matter of his writings. A glance at the Index of Biblical Passages (p.i ff.) gives some idea. In the O.T. the Book of Proverbs has pride of place. Its ethical

teaching serves well to support Besa's own. Perhaps it would be too fanciful to attribute Besa's preference for Proverbs to the ancient Egyptian love for wisdom literature, especially as the other Biblical and Apocryphal wisdom literature is used but little by Besa. The many references to the Psalms are not surprising if one considers that that book was used as a prayer book and occupied a prominent position in the daily devotions of the monks. Besa's use of the prophetical books of the O.T., more especially Isaiah and Jeremiah, and the paucity of references to the historical books is readily explained by their respective subject-matter.

In the N.T. it may be noticed that of the Synoptic Gospels Matthew and Luke are drawn upon more than Mark. The Fourth Gospel, Acts and all the longer N.T. Epistles are also used; only one of the N.T. books not used occasions comment, viz. Revelation (though there may be a possible verbal reminiscence to Rev.7.17 on 32r and 43v). This may of course be due to the nature of the writings of Besa. He may have felt that the highly imaginative language of Revelation could do little to further his severely practical aims in spite of the fact that he has occasion to speak of the rewards and judgments which await his

readers on the Last Day. It may be noted however that
Revelation was not always highly regarded in the East,
and its place in the canon seems only to have been established finally at the time of Athanasius (cf. his Festal
Letter xxxix in 367 A.D.). On the other hand there is
evidence not only for the use of the N.T. Apocalypse, but
also of apocryphal apocalypses in Egypt and of a strong
eschatological interest which in some way seems to have
been linked with the monastic Weltanschauung (cf. S.Morenz,
Die Geschichte von Joseph dem Zimmermann, Berlin, 1951,
p.114f).

Besa's familiarity with the Bible, though surprising to the 20th century reader, was by no means exceptional among the monks of his day. Portions of Scripture were learnt by heart and recited by the monks as they went about their daily tasks. This, together with the fact that Bible reading played an important part in the daily offices, goes far to explain Besa's intimate knowledge of the Bible.

In a number of instances Besa falls into Bible language and phraseology without in any way indicating their origin. In these cases it is often difficult to decide whether Besa was just using the idiom which came most naturally to

weight of Scriptural authority. If the latter be true one must assume that he expected his readers to notice that Scripture was being used. One example of this occurs on 21v. Besa is speaking of the seriousness of sin and says, "For everyone who does good is of God but he who does evil is of the devil" (cf. I Jn.3.8). On 34v Besa, grieving over the punishments which the wicked will incur, expresses his sorrow in St.Paul's words (II Cor.2.4). On 68v he exhorts Antinoe in words from three verses in Proverbs (23.12, 22.19, 4.25). Further examples of this use of the Bible are, among others: Ps.31.9 (16r), Lk.21.34 (43v), Rom.1.21 (44v), Acts 20.26 (62r), II Cor.11.26 (90v).

Besa, when dealing with any particular subject, refers on occasion to more than one Biblical passage. The question therefore comes to mind, had he at his disposal any sets of texts already collected bearing on a specific subject? This seems to be a possibility although it is perhaps more likely that he juxtaposed the passages as he needed them or had stored them in his memory from previous catechetical instruction. Some of these passages seem to be linked by key-words which may almost lead one to sup-

pose that he had access to some form of concordance. That such works may have existed seems likely. There are several fragments indicating their existence at a later date (cf. e.g. Crum. Ryl., No.61, and Crum. BM, No.977). Some examples of passages so linked may now be given: Prov.28.24, 19.23, 20.10, each of which contains the word "father", are all given on 36r and convey a warning against despising the fathers. (Note that these three verses also occur together in Zoega CCVI. dod .) On 51v the same subject and the same key-word run through a different set of quotations viz. Prov.28.24, Ex.21.16 etc., Deut.27.16. A set of exhortations opens the letter on 39r and 39v and Besa strings together a series of quotations on the theme of light and darkness, the key-word being "light". Thus: Jn.12.35. 11.9-10. Job 29.3. Is.59.10 (although this verse does not contain the key-word "light", its inclusion is, I think, justified as the word occurs in the preceding verse Is.59.9), Prov.6.23, Ps.118.105, Is.26.9, Ps.18.8-9 (only 18.9 contains the key-word). In support of the law Besa refers to two passages, Prov.28.4 and Is.8.20 (40v). linked by the key-word "law". Other examples may be found on 66r and 66v, Prov.21.23 and 12.18 the key-word being "tongue", cf. also 53r and 53v; on 67r and 67v, Prov.14.3

and 16.17 the key-word being "mouth"; also on 67r and 67v where the key-word "foolish" seems to connect the following passages, Prov.14.1, 14.3 and 29.11, 18.7; and on 88r and 88v, Ps.82.2-3 and 108.1-9 the key-word "be not silent" occurring in the first word of each group.

As has been seen Besa's use of the Bible is strictly subordinate to his didactic purpose. The Bible is, as it were, the supporting element in his writings. His arguments are clothed in its language and added authority is drawn from it. In its words he speaks to his monks and nuns of their sinfulness, he exhorts them to lead a better life, he threatens them and warns them of the judgment to come and he promises rewards to those who are faithful and obedient. Even the more specific monastic ideals, such as poverty, fasting and the mortification of the body, are so supported. Of special interest are perhaps two passages in which Besa threatens to visit his readers in person. In so doing he uses the words of St.Paul, apparently in order to strengthen his own authority. On 17v and 18r II Cor. 12.20 and II Cor.2.3 are quoted, and again on 20v and 21r II Cor.12.20 and II Cor.13.2. It may be noted that II Cor. 12.20 is similarly used in Zoega CCVI, OTH .

The object and aim of Besa's use of the Bible is now

clear and there remains to discuss his method. How does he use the Bible? In a number of cases he quotes Biblical passages which may be described as maxims. They contain general truths. Their context is of no significance. They can easily be incorporated into Besa's writings and are understood without interpretation. Some examples may be given; on 22r he quotes, "The foolish and the ignorant shall perish together" (Ps.48.11), and, "A wise son obeys his father but a disobedient son is in perdition" (Prov. 13.1). On 47r one finds the quotation, "A perverse man spreads strife and kindles the flame of deceit with evils and divides friends and kinsmen" (Prov.16.28), and on 90v one reads, "He who shall recompense evil for good evil will not stir from his house" (Prov.17.13).

Other Biblical passages are detached from their original context and applied to the situation which confronts Besa. Their application seems to be straightforward and their use natural and legitimate. Again a few examples must suffice: on 19r Besa quotes, "The teeth of the sons of men are weapons and arrows and their tongue is a sharp sword" (Ps.56.5). The psalmist after having expressed his confidence in God states in these terms his distrust in men. Besa uses the passage to give a reason for

avoiding sins of the tongue. On 42r and 42v the words of Jer.23.24 are quoted, "Shall anyone hide himself in a secret place and I not see him? Do I not fill the heaven and the earth, says the Lord". In its original context this saying is part of a denunciation of the priests and prophets of the people of God while it is in Besa's writing used to underline exhortations addressed to his monks. On 47v we find St.Paul's warnings to the Christians in Thessalonica applied to the monks of Besa, "We command you in the name of our Lord Jesus Christ to withdraw yourselves from every brother who walks disorderly and not according to the teaching which they received from us". "We hear concerning some that they walk among you disorderly, they do no work but are busybodies" (II Thes. 3.6 and 3.11). On 55v and 56r, in impressing upon the elders of the monastic community their duties towards the monks entrusted to them, Besa uses passages from various books of the N.T. to emphasise the point (I Pet.5.1-3, II Cor.12.15, Lk.12.48 and Jam. 2.15-16). On 58v Besa holds out the promise of victory over Satan to his readers in the words of St. Paul addressed to the Christians at Rome, "And the God of peace will crush Satan quickly under your feet" (Rom.16.20). Some further examples may be found on 20r and 20v (Prov.

5.12-13); on 21v (I Pet.4.18); on 45v and 46r (Rom.1.28-32); on 54v (Ps.30.5, Mic.7.8); and on 62v and 63r (Heb. 10.23-27 and 10.31-36). Sometimes Besa even uses a Biblical verse explicitly addressed to some person or nation and applies it to the recipient of his letter, e.g. Is.47.1-3 and 47.5 on 78v and 79r a reproach addressed to the daughter of Babylon is transferred to Herai.

It may be worth while to draw attention to the fact that Besa in spite of his respect for Scripture is by no means its slave. He does not hesitate to omit from his quotations verses which either are not applicable to the situation with which he deals or which might be unintelligible to his readers. It would be wrong, I think, to seek in these omissions any deeper theological meaning. For examples it may be convenient to take two passages already discussed above. On 47v Besa quotes II Thes. 3.6 and 3.11, omitting 3.7-10 in which St.Paul refers to his own manner of life. On 62v and 63r there are found the Biblical passages Heb.10.23-27 and 10.31-36 and the omitted verses 10.28-30 with their comparison between the fate of a man who rejects the law of Moses and the fate of him who rejects Christ, might be both difficult to understand and hardly applicable.

But Besa is also capable of a more original use of the Bible. In some cases he applies it to his purposes and in so doing interprets it in an unwarrantable way. Even where the modern reader brought up on the historical method would find himself in disagreement with Besa, much can be gleaned that is of interest in Besa's thought. He often finds it necessary to exhort his monks to be obedient to their superiors, their fathers. He supports his plea by a number of Biblical passages which exalt obedience to one's parents, one's fathers. On 36r he thus refers to Prov.28.24, 19.23 and 20.10; on 51v to Prov.28.24,

Ex.21.16 etc. and Deut.27.16; on 57v to Col.3.20, while on 57r in stressing the obligations of the superiors to their charges he quotes Eph.6.4, the fathers superior again taking the place of the natural fathers.

On 41v Besa finds support for the monastic food laws in the words of St.Paul, "Because of food do not destroy the work of God" (Rom.14.20). In its original context, however, St.Paul argues that food laws - there referring to clean and unclean food - are obsolete except for the man with conscientious scruples. Because of him the stronger brother is advised to observe these dietary laws so as not to give offence. The application to the monastic

context is wholly artificial and, what is more, almost certainly not Pauline in tendency.

On 48r Besa, while admonishing his monks, alludes to I Pet.4.3. There the author of the epistle writes, "For the time past may suffice to have wrought the desire of the Gentiles....". "The time past" according to Besa is the time spent in the world outside the monastery, while the author of the epistle refers to the time prior to the conversion of his readers. Though it is possible that some of the monks only became Christians on entering the monastery there must have been many who were Christians before in the world. Not only therefore is Besa's application far-fetched but it also assumes two different standards of behaviour for Christians inside and outside the monastery, a contrast which, even if a reality, is alien to N.T. thought.

Besa often had occasion to upbraid his monks and nuns for sins of the tongue. Strangely enough he twice uses (on 24r and 52v) to support his exhortations an O.T. passage, Deut.24.8, which gives warning about leprosy and enjoins the observance of the Mosaic law concerning leprosy in the case of an outbreak. He interprets leprosy as evil-speaking. On another occasion (29r) Besa, while reproving

some of his monks, quotes Acts 7.51, "You always resist the Holy Spirit like your fathers". This verse, taken from Stephen's speech, he expounds by saying that the fathers are the devil and his demons, while Stephen of course referred to the people of Israel of old, who persecuted the prophets and rebelled against their God. Possibly, however, Besa's comment is occasioned by Jn.8.44, "You are of your father the devil...".

An even more arbitrary piece of exegesis may be found on 29v. There Besa quotes Jer.12.13, "Sow wheat and reap thorns. Their lots shall not profit them". And he comments "which means their prayers and their fastings and their religious exercises shall not profit them because of their lawlessnesses...".

A rather enigmatic N.T. allusion may be found on 60v. Besa writes to a monk, Matthew by name, who has evidently given up the monastic way of life. The abbot naturally reproaches him and goes on to say, "You loved this present age and went to Thessalonica, which is foolishness...". In II Tim.4.10 it is written, "Demas forsook me, having loved this present age and went to Thessalonica". It is clear that Matthew gave up his monastic calling and Demas apparently his missionary work. Demas departed to Thessalonica, but did Matthew really go to this far off city in

Macedonia from his monastery in Upper Egypt? Or are we to understand that Besa only used N.T. phraseology because Matthew's action reminded him of what Demas did? The words, "which is foolishness" perhaps suggest the latter alternative. Perhaps the argument in favour of the metaphorical use may be further strengthened by recourse to a modern parallel. In J.G.Lockhart, Cosmo Gordon Lang, London. 1949, p.90f, there is printed a newspaper report of a speech by Archbishop Lang on Housing in which he refers to his work in the slums in Leeds. At one time he and his fellow-workers lived in an old public-house. The cutting gives the Archbishop's words thus: 'To this old "pub" came with me Marks and Simpson and Charles Tyler, whom later, when he married, we called "Demas", as he had forsaken us, having loved this present world, and his new house we called Thessalonica.' But mention must be made of the interpretation in Cauwenbergh, Étude, p.150, "Quand un moine a quitté le monastère pour aller retrouver sa famille à Thessalonique, il (Besa) lui écrit pour l'engager à revenir".

On a number of occasions Besa employs Biblical passages to illustrate and emphasise a point with which he has to deal in his correspondence with his monks and nums. And here it will be necessary in each case to ask whether the interpretation implied in his use can be considered legitimate or not. Some of the more interesting examples merit discussion. On 24r Besa alludes to the story of Miriam's rebellion against Moses (Num.12.1ff). God, in order to punish her, made her a victim of leprosy. As a result of Moses' intercession, God promised to heal her on the condition that she be separated from the people outside the camp for seven days (cf. the Mosaic law on leprosy, especially Lev.13.46). Besa's object in referring to this story is to persuade a nun to accept her rightful punishment and to repent of her sinfulness. His application seems arbitrary. The divine punishment which cannot be refused is foretold for those who reject monastic disciplinary action. The element of Moses' intercession is altogether absent from the situation implied in Besa's letter and it would appear that the O.T. story is only used to convey a threat to a rebellious nun.

On 26r and 26v Besa refers to the story of the Unrighteous Judge (Lk.18.2ff). In the Gospel this parable is told "to the end that they ought always to pray and not to faint" (Lk.18.1). The moral is that if even a wicked man can be prevailed upon to do his duty by the persistency of other men, how much more will the persistent

prayer of men be efficacious with God. Besa, on the other hand, uses the parable in a complaint that the frequent admonitions and repreaches addressed to his monastic community have not had the results which they ought to have had. Needless to say, Besa's application is far removed from the original purpose of the Gospel parable.

On 35r Besa, in an attempt to impress on his monks the seriousness of theft from their sick brethren, compares them to murderers and to "those who gave the Lord in his thirst vinegar to drink" (cf. Mt.27.48 and Gospel parallels) This incident is recounted in all four Gospels and the evangelists or at least their commentators seem to disagree among themselves as to whether the offering of vinegar was an act of kindness or of mockery. Besa certainly thinks of it as a wicked sin. The application seems at first glance arbitrary yet it becomes more feasible as we think both of the helplessness of our Lord on the cross and the helplessness of the sick, and of our Lord's words, "Inasmuch as you did it unto one of these my brethren, even these least, you did it unto me" (Mt.25.40, cf. Mt. 25.31-45).

On 52v Besa compares his rebellious monks to Korah and his "notable" men (Num.16.2ff) to make them realise the

enormity of their sin. But in the same context he quotes the saying of Moses (Ex.32.32) which he spoke to the people of Israel when they made the golden calf for themselves. There Moses intercedes with God on behalf of the rebellious people. The combination of these two passages shows clearly that Besa had no scruples in disregarding the actual historical situation as portrayed in the Bible.

On 59r, while exhorting his monks to keep the Lenten fast, each according to his strength, Besa reminds them of the example of Jesus (Mt.4.2 and Lk.4.2), of Moses (Ex.34.28) and of Elijah (III Kg.19.8), a typological interpretation which may be theologically permissible.

On 65r Besa warns a monk not to go astray but rather to examine himself diligently. He illustrates his advice with the parable of the Lost Coin (Lk.15.8-9). The point of comparison according to him is between the diligent search of the woman and the diligent self-examination of the monk. Lk.15.10 however states clearly the original moral of the Gospel parable, "there is joy in the presence of the angels of God over one sinner that repents".

On 74r, in exhorting the nun Herai to constancy, Besa reminds her of Lot's wife (Lk.17.32) and proceeds to recall the story in Genesis (cf. especially Gen.19.26). He sees significance in the fact that Lot's wife became a

pillar of salt and not a pillar of stone which is surely not implied in the Bible story. He goes on to say that salt is seasoned and thus the example cannot be ignored and should be a warning to others.

On 75r Besa refers to the parable of the Building of the Tower (Lk.14.28-30), which in its original setting teaches that the decision to follow Christ should not be undertaken lightly. Besa uses it to exhort the nun Herai not to turn away from her monastic calling but to be constant. In so doing he interprets the figure of the tower by explaining that Jesus did not wish men to build a tower but to direct their way and their hearts towards heaven. In the original context no such interpretation is called for; there, examples from daily life illustrate a religious truth.

On 77v Besa uses Acts 4.32 as a proof-text for monastic poverty. The N.T. passage states that the early Christ
ians had all things in common yet it is clear that it is
not legitimate to apply it as a proof-text for the monastic way of life. The life of the early Christians was
conditioned by the hope of the almost immediate return of
our Lord in glory. When the realisation of this hope was
delayed Christian life underwent a change, Christians
adapting themselves to life in the world though they were

the story of Ananias and Sapphira should be mentioned (Acts 5.1ff on 85v). A nun wishing to leave her convent asked to have her property returned to her. Besa makes it clear that she has no right to her belongings any longer and threatens her with the fate of Ananias and Sapphira who kept for themselves part of that which they had vowed to God. Ananias and Sapphira are used as types and Besa similarly uses the figure of Judas as the type of all wickedness. On 79v the nun Herai is called the daughter of Judas the traitor (cf. Lk.6.16), on 82v her fate is compared to the fate of Judas as recounted in Acts 1.18, and on 89v rebellious monks who plotted against Besa are likened to Judas who betrayed the Lord (Lk.22.5).

Sometimes Besa borrows a Biblical image and interprets it anew. On 16r he alludes to the foolish virgins who had no oil in their vessels (Mt.25.lff) which he interprets as the absence of understanding and the fear of God. In the original parable their foolishness is clearly their lack of preparedness for the coming of the Lord, the bridegroom. Besa also alludes to the passage on 37v and, though he does not interpret it there, he clearly uses it again in the same way. On 23v and 86v Besa reminds his hearers of

the grace of God who brought them out of the iron furnace. In the O.T. (Deut.4.20, III Kg.8.51, Jer.11.4) the iron furnace is Egypt and the metaphor is to remind the people of Israel of their deliverance out of Egypt. Besa applies it to the deliverance of the Christians who, having left the world, have found refuge in the monasteries. This is not the only place where Besa equates Egypt with the sinful world outside the monastery (cf. 15r). Such an identification is not peculiar to Besa however (cf. H.Dörries, Die Bibel im Altesten Mönchtum, in ThLZ, 72, p.221).

It must not be thought that this survey by any means exhausts the Biblical material in BM Or.8810. The examples discussed above must not be taken as being in true numerical proportion to the various ways in which Besa uses the Bible. They were selected mainly for their special interest. But the manysidedness of Besa's use of the Bible is evident. It almost defies classification and in the last resort can only be fathomed by a patient reading of the text itself. Although on some occasions one cannot but disagree with his ad hoc interpretations, there is no doubt that without his Biblical background Besa would have been unable to fulfil his task of administering and shepherding his flock of monks and nums. It was not of course

upon the Bible only that he relied (cf. p.47ff) but his deep and intimate knowledge of it gave it the chief place in his mental equipment.

Besa's Christianity.

It is unfortunate that so little material has been preserved from which to reconstruct a picture of Besa's Christianity. It may be useful to recall what was said concerning the influences which were at work in the shaping of his character, some of which, no doubt, helped him greatly to form his religious beliefs. The Bible and his teacher and predecessor Shenoute are of the greatest importance both for his life and his religion. What can be known of his Christianity has to be gleaned from his writings which of course are not treatises containing systematic theological expositions. For the most part they are letters dealing with specific situations within the White Monastery which required Besa's intervention. It would hardly be an exaggeration to say that any statements of Besa's theological beliefs are merely incidental, often designed to underline his exhortations and rulings. Under these circumstances it is unwise to draw together the theological material so amassed without careful evaluation of each piece of evidence. It is, for instance, difficult to decide whether omissions or repetitions of important Christian doctrines in his writings are due entirely to the nature of these writings or whether they can be accounted for, wholly or in part, by Besa's own predilections. In this connection it is interesting to note that in his writings there is no reference to the theological controversies of his time. Of the Council of Chalcedon (451 A.D.), which must have taken place soon after he became abbot, there is no echo, nor yet of the controversies which followed it. Of course this may be due to the fact that much which he wrote has perished. But it is equally possible that it was not mentioned because it did not endanger the unity of his monks and nuns and that, perhaps because of their lack of doctrinal knowledge, such topics provoked no discussion and thus no guidance was required. Finally it should be noted that Besa almost exclusively addresses a monastic audience which sometimes means that beliefs, though otherwise generally shared among Christians, take on a particular emphasis and colour.

Besa's "Life of Shenoute" may be considered first since it is in a class apart from his other writings. Its outstanding feature is its wealth of miracle stories. Perhaps this can be explained partly as the normal trappings of this particular literary genre and partly as popular superstitions current at the period. It could therefore be argued that the "Life of Shenoute" is designed solely to enhance Shenoute's reputation. On the other hand it is

possible that the records of the miracles express the belief that special charismata, that is to say miraculous powers, necessarily go together with an ascetic way of life (cf. in this connection the remarks on the Vita Antonii in Heussi, Ursprung, p.100, and in Holl, Enthusiasmus, p.148ff). There is little doubt that Besa looked upon his predecessor as a prophet and a man of God, but it is impossible to say with any certainty whether he would have claimed that the charismata operative in Shenoute were, perhaps to a lesser degree, shared by himself and all those following the monastic way of life. It will be seen below that there are some more indications in the other writings of Besa which suggest that he believed that the monastic life was blessed with a definite charismatic quality.

The other Besa writings must now be considered. The attempted reconstruction of his religious beliefs may begin with a consideration of the doctrine of creation: God is the creator of the world and the whole creation is subject to him (69v). Man was created in the image of God, and from this it is inferred that to despise man is to despise God (67v). From Jam. 3.11-12 Besa, disregarding the context, concludes that only man among all creatures rebels

against God while the rest abide in their original state (69v). This conclusion would seem to be at variance with the Fall story (cf. Gen.3.17-18) especially as interpreted by St.Paul (cf. Rom.8.19-20), from which it is clear that human sin had a cosmic effect. Besa, of course, is primarily interested in bringing home to his monks and nuns the seriousness and perverseness of their sins. His is a pastoral interest. At the same time his explicit statement, "All creatures which God created do not change the likeness wherein he created them", suggests that he is unaware of the wider implications of human sin. Even when talking about the devil, he always relates the evil one's activities to human creation only.

Satanology and demonology form a substantial part of Besa's religion. He speaks of the devil and the demons in the same breath so that it is unnecessary to consider them separately. According to Besa, the devil corrupts the world in his sins (e.g. 38r, 45r) and it is by his agency that men become sinners. The devil envies the members of the monastic community (e.g. 54r) and hardens their hearts (67v) and he moreover destroys their good purpose in which they advance towards God (e.g. 73v). Herai's lapse from constancy is described as giving place to the devil, "who is a hater of good, always envying those who desire their

salvation" (71r). Not only does Besa say that sins are the devil's works but he also accuses erring nuns of giving "opportunity to Satan to come in and pollute the holy convents of God" (37r). In his comments on Scriptural passages Besa often mentions the devil and the demons when originally no such meaning was intended. Thus on 36r he quotes Ps.88.11, "You humbled the proud like a thing slain", and comments, "which means the devil and all those who do his works". On 36v he quotes Ps.62.11, "They shall be portions for foxes", and comments, "which are the demons...". Many more examples of this kind could be given. It may be noted also that, in the Antony quotations which Besa selects, much is said about the activities of the demons (68r and 72v ff). Thus it is clear that the work of the devil and the demons occupies a prominent place in Besa's writings. It must not however be supposed that this is an indication of a superstitious outlook. It is largely based on N.T. teaching. But the environment of Besa's religious belief was no doubt conducive to his interest in the subject.

Besa's writings clearly show that he had to devote much of his time and energy to the combating of sinfulness in his monks and nuns. His moral exhortations touch on a

variety of human failings which he was aiming to uproot among his monastic communities. Nobody could have taken a more serious view of sin than Besa and nobody could have striven harder to inculcate this same attitude in his charges. He underlines his exhortations to avoid sin by speaking of the pain and sorrow which sin causes in heaven. Not only God and his Christ are grieved but also the "fathers" who have already gone to heaven (19r). This same idea is expressed in a quotation from Antony where it is said that sins not only affect the sinner but are also "painful to the angels and to all the saints in Christ Jesus" (71v). As has already been seen, sin is thought of as the means whereby the power of Satan is enlarged and his dominion extended (37r). Though Besa in many of his writings seems to be dealing with very serious lapses from virtue as for instance theft, physical violence, and lying, nevertheless it must not be thought that his conception of sin moves only on the surface. He is just as anxious to put an end to the more insidious sins of disobedience, pride, and boastfulness to mention only a few. In his pastoral admonitions he often emphasises the necessity for continual endeavour in the good life and the need for watchfulness in the good fight (e.g. 70v).

Self-examination is recommended as a help in the fight against sin (e.g. 65r), and no doubt self-examination presupposes an awakened conscience already instructed in Christian ethics. In this connection attention may be drawn to the following passage, "For thus said those of understanding when they saw that we were not examining ourselves or judging ($\Delta \land KP \mid N \in$) whether Christ was in us, 'Many', they said, 'are troubled in the community, for their lack of judgment (MNTATAIAKPINE) is killing them'" (43v). Again self-examination is commended or its absence deplored and the readers are contrasted with "those of understanding". Schepleis, it may be noted, is a term of some importance in the history of early monasticism. In the Vita Antonii the term is used of the distinguishing between good and bad spirits, a use perhaps derived from I Cor.12.10, while in the Apophthegmata patrum it refers to the charisma of discernment which is essential for those who lead an ascetic life (cf. Heussi. Ursprung, p.232, and Holl, Enthusiasmus, p.150f). The similarity of terminology thus shown between anchoretic and later coenobitic literature may perhaps suggest a similarity of religious values at this point.

Besa's serious estimate of the sins of his monks and

nuns is heightened by his emphasis upon the sinfulness of the world outside the monastery. Alluding to I Pet.4.3, he reminds his readers of their former sins, while in the world (48r). Only by God's grace can a man be brought into the monastery from the sinful world (e.g. 23v, 86v). So convinced is Besa that the monastic calling is an effective antidote to sin, that he sometimes uses phraseology about entry into the monastery which would seem more appropriate to baptism (e.g. 49r, 74r). If, as seems most probable, entry into a monastery did not, in the majority of cases, coincide with conversion to Christianity, Besa's language would seem to imply a depreciation of Christianity outside the monastery. The monastery according to Besa is the place where men can repent of their wickedness and where they should take care to avoid a repetition of their sin (e.g. 19v). Various ways are advocated by Besa by which his charges can avoid sin of which the following predominate: the obeying of the commandments both of God (e.g. 40v) and of the superiors (e.g. 19v); fearing God and his Christ (e.g. 17v, 19v); remembering the Lord and trusting in him (e.g. Zoega CCIV, PIS). A matter of greater significance emerges when Besa discusses the relationship between mortification of the body and good works. On 37r he quotes Jn.12.24, "Unless the grain of

wheat falls upon the earth and dies it remains alone, but if it die it bears much fruit", and comments, "Thus also unless a man mortifies his body, he shall be without avail in his works, but if he mortify himself he shall bear much fruit in good works", to which he appends I Pet.4.1-2.

Needless to say Besa's application of Jn.12.24 is un-warrantable, but it is interesting to note that what he is, in effect, saying is that the monastic disciplining of the body must inevitably result in good works.

Besa's writings, it does not seem strange that he emphasises the freedom of man's choice between good and evil. But this is not to say that he disregards the working of the grace of God, though it is impossible to conclude whether or not he had arrived at a synthesis in his understanding of man's free will and God's grace. On the whole one gains the impression that Besa's references to the working of God's grace in man's spiritual progress are somewhat formalistic and largely due to his familiarity with Biblical phraseology. It must remain doubtful whether he had succeeded in assimilating its contents and integrating it in his theological thought. A few examples will illustrate the difficulty. The N.T. position with

regard to this problem is exemplified by Phil.2.12-13, where moral exhortation is rightly related to the operation of God's grace. The inherent tension of this relationship is maintained. Besa quotes Phil.2.12-13 (31r and 48v), "Work out your salvation in fear and trembling. For it is God who works in you the will and the fulfilment of the will". One cannot be sure whether Phil.2.13 is a vital truth for Besa or whether it is quoted because it is the link between Phil.2.12 and Phil.2.14 both of which contain exhortations relevant to Besa's pastoral instruction. In both cases (31r and 48v) he goes on to quote Phil.2.14-15.

On occasions Besa ends his letters with an expression of confidence that the Lord will provide the means whereby evil may be eschewed and good works performed (31v, Zoega CCIV, $C\overline{NA} - C\overline{NB}$). These examples may, of course, be nothing more than pious formulae with which the writer concludes his letters. But nevertheless there remain passages which show that Besa was aware that human effort alone is not enough. In Zoega CCVI, \overline{QNE} , he, when recording the works of charity performed by his monks during a famine, says that they performed their ministry "not by our strength, but by the grace of God our Saviour, who gave himself a ransom for everyone" (for the last clause, cf. I Tim.2.6).

Antony, quotes the hermit as saying that God gives power and strengthening grace to those that seek him and advance to him (71v-72r).

The importance which Besa attaches to good works cannot be over-emphasised. They have an effect not only on the doer but also on his teachers and those responsible for him. Besa is aware of St.Paul's exhortation to the Philippians that they should persist "in the word of life for a glorying unto me on the day of Christ" (Phil.2.16). On 31r he actually quotes this verse and, without referring to St. Paul, applies it to himself. This idea played a not inconsiderable part in Besa's thought. The "fathers" also pride themselves on their charges if their commandments are obeyed (e.g. 31v) and the monks' moral efforts give satisfaction to the "fathers" already in heaven (e.g. 19r). As for the doer of good works, Besa's conception of their vital importance to him may be summarised in his own words, (65r) "It is the good that each one will have done that he will find beside him at that time" (i.e. Day of Judgment).

Another way in which Besa underlines the importance of the good life can be found on 53v-54r where he likens the good monk to an angel and the evil monk to a devil. Perhaps this passage should be considered in connection with the fact that in Shenoute's day his monks were commonly called "angels" and the monastery "Heavenly Jerusalem" (cf. Leipoldt, Schenute, p.161). The latter term is also used in Besa's writings, though the passage is somewhat difficult (cf. 79v, note 1). The terminology here discussed may, however, not only illustrate Besa's high regard for good works but may also imply a special spiritual claim for those who follow the monastic way of life.

In BN175, Besa speaks of another circumstance attendant upon the leading of a blameless life in the monastery. The relevant passage may be summarised (BM175, CKA - CK5): the readers are told that the Spirit of Christ cannot live in them because of their unworthiness, and because they are the abodes of unclean spirits. The spirits of the righteous also are unable to dwell in them because demons are in them. They have scared away the Spirit of God and therefore the spirits of the apostles and prophets will not come to them. Demons triumph over them and mock them. Expounding Lk.10.5-6, Besa says that only with the sons of peace will the Holy Spirit abide. This passage presents a variety of problems. It is noteworthy that Besa makes the indwelling of the Spirit dependent on the worthiness of the recipient. This, of course, is in contrast to Pauline

theology where the indwelling of the Spirit is linked with conversion and is the starting-point for a life in Christ. Since Besa is writing to members of his monastic communities, it is impossible to say whether he intended his remarks to be applicable also to Christians outside the monastery. In other words, is in Besa's opinion the experience of the indwelling of the Spirit possible for monks and nuns only, or equally for all Christians? Does perhaps the reference to the spirits of the apostles and prophets imply a specific monastic claim to be their successors? To judge from Besa's remarks it would seem that the operation of the Spirit is confined to those whose strict observance of the monastic discipline makes them worthy recipients of it. If this interpretation be accepted, a transformation of the view on the operation of the Spirit may be observed. The Spirit's unfettered manifestations thought to be evident in the line of succession through the prophets, apostles, martyrs, anchorites, has now been directed into narrower channels circumscribed by monastic discipline (cf. Leipoldt, Schenute, p.53ff).

The concepts of reward and punishment occupy a prominent position in Besa's writings in encouraging the good and warning the evil among his monastic communities. Here

Besa is in close agreement with the N.T. where, as in his writings, the ideas of reward and punishment are linked with the judgment of God. Later ideas of "merit" and "satisfaction", which had their origin in the ideas of reward and punishment and which made man into a contractual partner of God - man by his good works having a definite claim upon God -, are absent from the writings of Besa. His fidelity to the Bible prevents him from questioning God's absolute sovereignty and man's utter dependence. Besa often tells the sinful that the things which they do will not profit them (e.g. 20r). He threatens them with punishment not only in the after-life but also here and now (e.g. 39r, 47r). Conversely he holds out the hope of reward for the good both here and in the life to come (e.g. 19r, 44r). On the whole, however, Besa's emphasis is chiefly laid on rewards and punishments after death (e.g. 59v. 82v). But there are many calamities which may befall the sinner while yet in the world. Zoega CCVI provides a good example. On ON5 Besa acknowledges to God that the disastrous famine which is plaguing the land is the direct result of sin. It is because of sin that God has withheld the yearly inundation of the Nile (\$\overline{7}\$). Another punishment which the sinners may bring upon themselves

here and now is that they will be forsaken by the angels of God and those who teach them (36v).

Many times does Besa repeat that the wrath of God will finally be brought to bear upon the sinner on the Day of Judgment (e.g. 26v). He is aware that every man's life is lived under the judgment of God (e.g. 66v), and he quotes II Cor.5.10, "We know that it is at all times necessary for us all to stand at the judgment-seat of Christ and for each one to receive through his body according to the things he has done whether good or evil" (50r). Not only thus does he show his consciousness that all man's actions have a direct relationship to the Judgment and that each individual stands or falls irrevocably by it. His repeated references to the Judgment seem to make it the pivot of his religious thought. Besa. in harmony with the N.T., maintains that man's works do indeed count at the Judgment, yet the inscrutability of the mind of God is emphasised. There is no better summary of his position than that in his own words on 42r, "Therefore, brethren, it is good for us to acquire for ourselves the fear of the Lord and to depart from the things which God hates, that we may find grace on the day of our visitation, since we do not know how we shall meet God and our Lord Jesus. For it is a

very hard thing to meet God. He whom we shall meet is not a man like us, but he is Lord and God, knowing the things we do in the darkness."

Besa makes it clear that he realises the finality of God's judgment and the suddenness with which the Day of Judgment comes to pass (e.g. 43v, 70v). It is not remarkable that Besa has so little to say on the subject of the eternal bliss awaiting the righteous as, for the most part, he is concerned with warning sinners of the fearful consequences of their misdeeds. It is, however, surprising how restrained Besa is in his language describing the final Judgment and the ensuing punishment for sinners. His imagery is drawn from the Bible. The misery of the sinners' plight is dwelt upon (e.g. 26v, 43v, 50r), and the traditional picture of their fate in the fiery furnace is used (e.g. 29v, 34v). One other passage is worthy of note, viz. 27r, where Besa says that the Lord will "mock at your perdition and he will deride you when tribulation comes to you and you are in straits down in Amente in the time of your need."

The judge is God, and his Christ is sometimes associated with him in judging and punishing (e.g. 34v). But Besa seems to be aware of Biblical passages such as

Mt.19.28, Lk.22.30 and I Cor.6.2 from which it is clear that the apostles and all the saints will play their part at the Judgment. For in BM175, $\subset \overline{\lambda}$ 8, he states that the "fathers" will judge him and he in turn his charges.

It cannot be repeated too often that Besa's writings are not theological treatises but pastoral documents provoked by practical needs. Nevertheless the absence of any hints that Christ and his redemptive work occupied their rightful place in Besa's thought is remarkable. Even if one were to concede that Besa's Christianity included a developed Christology which had left no traces in his preserved writings, it is difficult to see how it could fit into the scheme of religious thought which has been traced above. Man faces God and God judges him, indeed is merciful to him, but the divine actions are unrelated to and unaffected by the atoning death and resurrection of Christ. The effects of Christ's work on God, on man, and on the world are apparently ignored. (For Shenoute's Christology, in many aspects similar, cf. Leipoldt, Schenute, p.81f.) This does not, of course, mean that Christ is not mentioned in Besa's writings, but the passages having any Christological significance where he is mentioned, for the most part merely repeat Bible phrases and do not seem to be

integrated in Besa's thought. The references to Christ's death, for instance, are taken from I Thes.5.9-10, Tit.

2.14 and I Tim.2.6 (31r, 70r-70v). Christ's conduct under suffering is adduced as an example in the words of I Pet.

2.21 (76r) and also in Besa's own words, "Let us indeed be worthy that they should despise us for the sake of God's name and for Christ, for because of his name we have suffered. They despised God and crucified him unto death.."

(87v). In the latter passage it may be noted that Besa does not seem to distinguish between God the Father and God the Son, though this probably has no doctrinal significance.

In reading Besa's writings, one becomes conscious that he had an unshakable confidence in God. In the strength of his personal faith in God he was enabled to carry out his duty, however difficult. God the righteous judge will vindicate himself and those who have led the good life. In this faith Besa lives and it is his war-cry in the battle which he wages against sin.

Monastic Life in Besa's Day.

The White Monastery, of which Besa was abbot, is situated in the region of Akhmim, near Sohag. It is built on a hill beside the ancient village of Atripe (cf. K.Bae-deker, Egypt and the Sudan, Leipzig, 1929, p.229). To this day there remain considerable portions of the original buildings including the church which was built by Shenoute. A modern impression of the place together with some illustrations has been recorded by A.L.Schmitz, Das Weisse und das Rote Kloster, in Die Antike (Berlin), III, p.326ff.

J.Leipoldt (Leipoldt, Schenute, p.95f), on the basis of a passage in the works of Shenoute, estimates that the land belonging to the White Monastery covered an area of at least 50 sq.km. (i.e. 19.32 sq. miles). Within these bounds there were, in addition to the main monastery, a number of daughter houses; some occupied by monks, some by nuns. As has been noted before, the number of monks and nuns under Shenoute's jurisdiction was considerable, more than 4000 in all (cf. p.53). The population probably was much the same in Besa's day.

Turning now to the evidence from Besa's own writings, it must be realised that it is impossible to draw a com-

plete picture of life in the White Monastery under Besa. Such incidental information as is available merely affords glimpses of it. Many of the gaps could, no doubt, be filled from Shenoute's writings if, as seems probable, practices changed little under the two abbots. I have not, however, adopted this course since much of the Shenoute material has been dealt with so fully in Leipoldt, Schenute. Only when it throws fresh light on some point in Besa's writings have I made use of it.

A great variety of people entered the White Monastery. Both men and women sought admission. Age was no barrier for both young and old joined the community. Even children seem to have been admitted as the context of the reference to the "little one" on 87r-87v shows. Most of the entrants probably came from the poverty-stricken peasantry, but there is evidence that people of higher rank also took the vow. A case in point is that of the nun Aphthonia who was the daughter of the comes Alexandros (Zoega CCIV, CALA). As regards the family ties linking various members of the communities, the evidence is obscured by the fact that the terms father, mother, brother, sister, son, and daughter are used not only of natural but also of monastic relationships. It can, however, be stated with some confidence

that women who had borne children were admitted (e.g. 15v, 18r, 23r), as were also fathers (e.g. 6lv-62r). From a reference on 65r it would appear that often several members of one family (e.g. father and sons) joined the community together.

Many and varied were the motives which caused people to enter the monastery. The economic factor certainly played its part. Abject poverty led men to seek a refuge behind the walls of the monastery. The background of the disastrous economic conditions in Egypt has been sketched by H.I.Bell, The Byzantine Servile State in Egypt, JEA, IV, p.86ff. But the religious motive must not be ignored. Men firmly believed that, by leaving the world, they were better able to live a life pleasing to God and thus to attain eternal bliss. The influence and high reputation of the great hermits such as Antony, and the great abbots typified by Pachomius and Shenoute, also spurred on lesser men to emulate them. Perhaps they hoped that by entering the monastery their lives would acquire a reflected glory from the famous fathers. The abiding influence of the great abbots seems to be hinted at on 26r where it is reported that the monks were known as "the people of Apa Shenoute".

From Besa's writings nothing can be learnt about the period before a monk took his vow. Of the vow, however, there is evidence. In Zoega CCIV, No . part of it is quoted and a comparison with the vow introduced by Shenoute shows agreement in subject-matter though the individual promises are given in a different sequence from that in either of the formulae preserved in Shenoute's writings (C42, p.20; C73, p.40). A translation of the vow as quoted by Besa may be given, "We will not steal, we will not lie, we will not defile our body in any way, we will not bear false witness, we will not do anything deceitful secretly, and all the other words which come after these". The Shenoute vow runs thus (C42, p.20), "I vow before God in his holy place, the word which I have spoken with my mouth is my witness: I will not defile my body in any way, I will not steal, I will not bear false witness, I will not lie, I will not do anything deceitful secretly. If I transgress that which I have vowed, I shall see the kingdom of heaven yet will not enter 1t. God before whom I made the covenant will destroy my soul and my body in fiery Gehenna, because I transgressed the covenant which I made". The formula is called $\Delta 1 A \Theta H K H$ and there are at least two other passages in Besa's writings which may refer to it. In Paris 130', fol.19r - the leaf is mutilated - there is a reference to

a $\Delta \log \Theta$ HKH which must be made by all members of the monastic community. On 86r there is a more doubtful example. Herai is reproved for having rejected the $\Delta \log \Theta$ HKH which she has made with God. This may refer to the vow which, as has been seen, was thought of as being made before God. On the other hand it is possible that the reference is to the covenant relationship between God and every Christian. Besa may also have had the vow in mind on several occasions even though the term $\Delta \log \Theta$ HKH is not used. An example from 76v may be cited where the word used is Ω HT (cf. also 82v). On 78v Herai is spoken of as having broken "the pledge of her constancy" (Ω CTC Ω TCCCY Ω CALONH).

Besides taking the vow, anyone wishing to enter the monastery had to renounce his property. This seems to have been a source of trouble in the communities for Besa's letters are often concerned with the rules relating to it. The rule of poverty has always played an important part in monasticism. Already in the days of the anchorites it was highly exalted. Besa, when discussing it, draws upon the traditional N.T. passages in support of it (e.g. Acts 4.32 on 77v; Mt.19.21 on Zoega CCIV, CNA; Lk.12.33 on Zoega CCIV, CNB). The rules governing the renunciation of property are dealt with at some length on 77r-78v. The

following points of interest emerge. Each monk had to divest himself of all his belongings either by written or unwritten agreement (EITE ETTRAPOC EITE ATPAPOC 78v). According to Leipoldt. Schenute. p.106f, Shenoute stipulated that the renunciation should be certified in writing. Possibly Besa relaxed Shenoute's rule, although the disagreement may only be the result of the paucity of evidence for Shenoute's demands on this point. The belongings were to be made over "to the fellowship of God and the service of the poor" (77v). In other words the beneficiary was the monastery which, in suitable cases, allocated part to charity. Again the divergency from the rules of Shenoute as given in Leipoldt. Schenute. p.107. may be noted. There it was not laid down how a man should dispose of his property. To whom he gave it was a matter for his personal decision.

Besa underlines that the rules mentioned by him are hallowed by tradition and are equally binding for everybody (77v). The renunciation of property is final. Members of the monastic communities, even if they wanted to leave, were unable to ask for anything back, nor had their relations at any time any claim (77v, 78r). The reason for this severity lies, according to Besa, in the fact that

the property was used for the benefit of the community and therefore sudden demands would upset the economic stability of the monastery (78r-78v). Besa emphasises the importance of these regulations by saying, "For the laws of the churches and the laws of the monasteries are accounted to be quite inflexible especially concerning the common life" (78r). The finality of the renunciation is also dwelt on in the letter to Herai in the words, "the things you promised to God were from then on no longer yours but God's" (85r). It may be interesting to note that the same words are used in a letter to Antinoe (Zoega CCIV, CN). So serious a view does Besa take of those who demand the restoration of their property, that he likens them to those who rob the temple of the Lord (85v).

It seems clear that the abbots of the White Monastery incurred on occasions the charge of having mercenary motives in their recruitment of monks and nuns. Besa defends himself and his predecessors and says that no force has ever been used to make a man become a monk. Therefore a man was free to do as he pleased with his property until he decided voluntarily to seek admittance to a monastery. This seems to be the most satisfactory interpretation of the difficult passage on 77r (but of the Detached Note ad loc.). Besa seems to be defending himself against the

same accusation on 87r.

The monastic way of life necessarily involves separation from the world. The rules concerning this separation had to be enforced vigorously. Besa's writings show that they were not always kept unquestioningly. Even the accepting of gifts from one's parents without permission was not allowed, as the case of the nun Aphthonia shows who was prevented from so doing (Zoega CCIV, CAE). On Paris 130'. fol.15r-15v Besa forbids the acceptance of all gifts from people outside the monastery without authorisation from the superiors. No excuse is considered sufficient to waive this rule, neither the plea that it is for charity, nor the importunity of the donor, nor yet that it is for the good of the donor's soul. In the same passage Besa specifies some of the gifts, viz. grain and wool and Προσφορά (meaning perhaps food, or else a religious offering).

Some monks were also reproved for going outside the monastery without permission to meet and converse with renegade monks, some of whom were related to those who came out to meet them (Zoega CCIV, CKT). Unauthorised excursions to the neighbouring towns or villages are also condemned by Besa (Paris 130', fol.15v). A monk who is not only a thief but has also absented himself for the

night taking with him, and thus corrupting, a young monk, incurs the abbot's special displeasure.

Desertion from the monastery seems to have been no uncommon sin (64r). It may be noted that in the vow, as known to us, the monk does not promise explicitly to persevere in the monastic calling for the rest of his life. But there is little doubt that this was the norm. This is clear from the vigour with which Besa denounces those "who have denied their constancy" (e.g. 60v, 77r, 80r-80v). Yet the act of desertion is apparently not unforgivable in Besa's eyes, for on 64r he asks the monk Matthew, who had left his monastery, to return to it. The reasons for the many desertions cannot be ascertained. It seems likely that the monastic discipline sometimes proved too irksome and the attractions of the world too powerful a temptation. Sometimes family ties were stronger than the ties of allegiance to the monastery (23r, 65r). In this connection the difficult passage on 87v may be considered. It appears that a young inmate of the monastery entrusted to Besa was abducted by force by men from outside the monastery.

Though unauthorised contacts with the world were strongly discouraged, Besa realised that an important aspect of the monastic way of life was the influence which

expected to set a good example, and he does not doubt that the monasteries were a moral force which the world could not ignore. Only too often was Besa disappointed by the behaviour of the members of his communities. More than once he reproves them for having fallen short of the standard expected of them, and having therefore failed in their mission to the world (16v-17r, 26r, 49v).

But there were not only indirect contacts with the world of which Besa approved. In times of calamity he did not hesitate to open the gates of his monastery to sufferers from outside. A case in point is recorded in Zoega CCVI, ΦNr-Φ38 where the monks succoured victims of a disastrous famine. J. Vandier, La Famine dans l'Egypte Ancienne (Cairo, 1936), gives evidence for the prevalence of famines throughout Egypt's history. The natural causes of these famines were failure or irregularity in the yearly inundations of the Nile. J. Vandier shows that a strong and effective government could avert disaster even in such cases. Great suffering only ensued when natural calamities were aggravated by the failure of the administration to take the necessary measures. In the instance with which Besa is concerned the Nile had failed to rise. Disease followed in the wake of the famine. More than 5000-6000

sufferers sought refuge in the monastery and were cared for by the monks. Food, baths and medical treatment were provided, and those who died (about 128) were duly buried. By thus encouraging the monks' ministrations in times of emergency, Besa is following the example of Shenoute (cf. Leipoldt, Schenute, p.171ff).

That Besa himself was not entirely cut off from the world outside is clear from the letter contained in Paris 130⁵, fol.127. He writes to the clergy, the secular administrators, and the people of certain villages to reprove them for quarrelling over a "piece of wood". The quarrel is unfitting for Christians. It is possible that trouble has arisen over a relic. Besa, it would appear, thought of himself as having pastoral responsibilities towards these people though they are not monks. It may be noted that his authoritative advice is given not only to laymen but also to the clergy (TRECRYTEFOC, ANAKONOC).

Besa had supreme authority not only over the community in which he lived but also over the daughter houses, both monasteries and convents, which formed part of the White Monastery. The details of the organisation in the time of Besa cannot be learnt from his writings though something is known of those who shared with him the task of disciplining the monastic settlements. In the writings to

monks there are references to elders (2000 e.g. 55v) and to fathers (EIUT e.g. 35v) who are in positions of responsibility in the monasteries. Some of the monks seem to have been singled out for special tasks, for instance the monk Matthew was sent on an errand (64r). Paris 130', fol. 15v also seems to suggest that monks might be sent on errands in twos by their superiors. There is a little more evidence for the organisation of the convents. Both a mother superior and her deputy are mentioned in BM175, CLB (MACY SATINTHYTH WINTETNHY WINDOWC). If ZOOBE CCXXXVIII be rightly ascribed to Besa, there is also evidence for an elder (2\lambda\circo) on duty at the gate of a convent. It is known that trusted monks could hold positions of some importance in convents (cf. Leipoldt, Schenute, p.139). Moreover Besa employed monks in authority as letter-bearers to the convents and at the same time empowered them to inquire into any difficulties which had arisen there. The nuns are exhorted to look upon them as the abbot's representatives and to confess their sins and troubles openly to them (e.g. 18r, 24v). The envoys have even the right to apportion punishments (e.g. 38v). Only if all these expedients fail to be of any avail, will Besa himself visit the malcontents in anger and punish them (e.g. 17v, 20v, Michigan 158/22, Zoega CCVI, \$\pi\tag{1}\$).

It is necessary to consider in greater detail the duties devolving upon the superiors and the relationship between them and their charges. The most significant statement of the duties and responsibilities of the superiors is contained in 55v ff. Their tasks may be summed up in Besa's own words, "Care for their souls according to God and (do) not leave them lacking that which is needful for our way of life" (56r). It is thus indicated that the superiors were responsible for the physical well-being of their charges as well as for their spiritual needs (cf. also 51v). The monks and nuns are constantly being exhorted to obey their superiors (e.g. 17v, 19v, 57v), and again and again are they told that they must not take the initiative in anything but must ask for permission before acting (e.g. 41v). Clearly the abbot expected close cooperation between the superiors and their charges. "If there is anyone whose heart is grieved in anything", he writes, "who prevents him from sensibly and wisely telling it to your fathers?" (53r, cf. also 61v).

In spite of all these efforts to secure fellowship and unanimity of purpose in the monastery, discord and friction still arose. Besa has to tell the nun Aphthonia, who wished to go to another convent (Zoega CCIV, CAZ),

that if she has any complaints she ought to make them to her mother superior (Zoega CCIV, CAS). In the case of Mary and Talou their complaints reach such a pitch that they refuse to obey and rebel against the monastic discipline (15v-16r, cf. also 22r). Insubordination may go so far that even the possibility of physical violence against authority is envisaged (18v, 35v).

What kind of disciplinary action was brought to bear on sinners in the community? It is noteworthy that corporal punishment, which plays so prominent a part in Shenoute's punitive system, is not mentioned in the writings of Besa. The extreme punishment of expulsion seems to have been a possibility, if this be the right interpretation of 19v. A difficult problem arises in connection with a reference on 23r. Mary, the sister of Matai is accused of having exclaimed, "I shall not go to the gate to receive punishment", and Besa goes on to say. "And did you not thus disobey our injunction? Was it not we that said, let them go to the gate and receive punishment?" Before discussing the possible interpretations of this passage it is necessary to define what is meant by "the gate". Each community had a gate-house in which the prospective members of the community spent some time before taking the

wow (cf. Leipoldt, Schenute, p.112). Therefore the person in charge at the gate had to be tried and trusted. His responsibility was great because his was the task of safeguarding the frontier between cloister and world. It is possible then that the above passage, without specifying the exact nature of the punishment, alludes to the fact that the person at the gate had authority to punish evildoers. But it is equally possible that the punishment intended is demotion. Mary was to go back and join again the novices at the gate. This is a punishment known to have been meted out in the days of Shenoute (cf. Leipoldt. Schenute, p.141). The pride and insolence which has incurred Mary's punishment brings to mind Pachomian punishments for similar misdeeds. There the monk who is angry without cause and he who sets himself up as a judge may be punished with demotion. I quote the relevant passages from A.Boon, Pachomiana Latina, Louvain, 1932: Praecepta atque Iudicia 2 (CLXI), p.64, Iracundus et furiosus, si frequenter irascitur sine causa et propter rem inanam et uacuam, per sex uices commonebitur; in septima facient eum consurgere de ordine sessionis suae et inter ultimos conlocabitur, docebuntque eum ut ab hac mentis perturbatione mundetur. Cumque tres testes dignos testimonio, qui pro

eo polliceantur nequaquam simile quid esse facturum, adduxerit, recipiet sessionem suam. Alioquin, si permanserit in uitio, moretur inter ultimos, perdito priori loco.

9 (CLXVIII), p.67, Qui iudex est omnium peccatorum et peruersitate mentis uel neglegentia reliquerit ueritatem, uiginti uiri sancti et timentes Deum siue decem, et usque ad quinque, de quibus omnes dent testimonium, sedebunt et iudicabunt eum et degradabunt eum in ultimum gradum donec corrigatur. A third though less convincing interpretation is that Besa is referring to a verdict of expulsion.

As has been seen, punishments were not always willingly accepted. In Paris 130', fols.lov-llv, it is revealed that there was dissension over Besa's punitive system. Apparently the public punishment of certain evildoers was resented and it was thought best that they should be sent away secretly. Besa supports the public punishment by quoting I Tim.5.20, "Them that sin reprove in the sight of all that the rest also may be in fear", and by pointing out that the punishment is not man's but God's. He also reminds his readers of certain sayings of "our holy father" advocating drastic punishment and threatening divine judgment. The longer of these quotations can be traced to Shenoute. The passage (on llv) occurs in the unpublished

MS of Shenoute's epistles, kept in the Institut français, Cairo, on Cub. The director of the Institut français, M. Ch. Kuentz, has kindly sent me a copy of the relevant passage which shows that the divergences are few and of little significance. A translation of the passage may be given, "Is this not the place and the day when God shall destroy your souls and your bodies? And is it not the time when I shall not only let the laws scour your sides and a fire be kindled beneath you and your heads be cut off, but I shall also set up gallows in the streets of these communities and shall let you be hanged on them until you dry up and the birds eat your flesh (cf. Gen. 40.19) which you have made members of deceit. And I shall slay you with my hands even as the priests of Baal (cf. III Kg.18.40) because you were not priests in his (God's) house fittingly but you rather destroyed it." Unfortunately it is impossible to know whether Shenoute intended such bloody punishments to be carried out literally, or whether Besa, by quoting it, shows that he would be prepared to adopt such measures. The Biblical language perhaps favours a nonliteral interpretation. From the evidence on punishment in Besa it would seem much more probable that, though he claims the right to punish sinners publicly, he would not have

gone to such extremes.

It must not of course be supposed that coenobitism offered nothing more than a penal code to enable the individual to lead the good life. The ideal of fellowship and mutual advancement was alive in Besa's communities. In spite of the fact that Besa's writings were usually provoked by shortcomings and lapses, nevertheless traces of the ideal can be found in his writings. The community is thought of as nurturing her members and is spoken of as she "who nursed you, Jerusalem (Bar.4.8), that is to say the community" (38r, cf. also 62r). The idea of fellowship is exalted (e.g. 47r) and unity and harmony extolled (e.g. 53r). Favouritism therefore is deplored. Besa is greatly distressed at the thought that some in his communities may be friendless, neglected, and unhappy. He desires "the same equality (cf. II Cor.8.14) for all of them together" (56v, cf. also K.923). The deceit and mistrust which sin engenders destroy the freedom which should exist in the monasteries (e.g. 43r). Mutual edification is the goal even if Besa is forced to acknowledge. "we weakly act as a drag on one another instead of being an edification to each other we have become mutually destructive with the devil's works" (52r, cf. also 67r). Besa is aware how

strong can be the influence, for good or for evil, of individuals one upon another in the close confines of a monastic community. The nun Herai is told that she has "become a stumbling to many" (81v) and one group of monks is reproved thus, "You are ensuared by one another, and you make a pit for one another" (54r). Besa envisages even the possibility that the minds of some can be corrupted against their teachers by their fellows (51r). Offensive talk and idle chatter seem to have been the most powerful means of undermining the fellowship (e.g. 46v, 47v, 66v, 76r). In the case of Matthew, the defection of a trusted monk did much harm by the bad example which it set (61r).

Besa seems to suggest that the innocent are affected by the sins of the evildoers amongst them. The sinners bring shame upon the guiltless (e.g. 25v, 34v). The wicked are repeatedly told that they cannot shift the blame for their misdeeds on to the community. Any faults that can be found within it are the responsibility of its evil members (e.g. 16r-16v). Those who disturb the community in any way also come in for a large share of Besa's censure (e.g. 15v, 19r, 48r). The trouble-makers sometimes go so far as to incite their brethren to rebellion. On

53v Besa refers to some monks who have disseminated notices urging rebellion.

Of the actual rules governing daily life in the monasteries, little can be learnt from Besa's writings. From Zoega CCIV. Cλθ - CLB, some information can be obtained about discipline in the infirmary and the refectory. No one may visit the sick without permission and to be found in the infirmary at night is considered a great sin. Monks must not behave at meals there as though they were at a banquet or in a tavern. They should talk as little as possible, a rule which also applies to the refectory where a monk, wishing to make a request, is to knock on the table. To feign illness in order to gain admittance to the infirmary is strictly forbidden. This was no doubt a temptation as the food was better and the treatment more considerate for the sick (cf. Leipoldt, Schenute, p.120ff). But, however appetising the food, each monk must be satisfied with his share and must not ask for morsels intended for others.

As has been seen before, the moral failings of the monks and nuns occupy a substantial part of Besa's writings. This is inevitable since he was writing to set right abuses. It is therefore difficult to estimate fairly the

moral standard in the White Monastery in his day. The realistic attitude of Besa suggests that at least some members of his communities had shown that his monastic ideals could be approached. On the other hand it must be admitted that many of the failings mentioned by Besa seem almost incompatible with life in a religious community. Yet the world outside the monastery was impressed by the attainments of the "men of Apa Shenoute", though it must be added that the significance of this admiration cannot be gauged since so little is known about the moral standards of 5th century Egypt.

and his letters contain numerous catalogues of sins. Examples of these can be found on 15r, 15v, 19v, 20r, 32r, and they include the following sins: abominations, wickedness, hatred, strife, quarrelling, contradicting, grumbling, disobedience, pride, envy, boastfulness, scorn, contempt, deceit, lying, theft, and pollutions. This last renders XUZA and is very frequently mentioned. The sin denoted thereby is not certain. It may be conjectured that it included impure thoughts and minor transgressions of the many rules which were designed to safeguard against the grosser sexual sins. In this category belong perhaps the following

acts of vanity which Besa proscribes: the embroidering $(\omega\lambda\omega)$ of garments (Zoega CCVI, ϕ 08, ϕ 05, and Zoega CCIV, $c\lambda\lambda$), and the washing of face or feet for beautification (Zoega CCIV, $c\lambda\lambda$). The nun Aphthonia's gift of perfume to a young nun which caused so much scandal may also be mentioned here (Zoega CCIV, $c\lambda\lambda$).

Theft is a vice that figures prominently in Besa's writings. Among the objects which the monks and nuns pilfered from one another there are included money, various types of clothing - cord. girdle. cloak. cowl - and also food intended either for the service of God or for their fellows (e.g. 27v, 35v, 37v). Some of the clothes which were stolen were disposed of by the monks to their relations who had at one time been with them in the monastery and later deserted (Zoega CCIV, CKT). Besa naturally takes a very serious view of the theft of the loaves for the Bucharist (Προςφορλ . Zoega CCIV, C∈). The thieves did not confine their activities within the monastery walls but even went into the neighbouring vineyards and took jars of wine and grapes (25v-26r). Perhaps the theft which moves him to the greatest indignation is that of some monks who have taken the necessities of the sick. They are likened to murderers because they have deprived the sick

of the things they need (33v-35r). Their transgression is made more odious by the fact that they boasted that their crime had not been found out (34r, cf. also 28r).

In K.965, PK3 - PKH, Besa has occasion to remind some monks of "our father's" curse on those who do physical violence and on those who use bad language. Another specific crime which Besa sets out to combat is illicit trafficking contrary to the monastic rules (e.g. 55v). On 41r-41v this same delict is coupled with that of eating and drinking wine covertly inside or outside the monastery. The monk who thus seeks to circumvent the strict dietary rules of the cloister earns special opprobrium.

A great part of the monk's day was spent in some form of manual labour. This was the case both in order that the monastery should be self-supporting and because of the tradition of its educative value for anchorites and coenobites. The monasteries did not, however, possess economic autarchy. Some of their products were traded for essential goods (cf. Leipoldt, Schenute, p.136). The monasteries became indeed important factors in the economic life of Egypt. They produced their wares comparatively cheaply and were thus in a position to capture the market (cf. Heussi, Ursprung, p.114f). The references to work in the

writings of Besa are few. In Zoega CCIV, CAS - CAH, he gives instructions to craftsmen to hand over their products to appointed men, who may perhaps be described as storekeepers. These men are responsible to God and the abbot. The craftsmen themselves have no rights over their products. From the list of craftsmen to whom this applies and from a catalogue of products, it is possible to gain some knowledge of the various activities pursued in the monastery. The craftsmen include carpenters, smiths, ?potters (MATCEKUT), sack-weavers, linen-weavers, basket-makers, tailors, scribes, and bookbinders. The list of products includes shoes, girdles, straps, soles of sandals, ?pouches (THHB€), pincers to extract thorns, nails, sickles. spades (or picks), ?agricultural implements (KANAHPE . but cf. Crum, Dict., p.103b), pegs, points of ?agricultural implements. Another reference to work can be found in Paris 130', fol.14r-14v. In spite of the fragmentary condition of the leaf, a certain amount of information can be extracted. According to "our father's" instruction, each monk is to use his own discretion about the amount of work he does. It is possible that this advice is given in connection with times of fasting. Moreover it is forbidden that any new task should be undertaken in contravention of

the superior's command. This applies primarily to the periods of fasting. Apparently it was customary in the past for articles so made to be burnt. This need no longer be done though work so performed is still considered "profitless".

When not at work, the monks and nuns spent much of their day in religious exercises. Nothing approaching a complete picture of their religious life can be reconstructed from Besa's writings. Moral teaching they certainly did receive (e.g. 25r, 33r), though it is not clear exactly what form it took. Probably both individual exhortation and formal instruction played some part. There is also evidence for more specifically religious teaching. On 21r, for instance, Besa says that the superiors "instruct us from the scriptures and the gospels of our Lord Jesus Christ" (cf. also 30r, 32v). The members of the community were also encouraged to exercise self-examination, so as to be aware of their true spiritual state and to judge whether Christ was in them (e.g. 43v-44r. 65r). Mortification of the body is also recommended (37r). A form of mortification about which some more evidence is available in the writings of Besa is the practice of fasting. On 59r-59v Besa encourages his charges to observe more carefully the Lenten fast. It has come to his notice that many monks do not differentiate

between Lent and the rest of the year but continue to partake of the daily evening meal, which, it may be added, was the only meal in the White Monastery (cf. Leipoldt, Schenute, p.118f). Besa does not prescribe any rigid rules but says that each should fast according to his strength. He wishes that his readers would exert themselves more because even some laymen fast two or four days or even a week, as do some of his own monks also. Another fasting period mentioned is the "two weeks" (MCABBATON CNAY which is referred to in Paris 130'. fols.14r and 16r. This seems to have been a period some time in the Easter season. It may be noted that Shenoute also refers to MCABBATON CNUY (C73. p.156) without however throwing any further light on it (cf. perhaps also Leipoldt, Schenute, p.128). From the Paris leaves, which are unfortunately fragmentary, it appears that the normal activities of the monks were curtailed to enable them to fast. It was customary for a monk who had fasted two days on end during these "two weeks" to be excused the reading and recitation at evening prayer on the second day if he felt too weak to do it. Though not mentioned by Besa, it is known that morning and evening prayer was a daily feature of life in the White Monastery at which portions of Scripture were read and recited (cf. Leipoldt, Schenute, p.130).

Evidence for a special service held on the commemoration day of Shenoute is contained in Zoega CCVII, which is part of a sermon preached by Besa on this occasion.

An incidental reference to the celebration of the Eucharist on the Lord's day in the Life of Shenoute (C41. p.49) suggests that this service took place at least every Sunday. But there is a difficult passage in Paris 130'. fol.16r-16v in which Besa is arguing against the practice of calling the "two weeks" passover. He stresses that there is only one passover and says that according to the precepts of the saints the bread or the body of the Lord sealed in his blood is not to be received except at the Great Passover, presumably Easter. If I am right in supposing that this entails the receiving of communion once a year only, it raises great problems. There seems to have been a clear tradition in monastic circles for a celebration at least once a week. In the Pachomian monasteries there was a communion service both on Saturday and on Sunday (cf. S.Schiwietz, Das morgenländische Mönchtum, vol.I, Mainz, 1904, p.198), and even the anchorites developed the habit of regularly attending communion. (For a fuller discussion of the anchoretic practice cf. O.Chadwick, John Cassian, Cambridge, 1950, p.65ff.)

Throughout Besa is at pains to stress that religious practices are useless without an accompanying moral life. He tells his charges that "their prayers and their fastings and their religious exercises shall not profit them because of their lawlessnesses by which they have worked iniquity" (29v; cf. also Zoega CCIV, \overline{Nr} , $\overline{CK3}$; K.965, \overline{PNE}). Indeed the whole life of the monk - the daily contact with his fellows and superiors, his work, his fasts, his prayers, and his attendance at the communal services - is thought of as the bearing of the yoke of godliness. Worthily to bear this glorious burden in patience and obedience is truly to serve God.

Epilogue.

Besa's faith, ideals, and work have now been outlined. In summing up two tasks remain: to see how far Besa's monastic ideal succeeded in remaining true to the N.T. attitude to asceticism; and secondly to evaluate his achievements in their historical context.

It is true that the Bible was Besa's guide and it is therefore of interest to measure him by its standards. No ascetic rule of life is laid down in the N.T. but there are ascetic tendencies which are strictly subordinate to discipleship. Asceticism in the N.T. is conditioned by two theological concepts: Christ's personal call to the individual to follow him, and the vivid eschatological hope of Christ's Second Coming which will set the seal on his victory already wrought by his death and resurrection. The overcoming of the world, the flesh, and the devil, which is a reality in Christ now, will then be proclaimed and manifested for all to see. In early monasticism - and Besa is no exception to this - asceticism has become a rule of life, the acceptance of which finally ensures salvation. It is the way par excellence to heaven. If such a view be accepted, it is only too easy to lose sight of the N.T. position. Has this happened in the case of

Besa? Still bearing in mind that his writings cannot provide a complete answer to this as well as to many other questions, some suspicions are aroused. Christ, as has been seen, is denied his rightful place in Besa's theology. Moreover the acceptance of the monastic yoke does not appear to be the result of a personal call from Christ but is rather a mode of life, thought to be so ipso more acceptable to God, and therefore recommended to all. The essential truth that not all men have the same vocation from Christ, seems to have been ignored. In fairness it must be added that Besa in his writings never had occasion to discuss the relationship between Christianity in the world and Christianity in the monastery, and that from scattered hints alone an impression is gained.

Though Besa has a fervent expectation and serious appreciation of the Last Judgment, yet his eschatology is devoid of the Christocentricity it ought to have. In the N.T. ascetic trends often seem to be dependent upon the hope of the almost immediate return of Christ in glory. The things of this world therefore lost their importance and were considered to be a hindrance to the preparation for this event. Though the immediacy of this expectation was not fulfilled, the hope is to this day an essential

part of Christianity. If eschatology becomes synonymous with judgment which recompenses every man according to his works, and sight is lost of the fact that Christ, at his Second Coming, will transform and put an end to all human activities and aspirations, even theological ones, only then can such movements as monasticism assume the importance which Besa seems to give to it.

The absence of a strong Christology also causes Besa's ethical teaching to be out of focus. He shows but little awareness that apart from Christ's redemptive work, the good life cannot be lived. He ignores the fact that the rule of Christ which has broken into this world enables sin to be combated effectively, though its final overthrow is yet to be. Thus Besa fails in his grasp of both realised and futurist eschatology. If this appraisal be accepted, great are the deficiencies in such a theology.

On the other hand Besa's positive contribution must not be belittled. The historical situation in which he found himself was such that it would be unreasonable to expect that he should express the Catholic faith in all its fullness. The Coptic Church has existed in isolation since the Council of Chalcedon when schism divided it from the rest of Christendom. And even before this it was influenced but

was not brought about only by theological differences but also by national and political antipathies. On the whole the Copts were uneducated in comparison with the Greeks and could not and would not appreciate their philosophical approach. Yet another difficulty was that indigenous Coptic Christianity was as yet young and had had hardly anything but translated literature before Shenoute. Moreover the Coptic Church had scarcely had time to consolidate its position. It was constantly threatened by pagans from without and heretics from within.

Besa was the successor of a man greater than himself.

All the more must be admired for having preserved intact the heritage into which he entered. His moral earnestness did much to strengthen the roots of monasticism and to ensure that it continued to grow as its founders would have wished. By continuing Shenoute's policy of teaching the monks and nuns to read and understand the Scriptures, Besa made his monastery an oasis of learning in the midst of the ignorance of the peasantry amongst whom it was situated.

Moreover it appears that it was in Besa's time that the scriptorium of the White Monastery came into being.

The success of his pastoral work in the monastery was

no doubt largely due to his example. His humility and sincerity are patent in his writings. By stretching out helping hands in times of need to those outside the monastery walls, he continued the tradition of Shenoute and made his monastery a haven of rest for the afflicted. By his life and works, Besa earned the respect both of the members of his own communities and of all who came into contact with him. His saintliness must have done much to enhance the reputation of monasticism and the fact that his memory was revered and his writings perpetuated shows how great was the esteem in which he was held.



	ETILL TITE!	AYW ANTAKÔ
	CE THPY- MUÀ	MITENRIA I
	UTPINE UN	MENTO EBOX
	MONIN SOSEON	WINOUTE.
5	SE. ETBEXE	ENNOONE
	. ANKÛ NOUN	SMOYKAKIA.
	MNEUWAXE	UNOYUOCTE.
	UNNEYENTO	MUTTYON
	LA ENTAYED	SYOIXYOVE
10	NOY ETOOTH	whoreoh.
	SMOYPINE	Truporiu
	is shubroniu	XACISHT.
	MINSENNOS	unsenzweit.
	MRICE.	MUSENCUWA
15	ANON DE EITUA	XEKAC EPE
	NTNYWHE	MUJAXE ETCHE
	NAU NOOYEY	NAGNAPIKE E
(2 ZUTILLA ETIL	PON XE THOP
	TUTYONIN YOU	NEID ENTACA
20	NEHT WITELL	ac sinkhue
	TO EBOX ITTIS	JUTICKALC N
	TE SE ANUO	CWC. ETEN
	OWE STOY	NOBE NE ETN
	TCANO AYW	EIPE 144004
25	KATATAZIC.	STUTKOCUOC
	ankatappo	Orosquas
	NEI, EdNYIBE	ZOKOY ONE
	WITENCUOT'	BOX ETITURE
	EKECUOT.	ETOYALB II

...'to the place of all suffering, the place of weeping and gnashing of teeth² because we forsook his words and commandments, with which he charged us with weeping and groaning and great sufferings. But we, instead of having been to him an adornment there and a satisfaction before God in having walked in propriety and good order, we were disdainful, having changed our likeness into another likeness, and we corrupted our way before God, walking in wickedness, hatred, strife, theft, untruth, pride, pollutions and abominations, that the word which is written may upbraid us, "She did not forsake the fornication which she committed in Egypt", which means the sins which we have done in the world we have the more perfected still in the holy places of

The beginning is missing.

²Cf. Mt.8.12 etc.

The reference seems to be to some earlier monastic authority, possibly Shenoute.

Refers perhaps to heaven, or else to the monastery.

⁵Ez.23.8.

[&]quot;I.e. the monasteries.

MY-STYONT NEIWAXE AN ENECHHY TH POY ETPZO TE ZHTU IL 5 MKG - STYONT ETZAPEZ' E NEUENTO AH. BY JOYO BLYED NETITAPABA 10 NINENTO AH. NINENEIOTE: TBETTAI +XW JUDG MHTM NTWIN. Ud 15 PID TUDDY N IMSAMNHC KOKETHILL TUDAY WULKA PIOC DYW NEY 20 KEWEEPE MCOE, DYW NATCBÛ ETE in youskin MOOY. XE E 25 WWITE NITE TNAKGETTI CTHUH THU

TN AN NITETN

2POK WWWTN NITETNIO N TEIZE ETETN 3 BUTTUS SWIT MXINXA. ETE TNMHT' ESPAI EXNNCOBT AYW ETTUS IL MPO ETETN YIWKAK' EBOX TE YOU'S YOU OUSBUNTY TO OC AN ENTE! SENEETH ET MES, MXI NEO NO. H XE WHOY PHENSON. NIU METXI II WUTH NEONG. EILLHTI EPW THY LIGHT LAT TN. ETETN SI NITUE II MNOYTE MGO NC ZNIETN UNITS ACIZHT. UNTETNUNT BABEPWILE. DIW TETNUNT

God. I was not speaking of all the sisters who fear God and keep his commandments, but rather woe to us who transgress the commandments of our fathers. Therefore I say to you especially, Mary, mother of John, and Talou, mother of Macarius, and also their foolish daughters and the ignorant who have no salt; if you will not get you understanding and be still and cease from this fashion of needlessly disturbing the place, running up on to the walls and to the gate crying out, "Indeed, indeed we shall not stay in this iniquitous convent", or, "Our case has not been judged". Who ill-treats you, except you yourselves? You do violence to the truth of God by your pride and your boastfulness and your

The gender of CNH7 can only be determined by context. Here the names which follow suggest that "sisters" rather than "brethren" is the correct translation.

Name meaning "the maiden". Heuser, Personennamen, p.30, classes it as unattested in pre-Coptic times but undoubtedly Egyptian, cf. also Crum, Dict., p.5, and Crum, Ryl., p.27.

³Cf. Mk.9.50.

⁴Cf. Crum, Dict., p.147b, for this rare word. ⁵Besa has left this sentence grammatically incomplete.

	речкатафро	Nai ETCKIPTA
	NEI LINTE	DYW EYFTBHP
	TNUNTPEY	ranns nrosa
	CWW MINETN	TWS I'M . LHd3
5	EIOTE EMXT	THYTN TE TE
	XÀ EUTOYP	TINZE, ETETIN
	Addy WITEBO	FTWH AYW E
	OY NHTN. N	TETNUIUSE E
	DE ENTATA	304M ESPINAS
10	LOG PANACY	TNEIDTE ZN
	LE WELLEN	ZENBAX MAT
	TAYONTTEI	WITTE LINTE
	ZENEETH +	TNUNTHOUT
	NASMOOC AN.	THE LINTE
15	MATCBÛ AYW	TNUOCTE. E
	NCOG. ETELLIN	BOX XE NITE
	NES' STINEY	TNIXHK' EBOX
	ALLION. ETE	HIDATATAS MA
	Mai ME SE UN	UTNOYTE.
20	THSM THSMUTTHUL	OYTE NOOTE
	THYTH. OYTE	THEXE THEM
	COOTH. OTTE	TO MNETNBAX
	20TE NITETIN	EBOX AN.
	TE. ALLA ETE	H EUNZE EPE
25	THO NOE TIMI	TCYNAFWTH
	STÔ WINNIUEC	MITMOYTE
	MOPK ETE	MES MY NEO
X	TIM KATHU	NO NOE ENTA
	CABE MUAY.	TETNYOOC

scorn and your baseless contempt for your fathers, though they have done you no evil. Even as Talou swore by him who founded this convent, "I will not stay." Ignorant and foolish ones who have no oil in their vessels, which means there is no understanding in you neither knowledge nor fear of God, but you are like the horses and the mules which have no wisdom, they leap and kick each other. So also do you, you quarrel and fight against your fathers with eyes unashamed and with your presumption and hatred, because you are not perfect in the love of God, and the fear of Christ is not before your eyes. If the community of God is full of iniquity as you have said

^{&#}x27;Probably a reference to the founder of the White Monastery, Pgol, cf. Leipoldt, Schenute, p.37.
2Cf. Mt.25.lff.

³Note the irregular use of $\overline{N}_{7} \in -$, cf. Steindorff, para 167. ⁴Cf. Ps.31.9.

⁵Note the word order in TITIEUTO TIMETHEAN EBON, which is attested only in this phrase "before my (his etc.) eyes", cf. Crum, Dict., p.193a.
6Cf. Ps.13.3, Rom.3.18 and Ps.35.2.

LIVITATIONS MINTKATANA MPO ETLLEZ LID LINNIKE NUMPUT 21 MEBOOY TH CKANDA YON. POY. ETBE 5 EIE NTWIN Mai teomoro MENTATETN TEI NHTN W 3 MYOS3 DTM MENTO EBOX MAY. NOE ET THONTE CHS XE axxa UNTIEUXC XE NTWTN ET 10 EWWITE ETE DI MEONIC, 24W TNTUCAZW ETYWEE. OY THEBOX MINI MONON XE N 2BHYE NITE! NETICHHY. LINE. DYW N axxa MNETN 15 TETNBUK E KEEIOTE ON. 20YN ETTETN < OI THP SINE HI NITETINGERA NES WITHOU ATWWW TS TU SE DZENTO ENOYEMICTH MOC XIPWILE 20 UH. +NATPE NEONE . AXXA METNICHT' MPWILE NTOY rukaz. ayun t NAPHT NET NATPEYEIPE WTOPTP NN NHTN KATA TOMOC UMB 25 METENTETN TE 2Pdi ZIL OYAWY AN. Mulye. un H WUN EBOX MITTUN. PLOWS MUT UNITHOCTE. XE EYNACW

with your pernicious and offensive mouth, then it is you who introduced it there; as it is written, "But it is you who do wrong and rob", and that not only to your sisters' but even your fathers also. For indeed we have never heard that convents treat men ill, but rather it is the foolish who trouble the convents of God with contention and strife and hatred and evil-speaking and all the other wicked-nesses. Therefore I promise you in the presence of God and his Christ: if you do not turn away from such things and go into your house and be quiet sensibly, I shall make your heart sorrowful and I shall cause there to be done to you that which you would not. Or how, forsooth, shall

^{&#}x27;I Cor.6.8.

	TU ENETNUYA	KE NEHT' EAPOI
	XE NBOX ETU	NUMETIN. XE
	пкосиос.	TETNTAKO N
	H XE EPETIKO	TETNYYXA E
5	CITIKON MYEI	TEJUTIKOCIUZ
	LE ENETNEBH	THPY TUTTURA
	MYOSÄ 340	TWO AN ETBE
	STUTTETING.	SENSBHYE E
	MENEÏZBHYE	HSPI YHSMIN
10	NITEÏZE PULLY	TOY MCAKPI
	MHTN. NTW	OIS MITHY DU
	TH ETCOOTH.	CE ETBETTAI
	OYKOYN TET	AS MHTSNIW
	NAYITEÏUNT	PON MAYDAM.
15	ATCBÛ LÎNTEÏ	MITPTPENN
	MITABHT E	SENSICE EX
	BOX NEHTTHY	KHB' EZPAÏ E
	TN AN. WAN	XWN. TMNA
	TEORGE WW	PATE WYO
20	THE ENSTURE!	STHN STUTE
	SUB H NET	2004 ILLEN
	SBHYE WITO	EUTIVINE.
	MHPON. ELL	NTNTUGNITE
	MINTBBON E	TNABOHDEI E
25	MSALONAGT	DON STITULD
	Manyoeic	ETIMAY. Ud
	HENNOTTE	LICTA EAYP
	- MEXC.	MKETALLON
	gyhour tho	DYW TITINCW

your words be listened to in the world outside, or those of the world know your doings inside your dwelling? Can it be that such things are profitable to you? It is you who know. Shall you not therefore put away from you this ignorance and foolishness? How long are we to be in this state, yea in these evils, not having purified ourselves so as to follow the Lord our God, the Christ? Truly I am grieved with you that you destroy your soul, which the whole world is not worth, for the sake of things which yield you no profit but only condemnation and loss. So let us have mercy upon ourselves. Do not make us bring twofold troubles down upon our head. We shall already have repented on the day of our visitation and shall find nought to help us there; especially as it was also told us and we did not listen.

The prefix me- may be either interrogative or conditional, expressing doubt, cf. Crum, Dict., p.260a.

²H may stand for either the Greek ή "or", or else for η "in truth", "of a surety". Here the latter seems best. ³Cf. Mt.16.26 and Mk.8.36.

The meaning of this difficult phrase seems to be that the chances of repentance are over when the Last Judgment Day comes. Cf.63. orw followed by the conjunctive is rare, cf. Crum, Dict., p.473b.

For "nought" read perhaps "none".

מזש הדשדה THPTN W NE STOSIGE YHMS YOMPUN PTHS TE, 27W NITE 5 INCOSUTN E BOX NZWB. MILL ETYLLO CTE ILLOOY. NITETNEIPE 10 JUNETPANAU WITNOYTE. KATABE ET CHE SE ZNOY 15 20TE LINOY CTUT' APIZUB EMETHOYXAI. JUN ON TITE DETONYSMT CE MNETNEL 20 STORMS STO THEXE DIN KPUPU ZILLOK MEK EYZOOY: THAN TOUG 25 WWWTN DE E TETNTUELUE XE ETETNÔ WK . 35M WEM

NTETOYET TOYER THUM THY CARLUC' E BOX MNIZBHYE WHONHPON. EPWANTINOY TE TWW' +NA ET WAPUTN NTNEIPE NH TN KOTOBE E TEPETTNOTTE NATOWE . DYW MTEMETNICHT WKAZ NZOYÔ. STOSET WYD THE ENTAMO **CTOλΟC** ΔΟ OC SE MHITO TE NITAEI WA PUTN NTARE EPUTN NOE ENTOYAUC AN. DYW NITE TINZE' EPOI IN BE ENTETN Sur TULLE dN. WHITOTE ZENTTWN NE. MYSENKUS.

And you all, O sisters, fear God and remove yourselves from everything that he hates, and do that which is pleasing to God, as it is written, "Work out your salvation in fear and trembling", and be subject to your fathers in the fear of Christ without murmuring and evil thought? But I tell you that if you do not recognise of what sort you are, and remove, each of you, herself from evil works, if God so decree, I shall come to you and we shall do to you as God shall ordain, and your heart shall be exceedingly troubled. "And I am afraid", as the apostle said, "lest by any means I should come to you and find you not as I wish, and you should find me not as you wish me; lest by any means there should be strifes, jealousies,

Phil.2.12.

²Cf. Phil.2.14.

³ Read ENTAMAMOCTOLOC for ENTAMOCTOLOC

	MINSENGUNT	TOAHN EIC NEN
	MUZENKOK	EIOTE, DYW
	XK. UTUZENKA	MENCHHY AN
	Talalia.	₹004CO4 €
5	UNZENKACKC.	TPEYCUTU
	MINSENSICE	ENETHOUGHE
	MEHT. LINEE	UNNETWEBH
	WTOPTP.	one, ficeta
	Kai rap Nitai	MON. SAPES
10	CSAINAI ENOY	NTOU LITIPED
	MOE MUKAS	NOYEW NITA
	YOU'N THSIN	moor esmb
	YTTH ENAYWC.	NO WYS - WIM.
	XERAC TINAET	NTETNTALLO
15	NTAXYMEI N	DY, YE EBOY
	TOOTOY TINE	MTIS H. MUT
	TEWINE, ELLY	09. animuse
	PAUSE EBOX	MUNTINAM
	ZITOOTOY.	NESCE NIGHT
20	EMEIDÀ WA	FLY - MITCHT
	TENOY ITTU	ETETNOWY
	thindy elady	in munin
	MTWT NEHT	NOTE I'ST WAY
	EYCLIONT.	ATTHITM,
25	3 OYCON FAP	dyw etetint
	& H SENCHHY	WITHE TINETE
	VIII TIBSIKTS	T WITH.
	MEYEPHY. MAÏ	dru NTO MAPIA
	SENGLICTOC	ASWIN KABUT

wraths, provocations, evil-speakings, whisperings, vanities and disturbances. I also wrote these things in great grief and much sorrow, lest I should come and have sorrow from them who ought to cause me to rejoice over them. For up to now we have not yet seen any firm conviction. For a brother or brethren who go to law with each other, these are unbelievers? Nevertheless, here are our fathers and our brethren; we have sent them that they should listen to your words and your works and inform us. Beware, however, do not stop without telling them everything, and also tell them whence or through what these fights and strifes arose among you. Do you not thus bring yourselves into contempt and bring shame upon those who are without them? And you Mary, mother of John,

^{&#}x27;II Cor.12.20.

²Cf. II Cor.2.3.

³Cf. I Cor.6.6.

^{*}EIC probably introducing the bearers of this epistle, cf. Crum. Dict.. p.85a.

The meaning of 6W can be either "continue", "persist", or "desist", "stop". An alternative translation therefore would be: "do not persist in not telling"; cf. also 18v.

For "what" perhaps "whom".

	NHC LINTA	NOTWHE NOT
	LOS TUDAY	KE, EMEYUN
	TUAKAPIOC	KZ NŒOUCY
	WINEYKE	2Pai ZIUTITE
5	WEEPE EW	haroc ribalac
	XE OYNTHTN	CA. NZOYÔ E
	waxe way.	TPEYCKANDA
	WITEOU NOY	LIZE MOYÀ N
	EW NIXOOT.	MIKOYEI ET
10	MITPONAPIKE	MICTERE EPOIT
	OYTE WITP	THILLIAN TETN
	KPUPU ETIXI	WAAT' NICKA
	XA. OTTE IL	SPRIN 35/48
	ITPTES'TCYN	NTE SE SITN
15	arwiñ ung	NENTATETN
	TE ZINZENYA	Mannin rab
	DE MCKANDA	TATETNYOOY
	YON. NITETTE	MASS MLOSS
	SHT' LUKAS' E	NETNEIOTE.
20	puth ene	ZWCTE ETPE
	2010. Kai	Try wwoor.
	TAP YCH2' XE	aphy pû te
	METNACKAN	TNASIZEN
	Daxize Novà	WBATE EPW
25	MINIKOYEI	TN, NITETNEI
	ETMICTERE	· YOTHSKI SYO
	EPOI. CPMO	NATCBÛ ETE
	UPE MAY SE	SENCABEETE
	KAC EYEMOYP	AN NE H IND

and Talou, mother of Macarius, and their daughters too, if you have anything to say, do not stop without saying it.

Do not find fault or grumble without cause. And do not stir up the community of God by offensive speech so that our heart is exceedingly grieved because of you, for it is also written, "He who will offend one of these little ones' who believe in me, it is better for him that a millstone should be tied to his neck and he be sunk in the depth of the sea," rather than that he should offend one of these little ones who believe in me"." Moreover you must needs offend many thus through the things which you do and say against your fathers, even smiting them, perhaps you will even take unto yourselves staves and strike with them, foolish ones who are not wise. Or

Note KOYEI the subachmimic form of KOYI, cf. Crum, Dict., p.92b.

2mt.18.6.

3Cf. Lk.17.2.

EPENICHUE UNITUEPEZ 34023 ,400S MYDEY TIPEYUL WE, UNTIPEU 5 cww. ychz TAP XE MNAXZE NAWHPE NA PULLE. SENZO MYON HE SICO 10 TE. DYW MEY YAC, OLCHAE TE ECTHM. ETBETTAI ZAPEZ 15 EPON EBOX EMSUB MILL E BOOY. XE N NETHOYTE GUNT EPON. NUKTETIEU 20 20 EBOX ILLO SHIM SE TIME MCG2OY THPOY ENTAMENE WT' YOOY, EI 25 EZPHI EXWN' 2 MITTPETTEY ZHT' LIKAZ' EPO ZUTTUA ETU

MEHTY - ALLA MAPNICTIOY DOJE THPN 21 OYCOM' ETPE MNOYTE EY OPANE EZPAi EXUN LINTEU XC. AYW FITE MENT THSM EIOTE LITON. XEKAC ZUW EPEMENSHT' NAUTON. OY MONON ZUTTE! uà alla eu MUD ETNING BUK EPOU. MUL ETEWAY PAUSE EXNI dradon. Nice MYTTEI EXNU TEOOOY:

SENONTOPED SALETHALM are swords and evil spears worse than the quarrelsome and scornful tongue? For it is written, "The teeth of the sons of men are weapons and arrows and their tongue is a sharp sword". Therefore guard us from every evil thing lest God be angry with us and turn his face from us, and lest all the curses which our father spoke come upon us and make his heart sad concerning us in the place where he is. But let us all be zealous together that God and his Christ may rejoice over us, and that the heart of our fathers may be at rest; that our heart too may be at rest, not only in this place but in the place to which we shall go, the place where there is rejoicing over the good and grief over the wicked.

Apa Besa.

Whereas we have heard that there are some who make disturbances among you

Ps.56.5.

Probably Shenoute, as also in subsequent occurrences of the expression, cf. p. 48.

³No doubt this is a reference to heaven. ⁴Read Arabon for Arabon .

MINZENMUE EMXINXÀ EUN TEMNOTTE · YOTHSIN YHS ETBETTAI +20 5 MOYOLE! WH TN THPTN Q MELLTO EBOX UTINOYTE UNITEXE IC 10 MENYOEIC SE EYWITE N TETNAPROTE AN EHTY II MNOYTE NITE 15 TNUINIUNT COG EBOX II WITH WITE! UNTNOUT 2HT. NITETN 20 CUTU NICONE TNEIOTE UN NETIVENYOU ETUI WITETN poory. +Nd 25 TPETNKWITE MCGTOYEI WWW TOYET TN NITETNIL

EIME SE OF ME THAWWITE I in HU . YOUN TETNAPZOTE OXITU PTHS MA EIC. H NITET Nacyldz' an i MEGITO EBOX. MH NTATOYET MTWULL ISTOT ei emeiud e MUYE. H EFTW. H EOYWELL. H EKPUPU H EPATCUTU-H EXIONE. H EXIGOX. H ETNOYEC unwaxe ii MXDEIC. NITA ET AN THPN E TPENLIETA MOEI EXMNE ME YOOGEN TANDAY WITELL TO EBOX JUTISO EIC IC. DYW NTNUITPO DYW DE TIME

and quarrels without cause from which God has no gain, I therefore promise you all in the sight of God and Christ Jesus our Lord: if you will not fear God and put away from you these follies and this hardness of heart and obey your fathers and superiors who take care of you, I will cause you to go round seeking one another, and you will not know what shall befall them. Will you not fear the Lord? Or will you not be afraid of him? Did each one of you come to this convent to quarrel, or fight, or contradict, or grumble, or be disobedient, or steal, or lie, or provoke the word of the Lord to anger? Did we not all come to repent of our wickednesses, which we did in the sight of the Lord Jesus, and to take care that we should not

Does the writer refer to the nuns' fate after a threatened expulsion from the convent?

PNOBE TIKE COTT WHELE TO EBOX. NUGW FOY OSON TOOS 5 WH TETNAW UI SAMOWNIT MOYPWILE. SE ETETNAUI 24MOUNT I MYDEIC + THE 10 EYE XE MIZBHYE NTEIZE ETE THEIPE ILLO OY. MCEPWAY 15 NHTN dN. OY TE MITETNAT SHY AN EPOOY. OYTE ENCO FOSS NA STO ETEINE EPZE 20 2BHYE ELLE were was CTA. XWZIL. SIXIOYE . SIGOY. SIMIME. 25 · NWTTIS ZIKWZ-ZIMOCTE. EPETOPTH TAP

UTINOTTE NHY
ETBENDII EXIN
NUMPE NTUNT
ATNOZTE, ETE
UUDIITEBOOY

NE: CTBETTATIGE NE CNHY LITTPIPE *meperine*00 OY. WHITTOTE NTNTAKO. MUYONGELL DE TINENBUX NTNOWWIT E NETCOYTW. MHTIWC NTN PETHIN SINTE SAH. WINICUIC NTNIKAZ N 2HT EXWN MIN MADERAL LOOC ENPINE HITKKOMS USAULAYONIU XE ETBEOT TAP NEIONA WOY AN ME EY +CBW NAI. DYW

GLIGSHL, LIKE

sin yet again before him and he be very angry with us? Will you be able to bear the wrath of man that you would bear the wrath of the Lord? I think that such things as you do are profitless to you. You shall neither profit by them, nor are we gathered together in this convent to do things unfitting, in particular pollution, theft, lying, contention, strife, envy and hatred. For because of these things comes the wrath of God upon the sons of unbelief who are the lovers of evil. For this reason therefore, sisters, do not let us love the evil lest we perish, but let us open our eyes and look at the things that are upright lest by any means we regret it at our end, and afterwards grieve over ourselves with weeping and sorrow and groaning saying, "Why did I not want them to teach me, and my heart turn away

Eph.5.6.
2Cf. Prov.4.25.

EBOX MINEXITIO. TE MOCTE IL ETBEON IUTI MOOY. NITE CUTU ETTEZPO TNAGUTINAY OY WITHETT an etnaei wa CBW Nai. 27W 5 PUTN NTAEL TITIPIKE I PE NTOYET TOYET Maudake ii MUNITY KATA METTCABO MECUMUM. illoi. Kai KATAMWAXE TAP TICYHPE 10 ENTAMAMO ETKŴ NOWY CTOLOC XO MTECBÛ. UNA OÙ XE MHMO SE ESPAI ESE TE NITAEI WA PUTN NTARE TEBOOT. EPUTN NOE 15 unaveleta DE MEENUL ENTOYAUC LE EYBOONE: an. drw rite ENOYGE Ud THZE' EPOI ZU PINCAZUN E NOE ENTE BOX WITTHE INOYAUT I 20 BOOY. NITH MOC AN. WH NAPZOTE AN. MOTE SENT DIW WINCTOUT TWN NE. MASUN' EPO. MINSENKUZ. EWWITE ETE 25 UNZENGWNT. THUMNTUCA MUSENXOKXK. ZUTN EBOX LINZENKATA MNIZBHYE yayıa.

WINSENKACKC.

ETEPEMNOY

from reproofs? Why did I not listen to the voice of him who teaches me, and did not incline my ear to him who instructs me?" For indeed the son who forsakes instruction will fall upon evils and will practise evil things. Now therefore, let us remove ourselves from wickedness. We shall not be afraid and no trembling will come nigh unto us. If you do not remove yourselves from the things which God hates, you will not know the time when I shall come to you and do to each one of you according to her deserts; according to the word which the apostle spoke, "Lest by any means I should come to you and find you not as I wish, and you should find me not as you wish me; lest by any means there should be strifes, jealousies, wraths, provocations, evil-speakings, whisperings.

Prov.5.12-13. ²Cf. Prov.19.24.

MINSENZICE MOHT. WINCE WTOPTP. E TBETTAI dUXO wwrons 20 5 WT' EBOX XE EïWANEÎ ÑKE con', nithat CÔ dN. WH WINCONTE 10 MS TOOOW 30 TAXABLET CHEIN STUTUS ETIMAY. ETBE OY WITUEI E 15 SPAI NOITTAX 60 NTWEEPE WITH HOC. ETE MAI ME- XE MH TNUMBAT' ETPEY 20 +CBW NAN N GINENEIDTE. H NCETCARE EIDTN EBOX ENNETPHON. 25 MINEYATTE LION WHENZO EIC IC MEXC. ETREOY WITH

KETTION ILASS IS 60 NUTAPATITU Ud. H ETBEOY WITHCAZUNI E BOX NUTTERO DY. ASPON'EN CUK ESPA! E XWN THIN IL MON TITICASOY MNETPAOH UNITEWNT I MNOYTE ETBE MENTULU N 2HT. LINTEN WITHAUTIU ME.

TENOYGE NE
CHHY LUAPIN
KÛ TICUN TI
NESBHYE Û
TIKAKE. TITÎN
† DE SIWWN
TÎTOYOGIN.
TETÎNCOOYN
TETÎNCOOYN
TAP TÎNESBHYE
ÛTIKAKE. XE
OŶ NE. AYW
XE OY NE NE

vanities and disturbances." Therefore he said sharply, "If I come again I shall not spare". Is there no balm in Gilead or is there no physician there? Why did the healing of the daughter of my people not come up; which means, do we lack teaching from our fathers or that they instruct us from the scriptures and the gospels of our Lord Jesus Christ? Why did the healing of the trespasses not come up? Or why did we not remove ourselves from the wickednesses? Why do we draw down upon ourselves the curse of the scriptures and the wrath of God because of our hardening of heart and our presumptuousness? Now therefore, sisters, let us forsake the works of darkness and put upon us the armour of light. For you know the works of darkness, what they are; and what

II Cor.12.20.

²II Cor.13.2.

³Jer.8.22.

⁴Lit. "teach our eye", cf. Crum, Dict., p.73b. ⁵Rom.13.12.

SBHIE WHOY MOYO MISO TAP NILL ETEL PE JUTITET 5 NAMOYU. OY EBOX ZIUTNY TE ME. MET EIPE DE ZW wy whitebo OY. OYEBOX 10 2MMAIABOXE ME. DYW NY IN ME MYOOD MNOTTE. Ud PNP20TEGE 15 SMMN MHLIMC MCEXOOC NA HAISTIBLONS XE WH MXO EIC WOOM AN 20 ENCIUM. H UNPPO WO OF MULLY E TBEO'S STETN +6WNT Nai , 25 PYTHIBMMS MYDIN MOTH METWOYEIT. Myrus.

adda udpor XOOC NAN N TWITYOU'S NOT MEHT. XE MH LIGYADC AN NE NAWHPE. N MEYABETEI. TEMOYEE W MPWILL ETE PEMEYEHT COPIL ETOY HY EBOX NITAL KOJOCYNH. THETWIRT ETECBÛ, NITE TNCOBTE N NETUUDAXE ENWAXE NITAL COHCIC. EW XE YXW ILLOC TE EMTE 110 TIC EPETTAIKAI OC NAOYXAI. EIE EPETIACE BHC WNTTPEY PNOBE NOOY WNS EBOX TWN. EIE N JUN MIZE AND

the works of light are. For everyone who does good is of God but he who does evil is of the devil and does not know God. Let us then fear lest it be said threateningly to us, "Is not the Lord in Zion or is there no king there? Why did you provoke me to anger with your carved images and these strange vanities?" But let it rather be said of us with confidence, "Are they not my people, my children? They shall not deal treacherously." Now therefore, O people, whose heart is far astray from righteousness, pay heed to teaching and prepare your ears for the words of knowledge! If it is said, "If the righteous will scarcely be saved then where will the ungodly and the sinner appear", then how shall we

Cf. I Jn.3.8.

²Cf. Jer.8.19.
³Is. 63.8.

⁴Cf. Prov.23.12. ⁵I Pet.4.18.

THNAPBOX EN WANDUETEI EMEINOG N KEDAZAION 5 YOUST WILD Xdi NTEIGOT ENTANEI EZOT EPOU ANON WYS THOSEM NATCRW- ME 10 XOU TOP SE MA OHT'. WINTHAT CBW NATAKO SIOYCOTT. EUXE UXW 15 DE ON TUDO XE MINOTE + OYBENYSACI SA the THS N TOUSTON 20 NETOBBIHY. EIE DEPON' EN CMK, ESPA! E DEPLOY MUX 25 MITWOPUP MITEMUYXH. ENTNAICOA HE AN' ETTEN TODIO ETBE

TENUNTBUBE PULLE, LINTE WOT' WHEN -THS o COYO LLUN DE ON XW ruoc de ya PEOYUMPE NCABE CUTU NEATTENIUT. EPETTWHPE LE NATOUTU STUTTAKÔ. ANON DE THEI ME ESPAI EXW MITENTAKÓ MOUN MUNI ETBETENUNT atcutu eu MINWITTE ETPE CUTTI NAN' IL MUNIZ EZOYE TLUOY . OYTE WITHWUTE APUNISHT' E TPENSITÓ NA NOYPZIMUE. YOTYS YO

salvation into which we foolish and ignorant ones entered?
For it has been said, "The foolish and the ignorant shall perish together". But if it is also said, "God resists the proud but gives grace to the humble", then why do we draw down upon ourselves the destruction of our soul? We do not perceive our condemnation because of our boastfulness and the hardening of our heart. Solomon also says, "A wise son obeys his father but a disobedient son is in perdition". But we bring our own perdition upon us. Because of our disobedience we were not ashamed to choose for ourselves life rather than death, and we were not wise to acquire for ourselves guidance.

By the Same.

But you

Cf. Heb.2.3.

²Ps.48.11.

³Prov.3.34; I Pet.5.5; Jam.4.6.

Prov.13.1.

This clause seems difficult as it stands. We would expect the consequence of disobedience to be the choosing of death rather than life; cf. Jer.8.3 which is correctly used on 38r and 78v. It would be an easy scribal error to transpose nunzand nuncon.

MAPIA TOWNE undidi. TE NAUITEILUNT NACTENT' AN' EBOX TUD UN 5 TEILUNTYACI 2HT, ETENAT 2HT EPOC AN. NTECUTU AN XE MNAUTEHT 10 NACEI MNEY bybu 340015 MO WILL . PP J'XE MNOUT 2HT NATUUT 15 AN EMETHA WYG . PLON TON SE EPETIPU WE NUBHT WI 20 KE NAU FIZEN MEBOOY. EU S 34 SLOMS WAYOM MYOS ST SINEYCHO TOY. ETBE 25 Mai + XW TUDG ME' TATCBW. XE EYWITE

TENDUITE

UNTATBOX AN EBOX IIIO + NATPENTOYZHT TIKAZ. WA OY KOY! NE' ME + arun ninpu ME. AYOU MACH NZE EPETATUT UTSOCIC 2U TOTWINE . WITHOUTH TIMETOTUM STOUTH EP BUWPE INTINA UTNOTTE E BOX IIIO. DIW EPCWW NTOY i nui hxry THUROTHS OU PEYKUNTU USUSYOTIVU EXMNETNEL OTE ETUIPO NTW96S WYO MING MIM. GAM ETTHOOKE 22 NETWYXH. YE ARE TINOY TE NOT NOT IT

Mary, sister of Matai, will you not put away from you this hardness of heart and this pride which will not profit you, and will you not hear that the hard of heart will be filled with his own ways; and again, the hard of heart will meet with no good; and again, the foolish man digs for himself evils and gathers up a fire on his lips? Therefore I say unto you, ignorant one, if you will not put away from you this shamelessness, I shall cause your heart to be grieved. Is it a small thing to you to fight against men? And how can you fight against the Lord with your struggle and your strife and your disobedience, driving away from you the mercy of God, and dishonouring your own soul by your contempt and ranting at your fathers who take care of you at all times and who are in travail for your souls that God may give them

For this name of. Crum, Dict., p.190b. Heuser, Personennamen, only gives: wator masc. and Twator fem. The root meaning is "soldier".

²Prov.14.14.

³Prov.17.20.

⁴Prov.16.27.

⁵Lit. "roaring", "neighing", cf. Crum, Dict., p.682b.

⁶The change of person from 2nd to 3rd plural is due to the writer's having followed the text of scripture.

	DIOMATANYO	ETILLA LITIPO
	EMCOOYN N	NCESIEMITI
	THE . DYW TITE	MA. WH LAP
	TNNHOE EBOX	intandac' an'
5	ENNEOPEC II	EOYSHY NHTN.
	MAIABOLOC.	TAPETTNOYTE
	dyuse with	KW NHTH EBOX
	AICHANE.	NUWETTHETN
	H ENEOTIVE	WAHY EPOU
10	MICTHUH I	XE ANON SEN
	uo. NERAWY	TalaitTWPOC.
	EBOX STITUH	MTNCOOM
	TE MNECHHY	an be enny
	se how, how	ESPAT ENGIX
15	OY EINDBUK	MITMOTTE N
	ETULA MINAWH	dy rise.
	PE, SINTOYUNT	ENETTEDIA
	NAUTUAKZ	OHT THE AN ME.
	UNTOTUNT	NEPUSOOC SE
20	Babepulle.	EÏNABUK' ETTUÂ
	SE FITHE AN	FINAWHPE. EY
	ETILLA MITPO	TWN ZWWY
	EXIEMITIMA.	NOYWHPE, E
	H NTAPPATOW	NEWTOYPHE
25	TU AN NOME	6004 rap, Ney
	YUSE NITEÏZE.	NABUK ENTA
	anon' an' MEN	KÔ. TO ZW
	TANSOOC SE	WITE EPEOY
	MAPOYBUK	MM EBMK, E

repentance unto the knowledge of truth, that you may recover yourselves from the snares of the devil?' And we therefore did not understand. If you had had any understanding would you have cried out among the sisters, "Indeed, indeed. I shall go where my children are", in your stiff-neckedness and your boastfulness, and, "I shall not go to the gate to receive punishment"? And did you not thus disobey our injunction? Was it not we that said, let them go to the gate and receive punishment? Did we not do it for your profit, so that God may forgive you and receive your prayer to himself, because we are wretched and do not know how we come into the hands of God? For if you had not been foolish would you have said. "I shall go to where my children are"? But where are your children? For if they had not done wickedness would they go to perdition? You too want to go to

^{&#}x27;Cf. II Tim.2.25-26.

²Cf. Crum. Dict., p.147b.

³Cf. p. 134ff.

MTAKÔ ETEPE NETILLIAY N ZHTU. EBOX XE GOTE IL 5 MNOYTE OY WYS . QUILL YH NTEEIPE AN LITUEETE N HU HASYOT EPKATAPPO 10 NEI AN NITE! TOUSSITU 35 WITHOUTE. 27W EPCOUNT NITEXAPIC EN 15 THURST NILLIE MAYDATE AN. MANUEL BILLD THPN, EdUN TN EBOX ZINTE 20 2PW WITENI ME ETEMKO CLUC ME. EXY COTH EBOX ENTUHTE I 25 MYW. JYW dUNTIN EZOY EYTHIO ENLL MUL LUDY AN.

XEKAC EPETICIA SE ETCHS' NO XOOC NOI NIL HE, XE METNA + NZENTEBO OY ETTUR NIZE METHANOYOY. WITEBOOY NO KILL AN ELLTEY HI. NITETN TUTU AN EMXO EIC MNOTTE EUXU TUOC NNOWHPE IL MIHY EYEND PIKE EPOOY DYW EYCWWY. WITH rooms EUSMIO TUDO DY. XE NTW TH MIETMOY LACC MNAUT Makz. EWWT WHITCUC NITA EINE NKEMYH THE EXITHY TH EYETTHY THEBOX. AY COUTU NOIN

perdition where those are, because the fear of God is far from you and you do not take thought for your end. Do you not thus despise the grace of God and scorn the grace which he wrought not for you alone but for all of us, having brought us out of the iron furnace which is the world, having redeemed us from out of the midst of perdition? And he brought us into honour of which we are not worthy, so that the word which is written may say to me and to you, "He who shall recompense evil for good, evil will not stir from his house?" You do not hear the Lord God speaking to the children of Israel blaming them and scorning them and upbraiding them, "You are a stiffnecked people, beware lest I bring another calamity upon you to wipe you out"."
The children of Israel heard

Cf. Jer.11.4; Deut.4.20; III Kg.8.51.

¹Prov.17.13. ³Ex.33.5.

WHPE WITHA EMERWAXE ET NACUT. 24PZHBE. anon be than TU ETTENCUM 5 UNITENTEDIO ETBETENUNT NACYTEHT UNTENUNT BABEPWILE. 10 THI ETOYLLOY TE EPOC XE THOI MOC. NITNON COANE AN. OY TE NTINEIPE 15 3 MATSM ND XNNENTERO OY. XE TIME MYDEIC IC 6W NT EPON NY 20 NOXIN LINNET PEUB ETANO MID H NITN WILL AN NITE PELLAPIZAL KOTA VANEI, DYW NICKPUPU NCAUCUYCHO XE NTAYXOOC

NAC' SE OF NITU MXOEIC, XE E NETTECEIUT MENTAUNES' THU EZOYN E SPAC' NECNAWI THE AN THE NICH WY NEODY, MAPECHUPY EBOX TITBOX NTMAPELLBO AA NICOLUJU N 2004. EACP TKEQUEZ. ETBETTAI NEU XU ILUOC NAY TIMEYUNT udipule Noi TIPULLE ETOY DAB MUYCHC XE TETHK E POK ETIZUB WITCUBZ. ETE THI TE TKATA Addid. ANON' YE TICK BZ NNENTE BOOY WHEN LITO EBOX N

this hard saying and grieved. But we hear of our shame and our condemnation because of our hardness of heart and our boastfulness - that which is called pestilence - and we do not perceive nor do we repent of our wickednesses lest the Lord Jesus be angry with us and cast us together with those who work for lawlessness. Or do we not hear, when Miriam had spoken and murmured against Moses? - what was said to her from the Lord? - namely that, "If her father had spit in her face, should she not be ashamed for seven days? Let her be separate outside the camp for seven days? Let her be separate outside the camp for seven days, for she had even become leprous. So the holy man Moses said to them in his benevolence, "Give heed to the matter of leprosy, which is evil-speaking. But the leprosy of our wickednesses is before us at

^{&#}x27;Cf. Ps.124.5.
2Cf. Num.12.1ff.

³A second dot is intended over the in Mayche which is covered up by the foot of the p in Nekpu ... cf. col.2, line 20.

⁴Num.12.14. ⁵Deut.24.8.

MAY MILL BYW CEXMIO ILLO EBOX ZITUTISO EIC IC NOOY 5 MILL AYOU N TNWITTE AN. MAPILL BAYO SHT' GNAPIKE EPON' AN' ETPE KTON EBOX 10 ZNNENZBHYE WHONHPON. NTINEIPE II · DYONDATION . TBEMAI HA 15 JE DUL DE EYWITE TE NO SMOONE AN NTEXIEMITI MA THE EN 20 THYLOOC NE. THEETE XE HEWNT WITH TE NAMOOUSE MUPSUB NE 25 MUTUULOUS uo. unnocus NTEUKAS N

SHT' EXW WAY

date . EBOX XE NITEOYCZIME ECGOONE, E PEEINE, NE' W MOYTAKÔ TI us aux un TOYTAMPO. DYW EPECUK WITCHEOY W THOYTE EZPAI EXW MAYAGTE: CIC MENEIWT AE ON ALLY ICY ak antinno OTY WAPUTN MINKESYYOU ETPEYMENT NETNYUXXE. DYW WITPZETT AddY NEWB E pay. Mapey EÎ WAPON EBOX NTYHTTOTIS MOTUNONS : THSM AHN tow is WOC NHTN THPTN NTW TH HPWILE N

all times and we are upbraided by our Lord Jesus every day and we are not ashamed and our heart does not blame us so as to make us turn away from our evil works and do good. Therefore I tell you that if you will not go and receive punishment as it was told you, I think that the wrath of God will proceed to work upon you strangely, and afterwards you will be grieved at your own self. For you are a perverse woman bringing upon you your own perdition by your mouth and drawing down upon yourself the curse of God. But here is our father Apa Isaac, we have sent him to you and the other elders that they may examine your words. And do not hide anything from him. Let him return to us from you with satisfaction.

³But I speak to you all, you ignorant people

^{&#}x27;Cf. Is.28.21.

For exc cf. 18r, note 4.

New letter begins, cf. Analysis of Contents, p. 15.

ATCBW. DYW SE dytobu NH MECINHY MINAX, TN NEWS NOOT! ETELUTIOYKA MISTIN WYD POTE WITHOU WYLD , NITHIST TE LIMEYLLTO EPENETIMUS 5 WE MHYO 3XD EBOX . AXXX E WITETNOUTH. TI TETNUHN EBOX ENNETH DIETNISHT TAP SIOYE- LINNE TULL WITH JULLIT TNKPOU. WN OYLLOT' ELL 10 METNINOI. OY NETNEON ET MES' WHONH TE WITETNOWN' PID NILL ELLTE EPUTN NITE CBW WINTEN TNUMBE ETPE TOAH ENTANE THY366DMT 15 THEBOX NINI FIOTE SONOY MINTACEBHO ETOOTN. Kd ETETNEIPE TAITENTAUXO TUDOY, ELL OU XE AMENT METNEZOTE TAP WITE INDOC 20 POMPIN WITHS NWOT' AYW TE. DYW EUTE GUNCK ECM THUSITE SHTU TU ENNEYUL NPWILE. ETBE DYP MAR JARP MAI TETNICZDY 25 WITHU NINEY OPT DYW ME Bal. WHITO THEAT! LINTE TE NOENAY ST TNKPING EZPAI NEYBAL. NICE EXWTN. EBS CUTU ENNEY

and false brethren who did not put the fear of God before them, but still persist in your thefts and your guiles and your lies which are full of every evil, and you were not ashamed so as to remove yourselves from these ungodlinesses which you do, and feared not God nor respected man'. Therefore you are cursed and your judgment and your condemnation are upon you, because you were taught many times and you did not pay heed. And even though your ears were open you did not hear. Your heart was hard and thick, for you had no understanding, and you did not receive the teaching and the commandments which our fathers enjoined upon us, according to that which was said, "For the heart of this people was hardened and they were slow to hear with their ears, and they shut their eyes lest haply they might see with their eyes and hear with their

'Cf. Lk.18.2.

	MADE. MCEKO	WYS. JAIWYON
	TOY NITATAX	EUMOYTANE
	6007, H NTW	PULLE ETHA
	Na Mar. W	BUK. EYCUK
5	DELITIC NINET	WITCHEON I
	EIPE MNILLIT	THOSTE ESPAI
	ACEBHC NITE!	exmon mana
	ZE CZOYOPT	ay etbetey
	EBOX XE AYOW	UNTATWO
10	WY TITPAN I	THE WITHEN
	MS STYOMM	WOT JUTIEY
	NEYZBHYE II	YORMS . THS
	MONHPON.	NEKMOJKOJ
	and attaine	YORWS SAYO
15	MNETELLINTAY.	DE POTUDOU
	EATCULUTU	SEMNOBE
	DE ON TITPAN	WHILL AN NE
	MNENEIOTE	TOYEIPE TIME
	ETCUALLACT'	OY. EYTPEZE
20	TAMPSTAS	KOOYE FEHY
	ATCBW. ETBE	SIMEYNOBE.
	NEYZIOYE	EYWWY DE
	MINELEOY.	POTA PULLS
	UNNEYKPOY.	HILL HXYY
25	EATITUT' AYW	rupor en
	STRINK ESEN	MOYELLE.
	600M ETPEY	ENZIONE.
	MAKE KINE	LUWIS WA
	CEZIONE ELL	ETTWFT ZIL

ears and turn and I may heal them", or have mercy upon them. O, the hope of those who do such impious deeds is cursed because they despised the name of God by their evil works and they brought shame upon those that have it not; having also despised the name of our blessed fathers in their ignorance because of their thefts and lies and deceptions, and, having gone away, they went into vineyards that they might spoil and steal without permission and without telling anyone that they would go, drawing the curse of God down upon themselves because of their thoughtlessness and the hardness of their heart. They did not think nor consider that the things they do are not small sins in that they let others benefit by their sins, but they destroy their own soul unknowingly, stealing and spoiling, robbing on

^{&#}x27;Cf. Is.6.10 and Mt.13.15.

2NETERINTON lit. "those that have not". The object is not expressed. It seems that the writer means to point out to his sinful readers that they, by their deeds, are discrediting the innocent. The same phrase also occurs on 34v and 49v.

MICÀ MINTAI-WAZPAI EZEN WOWOY NHPTT MINSENEYOO LE EYYI TUO WS - SKOIXM LO CTE ETPENET NAY EPOOY XI STYONTIS BYO NCEYOOC XE ENESENMO NAXOC NE NAI. H XE NENDI NE NPWILE NAMA WENDYTE -SMIN SX WYLD GE PULLE WW ME. EMPOY ANON MAPAPO OY. NTAY YO IC XE MAPOY NAY ENETH 2BHYE ETNA MOYOY, NICE +EDDY TIME TNEIWT' ET SNUTHHE. NTWTN DE A

TETNITOWN

5

10

15

20

25

NAY WANTOY CWW TUTPAN NINENEIDTE ETBENETN 2BHYE WITO NHPON-EMULA NICEXO OC XE EIC OY SOON JODA NO NOUNZHT. H XE EIC OY CITEPUL EY CUDULAT' ZITU MNOYTE - 24 comy ye son WY TITTPAN TI MENUA ETOY

ΑΔΒ.

Σ ΤΕΤΝΡΟΘΕ

ΝΤΟΥΝ ΝΕΤΟΥ

Χῶ ΝΝΑΪ ΕΤΒΗ

ΗΤΟΥ. ΕΒΟΧ

ΧΕ ΜΠΕΤΝΡ

20ΤΕ 2ΗΤΫ

ΜΠΕΤΝΟΙΙΤΕ

2ΗΤΫ ΝΡΟΜΕ.

ΕΤΒΕΓΙΑΪ ΟΥ

ΟΪ ΝΗΤΝ, ΧΕ

this side and that, pilfering even jars of wine and grapes, so that those who see them blaspheme against God and say, "Are these monks?" Or "Are these the people of Apa Shenoute?" And "Shall then not anybody be? What do we do more than they?" It has been said, "Let them see your good works and glorify your father which is in heaven?" But you despised him until they despised the name of our fathers because of your evil works. Instead of saying "Behold a people wise and of understanding" or "Behold a seed blessed by God", they rather despised the name of our holy monastery. O you concerning whom these things are said, you are responsible because you have not feared Christ nor respected man. Therefore woe to you, because

^{&#}x27;Note XE NE for XE ENE.

2The famous abbot and predecessor of Besa. The name is common, meaning "son of God". Cf. Heuser, Personennamen, p.32 and also Crum, Dict., p.231b.

3Cf. Mt.5.16.

⁶Cf. Lk.18.2.

	DOYKPITHC	ywne ribe ri
	EUPSOTE AN	OYZPHPE EWAY
	EHTY TITNOY	TAKO. ELUTA
	TE, DYW ENTY	TOET EXINTHY
5	WITHE AN 2H	TN NOITOPTH
	TU MPWILE P	unsoeic.
	MEAN NOYXH	YOTATUS WYD
	PO SE TINEC	TUKU NTETU
	JUMPE ECNHY	MYXH ESPAI TI
10	SASIA HOPALL	NTYHTTHS
	NICOTT ECT 21	SWINTETN
	CE MAY. EM	THETHINA
	METNIME	SINSENPUEIO
	DE NTUTN	Wis ibas aro
15	OTTE EMPE	LINTE. ELIN
	TNAICHANE	METNACUTU
	ELMORNER	EPWTN. OY
	WILL MILLIAM	TE EMINITET
	EYTCBÛ NH	PHTSMUDDI
20	TN NEWS NCOM.	saputin.
	ETPETNUN	EMEIDH 24
	WYDS MHTS	MAJ STROM
	TN WAYATTHY	TN. WHETH
	TN NTETNAÔ	COUTU. DYW
25	STUTETUTO	ALL MARINER
	NHPIA. NITE	WAXE EBOX.
	TNXICBÛ EP	MISTATION
	MMETNOYY.	TTV alla OTTE
	EMTATETN	TNTCO EBOX

a judge who neither feared God nor respected man, gave judgment for a widow that she should not be coming to him so often and troubling him. But you were not ashamed nor did you notice when you were being reproached and frequently told to have pity upon yourselves and cease from your wickednesses and learn to do good before you become like a flower that perishes, before the wrath of the Lord comes upon you, and before your soul is rooted out from within you and you break your spirit with tears down in Amente, with none to hear you and no one to have pity on you. When you were called, you did not hear. And words were spread abroad: you paid no heed. But you rejected

Cf. Lk.18.2ff.

Read STHTN for STHN

Gr. Is.1.16-17. - Read METNANOYY for METNOYY.
Hades, lit. the western place, treated as name without article, cf. Crum, Dict., p.8b. Christians adopted this term from pagen Egypt. It is even accepted by as strict a Christian as Shenoute.

⁵Cf. Prov.1.24. ⁶Read TCTO for TCO.

NNWOYNE I MYDEIC, SINTE THUNTHAUT THE . AYW ATE 5 TNPATCUTU NCANEUXMIO. ETBETTAI ZW WY YNACUBE NCAMETNIA KÔ. UNAPAWE 10 AF ILLUUTIN EP CUANTITAKÓ EI EXWIN I MINETY WHETH GUTWINE. 15 DYW EPWAN OYBLIWIC ET NHTN WNOY KTO EPWTN , STYLLLAYS IGRS 20 JUTINAY NITE TNANATKH. ETBEXE diwy TE EPUTN ME XXY. WHETN 25 CUTU EPOI. diwaxe. arw **STETNEBY** THYTH - ATE

TNEIPE WITTHE BOOY WHAT TO EBOX. DYW *<u>ATETNOWTH</u>* MINIETERITOY dwor an. ETBE Jaii uzw iwoc XE EICZHHTE NETÓ NETUZAN Mai NAOYUU. NTWTN DE TE TNAZKO. EIC 2HHTE NETO AN IDM KASTISM au. NIWIN NE TETNICE BE. EICZHH TE NETO NEW 2011 NOW NOEY OPANE. NTW TN DE TETNA SIWITE - EIC SHHTE NETO AN IDN KASUSIN YOUR KHIGHT WIN . WOMPO TH DE TETNA YKUKAK' EBOX ETBETTELLKAZ

the counsels of the Lord in your presumptuousness and you disobeyed his upbraidings. Therefore he will also mock at your perdition and he will deride you when perdition comes upon you'at the time of your visitation, and when tribulatic comes to you and you are in straits down in Amente in the time of your need. "For I called you," he said, "you did not hear me, I spoke and you heeded not, you did evil in my sight and you chose the things which I do not wish." Therefore he says, "Behold they who are servants of mine shall eat, but you will be hungry. Behold they who are servants of mine shall drink, but you will be thirsty. Behold they who are servants of mine shall rejoice, but you will be ashamed. Behold they who are servants of mine shall exult with joy, but you shall cry for the sorrow

^{&#}x27;Cf. Prov.1.25-26.

²Cf. Prov.1.27. - The noun κτο literally means: "turning", "return", "what surrounds", cf. Crum, Dict., p.129a. κτο stands here for πολιορκίω in the LXX, which suggests the meaning "besieging" hence "to be in straits".

³Is.65.12-13.

	7	
	THSVITATION	BE ETNAUT.
	DATET WITE	DYW ETETN
	MM, EBOY E	41 NNCOTBEU
	TBEMOYUUJU	NNETNEPHY
5	WHETNING.	NIXIOYE; WA
	ATETNKAMPA	SPAI ENKEEI
	TAP WHETN	day etetin
	XOEIC FICU	y Twoor.
	TN ETECYCEI	WH TOP TOTA
10	ME RINDOW	senpune
	TTT. MXOEIC	ET ESOTH EPOT
	DE NOLUEYT	ANYITOY- DA
	THYTN. EBOX	ya sendane
	SE TETNUH	NICOONE NE
15	EBOX ZINNE	TNOPAI NOH
	TNKAKID. LIN	TN TCHNATU
	NETNING.	TH EYTWFT
	ETETNEWUT	DMYOT3MIN
	NNZOEITE	ENTOY. EY
20	NNETNEPHY	CUK WITCH
	SMIETNUMT	PONITU POS
	ATBAX WITE	TE EZPAÏ EXW
	TNUNTATUI	OY- EYPTIKE
	ME. Naka	WOYWOY II
25	OUPTOC, NET	ratus room
	O MODELT	TAITPO TYWOY
	ETOW ZNINE	TONE WHITEY
	Tranoma	LAC NKPOY
	MINNETHNO	MPEUXEMO6

of your heart and you shall cry out because of the destruction of your spirit. For you renounced the name of your Lord which is satisfaction for my chosen ones, but the Lord will kill you", because you persist in your wickednesses and your thefts stealing each other's garments in your impudence and your shamelessness. Unclean ones, who are notorious in your lawlessnesses and your obstinate sins! And you steal each other's things? even down to the very linen clothes you carry off. Did people come in to us and take them? No, but the fact is there are thieves in the midst of us, the community, seizing whatever they can find, drawing the curse of God upon them, even boasting with their mouths - which ought to shut up'- and their descritful, bragging tongues,

^{&#}x27;Is.65.14-15.

²COTBEQ lit. "tool", "weapon", cf. Crum, Dict., p.363b.
361001 lit. "linen", here probably as name of a garment, cf. Crum, Dict., p.88a.

⁴I have ventured to use this slang phrase because it seems to be a good equivalent for the Coptic.

	rigase se a	SNOWLOD
	MOSATYON	TP EYKTÓ IL
	BUSIN YABANIS	MOU EUNHY
	OYTE WHOY	ESPAII EXINI
5	EILLE EPON'E	ACEBHC NI
X	NETNEIPE ILLO	NAKTOÙ AN
- 1	anon. wor	NEITEWNT
	EILLE SE MNOY	JUNISOEIC EXÔ
	TE NAMAZOY	ITUAY WANTU
10	SITEYLLHTE	EIPE 27W NO
	MOYOSTM	ZWK EBOX II
	MILL MAY EPO	METERNEMEN
	OY. OYTE	CHT EPAI EN
	MONYOOC	NACEBHC ET
15	STUTETTATTPO	EIPE MZEMUNT
	ETHEZ NICA	ACEBHC, UN
	204, SICILIE	SENZIONE.
	SE TOPPH I	MINSENEOY.
	MXOEIC NA	WINSENKPOY.
20	mains show	ATTIE NEZUJA
	HE ETIMAY	EXTUTETEUR
	WANTUYOTOY	aru atikas
	EBOX ZINNEY	CTUT' ELLATE
	CYMATWTA.	HEXELT YOU'C
25	MOE ETCHZ	DYKADT' FICU
	XE EIC OYKIL	OY TITHTH I
	TO UNHY EBOX	SMWM YOUL
	SITUTISOÏC	ETETLE TE.
	MYGOYOPTH	STUDIKE MAY

saying, "They did not eatch us in anything nor did they know about us or about the things which we curselves do."

They did not know that God would divide them in their midst so that everyone might see them, nor did they say with their mouths which are full of cursing and bitterness, "The wrath of the Lord will burn those men until he wipes them out of his communities"; as it is written, "Behold an earthquake comes from the Lord and wrath unto turmoil, whirling and coming down upon the godless. The wrath of the Lord will not turn to cease there, until he performs and completes the desire of his heart" upon the godless who do impious deeds and thefts and lies and deceits. "The heaven was fearful about this matter and the earth trembled greatly", said the Lord. "They forsook me, the fountain of living water", which is the truth, "they dug for themselves

Cf. Ps.9.28 and Rom.3.14.

²Jer.23.19-20.

Jer.2.12. - Note that in the LXX there is no word for "the earth", which however is attested in the Boh. version, cf. H.Tattam, Prophetae Majores, Oxford, 1852. For further evidence cf. P.Volz, Der Prophet Jeremia, Leipzig-Erlangen, 1921.

MENUHII EY 0406TI. ETE MXIOYE ME MNMOOX.

5

H MPLUTUE

ME METEU

MOYTAZOÙ

10

ZÜNEYTEÐO

OY ZITÜNDU

ME. AXXA TITI

CTOC MAME

AYW TIDULLE

ME TIETELL

15

MOSETYOTU H POSETYOTU H YOMTUUTIS YOMTUUTIS

20

TEPETIXOÏC

25

NACYNZICTA JUDY ME. ZUMAI TAP M TAYKOOC XE

MATCHIN NA TAKÓ ZIOYCH: the no with YOOC XE ON PULLE EYEN OYTAIO ELL MUEINE EPOU. DIMUTITY ENTBNOOTE NOTEINE dy EINE ILLOOY. THI TE TETN YHTTWS 35 TN ENTATE TNOWWY I TEZUOT I

TETNUNTBA

BEPULLE LIN

TETNUNTSA

CISHT'- NINA

WITSHT' AYW

NATCBBE SU

TIEYSHT' LIN

NEYKEUAA

XE. NITW TN TAPTIE TIE CHEPUA NINE TAYXOOC E broken cisterns", which are thieving and falsehood and deceit. The faithful or the honest man is not he who was not caught in his evils by men, but the truly faithful and honest man is he who was not seized or caught by God. For not he who shall commend himself is the elect but whom God shall commend. For on this it has been said, "The foolish and the ignorant shall perish together", and again it is said, "Man that is in honour did not understand, he was likened to ignorant beasts, he resembled them." This is your own way. You despised the grace of God in your boastfulness and your pride, O you hard of heart and uncircumcised in heart and ears too! For you are the seed of those about whom it was said,

Jer.2.13. II Cor.10.18. Ps.48.11.

⁴Ps.48.13,21. ⁵Cf. Acts 7.51.

TBHHTOY, XE NOW NOW DEIW NILL ETE THY OYBETTE MIND ETOYADB 5 MOE MNETN EIOTE ETE MAIDBOXOC TE LINNEUDAI TUS ILT . MULL 10 THYTN TE TE THZE' ETETN O NATCUTU NCANENTO AH WITKOEIC 15 THUNTETHS PEUKATAOPO NEI WINTIEN WOT WHETN THY OTS THS 20 CRW. OYO' NHTN SE DIE TNTAWEPEU JUS TROOM TNKATAPPO 25 NHCIC, WINTE TNAMEDEID. NCOG, DYW N JOHT. NAW

NZE TETNAP BOX ETEKPI CIC NTREZEN Nd. OYO' NH TN SE WHETH EILLE OYTE IL METNEMME TNISHT' ETETN moone sin THAKE NITE TNUNTATOW TU. EBOX XE & METHSHT N STCBW PKAKE EPUTN ZU MY BLOIKE MEKPOU- OY OEI NHTN ETE JUIS FORDAT 2007 UTIGU MUINE - TE TNO LIVIC MHY WITO YE. SYW ETETNATIWT EPUTY NINIL EBOHDEI EPW TN, EBOX XE NUMBE UTIXO EIC STETNICOW "You always resist the Holy Spirit like your fathers" which are the devil and his demons. This is your own way, you being disobedient to the commandments of the Lord in your contempt and the hardness of your ignorant heart. Woe to you, you multiplied the things of death by your contempt and your indifference. Foolish and ignorant ones, how shall you escape the judgment of Gehenna! Woe to you, because you did not understand neither did you learn wisdom, walking in the darkness of your disobedience because your ignorant hearts were darkened from thieving and deceit. Woe to you, what shall you do on the day of visitation? Your affliction is coming from afar and to whom will you flee to help you, because you have despised the words of the Lord

^{&#}x27;Acts 7.51.

The word pequoon means lit. "dead person", "dead thing", "deadly thing", cf. Crum, Dict., p.160a. The context suggests that the reference is to the sinfulness which results in damnation. "Death" here is the opposite of "eternal life".

³Cf. Rom.1.21.

⁴Is.10.3.

UDY. BYW NEY ENTOXÀ LIE J YOGOOXYT BOX. THI EW WY TE BE ETE 5 PETISOEIC NA XEPETHYTN EBOX. DYW NIU EUCTHYTH ENTERPO N 10 CATE SPAI ZIN dUNTE. NOKA BAPTOC ETÓ NOOEIT' ETOW ONDYSMINS 15 MG. NETNZI DOYE TAP 600 WE ETETNUO OWE FIRHTOY. MYSILL WYL 20 EMEMEON EEÎ EBOX ZITU MTCOOTIN. NTAYXOOC XE YS MITHY OX 25 DIKAIOCYNH. MITETNUZO NOYKAPHOC

WITH . SHUM

TN DE STETNISO DOWTHUYON TE. DYW ATE THURE HOY anould. NITE" OKKATIN NO 3 OC ME MÔ MIZE COYÓ. NITETN WEC MEENWO TE. NEYKYH POC MEXAY MCENATSHY NOY AN. ETE MAI ME XE NEY WYHY WINNEY NHCTEID UN NEYWEXETH. MCENATZHY EPOOY AN E TBENEYAND MID ENTAYP HSM STUBLU TOY. dy6w AP EMOYOET. ATKAKE WW ME NAY. DY SYMOWINE EMOYOEIN. MS SWOOWED

and brought his commandments to naught? So also the Lord will bring you to naught and he will plunge you into the fiery furnace in Amente. Unclean ones, who are notorious in lawlessnesses! For the ways wherein you walk are crooked and you have been unable to go through the straight. It has been said, "Sow for yourselves unto righteousness and reap a fruit of life" but you sowed iniquity and reaped lawlessness. Thus again it has been said, "Sow wheat and reap thorns. Their lots," it was said, "shall not profit them", which means their prayers and their fastings and their religious exercises shall not profit them because of their lawlessnesses by which they have worked iniquity. For they waited for light, darkness befell them; they awaited light, yet they walked in

Hos.10.12.

³Μελετη may denote recitations from scripture but may also have a wider meaning.

OYKPUTC. CE MOUSON E TXÔ NOE NOY BALLE. DYW CE MAXONXIT N 5 DE MNETEUN Bax wwoon. DYW MCESE IL WEEPE NOE PLINSTANIA 10 WE RITEYWH. ETETAI ME XE STETNENO BE NOE NINE TEUTIOYCOY 15 NITRADH ENES. FYORE STYO CBW NOY ETITH PU. NETWEBH MAS 967 BYO 20 SUB NANOUIA NE DYW EPE NEYOYEPHTE THT' EYTIONH big. EARELLY 25 ETTINCHOÙ E BOX. DYW NE THUCKUEK ZENNOKNEK

NABHT' NE. ETETNUCK MEK ELIXIONE UNITEDY UN MONHPON NIM. ETBETTAI TAI TE DE ETEPE MATING YHTT TN. ETELTOW NT ME NTOP TH WITHOUTE. XE MNETNEN BE MUTON I WUTN. EBOX XE STETNING 60 JUTINOYTE. dUKTOÙ NH TN EYUNTXA XE:

NTWTN DE ME
CNHY ETPSO
TE SHTU WITG
TE: ITSOEIC
EYECLUOY EPW
TN. DYW NUME
NOICASOY TH
POY. DYW NU
SAPES EPWTN

the dark. They will grope for the wall like a blind man and they will feel as do those who have no eyes, and they will fall at noonday like those at midnight, which means you sinned like those who never knew scripture and were entirely untaught. For your works are works of lawlessness and their feet run to evil, they hasten to shed blood. And your thoughts are foolish thoughts; you think of thieving and lying and every evil. So therefore the wind will take you, which is the anger of the wrath of God, so that you will not find for yourselves the way of rest. Because you provoked God to anger, he turned to you in enmity. But you, brethren, who fear God, the Lord will bless you and save you from all these curses and he will guard you

Note ENGON for south

²Is.59.9-10.

Note the crude change of person which is due to an imperfect adaptation of the O.T. passage: cf. p. 60.

⁴Cf. Is.59.6-7. ⁵Cf. Is.64.6.

Cf. Is.63.10. - The verb KTO might perhaps be rendered here by the expression "to round on".

EBOX STUTTET

SOOY MILL AYEU

EYPENUE ENTY

XEXAAY AN IT

LIE. ETEMBIA

BOXOC TIE.

TOTOY DE MIXO

EIC IC EYETOY

METHYTIN E

204N ETEY

MINTEPO ET

2NTME. DAYW

EYESDAPES E

TETNITIVA EU
OYOS LUTTE
TUMYXH LUTI
TETNICULLA
ASTUNOBE ZIN
THAPOYCIA JU
THENSOEIC IC
THEXC:

ENTINETE DE NE CUHY MINETE DE L'AN DE EPETIE 2004 TASE

THYTN NOE N OYPEUSIONE.

NTWTN TOP

THPTIN MITETIN
MUMPE MITTON
OEIN, DYW M
WHPE MITTERO
OY. MITETIN
NOTE NOTIKO
TKE. DPOSE M
TOTOCHES

TKE. APAGE II
ITPTPENITIKO
TK NIDE IITIKE
CEETIE. AXXA
MAPTIPOEIC
NITINHOE.

MITINHOE.

METRIKOTK

TAP EYNKOTK

NITEYUH. AYW

METTAZE. EY

TAZE NITEYUH.

ANON DE ANO

MANTEZOOY

MAPINHOE,

EANT ZIWW

MITZWK NITH

CTIC MINTAITA

ITH MINTHEPI

KEQADAIA NI

OEDITIC MINTA

JAII. JE NITA

MNOYTE KOW

25

20

15

5

from every evil and from one who speaks nothing of truth, which is the devil'. But the Lord Jesus will save you into his kingdom which is in heaven and he will keep your spirit sound and your soul and your body without sin at the advent3 of our Lord Jesus Christ. But you, brethren, were not in darkness that the day should overtake you as a thief: for you are all sons of the light and sons of the day; you are not of the night nor of the darkness. So then let us not sleep as do the rest but let us watch and be sober. For those who sleep sleep in the night, and those who are drunk are drunk in the night. But we are of the day. Let us be sober, having put upon us the breastplate of faith and love and the helmet of the hope of salvation? For God did not appoint us

in secular Greek means: "presence".

Cf. Jn.8.44. 2Cf. II Tim. 4.18. The term mapousia "arrival", "official, royal visit". In the N.T. it is often a technical, eschatological term meaning the Second Coming of Christ. 4I Thes.5.23. I Thes. 5.4. Cf. I Thes.5.5. 'I Thes.5.6-8.

AN ETOPPH.

AND ET

5

10

EMOYGE ME CNHY WITP TPENWWITE ENTITUN' E 15 MECNHY N MONX' ETERNI NEHTN, ETUD YOU'S SWO KPOU- dilla 20 STOSYOMS WYOYCTUT. APIZWB EME TINOYXAI. XE KAC EPETISO 25 EIC IC NAZA PEZ EPUTN EMNETNEBH

OYE THPOY.

MNOYTE TAP METENEPTE MITHITHSIM WW WWYORW TIXIUK EBOX THOYWY. APIZUB NILL DANKPUPU SIMOKNEK. XEKAC ETET NAWWITE NAT MOBE, DYW N DKEPAIOC N WHPE WITHOY TE EYOYAAB NTUHTE NITTE NEW ETGOODE DYW ETGOONE. ETETINOYO NE EBOX NEH TOY NOE NINI PEUPOYOEIN ZUTKOCHOC. ETETNIGEET' EMWASE i MUNIZ EYWOY US IDM YOU MEZODY WITE XC Taige TE

unto wrath but unto a preservation of salvation through our Lord Jesus, he who died for us in order that, whether we watch or sleep, we may live with him? Now therefore, brethren, let us not be like the false brethren in our midst who walk in guile, but work out your salvation in fear and trembling that the Lord Jesus may guard you in all your works. For it is God who works in you the will and the fulfilment of the will. Do all things without murmuring and disputing, that you may become sinless and innocent, children of God, holy, in the midst of the crooked and perverse generation among whom you are manifested as enlighteners in the world, persisting in the word of life for a glorying unto me on the day of Christ. So then

The literal meaning of the noun τον20 is "keeping alive", "saving". In the N.T. passage it translates περιποίηεις which can also mean "gaining possession of", "acquisition", cf. the R.V. translation "unto the obtaining of salvation". ²I Thes. 5.9-10.

³Phil.2.12.

⁴Phil.2.13-16.

DE ENWANED

PEZ ENENTO

AH MINENEID

TE. EYNAWOY

you wooy

EXUN 20TU

MXDEIC EYXW

THIS XE WA

MIND IND IND

WHPE. NINEY

WYL - ISTSAL

IN XE EICSHH

TE ANON UN

NUMPE WHILL

ENTAKTAAY

NAM. EANWIT

SICE EPOOY

ETBEITEKPA.

MOEICEE EUE

+DE NAN ETPE

PBOX ENGOP

60 THPOY I

MANTIKEILLE

MOC. NITHE

JUNE OFFINE 25

2BHYE END

MOYOY. EUTTA

TIVET EZPATE

YOMIN THASTI

TE. NITNEBOX

ENKOYACIC

ETCBTWT'

NINPEUPNO

BE ETUHN E

BOX SNINEY

TEGOOT:

YOTYS YOT

Janoya NHTN

OPATAPO WYS

ME NITETINUY

XA NTAVAITOU

POC. ETPETE

THEILE SEE

TETNTWN.

NTETNIED

OY WITKOEIC

METNINOYTE

EUNATERIKA

KE WWITE.

dyw EUTATE

NETNOYERH

TE XIXPOTT'

YOUTHINKIS

NKAKE . TE

THIS TUNDAGIT

TU WHOYOET.

OYZAIBEC N

10

5

15

20

if we keep the commandments of our fathers they will pride themselves on us before the Lord, saying, "Are these not my children? They will not deal treacherously." And again, "Behold, we and the children you gave us; we have laboured for them for the sake of your name." The Lord will then give us means to escape all the snares of the adversary and be rich in good works before we come into the judgment of God and to escape the punishments prepared for the sinners who persist in their evils.

By the Same.

It is right for you and good for your soul, wretched ones, to learn whence you are and give glory to the Lord your God before the darkness comes and your feet stumble upon the dark mountains. You will look for light, a shadow of

^{&#}x27;Cf. Is.63.8.

²Cf. Is.8.18 and Heb.2.13.

³Cf. I Tim.6.18.

TEMLUOY, MET WOOT THAY. 27W CENDKA DY EXKAKE. EWWITE DE E 5 TETNITUCW nusrons . IT CHAPILLE NOI TETNUYXA ù MEUTO EBOX 10 WITETNOWW. DOW NETNEAN NAWOYEPU EIĤ EMECHT 15 EUNITETNA UWITE NITETIN PUEIH EBOX SINETNBAX. EBOX XE AY MOTTE EPW 20 TN. DYW WITE TNOWTU. WIG . 3X6WID *<u>ATETNEBU</u>* THYTIN. DIE 25 THEIRE WITHE DOOY WITELL TO EBOX JUTISO EIC. DYW LITE

TNOWTH NINE PENTYOYAUS an. wan FOYGE WWITE ENCUK, ESPA! EXUN ITUM ME ETCHE ME ANACEBIC P TBOX JUTTES. EBOX XE TE THIS IOYE. TETNINGOX. TETNO NOT CUTU. TETNPWAUTE. TETNANOUEI. TETNY NEO NC NINENTO AH WITEXC. TETNITAKO WITETNOWULL. TETNIPHOBE ENSUB NILL. KATAMENTAY YOOU YE TE SIM MITWEE PE WITH LAOC. NCWOOTT AN EYCOOYTN.

death is there; and they shall be put in darkness. But if you do not hear, your soul will weep secretly confronted with your contempt and your eyes will shed tears with no one to wipe away your tears from your eyes? For you were called and you did not hear, you were spoken to and heeded not, you did evil in the sight of the Lord and chose the things he did not wish? How long then will we draw down upon us the word which is written, "The ungodly passed over the landmark", because you steal, you lie, you are disobedient, you work iniquity, you act lawlessly, you violate the commandments of Christ, you destroy your body, you sin in everything, as it was said, "The way of the daughter of my people is not towards uprightness

Jer.13.16-17.

²Cf. perhaps Rev.7.17.

Cf. Is.65.12.

⁴Job 24.2.

OYNE EYTBBO. MNOUDC INTISO ist ax no with EIC. SE DAWTH TE TOYKAKIA SUNETUTO LE COOLURE LE MHPIA. XICBÛ 5 yospin ismude EPHHETNA EMOYEHT. MOYU. DYWEE KAI TAP AYLOOC WITNPZOTE. EYEMAPIKE OTTE WITHAI CHANE ETPE ENATCBÛ DYW HSVITE THOLD CAZWIN EBOX Oi TN ETELLITOY NNENUNTPEU +NOYEC ITIE ENTIEYZHT. us sycours TE ZNNENZBH TKAKE EYXW OTE . EBOOY . MUDG XE MA 15 axxa ankpine LINCONTE WO EEINE EZPAÏ · KELLETIS TO EXUN UNUX H WINCHEIN LE ETCHZ. XE ZUMUS ETIL KATAMEKN WOT' DE UIN MAY. ETBEOY 20 MITTUE! EZPA! MEKZHT ETE NOITTAX60 NUMETANOI an. EKCUYS NTWEEPE IL MANAOC. ETE MAK EZOYN Mai ME. XE WIN IJS HTGOYOFT 25 TPADHEE WO MESODY NTOP HSM IBAS TO TH WINTEWATT TN. H WITTOY EBOX WITZALT

THE TITNOY

+CBW NAN EW

nor towards purity" and again, "This is your wickedness, for it is bitter, because it reached to your heart?" Moreover it was said, in censuring the untaught and foolish ones amongst us who have not learned wisdom but walked in darkness, "Is there no balm in Gilead or is there no physician there? Why did the healing of the daughter of my people not come up?" which means, was there no scripture among us or were we not taught in the law of the Lord namely, "Cease from your wickednesses, learn to do good?" Yet we were not afraid and did not realise that we should depart from our inciting of God to wrath by our evil deeds, but we chose to bring upon us the word which is written, "Because of your hardness and your impenitent heart you treasure up for yourself wrath in the day of wrath and the revelation of the just judgment of God;

Jer.4.11.
Jer.4.18.
Jer.8.22.
Is.1.16-17.
Rom.2.5.

TE. ITHI ETNA TOWER WITTE MOYÀ KATA NEUZBHYE-WH THE WITTOY TALLON. H TN WHAT' NITOY CBW MAN ETPE Sapez EPON ETTEBOOY. 10 KATAMENTAY MOOY ME ME TENUTALLÓ DE AN TITEUCH PE NUIOPITE 15 TPEUZAPEZ' E poy entrego OY. UNATAKÓ SMOYWENE. dru wincu 20 TU WANTETTO NHPON doud! NTHSM IDAS NTEMNOYTE MOYEC EPON. 25 MOE ENTAY SOOC SE NTO OY DE DYPAT CUITU DY NOY

60 JUTEUTINA ETOYOGB . DYW ATTYORIC KTON NOT EYUNTXA XE. OYO' NAN LE aNPNOBE. ETBETTAT ATTE SHT, MMLE EA MOKE FORT CBW NAN NOI TENUNTAT CBW. DYW ECE AMION' NOITE KAKIA. EILLE SE DYW NITE THNOE! XE YCAWE NAN E TPENKÛ NOÛ MMENTOAH JTYONTE. UNINOUOC MNENEIOTE. NITE IZE TAP NTAYKOOC DE MEILAGE YE NOTIN 34 2HT NATOUTU WWITE NOU. JISHITAN WYD who will render to every man according to his works!" For were we not told or do we lack teaching that we should guard ourselves from evil, in accordance with the saying, "He who does not tell his son at the outset to guard himself from evil will perish suddenly"? And we did not hearken so that the evil increased among us and God was angry with us as it was said, "They were disobedient, they provoked his holy spirit to anger and the Lord turned to them in enmity? Wee to us because we sinned! That is why our heart was grieved. Our ignorance will teach us and our wickedness will upbraid us. Know therefore and understand that it is bitter for us to forsake the commandments of Godé and the laws of our fathers. For thus it was said, "But this people has got a disobedient and unbelieving heart:

Rom.2.6.

²Note the Boh. form of the conjunctive NTOY+ instead of the Sah. NCe+.
3Prov.24.22. This clause, though in the Sah., is not in the LXX.

⁴See 30r, note 6.

Js.63.10.

⁶Cf. Jer.2.19.

LYPIKE EBOX DYW DYBWK JOOKYONG. THSYSTUIS 30 XE MAPNIPED 5 TE 2HTY I MXOEIC MET USTON NON t OY, MUJOPIT SASIN WITH 10 ETELTECHOY JULINOVIE ME ETZIXWN E TBENENEID 15 TE. DYW IN XE OYOE! Nai Tauxxà XE AMPEUP SOTE TAKÓ SIXUTIKAZ. 20 DYW METCOY WYNIS MUT LE NYWOOT an. axxa wa EPAI ETKE 25 XPEID WHILL ETOY TUDG NHTN ETBE METWWNE.

HNOTHTONH PETE EPUTN MATTAKALL TN. STETNUI TO FIXIOYE N CANETNEPHY. MEIKEZOYE MONHPON E 2Pdi EXWTN EBOX SE WITH COUTU ETE! KELTAPANO MID ENES. ETBETTAI CE CZOYOPT E MAN OYOSƏM 2PUTNOYTE UNNPULLE NGINETEIPE MINAI - EBOX ON XE STETN PROYEPACE BHC. ETBE MAI METNINO BE KHB' EPW TN. XE SENNO BE WHU NE NAI AN' ETE THEIPE MUSY.

they turned away and departed; they did not say in their heart, let us fear the Lord who gives us the former and the latter rain;" that is to say the blessing of God which is upon us because of our fathers. And again, "Woe to me my soul because the god-fearing has perished from the earth and the upright among men is not?" But even down to the barest necessity which you are given for the sick you acted wickedly to your own selves - you stole from each other. Even this great wickedness is on your heads, for we have never heard of such a transgression. Therefore they who do these things are cursed all the more before God and men, for you also were very ungodly. Thus your sin is double upon you, because these are not little sins that you do.

¹Jer.5.23-24. ²Mic.7.1-2.

MITONHPOC NAME. ETEIPE MERNNOG I MONHPON' E 5 TEPETITE UN TIKAS NAWTOP TP EZPAI EXW DY DYW NICE MESONYY. CENANDY NO 10 NAIKAIOC AYW NICHHY ETUE WHEXE ZNOY HE AYW ET CTOUT 2HTQ IL 15 MEYPAN' NICE PROTE NICEXO OC, WE EIC SEN PULLE EUTIOY KATTNOYTE 20 NAY NBOHOOC. Kaske pyyer TIZE EXTUTEY METWOYEIT'. UNIVEYUANIA 25 NGOX. NOT ET Dù muoc XE unpurue Nd EIME, EPON' E

NETNEIPE IL · Proize room DYO' NAY, EY US NO FORDI MEZOOY ETE PELLUNTUJA UTE UTTOYÀ MYORN BYOTH NZ EBOX. MEXAY TAP SE METAITÓ UN SYPEUZIONE ETETTAIDBOXE ME EULLOCTE NTEUWYXH MAYDAY. EY WANCHINE DE TOYANAW ME SAY NICETUOY WNZ. CENAZE NCEXIWITE XE CHIPSOTE 2HTOY NZEN PULLE. Naid TU DE JUTIETP 20TE SHTU IL MOYTE: DUTAI DE ON EN TAYYOOC XE

O truly wicked ones, who do great wickednesses over which the heaven and the earth shall be troubled and fearful, the righteous and the brethren who love Christ truly and who tremble at his name shall see and be afraid and say, "Behold, men who did not make God their helper but set their hope upon their vanity and their lying delusions"? The people who say, "No one shall know about us or about the thefts which we commit", woe to them, and what will they do on the day when every one's iniquities shall be revealed? For it was said, "He who shares with a thief - which is the devil - hates his own soul. But if an oath is sworn", it was said, "and they do not reveal it, they shall fall and be ashamed because they feared men; but blessed is he who fears God." But on this it was said,

Cf. Jer.2.12.

Note NCHHY for NECHHY .

³Cf. Ps.51.9 and Ps.39.5. ⁴Lit. "great his eye", cf. Crum, Dict., p.74a. ⁵Prov.29.24-25.

MUDY, NOTW LIT ENATCHU. NAKABAPCIA NATURIU EY PULLE FIXOL 5 osrovis sau LOOSTS LO MOSTONIA X MOXIVIC WAN TUWIN OY 10 DEI NHTN NET EIPE MINDI UM MIKOOYE MIXI SULTOWN STO CTWOY, 27W 15 ETO NKPOU ENZUB NIM. 1) TETNICZOY VITENIUS TO ZBHYE THPOY LEMITATE DE TOTTHYTN E MIZBHYE WITH PANOMON. EATETINCULU 25 ENTEN MATTE TE ZINNETN KPOY. DYW A TETN+WITTE

NINETELLINTAY. ETBETTATI ZW WY MNOTE UNMEUXC NA WPWPTHYTN NUTTHITIN E TOOTY WITWI TIE THPU UN BLIGHT MILL WINTKWET ETELLEUXEND. UNITUNT ETE LEUNKOTK SPAI STAUNTE. roms got kogs NOG, ROXIVIC LINOYUKAZ MEHT ENAUWY EIXW MNOI. E BOX SE WITH CUTU ON' OY TE CITIVNAY ELIKESMB MUNTURGE ENES, TE YOU ME GITEXPEID MNETSITOY STOIZE YOU DEKAC EPE

"Death will befall the ignorant, uncleannesses will defile a pestilent man on an evil and troublous day until he perishes!" Woe to you who do these and other detestable and wholly deceitful thefts: O you are cursed in all your works because you put your hand to these lawless deeds, having despised the name of God in your deceptions. And you brought shame on those that have it not? Therefore God, for his part, and his Christ will destroy you and hand you over to all shame and every affliction and the fire that is not quenched and the worm that never dies down in Amente. For out of great affliction and much grief I say these things, because we never either heard or saw such an iniquitous thing, that men stole their neighbours' necessities so that

*Cf. II Cor.2.4.

Prov.24.8-10.

²For the phrase NETERINTAY of. 25v, note 2. ³Cf. Is.66.24 and Mk.9.48.

MUNDA YOSKOTI THE EUKHB' E SPAI EXWOY. VIOLE MEN MIN 30 WYS , YOUS 5 CZOYOPT NNA SPUTTENSOIC ic. alla mai ON' SOOY ELLE LIPSEMIN OYOS 10 MU STYDAM MPWILE - SYW GAPLIE LOOSh NOULD NILL 21 UNTATWITTE 15 MILL. KOI TOP Y3 MYOSS IKU MITPEYZU TB. EPWAN MPWILE FAP 20 UITEXPEID IL METUWINE. EUO NOE IL TYPYOUTS TUDY. NOE 25 NINENTATTCE KUSKI DIBOKIT STUTTEYEIBE. Tai TE BE MNdi

YOMST YOWS EYUI NITEXPEID MNEYCHHY ETYMNE NISIOYE: JEINOS MCAROY DON'IST WYD MOPTH ESPAI EXMINETEIPE MINDI NITEILLI NE. ETBETTAI CEPZOYECZOY OPT. DYW EPE MADOC THPY NAXOOC XE E YEWWITE. MY JOE EN TAYXOOC SE VI TYOYOSOP GITTETNATION WHE EBOX N TITOW WOTET · DUNOTIS DYM EDELLYA OC THPY NOWSO OC XE EYEWW ME . THI ON DINYOTS SO ST WWITE EYCZOY OPT NOTHEN

the curse should be doubled upon them. Indeed every theft is evil and cursed in the sight of our Lord Jesus, but this is still more evil in the sight of God and men. And it is more evil than any transgression and shamelessness. It even leads on to murder. For if a man take the thing needful to a sick man, he is as good as that man's murderer. Like those who gave the Lord in his theft vinegar to drink', so are they for their part now, for they steal the thing needful to their sick brethren. This great curse and this great wrath is upon those who do such things. So they are greatly cursed, and all the people shall say, "It shall be so". And even as it was said, "Cursed be he who shall remove his neighbour's landmarks and all the people shall say, 'It shall be so'", so shall he come to be cursed who

^{&#}x27;Cf. Mt.27.48 and parallels.

²Deut.27.15 etc. ³Deut.27.17.

	Tayyi, HI MET	EXEMMUSE EX
	Nayi NXIOYE	CZOYOPT NINA
	EBOX ZNNTO	SPUTNOTTE
	MNETZITOY	unipule,
5	WOY. EITE	YOU EYEUDY
	TEYXPEID. EI	TE EPOOY EBOX
	TE TEYDAMA	SITUTUJASE
	NH. EITE TEY	ETCHZ' XE N
	SOEITE . EITE	WHE TISPOTT
10	MENTIPHW.	ETZITEZIĤ JA
	EITE LAND N	LLOOYE. NOE
	eno ritay.	ETCHZ' XE 41
	EBOX LE FICE	MEIWHE N
	WAAT AN TILA	Sport EBOX 21
15	DISPAYETIS YE	MEZIA TITALA
	THPC - alla ey	OC: 94M LIE
	PNOBE EPOOT	TNATTUNI E
	MALGAN. GAM	TOSS DAHTH
	EYCUK' IITICA	YETVIS YESS
20	204 TIMOY	THSTUDENTIAL
	TE EZPAÏ EXW	UNITERUNT
	or the two	Babepouce
	OY. DYW ME	TITULES MAR
	TNAYITOOTY	dtwitte. Exe
25	soluc espai	YOOC EPOON
	ENEYEIOTE	TE FIRMUE ET
	ETTCBÛ NAY	+ OYBETTHOY
	ETIOTEPUB.	TE LINTIEUXC
	H ZNOTTPOTT	TULLISTUS
	The state of the s	

has stolen or shall steal from the shares of his neighbours, whether their necessities or their money or their clothing or their cloak or anything which is theirs, for none lack anything that they need, but they sin against themselves and draw the curse of God upon themselves; and those who shall actually raise their hand against their fathers, who teach them, with a stick or a blow, they shall be cursed in the sight of God and men, and shall be called in the scriptural phrase, "stumbling-blocks" which are in the way, as it is written, "Take these stumbling-blocks out of the way of my people." And those who shall quarrel with them ever in their hardness of heart and their boastfulness and their shamelessness, they shall be called 'Men who fight against God and his Christ in their

The meaning of the word TOOM is doubtful, cf. Crum, Dict., p.431b.

²Cf. Is.57.14.

³Is.57.14.

MAUTUAKE NAWYN WHET THSYSTIME XELLEBOOM ETXOCE . XE NEGITEUIUT KAC ZWWY E UNTEQUESTION NKEKE NNEU 5 PETTNOTTE BOX NONDY EY NOT OYBHY KAKE NITE! VIN LOXONDIN DE ON NITAYLO NETPZWB' E OC XE TIMOY JANOUIA. NOE TE + OYBENIXA ETCH2 LE MET 10 cww timey CIZHT'. UT DE EIWT WINTEU N TOUSTON MAAY EYNE NETOBBIHY. EYE XE NITPNO M 3X MO WYD 15 BE an. OYKOI TOK AKOBBIE NWNOC TE MXACISHT' N THI MOYPULLE BE MOYEUTB MACEBHC. ETEMAIABO JAXIN ON UXÛ YOU THE WINNET QUOC, XE MUH 20 EIPE THPOY PE ETCWY II MNEUZBHYE. MEGEICUT' STUIS 3X WYS DYW ETKW N GBOI NTEKENS CWY NTEYUD AKXWWPE E dy. yndww 25 BOX NINEKXA THE SAMOGNEG SE- ETEMPON WIKELY WILD HE NE TIPEY ME. DYW ON PNOBE ETEL XE MOTOEIN PE WITHOUTH

stiffneckedness and their pride', so that God for his part will contend against them, and cast them together with those who work for lawlessness; as it is written, "He who despises his father and his mother thinking, 'I do not sin', is an associate of an ungodly man". Again it is said, "The son who despises his father and forsakes his mother shall be under reproach and be ashamed. And again, "The light of him who reviles his father and his mother shall go out, the pupils of his eyes shall see darkness! Thus again it was said, "God resists the proud but gives grace to the humble. And again, "You humbled the proud like a thing slain", which means the devil and all those who do his works, "and you scattered your enemies with the arm of your strength," which means the sinners who do wickedness

^{&#}x27;Cf. Ps.124.5.

²Prov.28.24.

³Prov.19.23.

⁴Prov.20.10.

⁵Prov.3.34; I Pet.5.5; Jam.4.6. ⁶Ps.88.11.

pon unequ TO EBOX. M INTUS WYS JAY YOOC XE 5 CENDUUME NTO NNBAWP ETENDALLICU ME ETCUK I TE WYS , YOU PRUB SPAI N 10 ONDS YOTHS MID MILL. NOEGE ENTAY YOOC ETBABY ονοιπώ μωλ EIW LE aNPITA SPE EPOC II HEXITARPE. MAPNKAAC E BOX NITNBUK 20 LE GLIECSALL, MUS' CHASPAI DE WYL JUTTE SICE ESPAI WA NICIOY - TAI 25 TE BE ETOY MAKATHYTN NOWOY NEIN drreloc u

MU STYONT NETICBU NH TN. EYKU IUE XE antoBû NAY. WHOTEL CBW. MAPN CAZUN EBOX LUCOY, XE & neyzari nwi PULLS IFUSPM TE LYNTEYIC Mai ETNAKPI APOTUS SM MOYÀ KATANEY 2BHYE - NTOU TAP ETCOOYN ENETEIPE IL MONHPON inwsrous. DUBORN WIGHT an' on' ENET EIPE JUTIONA DON WTEUL TO EBOX UN NETCTUT' 2H TY WHEYPAN. ETBETTAI NOE SIJOKITATUS XOOC LE EPE

before him. And on this it was said, "They shall be portions for foxes", which are the demons who beguile them and work in them for every lawlessness. So it was said of Babylon at that time, "We healed her but she was not healed; let us abandon her and go, because her judgment reached up to heaven, it mounted aloft to the stars". Thus the angels of God and those who teach you shall forsake you, saying, "We taught them but they were not taught; let us depart from them, because their judgment reached unto God and his Christ, who will judge each one according to his works". For it is he who knows those who do wickedness in secret, and also he does not forget those who do good before him and those who tremble at his name. Therefore as the Lord said,

Ps.62.11.

²Cf. Jer.28.9.

³Similar phrases occur many times both in the O.T. and the N.T.

For etcooyn the form retcooyn would be expected, cf. Steindorff, para 533; Plumley, para 367.

TUTBABILE N COYO ZE' EZPAÏ EXTUTIVAS NO MOY. WACEÛ MAYAAC. EWW 5 ME DE ECUJAN MOY. WHACT IN OYKAPITOC E Maywy. NTEIZE ON EP 10 WANTUMPOU TYOYOU SU TITTEYCUMA. UNAGUMTE EU VIS TIBYOW 15 NEUZBHYE. EWWINE DE EU WANUDOYTY. undt Morkap MOC ENDOWY 20 SMSENSBHYE ENGNOYOY. NOE ETCHS XE MENTAU MOY ENTCOPS. 25 ONTIUS OXUD BE. ETUTPEY WWITEGE ZN NETTIBYLLIA Ñ

FPHERECEETE
FINEROOY Ü
FREGUNTS SÜ
FROYWY Ü
FROYWY Ü
FROYWY Ü

NTWTN NET KALLÁ ÚTICATA NOC ETPEUEI ESOM MUZU 20 NIWW ETOY ddB UTNOYTE. NTSTN WYD cowy tiney PITE ETENTO TN TTE JUIN I WUTH. WITE TNPMUEETE NTAMODACIC UTATTOCTO LOC, LE MET NACWWG I MEPME JUN9 TE. MAI MNOY TE NOTAKOU: OYTE ON TITE

TNPITUEEYE

"Unless the grain of wheat falls upon the earth and dies it remains alone, but if it die it bears much fruit." Thus also unless a man mortifies his body, he shall be without avail in his works, but if he mortify himself he shall bear much fruit in good works, as it is written, "He who died in the flesh ceased from sin so as to be no longer in the lusts of men but rather spend the rest of the days of his life according to the will of God".

⁵O, yours is the responsibility, you who give opportunity to Satan to come in and pollute the holy convents of God: And you defiled his temple which is you yourselves. You did not call to mind the apostle's assertion, "He who defiles the temple of God, him will God destroy"? Also you did not remember

Jn.12.24.

²Lit. "kill". The context suggests, I think, that selfdiscipline and self-denial are intended and not any severer ascetic practice.

³So the Sah. N.T., cf. Horner, Sah.; but the Greek text has δ πλθών. Possibly the Sah. reading arose from a confusion between λποθνήσκω (λποθανών) and πάσχω (πλθών), cf. e.g. the variants in the Greek text of I Pet.3.18.
⁴I Pet.4.1-2.

New letter begins, cf. Analysis of Contents, p.15. Cf. I Cor.3.16-17.

⁷I Cor.3.17.

MNCOSOY TH POY ENTAME EILUT XOOY EUT WUON TH PN ETOOTY 5 WITHOUTE EU XU TUDO XE UCZOYOFT NOI METNAXWEU THEYCULLA 10 Katalady N CUOT. H NY YIDYE ZINDAY YOMIX GUSIN suc unor 15 MOYC. Maxi CTA 20EITE IS MHALLIZ KLAUT. DYW SYOS ILASSAU 20 AdxICTON N · MUYON ONS EITE EBOX EN N YELMSON TAIDKONID I 25 MNOYTE. EI TE EBOX ZNN TO NINETZITOY NOY.

NEINEEYE ME ME EEÎ WAPW TWTYONS NT NOHT: dilla TEUKAS NOHT MNENTAY FONTE THUS KAKE WKE ST THE WHEUTING ETOYALB. ME TACKWAYE II MENOYPOT'. +COOTH WEN XE MAUTINA THE WKAS MEHT NIM. axxa EP WANTINOYTE UNTENXOIC ic pendy. + NHY WAPWIN SNOYGWNT. NTACIPE NINI STCBW SYW MITTAPGENOC NCOG, ETE WINES, SINKEY

AFFION MNET

THPOY. XE TH

THS6TAUS

all the curses which our father pronounced when giving us all into the hand of God saying, "He is cursed who shall defile his body in any way, or shall steal anything" - a cord or girdle, more especially garments, cloaks, cowls, or even the least thing to eat, either from the things for the service of God or from the shares of their neighbours. I was thinking indeed of coming to you with a mind at rest, but the grief for those who provoked God to anger and grieved his Holy Spirit prevented our gladness. I know indeed that what I deserve is every grief but, if God and our Lord Jesus desire it, I come to you in wrath and do all the things that are in my heart to these ignorant persons and foolish virgins who have no oil in their vessels; seeing that

^{&#}x27;Perhaps one may see in this pronouncement of "our father" a reference to the vow introduced by Shenoute, cf. C73, p.40; Leipoldt, Schenute, p.108f. - Possibly the quotation continues to "neighbours".

20r "mats".

3Cf. Mt.25.lff.

MAXIN ON NITE DE ON NITEN TACCUETION TNKETTHY THYTN DIXHU TN EMAROY PATITULIS ETETCYNATU GITLE TIMEST 5 TH TE. DYW TE NITETINZE STETNIZE IL EZPAÏ ETOO WEEPE MOE TO NITCHUE PULLISTANIA · HWYSTY 3W MITTONHPOC NOE ETCHS MENTAUTAKO 10 NTOKOYUE XE acchdate NH THPC 2N ACRE NOITHUR BENOC WITH NEUNOBE MCNYOLMS, UNNEUANO MID. EBOX XE GE AN ETOOTC 15 STETNUEPE ETWOYN. HXWZIL. EZOYE NETNKOTK MTBBO. DYW TAP MEXAU. EY MKOTK NITEY **STETNOWTH** WA. AYW NET NHTN UTUDY. 20 EZOYETTWNZ. TORE. EYTORE dTETN+NOY NITEYUYH. 60 TAP WITCH NTWTN DE d TETNIZE II TAUTALLIETHY 25 TN. DYW dyca WEEPE MAE MUTHYTH NINENTAYXO MNOYTE MUJA OC ETBHHTOY. ENEZ. OTE SE NETTAZE THEIR SHAWLYNT DXNHPIT.

you turn back again' to these provocations of God and fall upon the sword of the evil one who corrupted all the world in his sins and his lawlessnesses, because you loved defilement rather than purity, and chose for yourselves death rather than life. For you incited him who made you and nourished you, God, the Eternal, to wrath and you also grieved her who nursed you. Jerusalem that is to say the community. And you fell at noonday like those at midnight. as it is written, "The virgin of Israel stumbled, she fell, she shall no more rise". "For those who sleep", it is said, "sleep in the night and those who are drunk are drunk in the night?" But you were drunk at noonday like those about whom it was said. "They are drunk without wine".

For Manalin read malin , 2Crum, Dict., p.644b translates "turn back from, out of", but from the context it seems necessary to adopt the translation "turn back to".

³Cf. Jer.8.3.

⁴Cf. Bar.4.7-8.

⁵Cf. Is.59.10.

⁶Cf. Amos 5.2.
⁷I Thes.5.7.

[°]Cf. Is.29.9 and 51.21.

WSVITSTA WYD PIT TUEEPE NOE THETH KOTK NITEY WH. EBOX XE 5 STETNIKÛ N CUTN NOOTE WITNOYTE. EATETNUEPE MKAKE. EZOYE 10 EMOYOEIN. EXTETNETT METCHINE DE ON, XE YEONG. 15 DYM METSONG. DE YCAWE. ETBETTAI OYOI NHTN WTO NHPOC XE IL METNAMINE 20 EYE WITZICE THPY ENTAME EIWT WOTTY NUMBER THP TN. EXTETN 25 KŴ NOWTH MNEUCBOOTE MINU SMUM

ancique rine

TNEIOTE: JAHN' EIC MEX YOU WINNEN CNHY dyei Wa PUTN NKECA. KONS SMONS NOG NYYTH UNOYUKAR N SHT ENDWWW. ETPEYEIPE NTOYET TOYET TULLUTIN KATA MECTURINA. EBOX LE ATE TNKW NOWTH NTTHEH A 63 SMUN YOU TETNKIWE NHTN NZEN MHI EYOYOGT STUTTPETTE TNZHT' NATCBW PKAKE EPUTN. ETETNIXW IL MOC XE AND ZENCABE. ATE TNPCOG. EXTE TNUIBE THE STYDNITU YOU

And you slept at noonday like those who sleep in the night, because you forsook the fear of God and loved the darkness rather than the light, and also reckoned the bitter sweet and the sweet bitter. So woe to you, wicked ones, because you did not call to mind all the trouble which our father took with you all, but forsook his teachings of life and the ordinances of your fathers. Nevertheless, here are the elders and our brethren; they have come to you again because we are living in great distress and much grief. that they may do to each of you according to her deserts. For you forsook the fountain of living water and dug'for yourselves broken cisterns and when your ignorant hearts were darkened, and you said, "We are wise", you became fools, having exchanged the glory of God6

^{&#}x27;Cf. Jn.3.19.

²Cf. Is.5.20.

For Elc cf. 18r, note 4.

For KIWE read WIKE . Of. Jer.2.13.

[°]Cf. Rom.1.21-23.

10

15

SNSENSBHYE ELEWINE. E TBETTAI ATTNOY TE THYTH E SPHI ESENTA DOC EYCHW ETEMXIONE ME MINIXWEU UNTONHPO MILL. NOI ETE PETILLOPIA NILL WOOT N NETEIPE INO OY. OY MONO STUTE ISTUN. ANNA ZUTKE : LYO

TOY LYTOY

TENCOR AYUU
MENTORIC TO THE
XTO MENCOUTHP
UMAPATTEINE
AYUU UTCBÜ

NAM EYTEM

UDC, XE UDD

WE ZOCOM OY
NTHTM MOYO
EIN, XE MNE

TKAKE TARE WYG . MITHT XE METUDO WE STUTIEZO OY. WEUSIXPHY XE UNDY EMOY OEIN WITEIKO CLIOC. MET YETHS EWOOU WH WAYXIXPIT XE MOYDEIN HAS ME 'MOOW NZHTC. THUS SE HOND COMMPANA SUDVINIS 34 STYDYTE INVINENTOXA NNENEIOTE. THNOXIXPOTT dN. XE MOYOET WOOD SPAI N SHTOY. ME Xdy Tap XE NEï us syoon MEGOTOEIN SMIKGKE.

EWWITE EN

WANPAKTN

for unfitting things. Therefore God gave you up to despicable passions, that is to say theft and defilement and every wickedness, for the doers of which things there are all sorts of punishment, not only in this age but in the next?

By the Same.

Our teacher and our Lord Jesus Christ our saviour exhorts and teaches us saying, "Walk as long as you have the light, that the darkness may not overtake you". And he who walks in the day does not stumble, because he sees the light of this world. He who walks in the night stumbles because the light is not in it. We also, if we walk in the laws of God and the commandments of our fathers, shall not stumble, because the light is in them. For it is said, "I walked in his light through the darkness." But if we turn ourselves away

Job 29.3.

Cf. Rom.1.26. Eph.1.21. Jn.12.35. Jn.11.9-10.

5

15

20

25

EBOX NINENTO AH WITHOUTE LINNECBOOYE MNENEIDTE ENTAYTADY E TOOTN. TNNd XIXPOTT' TIE. SE NTNCOOTH AN XE ENUOO WE ETWN. XE DITKAKE TWU MINENBOX. DYW TNNdXOTIXT NOE NINETE UNBAX ULLOOY. YXW TAP WLLOC XE OYPEUPOY DEIN TAP TE TENTOLA ET NAMOYC. MMO LOC DE OYOY DEIN ME MZIH: DYW ON SE MISH BC NINDOYE PHTE THE MEK WAXE, DYW MY DEIN TIE MIND

SIDOYE.

DYW ON XE ITA

TIND NOWOP MY XINTEYWA UNDUNOPITU WAPOK MINOY TE, DE ZENOY DEIN NE NEK MPOCTATUA ZIXTUTKAZ. ONT 3X NO WYD uoc ūrisoic OYAAB. EUKTÕ MINEWYXH. EYKTÓ ILUO DY, ETWN. EI MHTI EBOX LOOBSILLING ELLILET NON YU. EBOX SUNKA KE EMOYOET. DYW ON YE TE TOAH JUTISO EK OYOYOET TE ECPOYOET ENBAL MINKOYI. 3 dyw ON SE TIET NOSAPEZ ETE TOAH. NUND EILLE AN EYWA

DE UTTONHPO.

from the commandments of God and our fathers' teachings which they gave us, we shall stumble, since we know not whither we go'because the darkness has shut our eyes, and we shall grope like those who have no eyes? For it is said, "The good commandment is a lamp, and the law is a light for the way?" And again, "Your word is the lamp of my feet and the light of my ways!" And again, "My spirit shall come early out of the night, it shall come early to you, O God, because your statutes are lights upon the earth?"

And again, "The law of the Lord is holy, converting souls?"

Whither does it turn them except from evil unto good, from darkness to light? And again, "The commandment of the Lord is a light which enlightens the eyes of the young?"

And again, "He who shall keep the commandment shall know no evil thing?"

Cf. Jn.12.35.

²Cf. Is.59.10.

³Prov.6.23.

^{&#}x27;Ps.118.105.

^{&#}x27;Is.26.9. 'Ps.18.8.

⁷I.e. "convert". Here as in the quotation of Ps.18.8 the Coptic word is KTO. No one English word seems to be satisfactory in both instances.

⁶Ps.18.9. ⁶Eccles.8.5.

AYW ON XE ME THE SAUSPINT TOAH. MAI MET OYOX. OYK' OYN ENWAN 5 MAPABA NITE TOAH. END N DE WITENTAY Takô, dyw dy OYWETT - THE 10 TEPENDI TOP WOOT NAY AN. OYBAKE ME E NUNDY EBOX an Edysi Noy 15 BEYE WITTEBO MNEUWOPT NNOBE. dI TAP TENUA AY THEN ETE 20 TCODIA TE. CT CBW NAN ECXW inoc XE na WHPE WTIPTPE DYWOXNE EU 25 SOOY TAROK. MAI ETKÛ N COU NITECBO SINTEUUNT

KOYI. DYW ET OBW ETDIAGH KH ETOYAAB. dukameyhi TAP SATURIUDY. DI BULLETT WYS mour sucour PULLE SATING WINTE. NINEDY ON NILL ETCO OYS' EPOY KO TOY. AYW NINEY TARENEZIOOYE ALLA SUMITE CENAPHKEP RIMIN . YHTS POLLITE TAP I YOUSET SHUTH ENENTAYTA IS 947 3400UL NESIDOYE ET MANOYOY. NEY NAGNNESIO ONE MINAIKAI OC EXCYER YOUR TIE. FITSTMAWING TAP ENECBOYE INS HOBOTISMIN.

And again, "He who shall keep the commandment is saved".

Surely, if we transgress the commandment, we are like him who perished and was broken. For he who lacks these things is blind and sees not, having forgotten the cleansing of his former sins? For truly the mother of us all, which is wisdom, teaches us saying, "My son, let not evil counsel overtake you which forsakes teaching from its youth and forgets the holy covenant. For it set its house near death and its path with men near Amente. None that adheres thereto shall return or attain to the ways of life. But they shall regret, because the years of life shall not be attained by them. For if they had walked on the good paths they would have found the ways of the righteous smooth?"

If we pay heed to the teachings of the scriptures

Cf. Prov.13.13.

²II Pet.1.9.

^{3*-*} This clause is not in the Greek text of Proverbs, but does occur in the Sah., cf. Worrell, Prov.

For enentay talloome read enentay woome 5Prov. 2.16-20.

WYL ZAWYO NTNOUTU N CWOY. THNO XIXPOT AN ME-5 OTTE NTINNAKA TAPPONEI AN THE ETPENUM ME STUTEBO Or MILL OXXX TNNACUTU 10 NCAMETXW MUDG XE AUD STE WHITET NAMOYU. CA SETHYTN EBY MEWB MILL E BOOY. YEKAC EPEZAZ' NZIA STUWE SYNUM NAM. USW 20 ap much se METUE ILMO UDC. EUKTÔ EPOU NOYCO BT. WYS 25 IN WAYXOOC

SE dut tap in

MNOUDC EY

BOHBEID.

STUTTPETTPU WE THE MOUT' EPATY WITHOU TE NUPZOTE I'M WILD DITHS +2THU ENEU NOUDC UN NEUENTOAA. WAPETTYDEIC WWITE NOW N BOHBOC, NUNA LIN HISE DEUS €8007. dyw € OYPWINE ENU XEXADY DIV I ME', ETEMAIDED LOC ME, MAI ET DOONEL ENET DYWWY EWNS rathurons CEBHC:

TETBETTAI OYOI

NINETKŴ Ñ

CWOY ÑÑNO

LUCC ÜTNOYTE

AYW ETWBY

LWOOY ENEN

TOAĤ ÑNENEI

strictly and obey them, we shall not stumble nor shall we act scornfully so as to live in all wickedness, but we will obey him who says, "Lay hold on the good, abstain from every evil thing", in order that we may have many ways of life. For it is said, "He who loves the law surrounds himself with a wall?" And again it is said, "He gave the law for a help?" If a man take refuge with God and fear him and observe his laws and his commandments, the Lord becomes his helper and preserves him from every evil way and from one who speaks nothing of truth, which is the devil; who envies those who wish to live in godliness. Woe, therefore, to those who forsake the laws of God and neglect the commandments of our fathers which they enjoined

I Thes.5.21-22.

²Cf. Prov.28.4.

 $^{^{3}}$ Is.8.20.

⁴Cf. Jn.8.44.

TUDOY ETO OTN. CEND LOOC TAP DIKAI CUC XE OYOE! NAY XE 24PAK 5 TOY EBOX JULOI. TURTONIO EBIHN NATAZO OY. DE AYPWA LITE EPOI. 10 H NCELOOC MAN DE Û NET KŴ NCWOY PLOOISAIN 15 ETCOYTUN. ETCUTTI NAY SHOOKS NKAKE. ETEY OPANE EXIVI PEUPMEBO 20 OY. ETCWRE EXMNEDOOY, Mdi EPENEY 2100YE 600 WE. DYW EPEY 25 MA THOOME SHY NKOTC. ETPEYOYE. DYW MCEDLY

NUJULUO ETE THUWWH TITAL KAIOC. ETBEITHI OYO NILL ETMAPA BY NNENTONH ENTAMENEID TE KADY NAN'E 2Pdi, drw NCE XI', MCET' SMOY KPOY. H NICE + EBOX. H FICE TOOY, NOYEW NWINE H NCE OYUNI FICECÜ NXIOYE WITBOX NTCYNATWIH H MEOYN MICY NATULH WIBY MAKANUN ENTANENEID TE KODY NON'E 2Pai EUMOY LOOC NWOPIT. EYEWWITE EY CZOYOPT UN NEYZBHYE TH POY. MAXICTA EYWANOYEW

they turned away from me; misery shall overtake them because they turned away from me; misery shall overtake them because they did iniquity against me!" And to us it shall be said, "O forsakers of straight ways, who choose for themselves the ways of darkness, who take pleasure in them that do evil and who rejoice at the wicked, whose ways are twisted and whose paths are so devious that they become remote and estrange themselves from the purpose of the righteous." So all who transgress the commandments which our fathers laid down for us, and who buy and sell fraudulently, or sell or buy without asking permission, or eat and drink covertly either outside or inside the community against the rules which our fathers laid down for us, unless they tell it previously, shall be cursed with all their works, especially if they eat

^{&#}x27;Hos.7.13.

20ne would expect the construction Naï ETEPENEYZIOOYE, cf. Steindorff, para 519; Plumley, para 357. It may be noted that one MS containing this verse of Proverbs (2.15) reads ETEPE -, cf. Worrell, Prov.

For Eperua read epenerua .

⁴Prov.2.13-15. ⁵Cf. Prov.2.16.

YIH T

OURNO EYWO BE ELLTOYTH dy ETOOTN. THAIN ON MOE SE, EDOM ENKY TAPPONEL DYW ENKÛ MOWN MIN WUTTING NESBHYE EN TANENEIDTE Kddy NdN' EZPdi ETBEZENTPO DUYS HSIN HO Takô. UNNICO TPEYCRAI NA SE ETBEOY SPE WITPKATA AYE WITZUB WITHOUTE. JOYNOBE ME AN TE. OYTE MOYAPIKE NA dN, TTE ENWA WINE ZHZWB NILL ELLITATIN

ONAKO . YAD

MID DE NTOY

NON TE, DYW

OYNOG WUNT

10

15

25

WAYTE EZPAI EXWN TE EN MANPADY N ECUB. H NTN BUK EXADY una Eurinai ME NOUDPIT. H NTNOYWU YOU'S MYIOYE. H NTNCEHPTT. EUTINTALE NETUI WITE POOTW. EWWITE DE EMMANÉSOUB NITEIZE ELL MYWINE, ME CNOU SIXUT. DYW NETEIPE MNdi, CENd CONSOY ZN NETWEETE. DYW CENDUDY TE EPOOY E BOX ZITUMONA ME ETCHE ME NTO NBOWOP ETENDALLIC ME. DYW ON

anything different from what has been allowed to us. Again we are found scorning and forsaking the ordinances and the things which our fathers laid down for us concerning foods of the belly that perish, even after it was written for us, "Because of food do not destroy the work of God". It is not a sin or a fault in us if we ask concerning everything before acting. But on the other hand it is lawlessness for us and a great iniquity on our part if we do anything or go anywhere without having first asked permission, or if we eat anything covertly or drink wine without having informed those who take care of us. And if we do such a thing without asking permission, our blood is on our heads. Moreover those who do these things shall be fettered in their devices and they shall be called in the scriptural phrase, "Portions for foxes", which means demons. And again

Cf. Jn.6.27 and I Cor.6.13.

²Rom.14.20. ³Cf. Ps.62.11.

MYOLOC EL CHS, MAXOOC NON NITEIRE DE CECSOYO PT NOINETPI 5 KE ILLOOY E BOX NNEKEN WYL . HAOT ON SE AKCEWY 10 OYON NILL ET COSHY EBOX MNEKAIKAIW MA. XE OYXI N GONG ME MEY WEETE. 15 PT SK NO WYD MAI YHYO IBX PEUPNOBE. XE UTTOYWINE MCANEKAIKAI 20 WULL: CTBETTOIGE NE CMHY NAMOYO NON ETPEN AMÓ NAN' MOO TE WITSOEIC. TUSBONTH WYD EBOX MINETE

PETTNOTTE

X

MOCTE ILLO OY. XEKAC ENE 26' EYNÀ STUTIE 2004 MITEMET MWINE . XE N THCOOTH AN XE ENETWIT EMMOTTE DYW MENYOEIC IC NAW NZE. MZWB TAP LIDKE END TE EDMANTA E MNOTE. Kal TAP OYPWINE AN NITENSE ME THNATULET E poy. alla oy XOEIC ITE DIW MNOYTE ME EUCODYN E NETNEIPE IL MOOY, ZINTKA KE. YXW TAP TUDO SE MÀ OTNOTÀ NAW YOU'S PITOS US NEWT! NITO TUNDY EPOU anok. WH N

who turn away from your commandments are cursed", and again, "You despised all who are far from your statutes, because their thoughts are iniquity", and again, "Salvation is far from the sinners because they did not seek after your statutes". Therefore, brethren, it is good for us to acquire for ourselves the fear of the Lord and to depart from the things which God hates, that we may find grace on the day of our visitation, since we do not know how we shall meet God and our Lord Jesus. For it is a very hard thing to meet God. He whom we shall meet is not a man like us, but he is Lord and God, knowing the things we do in the darkness. For it is said, "'Shall anyone hide himself in a secret place and I not see him? Do

^{&#}x27;Ps.118.21.

²Ps.118.118.

³Ps.118.155.

TAPXÀ NTCO

DIA TE BOTE

MITWOEIC:
MOY ETPEN
ANTÓ NAN ÑOY
MITATZOTE

NTIVPNOBE

WHENTO E

BOX WHINOTE.

XEKAC ENNE

PETHN ENTEN

EAH. AXXA MA

PINTIENENT

ETECBÜ, ÑTÑ PIKE ÑNEMUA AXE ENWAXE ÑTAICHHCIC. XEKAC ENEEI LLE XE ENTW.

WOOTT. ENXW

MUOC XE TN ONZ: MHMO TE TNÔ NKA KE. ENXW Ñ MOC XE ANON SENOYOEIN:

TAI TAP TE BE
ENTAÑCABE
EY LOOC LE
ENTAÑCABE
EY LOOC LE
ENTAÑCABE
EY LOOC LE
ENTAÑCABE
EY LOOC LE
LINGEGUNT
NOYPUNE EN
REUNOBE. EUL
PIKE EPOY AN.
LIEYSHT' EÑA
PIKE EPOY AN.
LIEYSHT' EÑA
PIKE EPOY AN.
LIEYSHT' EÑA
NEYNOBE
LÜNNEYUNT

ZOTAN DE EN

WANZAPEZ E

NENTOJĤ JŪ

ITXOEIC IČ. AYW

NITNCWTŪ E

NEUWAXE. TĒ

ZIĤ NACOOY

TN ME. AYW Ñ

TNNAXIXPOTÎ

CUDYTE.

10

5

15

20

25

I not fill the heaven and the earth?' says the Lord'." For to turn ourselves from evil is the way of life, and the fear of the Lord is the beginning of wisdom? Now therefore far be it from us to acquire disrespect and to sin before God lest we regret at our end, but let us pay heed to teaching and incline our ears to the words of knowledge; that we may know how we are; lest we are dead while saying we are alive, lest we are dark while saying we are light. For thus the wise men said, "There is indeed no wrath like this, that a man is sinful while yet his heart finds no fault with him that he may renounce his sins and his iniquities." But whenever we keep the commandments of the Lord Jesus and hear his words, our way shall be straight and we shall not stumble.

Jer.23.24.

²Cf. Ps.110.10 and Prov.1.7.

Note ENNEMP - for MNEMP -.

Cf. Prov.23.12.

I.e. "what our spiritual state is".

an. Kal Tap dy TAMON'E THI ZITUTE yahuwsoc EUXW TUDE 5 SAS KONS SX OYWHPE WHILL NACOOYTH N TEUZIA. MEXAY DE ZUITTPEU 10 22PEZ ENEK MAXE. DAK, OTN' OTO! NAN ENWANOBUN ENCLOSE TIME 15 EIOTE. ETOY rooms mus ETOOTN: TAHN +NUXOOC YOU'S SEISTIN 20 NOG NAMTH WYOYUKAS. MEHT XE EC TOUN' TEMUNT PUZE ETWO 25 PUNDING 110 MUHNE UN TITAPPHCIA E

TELLINKPOU N

SHTC . ENCO OYN AN' NKADU OYTE XIOYE. ETBETTAI OY SYCILLY 10 ONSEN YELDKINS · buil YABAMS ATW ETSI ETT SMOYKPOU UNOYUNTCA KOTC, EUMOY SOOC NWOPTI. DYW CECSO10 PT NOINETEL PE MNdi UMNI KOOYE: XE IL MOYWIME, OY TE UMOYPED MIN YOTHS ST CH20Y ENTH MENEIWT XO OY ETBENET 2BHYE NITE! SE. ETBELIAI MENKAS MEHT THPY TINENEI OTE WINE TOYAGB THPOY MINTENSOIC

This too we were told by the psalmist, who says, "Where-with shall a young man straighten his way? By keeping your words", he said. Woe to us indeed if we forget the words of our fathers which they enjoined on us. But it is with great pain and grief that I ask, where is our freedom which exists in our monastery every day, and the liberty in which there is no deceit, deceit and theft being unknown to us? So woe to those who steal anything anywhere and who buy and sell with deceit and duplicity, not having first reported it. And those who do these and other things are cursed, because they were not ashamed and did not fear the curses which our father pronounced concerning such things. Therefore all the grief of our fathers and of all the saints and of our Lord

^{&#}x27;Ps.118.9.

The Paris fragment 130⁵, fols.109-110 (cf. p.29) contains a text parallel to 43r, col.II, line 11, beginning

[EN] TONKOOC - 45r, col.I, line 15, ending ANOY . The Paris leaves are fragmentary, only part of one column of each being extant. Variants between the two texts will be noted.

IC EYEET EZPAT EXWOY DYW EXINTCOOY SE MXMOY. EBOX XE 244 5 CBW NAN AYW Y3 'NOULDTYLD XW WWOC XE atexuñ mpo 10 KONTE. ONE 3 MMS LOOS 207N. Udpn KÜGE NOWN NNEZBHYE W MKAKE. NTN 15 in numis 36 + NOOTHON I MOYOEIN. ETE NO! NE NESBH OYE, ETNANOY 20 OY, DYW NDIKAI OCYMH. ELL MATERIE284 MTENSAH ETU MOY ET EXWN 25 SMOYWENE MOE MOYTH WY NTNTUP BOX. ELLINTE

TNACWTU EPO. OYTE ELINTE TNAUWTE N TEMPLUEIÀ E BOX ZINENBAX. EBOX SE WITH CUTU KANUC. OYTE WINT WSY3 MHTS ETOOTN XE JUNS WITHALD THMONHPIA. XICBÛ EPTITIE THANOTÚ. NTOOY DE ME XAU DYPATOW Try mry - mi NOYEC WITHEU MIND ETOYAGE. STED ATTXOEIC KTOU NOY EY WITZOXE. THI THE DE ENTANETNO SOOC NITEPOY MAY EPON' EN TNUOYUT I

JUDY AN OYTE

ENTNAIDKPI

Jesus shall come upon them and upon their pate. For we were taught and told that, "The night is far spent, the day is at hand, let us therefore forsake the works of darkness and put upon us the armour of light", which are good and righteous works, before the day of our end comes upon us suddenly like a snare and we do not escape, for there will be no one who will hear us and no one who will wipe our tears from our eyes, because we did not hear diligently nor did we heed when they commanded us, saying, "Cease from your wickednesses, learn to do good": "But they were disobedient", it says, "and provoked his holy spirit to anger, and the Lord turned to them in enmity": For thus said those of understanding when they saw that we were not examining ourselves or judging

'Rom .13.12.

²Cf. Lk.21.34.

³Cf. perhaps Rev.7.17.

⁴Is.1.16-17.

⁵Is.63.10, cf. 30r, note 6.

ME WOUND AN XE ENEMEXO IC NEHTN. ME YOU'VE SX YEX WHHUE EYED 5 CE ENTHOLI TId. EATEYLINT **STAIDKPINE** 20TBOY WUIT · roour 10 (1) AY SOOC DE ON SE ENWAN TETHN EBOX ENNETPADA. THNAEIUE 2N 15 OYWPX XE NET O NATCUTU KATAOYOEKW. MEPERADY N ZWB EUCOY 20 TWN' WWITE MAY MNAZPUL MNOYTE . dx DULKSKAMB BY 25 MINE EZENE BUTE EYWOY EIT' ZUTKEI KOCLLOC. MAXIN ON YAY

XOOC XE EIC 2HHTE DINNAY EBOX ENNETPH OH ETOYEAB XE NETOYHZ NOOTOYWW WITHOUTE. N TOOY NETNY KAMPONOMEI MNEYARABO. NETUDOWE WWYORUS 34 EDOOY WITEY 2HT. EYCBTUT EYOPTH. NOE ETCHZ XE MEY ME YOULDY THU DYW MEYKW ET NAXENA AN. NCEWWITE E PECAPE NILL NOT EPOOT: FTBEMAI OYOI NON. ECET CBW NAN NOI TENUNTAT CUTU. DYW ECEXMION N

GITENKAKIA.

whether Christ Jesus was in us, "Many", they said, "are troubled in the community," for their lack of judgment is killing them". But it is also said, "If we heed the scriptures we shall know with certainty that to those who are disobedient time after time no right thing happens before God, but they endure months of vanity in this world." Again it is said, "Behold we have seen from the holy scriptures that those who follow the will of God shall inherit his good things, but those who walk in the evil will of their hearts are ripe for wrath, as it is written, 'Their worm shall not die and their fire shall not be quenched and they shall be for all flesh to see them." So woe to us. Our disobedience will teach us, and our wickedness will upbraid us.

For STUTKE KOCKOC read with Zoega CCIV and Paris 1305, 109v STUTE KOCKOC .

Perhaps "way of life".

2*-* This passage also occurs in Zoega CCIV (cf. p.19ff)

fol. Cir introduced as follows: AXXA MAPINATUMIZE ENEIPE

ATHLESE ATTENTACIONE SE. The words THASPATINOTTE are

omitted.

The quotation up to this point also occurs in Paris 130', fol.12v (cf. p.28), with the addition of "brethren" after "Behold". It is introduced thus: akeona be on book nikewa be. Note the use of n for nice, cf. Steindorff, para 167; Plumley, para 100.
71s.66.24.

^aFor πολιτια Paris 130⁵, 109v reads πολιτεια ^bFor ενπομικε Paris 130⁵, 109v reads ενποξωζεικε ^cFor πκεϊκοιμος Paris 130⁵, 109v reads πεϊκοιμος ^dForενορτη Paris 130⁵, 110r reads [ε]ονορτη ^eFor ονοϊ Paris 130⁵, 110r reads ον[ο]ει

FILLE DYW N THINDY SE YEA WE NAN ETPE KOU NOWN N NAIKAIWUA WITHOUTE WINENTOAH

NINENEIDTE: UTWPEE ON ETPEYLOOC MAN SNOYEW NT SE XÔ NZE

> COYO. NITETN WEC MEENWO

TE. MEINOG MCGROY ETBE

TENUNTAT CBW WINTEN UNTATCUTU.

ETBEXE AN KŴ ÑCWN Ñ TITHIH PITCO

DIA. DYW ATTE 2HT NATCBÛ

PKAKE EPON.

SWICTE ETIL

TPENPITUE

EYE NITEMPAH. UNITINAY ETN

NOT INTENTINA ENGIX WITHOU TE. NILLGE TE MODOC NUEILLE ENDI. THSMUTT WYS NUCOYWNOY SE CECOYTU NEINESTOOME WITXOEIC. NDIKOJOC NE SMOONE DI . YOTHSIN CEBHC NE. CE NAPOUB NEH TOY:

HEA MEIERA XICTOC MET CZdI NNEU MEPATE N CNHY ZILITISO EIC. EÏWAN YOOC XE XYI PE. TENOY PW EYTWN MPAGE SE ancola sun

ENBOX MINET

10

15

5

20

25

Know and see that it is bitter for us to forsake the statutes of God² and the commandments of our fathers. On no account then let it be said of us in wrath, "Sow wheat and reap thorns". This great curse is because of our ignorance and our disobedience and because we forsook the fountain of wisdom, and our ignorant hearts were darkened, so that we did not call to mind our end and the time when we shall give our spirit into the hands of God. Who then is wise and knows these things? and prudent and understands them? For the ways of the Lord are straight and the righteous shall walk in them; but the ungodly shall faint therein.

Besa, this most humble one, writes to his beloved brethren in the Lord. If I say "Joyful Greetings", now where indeed is the joy? For the consolation was hidden from the eyes of those

FOR NTWNAY read NITETHNAY

²Cf. Jer.2.19.

³Jer.12.13.

⁴Cf. Rom.1.21. 5Cf. Lk.23.46.

[&]quot;Hos.14.10.

^{*}For TEIENAXICTOC Paris 1305,110v reads TIENAXI[c]TOC

POPENTEYOU glorgson vica T3 WYL . ILL MEYZHT' NKY THSK NEHT KE ETO NEBA WITTEYCOOT EXTUTENTA 5 KO. EBOX XE MNOYÑ ETÓ SMISOSINE NKUHUE. UN WUYLD MTHSM TEYUNTCABE ME EYTNIW MAY MAYDAY ETTACEBHC E Tai ENTAINET MOI WOLC EBY. TEMNTY PAWE 10 with roun EXYXOOC XE NOE WITHOU OTOI NINETO ETELLINCOOT MICHBE NAY WA MICHTU. EBOX Ora WY6. Y66 YOSEPONE 3X NPUNSHT' W 15 NCOMINIABO MEYLLTO EBOX. LOC MENTAU OYO' NINET TOKO NITOI CUIT' WITKAKE. KOYLLENH ZN WYG - MIBOROM NEUNOBE. 20 M MISOYOFI NOE ENTAU KOKE. NET SOOC XE deo XU TUDO XE EINE FAP SIN METCAUJE 20 TENOY, OYA No. DYW MET soye came. YOSETILS YOS 25 JUTICATANAC. Παποςτολος איש איגש הי DE ON YOU IL CWOY UTNO LOC DE ALLEY NOC WITGITE. 2HT' NATCBU

who desire our salvation and who are grieved over our perdition, because some among us have become comparable to the ungodly man who has no joy and like the ignorant folk. because they followed the devil who destroyed the world in his sins, as it was said, "For some already followed after Satan2 And they forsook the law of God. They followed their dark minds, which are in confusion, and their false knowledge, which is dark, and that which is wisdom in their own eyes, which those of understanding have demolished, as it has been said. "Woe unto them that are wise in their own eyes, and prudent in their own sight "Woe unto them who count darkness for light and light for darkness, who say that bitter is sweet and sweet is bitter." And again the apostle says. "Their ignorant hearts were

for menonia which is supported by Paris Read MENOYSAT 1305,110v and makes better sense. ²I Tim.5.15.

For Maday read Mayady 418.5.21.

^{*}Is.5.20.

Paris 1305,110v reads[n]EnoyAdii For ETELINTU Paris 1305,110v reads ETELINTU

YK5

PKAKE EPOOY EYYU WUCC XE ANON SEN CABE. LYPCOG, 5 ENCENOI AN MNETOYXIÙ JUDOY. OYDE XE EYTAXPHY EXMOY. EU NO 34 SMUYO 10 EBOX WITCHUY. UNTUNTEDIE MIND INTEIL NE UNTEYUNT 15 PEUKAZTEY EPOOY MAYA dy - Wayxo OC XE EBOX DE WHOULD KILLEGE WITH 20 TE EKADY NOY ENOYCOOTH. DI STYONTL THSYS ILASS YA NYOOYT, EEL 25 PE NINETELLE WILL EYXHK EBOX NIXI N

60NC NILL SI KAKIA. ZITTO MHPID. SILLA TO NZOYO. EYLES FIXA. 212WTB. 21+TWN. SIKPOY. SIZHT' EUZSY. NPEUKACKC. NPEUKATALA YEI WHACT NOYTE. NPEUCOW. MXACIZHT: NBABEPWILE. MPEUKWIE NCAMMEBSY. ENCECUTU AN NOWNEYED OTE. NOBHT. · STSPNIPN THSISHYON NOTNO - NOT ETCOOYN I MAINMULA WINDYTE. SE NETEIPE

darkened. Saying, 'We are wise', they became fools", knowing neither what they said nor upon what they were established. And, making manifest also the shame and the disgrace of the people of this kind, and their self-reliance, it says, "As they did not think fit to have God2 in their knowledge, God gave them over to a reprobate mind to do those things which are unseemly, being filled with all iniquity and wickedness and evil and covetousness, being full of envy, murder and strife and deceit and malignity; whisperers, slanderers, haters of God, despisers, proud, boasters, seekers after evil, who disobey their parents, senseless, unbelieving, cruel, merciless; who, knowing God's ordinance that those who do

Rom.1.21-22.

For windte read windoute.

Rom.1.28-31.

MNdi. CEUTUR AL YO YOUR NON CEEIPE LILLS , YOUND 5 CECYMEYAD KEI ON LINNET EIPE JUDOY: DUTAI DE ON N TAYXOOC SE SENKAKE YE 10 NE NEZIOOTE NNACEBHC. DYW NCECDOY AN XE EYXIXPP WYLD . 35M WARM 15 SE MUOY NO TWUT ENGT CBW. NACE BHC DE NOLUDY SINSENNOBE. 20 NdKaBapcid NOTUNIU EY PULLE NYOI osrovis sau OY EUSOOY 25 MOOSYOM MONIVIC WAN TUWXN:

NAME KATAMWA XE UNANOCTO LOC XE TOWITH PE XE NITEIZE STY HTISOYOU'S TNITWWINE N TUTTENTAUTE US NITHTUS MEZLIOT TIME XC IC EKEEYAT FEXION. ELLIN KEOYÀ WOOM. THI ON TE BE N NOWS THE NOT ETTWW NE EBOX ELL MITTETNANOYU. ETITEBOOY dru EBOX 2N TOTALTH WINT PHNH. ETILLO CTE UNTUNT MAXE. AYW EBOX EUTE OBBIO UNTUNT CTUHT. EY MINTSACIENT TETMETOME

these things are worthy of death, not only do them but also approve of those who do them?" And on this it was also said, "But the ways of the ungodly are dark, and they do not know how they stumble", and "Death will befall the ignorant, and the ungodly will die in sins. Uncleannesses will defile a pestilent man on an evil and troublous day until he perishes". Truly according to the word of the apostle, "I marvel that you so quickly turn from him who called you in the grace of Christ Jesus unto another gospel, whereas it is not another?" So they too now turn away from good to evil, and from love and peace to hatred and enmity, and from humility and obedience to pride and disobedience.

For whoy read whoy.

²Rom.1.32.

³Prov.4.19.

Prov.24.8-10.

⁵Gal.1.6-7.

	/
	DYW EBOX EN
	TUNTPUPALL
	UNOYUNTPEU
	LICBÚ. ETIEN
5	CHOT, LISHI,
	WNOYATCBÛ.
	dym eboy su
	THE, UNTUNT
	PUZE. EMOON
10	WINT SIOYE.
	arw EBOX 2TL
	птвво. Епхи
	ETU. AYW EBOX
	SINTAIKAIOCY
15	NH THPC II
	THOST STROM
	ETANOMIA.
	WINTERPOY.
	MINTKATALA
20	YIA. WINTKAC
	KC NOE WITZOY.
	EYTAKÔ JÜTIZHT
	MATHAMAN
	THE EPOOT. EY
25	attata rinet
	MHY ESTUTEY
	SHT ETEINE
	ILLOOY ETITIKAC
	KC. UNTKATA

Addid. EYWAXE MCDINEYEPHY. EYXW WITETE NUWDOM' AN. H NTOU EUCYO OTT' ELLMOYON EU EBOX. EAY SOOY WEN'E SAS, LISAS LICOLL, DAGTURYOUS brown 'SWT MATH ECUYOY EIT' WINOYUD CTE. LINOY KWITY EYCW TOSS YOU STO NZENNOBE ENDWWOY. YOUNG WILD YOU WY POOX COST NOYWT ELETERAME EXOOU NAU. XEKAC ENNA WWITE NAT NOBE. ETBETTATE NE CNHY MAPRICA

SUN' EBOX N

NEIZBHYE NITEIZE WIN

25

and from gentleness and enlightenment to hardness of heart and ignorance, and from truth and freedom to untruth and theft, and from purity to impurity, and from all the right-eousness of God unto lawlessness and deceit and evil-speaking and whispering like a serpent, destroying the hearts of those who encounter them, deceiving those of like mind who resemble them in whispering and evil-speaking, maligning each other, saying what is not so or rather not revealing what is, and having spoken many, many times with wrangling and purposeless deceit and hatred and mockery, gathering many sins up for themselves, and not even once saying what ought to be said in order that we may be without sin. Therefore, brethren, let us depart from such things and 2

For NNETHATIANTA read either NNETATIANTA or NNETHABITANTA. 2*-* This line, i.e. col.II, line 30, is written in smaller characters, badly faded, perhaps erased. The passage reads smoothly with or without the line.

PROMOTORINASE

MEIWOXNE N KPOU DE FINE MNOYTE 6W NT EPON NY NOXN LINNET 5 PRUB ETANO MIG. AYW NY NOYZICE EZPAÏ EXWN XINI MEILLA EUTH 10 TNITUE PU E MUL ETNING BWK EPOU. THA WITZICE THPY UNTA 15 MYSON: Jave Katariya SE WITENEL WT' MENTON TH AN HE HAI. 20 MENTONTN AN TE Mai. E BOX SE NTAY TOO ME MUSET

YOU'LL LINOY

Trun. dild

ENOYTBBO.

ETPENWWITE

SNOTTCONO.

25

PATN ETIXOIC KANWC AXNPO OYW. ENOYGE HE CMHY OTON MILL ENTAYLEPE MOYUNE EBOX NTKOINWNIA. TUK' NEHT' IL MP+STHTN E MIPWILE NAT CBW ETNEHT THYTN ET XPOIT DYW ET MOUPS WITCOM UL ENEUEPHY. KATAMETCHE. XE WAPEDY PULLE EUGOD WE, LOOY, NOY HTWN. DYW WAYTURO N OYWAS NKPOU MINEBOOY. WITDAY WITH PX MEENWBE EP UNSENPU

MHI. dilla

these deceitful counsels, that God may not be angry with us and cast us together with those who work for lawless-ness'and bring upon us suffering from this place on, even before we reach the place to which we shall go, the place of all suffering and groaning. Truly according to the saying of our father this is not our ideal, this is not our ideal, this is not our ideal, because we were not called unto defilement and strife but in purity that we might live in propriety and stand worthily before the Lord without anxiety. Now therefore, brethren, all who like to display fellowship, be strong of heart, do not pay heed to these ignorant men who are among you, who cause stumbling, and who divide the body in pieces as it is written, "A perverse man spreads strife and kindles the flame of deceit with evils and divides friends and kinsmen", but rather pay

^{&#}x27;Cf. Ps.124.5.

2*-* The repetition of this clause seems to be due to dittography.

³Cf. I Thes.4.7. ⁴Prov.16.28.

POTE MITHTS EMENTALTA ΠΟCΤΟλΟC XOOU SE TN 5 MAPATTEINE NHTN STUTPE THENSOEIC TO MEXIC ECA SETHYTN E BOX NOON' NIL 10 ETUDOWE & TAKTUC. 24W ENKATATE CBW AN ENTAY SITC NTOOTN. 15 DYW ON SE TN CUTU ETBE SOEINE XE CELLOOUSE NTHITHSKI 20 **STAKTWC** ENCEPYAGA NEWB AN. dx Ad EYO MPEU TWZ. EYXW 25 NINETELLE WINE . EYKPU PILL DYW EYKA

THAS ISLANDI

KAXE MNCY NATUTÀ 24W EMMSEIP. DYW SMINHEL AYW SINXENETUP. dyw sirica way datoy, WINNET MHY ESTMITEY SHT' STUTKAC KC UNTUNT SAZ NWAXE ENTACPXOIC EPOOY. THI ENTAYXOOC ETBHHTC XE NNEKPBOX ENOBE. EN CEAPECKE an withoute. 2840 FL3 MLP PULLE NILL. Noti TOP NOWE NENTAYXO OC ETBHHTOY SE WAPERE PULLE EY20 OY, PEKSOY MOVIC . SYCM ON XE NOT NE

heed to what the apostle said, "We command you in the name of our Lord Jesus Christ to withdraw yourselves from every brother who walks disorderly and not according to the teaching which they received from us". And again, "We hear concerning some that they walk among you disorderly, they do no work but are busybodies", speaking unseemly things, murmuring, and speaking evil in the corners of the monasteries and in the streets and in the houses and on the roofs and at their own places, with those of like mind in whispering, and in the talkativeness which has taken command of them.

Concerning this it was said, "You shall not escape sin". They please not God and resist every man. For these indeed are those about whom it was said, "Evil men burn a city", and again, "These are

II Thes.3.6. Thes.3.11.

³E2TNUTE YEART seems to be a mistake for EZNUTEYEAT (cf. Crum, Dict., p.685a) which occurs on 46v, col.I, line 25ii. E2TN - would appear to be the Sah. equivalent of the Achm. AETN - "against", cf. Crum, Dict., p.23b, but that evidently means the opposite of the meaning required here. *Prov.10.19.

⁵I Thes.2.15. ⁶Prov.29.8.

NPWLLE ETLLE busins must EYE ELLMET ETOYALB II WOYEIT. AYW THOYTE, EN EYWOXNE EY NGOYES, MOBE 5 WOXNE ITTO EXMNOBE. NHPON ENTE! aneine Tun' MOXIC: XE AMNOYTE VITUITY DE NET KADY NAN EBOX. EIPE MNITUR. 200 TAP AN ETTE DYW ETKW N 10 DYDEIW ENTAY CLUCY NINEN OYEINE - ETE TOXA MINEN THIS THE ENZU EIOTE, WINEY TKOCLUOC ZU CBOOYE: 01 MKDIPOC NTE O' NHTN. ETE 15 UNTTBNA. TNAPOY ZU ENLIDOME SU MEZDOY WHEN MU JUSUKIN WINE . TETN PHENINU .35+M UNITCO. UN BYIMIC LAB MHY THOYE. HE 20 MUNTPEYOU TETNATIWT WEEDWAON EPATU NNILL WYG . WSBETTS ENLLOOUSE EBOHBEI EPW TN. H ETE 2NOYKaKIA 25 TNATOYNEC OBOYOUN SEMMONHPIG NOC. ENO IL UNZENCTA LECTE. ENUO CIC NOE NIN CTE NINENE WHPE WITE! PHY. ENO N

the men who think of vanity and take evil counsel in this city". But you who create these disturbances and forsake the commandments of our fathers and their teachings, woe to you. What shall you do on the day of visitation? For your affiction is coming from afar, and to whom will you flee to help you? Or will you raise evils and rebellions like the sons of this age in the holy monasteries of God? Shall we add sin upon sin? How did we know that God had forgiven us? For is not the time which is past sufficient, that is to say when we were in the world in the time of our bestiality, when we walked in defilements and drunkennesses and revellings and carousals and abominable idolatries, walking in wickedness and envy, hateful and hating one another,

Ez.11.2.

For neugine read neuroune .

³Cf. Is.10.3.

^{*}Note the use of \overline{N} for \overline{N}^{TE} , cf. Steindorff, para 167; Plumley, para 100.

[°]Cf. I Pet.4.3.

'Tit.3.3.

STOUTU- EN MYGNG. ENVIO THITTES AUTO WOYEIT TITLE SHT. ENO N 5 KAKE ZINNEN MEEYE. ENO NALLOTPIOC EHWINZ WINY TE ETBETUNT 10 STCOOYN ET WOOT NEHTN. ETBETTENTULL MEHT. EAN THAN THEN TE 15 MON WITH EU UNITPEUB EAKADAPCIA YOUR WIM UNTUAITO 20 MEDYO. TE MOY DE MITHY TCABON AN IN TEIZE - AXXA NTAY+CBW 25 NAM XE SMOY YOUND STOS CTUT. APISUB EMETNOYXAI:

MNOYTE TAP METENEPTEI MITHITHSM UN WWYOTH MXWK EBOX arroruw. DYW SE APIZUB MILL DXNKPLL PU ZILLOKUEK. XEKAC ETET NAWWITE NAT NOBE, 27W N DIKEPHIOC NWH PE JUTNOYTE EYOYDAB NTUH TE NTTENED ETGOODE DYW ETGOONE - ETE THOYONE EBOX JOHN YOTHSKI MINIPEUPOY DEIN ZUTKO choc. 91111 XE NTAYTE Y3 NITHTUS UNTPUZE, NE CNHY. MONO TENUNTPU RE. WITPTPEC

darkened in our thoughts, alienated from the life of God because of the ignorance which was in us and because of our hardness of heart, having given ourselves up to defilement and the working of every uncleanness in covetousness? Now we were not taught in this manner, but rather thus were we taught: - "Work out your salvation in fear and trembling. For it is God who works in you the will and the fulfilment of the will". And, "Do all things without murmuring and disputing, that you may become sinless and innocent, children of God, holy, in the midst of the crooked and perverse generation among whom you are manifested as enlighteners in the world." And, "You were called unto freedom, brethren, only let not our freedom

^{&#}x27;Cf. Tit.3.3.

²Cf. Eph.4.17-20.

³Ph11.2.12-13. ⁴Phi1.2.14-15.

WWITE EYAGE WHE TITZATI MA NTCAPS EYXOXÀ. AYW LITHTIS LAKED TKAPMOC NTAI TAITH WHETING KOLOCYNH. EY M KASUSIAD 5 CIWE. ENCOW NETNEPHY. MNENEIOTE. TOTAL NO WITE DODIZION ENXIEDY RUN ETOOTN ENENEPHY EYTCBÛ NAN. STUTUOCTE WINTHUE. XE TENOYEE 10 KW NOWTH UNTITUM. NEWB MILL ETBEZENTPO OH NCAPKIKO. TOPTH. ENWHAT AN N MEWNT. 15 TKAKIA. LODY KOTATE DYWAXE NWYG XPEID. DYW MITPTEUE ? KAN' ANWWWT EBOX ENPUTN. ON. ENEIPE TUTTPX160X E TITLEGYE I NETNEPHY. SHOTE ETCHE 20 WKMASKIS AX EATETINKA THYTN KAZHY YS SAMEXC. UMPUNAC drw ENCOUNG TITEZUOT I UNNEUZBHYE. DYW STETNY 25 MNOYTE MAI * NTMITTUIS ENTAYAAN Ñ MIBPPE. WITCH DUTTE ENOY DE EW ESOYN ELLE! WY. ANTW BIOC. ENTIVU

become an occasion of the flesh, but through the love of the spirit serve one another." And again when we were taught we were bidden, "Now therefore renounce all these, anger, wrath, wickedness; let not a shameful word come out of your mouth. Do not lie one to another, having stripped off the old man with his works, and having put on the new". But now we have turned judgment into gall and the fruit of righteousness into bitterness, despising our fathers and lying to each other in hatred, conflict, and strife for the sake of carnal foods, although we have not been short of anything we needed. And even if we have been short we remember the word which is written, "In straits for Christ's sake". And we despise the grace of God who deigned to bring us into this life, though we were not

'Gal.5.13.
2Col.3.8-10.

³It may be noted that the LXX has Θυμός, and not χολή as here, but the Hebrew is ΥΧ΄ which is a poisonous plant, perhaps poppy, which the LXX usually renders χολή. ⁴Cf. Amos 6.12.

⁵Cf. II Cor.12.10.

For this translation of. Crum, Dict., p.180a, lit. "who made us worthy to be brought....".

MUND THOU AN. ZWCTE ETPE WWITE NIXPOTT NNIOYAdi, UN MSEXXHIN UN 5 TEKKAHCIA WITHOUTE. ENTWITE TIME TEUNTAY. ZWCTE ETPE 10 NETZHN' EPO MYNOTSYNIA THON CUTTL NICEXODC XE EICHE, SMOJ 15 ON, CELLOCTE MINEYEPHY. TEYZE. TE TE ZE. NOE ET 20 CH2 XE ETBE THYTN CEXI OYA EMARAN ENNIZEBNOC: di on TE DE 25 ENTAMMERIT WINDYTE A MY ABANACIE YOOK YE HIP

TREOYÀ NAY

EPOK EKACXH MONEI. NUXO OC DE MAI ME MPWILE ETA CKEI ETAZE TAMPED ET HIT ETITE. THIS THE THATH THE, DYW THE CBOY! WITCHE NPILMEHT. ITAI ITE ITPU WE ENTHYCOT MY EBOX ZU TKOCLLOC. VILL DITIONS NATTEXOC N WITHYE. MET GWWT EBOX CHTU WITPPO NTHE, EYREX MIZE EAREPA TY ETOYWY. DYW XE MAPEU SIEDDY EBOX SITOOTK N GITTEXC. JUTTP TPEYLIOYA EPOU ETBH

worthy of it, so that we became an offence to the Jews and to the Greeks and to the church of God; bringing shame on those that have it not; and so that those who are near us and those who are far from us hear and say, "Behold, they too hate each other, our way is their way", as it is written, "Because of you my name is blasphemed among the Gentiles". Thus again the beloved of God, Apa Athanasius, said, "Do not any the tanyone see you behaving unseemly and say, 'This is the man who disciplines himself to attain the gift that belongs unto heaven. This is the disciple and the pupil of the wise teacher. This is the man who was chosen out of the world, having been reckoned with the angels of heaven, he who expects the king of heaven, hoping to stand by his side!'" And, "Let Christ be glorified by you; do not let him be blasphemed because of

Note to for the more usual form wip, cf. Crum, Dict., p.178b.

Cf. I Cor.10.32.

For the phrase NETELINIAY of. 25v, note 2.

Note EICHE for EICHHNE, a contraction not found in Crum, Dict. or the grammars which however cite EICHE and EICHE.

418.52.5. cf. Rom.2.24.

The following quotations do not occur in the published works of Athanasius but form part of a Sah. homily the author of which is unidentified, i.e. Ryl.62 in Crum, Ryl., p.24.

HTK. YXW TAP THUCK SE MET tEDOY Nai. + MATEODY MAY. 5 METNATCOUN DE Nai: +NACO WY. DUTAYE MOUAXE DE ET WWWT EBOX HADPLILONS 10 CIA. YE EK cour inou ON. KAN EK WANTATOY EN NEKWAJE. EK SIOYÀ EPOY ENNEKZBHYE: UTWPEE TE MOY NECHHY ETPEYXIOYÀ ELTINOYTE E TBHHTN. H NCEWYMPA NNENEIDTE ETBETENUNT 25 STCBW. ELL MTTPENKO N COUN MINEY CBOOYE, WIN

NETENTONA KOMOSKATME ETOOTN UN TEYEMICTH WH. DYW MEY TBBO. NOE EN TAYRUN' ETO OTN EYPANAW EPON NITTE WITKAZ ETU TPENTAPABA YOU'L YOU'L KOYI WAOY NOG. NEOYO SE ETUTPEN TAKEMENCW MA KATANAAY NOUDT' TUTO NHPON- XE N MENPETHN ENTENSAH. SWITH WITH THIS MITTIN VITE BUTTUS NABUK EPOY. ENCOOTH XE CYANAY NIM. PLATTE ETPEN DEPATN THPN, you. For it says, 'I will honour him who honours me, but I will despise him who will despise me'." And he proclaimed the word which decided openly, "You despise him if you honour him with your words but blaspheme him by your works?" Now, brethren, on no account let God be blasphemed because of us, and the name of our fathers be defamed because of our ignorance in forsaking their teachings and their commandments which they enjoined upon us, and their wisdom and their purity, in that they bade us adjuring us by heaven and earth that we should not transgress them from the least to the greatest, and especially that we should not destroy our body in any evil way, lest we be remorseful at our end and break our hearts in the place to which we shall go. We know that it is at all times necessary for us all to stand

^{&#}x27;I Kg.2.30.

²Presumably the writer intends to attribute this quotation to Athanasius also. In Ryl.62, fol.2v, it follows immediately on the preceding passages attributed to Athanasius.

5

10

15

20

25

EMBHUD TUTE XC. MITEMOYÀ MOYÀ XI EBOX ZITUTEUCW Ud MPOCNEN TAYDAY, EITE dradon EITE ME8004. 97 LA MAPENEN Ban GWWT E NETCOTTUN NOE ETCHZ. MTENENBOY ZE EIWPU EU UNTUE AYW NTNPIKE IL MENSHT' ETE CBW. NTNCOB TE NINEWURD XE ENWAXE NTAICHHOIC. NTINCZAICOY DE ON ETITU XO WHENSHT. XEKAC ENNA PBOX NOE NOY QSOC EBOY SN

SEMSAGE. AYW

THLASTON 38M

EBOX SNOTTA WY WYW NTN PBOX ETTAW WHE WINTA Kabapcia:

FNEIPE WITHE EYE WITENTAY XOOC XE XIN TENOY TIKE YORIN KA SA THOYNE HIN WHN'. WHN' SE NILL ETE NUEIPE AN N OYKAPITOC ENDNOTU. CENAKOOPEU NCENOXU E

- MKWZT. STUTTAT FOR IN TAGYOOC YE MOYON HAD MIN acson ESOYN. 6M METHSHT'GE NTETNNHOE ENEWYHY. Arw on se NH DE NITETINPO

at the judgment-seat of Christ and for each one to receive through his body according to the things he has done whether good or evil. "But let our eyes look at things that are upright", as it is written, "and our eyelids open wide to the truths." And let us incline our hearts to teaching and prepare our ears for the words of knowledge, and write them on the tables of our hearts, that we may escape like a gazelle out of a snare and like a bird out of a trap, and that we may escape from filth and uncleanness. We remember that which was said, "From now the axe is laid at the root of the trees; every tree then which does not bear good fruit shall be cut down and cast into the fire." For on this subject it has been said, "The end of all is nigh." Be prudent therefore and be sober unto prayers." And again, "Be sober and vigilant

^{&#}x27;II Cor.5.10.

Lit. "stare", cf. Crum, Dict., p.84b. The LXX here has νεύω, "nod", "beckon". The normal Coptic rendering of this would be Δωρω. A confusion between ειωρω and Δωρω is not unknown, cf. Crum, Dict., p.785b, but note that ειωρω is universally attested in the Sah. text of Prov. 4.25, cf. Worrell, Prov.

³Cf. Prov.4.25.

^{*}Cf. Prov.23.12.

Cf. Prov.7.3.

Lk.3.9, cf. Mt.3.10.

⁸Zoega CCV, fols. × Ψθ - ΨΒ (cf. p.21f) contain a text parallel to 50v, col.II, line 23, beginning ACZUN - 52v, col.II, line 17, ending ZWTEK. Variants between the two texts will be noted.

⁹I Pet.4.7.

EIC XE METN ANTIAIKOC MAIABOLOC MOOME ENY IMM JOH WHS 5 MOYEL EUWI NE NOWUK MNETUWYXA. OPPITUL WYG YO -MAY WYO TE PO INTETIE SHT' DICHONE ENOI WHETE WWE: MAPNEZOTEGE 15 SUTTIPITUE EYE XE AYXO OC DE TEDOY TITLY DEIC TE THNOTTE. ELL 20 THIETKAKE. WE. STW EUMATENE TNOYEPHTE MXIS MODELIX 25 NTOOY NKAKE. TETNAGWWT YOTU DITHS DEIM · DYSAI

BEC NITETTUCY METWOOM' IL MAY. DYW CE NAKAAY EYKA KE. EYWTE DE ETETNITUL CUTU. STOY SUIT CNAPINE NOITETUUYXA TITIEUTO EBOX THETNOWW. DYW NETNBAL. EYWOYEPL EIĤ EZPAÏ: CTBETTATIOE NE CNHY CASE THYTN EBOX MNIUNTPEU +NOYEC WIR TE. ETELTICI ME ETUTAKE YDDAVI THSTI ESOYN EMET tCBW NAY. OYTE ETUCULY NNETNEIDTE XE NINEMXO EIC MEXC SIGN NAKTEI EPW

because your adversary the devil goes, roaring as the lions, seeking to devour your souls. And we did not trouble about it, nor did our heart know how to perceive what was fitting. Let us therefore stand in awe, and remember that it has been said, "Give glory to the Lord your God before the darkness comes and your feet stumble upon the dark mountains. You will look for light, a shadow of death is there, and they shall be put in darkness. But if you do not hear, your soul will weep secretly, confronted with your contempt, and your eyes will shed tears. Therefore, brethren, depart from provoking the wrath of God. This means not corrupting the mind of anyone against him who teaches him, nor despising your fathers, lest the Lord Christ be angry with you

¹I Pet.5.8. ²Jer.13.16-17.

For MODE Zoega CCV reads MMODE
For MOTE: Zoega CCV reads MOTE
For MOTE Zoega CCV reads MCDINE
For MOTE Zoega CCV reads MOE!
For TETMYTCH Zoega CCV reads TETMYTCH
For MOEIC Zoega CCV reads MOTE

MUEINE MOY CAROY EXNTHY TN XINDITEILLA. XE GCHZ XE METAI LIMEY 5 EIGHT NEONG UNTEGLIDAY. EUMEEYE XE NTPNOBE UN. OYKOINWNS 10 ME MAI NOYPW ME NACEBHC. DATE DE METHA XEITE OOOY EMEGEIOUT' 15 UNTEQUEDAY. BU YOUYONS PEYMOY. DYW XE UCZOY 20 OPT NOMET NACWW TITTEY EIWT' ETGIPO · rodps aro H NEUEIOTE ET+CBW Nay 25 DETHUROUS CIZHT LINOY KWITGY DYW

SMOYMOCTE

MOYUNTBO BEPWUE - EN CEEIPE AN II MUSEYE NOE ENTAYWOMIN EPOOY ENTEY DIGITH ETBE MNOYTE. XE YHSTOMIT DAD NTENUYXA. dyuse unint OYTE ENCE EIPE AN TITLLE EYE SE 24X0 OC DE METNA + MZENTEBO OY ETTLE NIZE METNAMOYOY. MITEBOOY NO KILL AN ETUTEU HI. ETBE MISHADON ID EPON ETUTA KEMZHT WYD AY, OYTE ETLL COUL MINETH EIOTE DE DE NOG NNOBE NE MIZBHYE

and bring a curse upon you from this place on, because it is written, "He who uses violence against his father and his mother, thinking, 'I do not sin', is an associate of an ungodly man?" And "He who shall speak evil of his father and his mother, let him die the death?" And "Cursed is he who shall despise his father", who takes care of him, or his fathers, who teach him, in pride, mockery, hatred, and boastfulness. They do not remember how they received us in their love for God's sake, so that we might profit our souls. And did we not give a reminder and did they not call to mind that it had been said, "He who shall recompense evil for good, evil will not stir from his house?"? Therefore let us pay heed not to corrupt the mind of anyone, nor to despise your fathers, because such things are great sins.

^{&#}x27;I.e. from now on, already in this world. This is clear from 47r where it is further elaborated. 2Prov. 28.24.

³Cf. Ex.21.16, Lev.20.9, Mt.15.4, Mk.7.10.

Deut.27.16.

I.e. those who despise their fathers.

I.e. the fathers.

Prov.17.13. Scil. our.

For Meius Zoega CCV reads Muse

NTEIZE. KOI TAP ANENEIO TE LOOC LE AY CEDI NOYUD LE EIW EBOX 5 WHOYEHT E BOX ENTRAKIA DIXHU XEKAC EPACYXAI. NIT GNNETULLAY 10 NTOOY MEXAY EYEIW EBOX NTAIKAIOCY MH. EYXÓ SPJI YOU YOTHSM 15 KAKIA WNOY UNTATOUTU. EIE WITKOW TU NTOK W MPWILE, XE OY 20 DEI JUTIETCO WITETZITOY STYONS DW KO EUSOOY EBOX ZNNE 25 TENULLEEYE EPOOT AN, DYW EUTPEUTZE. SNTKATANA

Ald. UNTUNT atcutu. un M THSTMUT WILLIO. EN CUK TINENE PHY EMAZOY ENOYUNTOUB. ETTUR NITETN WWITE NKWT' MINETNEPHY. MOE ETCHS SE ETETNIKUT MOYÀ MOYÀ Ü MEUEPHY. DYW ETETN WAXE WINE THEPHY ENZE MAXMOC UN SENCUOY, UN DENUMBS I MIKON. AM WWITE TIPEY WOPUTE ZW WY NINENE PHY SINNESBH OYE UNDIABO YOC. EBOX LE ABOTE IL THOYTE OYE

For our fathers also said that it was written in a certain place, "Wash your heart from wickedness, Jerusalem, that you may be saved." "And you shall find those men", they said, "washing away righteousness and sowing in themselves wickedness and disobedience." Have you not heard, O man, the saying, "Woe to him who gives his neighbour to drink^{2a} with evil corruption from such things as he conceives not, and makes him drunk" with evil-speaking, disobedience, and disaffection? We weakly act as a drag on one another instead of being an edification to each other, "edifying one another" and "speaking to one another in psalms and hymns and spiritual songs", as it is written. But we have become mutually destructive with the devil's works because the fear of God is far

Jer.4.14.

Read METTCO with Zoega CCV.

Cf. Hab.2.15.

Thes.5.11.

Eph.5.19.

For METCO Zoega CCV reads METTCO
For SUNETENJULETE Zoega CCV reads SUNETULEETE
For WINKON Zoega CCV reads WINATIKON
For SCHOKE Zoega CCV reads SBHYE

NINETEIRE N Ndi. NdUE HWASSAN PE WHILL WILL TE NE. LINZE 5 KOOYE NOE SOUL OFOTS NE OYKOTI N YYTH TE. AX YOU ELLEIDH SE 10 MOG ON NPW WE NETENNI 2BHYE. ETBE Mai OYNOS ME NUKAZ NZHT 15 XE SYPEE N NENTAYKPU PU NICALLEUY CHC ITTIOYO 20 EIW EZENPW WE HE MONO MACTOC. ELL HS STIMPOT TU. WINICA 25 TPEYWEIT'NI NOG MRICE MULLAY, Edy NTOY EBOX YETM THILLIS

LASSUSTAN WANTETKAZ DUNAL MENO MUDUKOY. EMMOYPHUE EYE NOE EN TAUCOITC EXW DY WHEUTO EBOX WITHOU TE. DE EUW TE KNAKOÙ NOT EBOX in MEYNOBE, EIE Kday. Eyw ME WUON EIE YOTT EBOX ZIL MEKXWWWE ENTAKCAZU. OYTE WITTOY PHLICEYE N DE ENTAYEUT FOTOOTS STUTTEHUNAXE XE +STHK E POK EMEWB WITCUBZ. ETE Tai TE TKATA Addid. NITE THOOOTH AN

from those who do these things. Truly if they and others like them were only children the grief would be small, but since they are grown men who act thus therefore it is a great sorrow. For they have resembled those who murmured against Moses at that time, being notable men, but not revering him even after he had taken great troubles with them and had brought them out of the house of their bondage, so that the earth opened its mouth and swallowed them up. They did not remember how he prayed for them before God, saying, "If you will forgive their sin, forgive it, but if not, blot me out of your book which you have written"; nor did they remember how he commanded them by his word, "Give heed to the matter of leprosy" which means evil-speaking. You do not know

^{&#}x27;Cf. Num.16.2ff.

²Ex.32.32.

³Deut.24.8.

For MISBHIE Zoega CCV reads MEISBHIE

SE EPETIEN CLUNE WOOR NOW EBOX SITTIN NENEPHY. 17d 5 AIN ON ETEN TAKÓ WOOM NAN EBOX 21 * THNENEPHY. WILL SE dyso oc be ecyse 10 TIMETONIO PUNZHT' CYO OTT' NOK. OY WWB WHET SITOYUK. 15 EWWITE ILLO KATEKEIX' 21 PNPWK. DUNO BY WITH ME EXOOU ELL 20 negotoeily. HT WOMEN PY. EUW ME DE ON EOY MOYÀ EPETTEU 25 2HT MOKE ZN OYZUB. MILL METKUNYE

THOU EXODY

ENETNEIDTE LIGTULLYOUS YOUR 'THSK ETICTHUH. KERKIN WKD NUKAR NOHT NAWWITE - ax 12 EYNAPACUE NTOU NOOYO. EXNTITAPPH CID NTUNTUH PE, dyw TUNT CON. SITNINGI TAP EWAPE YOM 'THSTYPUT S SYMNO , IM BOX. XE WITH PX STUTIENENT ESOYN ENEN EPHY. alla THPOEIC EME YOU EKATAYA YIG NIM. MET Sapes Lab Ebma UNITED YAC. EURAPER ETEU WYS . HXYY METUE WITCH MZ. UNAtco

that as our stability is through each other, so also our destruction is through each other. Hear that it has been said, "If you have understanding, answer your neighbour; if not, lay your hand upon your mouth", and "To speak a word in its season is altogether good." Moreover if there is anyone whose heart is grieved in anything, who prevents him from sensibly and wisely telling it to your fathers? And there will be no sorrow, but rather they will rejoice the more at the frankness conferred by the state of being a son and a brother. For by means of these things unanimity is revealed, because there is no division in our hearts, one to another, but we vigilantly keep our tongue from all evil-speaking, since he who guards his mouth and his tongue, guards his soul, and he who loves life will restrain

[&]quot;Ecclus.5.12.

2Cf. perhaps Prov.15.23. The Sah. text, following the LXX, reads in the relevant part of the verse: איט אווי ביעלבא אלא בא בא ביעלבי ביעלבי

Cf. Wisd.1.11.
Prov.21.23.

EPWy. DYW XE EPETTUCY MS SMWTHL TEIX WITH YAC. METANAZTE DE TUDY. NO CEI MNEUKAP 170C- 9AM SE ITTPACUA 200 ENETH 10 EPHY NACNHY. ETETNICOOY XE THNOXI N 04NOG NKPI Ud THPN · EIC 15 SHHTE ME KPITHC 22E PATY SIPLYTPO. ETPEUKPI 20 DE WHOTE MOYÀ KATA NEUZBHYE. MH SEMSBHYE WHILL HE NA! ENTANIPOU WE WHONH POC DYW N

KPOY ZITOO

OTOY EPOOY.

Uddicta ETPEY CHINE NEEN CSAI ETOGOY EBOX. EYTOY NOC NZENCTA CIC. DYW EXT TWPX NINE CNHY, ENTEY LIPPE NKPOY. EBOX XE FICE HS MA STOSA TY WITHOUTE. KATAMETCHS SE SENPULLE NCNOÙ LYW NKPOU. NNEY PRIMEEYE N NEYZOOY: ET WIT UNPOWE. YHTTHSIN ILAS TN, H CZILLE. UNWHPE, UN WEEPE, EWC arreloc. H SMC GLLEYOC

SAPES ST NO

ELIEASHI

MULEACM

MY KOBE AN

his mouth. Also "Life and death are in the power of the tongue and he who controls it shall be satisfied with its fruits." Again "Groan not at one another, my brethren."

You know that we shall all receive a great judgment. Behold, the judge stands at the door, that he may judge each one according to his works. Are these things unimportant, to which the wicked and deceitful men have set their hand, even going so far in their bond of deceit as to affix notices for publication which stir up rebellions and cause division of the brethren? For they fear not God, as it is written, "Bloody and deceitful men shall not remember their days." Is there not amongst you a man or a woman, a boy or a girl, like an angel? And is it not angelic to guard one's heart and body from

Prov.16.17.

For which ac read winhac, cf. Worrell, Prov.

Cf. Prov.18.21.

Jam.5.9.

Similar phrases occur many times both in the O.T. and the N.T.

^{*}Read Ζιτοοτογ for Ζιτοοοτογ.

The Hebrew and the LXX read Δηθη ΝΕΓΕΝ δου μη ημισεύσωσι τὸς ημέρως κύτῶν. But one Greek MS (L), agreeing with the Sah., reads ου μη μησεθῶσι τῶν ημερῶν κύτῶν, cf. A.Rahlfs, Septuaginta-Studien, (Göttingen, 1904-1911) Heft 2, p.157. L, a 4th century MS, is now Pap.39, Leipzig Univ.-Bibl. and comes from Ashmunein. May the L reading perhaps have arisen by the omission of η at the beginning of the verb due to haplography, further alterations then being necessary to produce an intelligible text?

*Ps.54.24.

KWZIL NILL untaku Mu. SYCHALL MAKE EBOX EUTIGOX SYSTANTAN 5 MULL SKUWA DUOTIVSYET NÀ TUE: SUMPLYPO ON. OYNCZI 10 WE. OYNWH PE ZIWEEPE SUC VIABOYS H SCUC DIABO LOC dri FITOU 15 TIE XWEU II MEYSHT' UN MEYCUULD ZN dkabapcia 20 MILL OYOU TIEY LAC ENTRATA Addid WINTE KPOU. DYW TEYSYTOUG 25 NH NGOX. H NEIZBHYE AN NKPOY SIMOCTE ZITTUN' NET

TABE ETCHE

MAYWITE ZIN

OTY WITHETED

PE EPWITH ETA

KETHYTTH IT

AKABAPTOC IT

PWILE, AYW IT

LOTUCOC. KA

TABE ETCHE

XE NEKPOÜ

MAYWITE ZIN

OTYWWA.

MAXIN ON NITE TNYWXX EBOX NIBUNTIS EPHY- MAXI NTETNPZIEIT ENETNEPHY. WANTEMCA TANAC LUESEI dTa www. MUSEUM WYD EXCUTIN ZN NIZBHYE NBO TE. DYW NITE THEYOUTU SUNEUMNHY. JUTTPHEEYE. LE EÏLLOCTE MUWITN, E'I

all foulness and impurity and one's tongue from falsehood and chatter and for one's constancy to be true? And there is a man or woman or boy or girl like a devil. Is it not devilish to defile one's heart and one's body in all uncleanness, and one's tongue in evil-speaking and deceit and for one's constancy to be false? Are not those things deceitful, hateful, and discordant which deliver you up to him who ensnares you to your doom, O unclean and pestilent men, as it is written, "The deceitful shall be for a prey.'"? Again, you are ensnared by one another, and you make a pit for one another until Satan looks gloatingly at you and tramples upon you by means of these abominable works, and so you are entangled in his nets. Do not think that I hate you, when I

^{&#}x27;Prov.12.24.

Lit. "fill eye", hence "look intently", cf. Crum, Dict., p.73b, perhaps better "gaze one's fill". It often seems to indicate not the intensity of the look so much as the fact that it is accompanied by an emotion, usually joy, and often malicious (see the examples cited in Crum. Dict.).

XW MNdi. ax LA NAME EIOY EWITHYTN N 20YO. EICYLL BOYLETE NH 5 TH ZWC CON. SEKAC ETE TNAPSTHIN NITETNEBOX ENGOPEC IL 10 MAINBOXOC. KATAMETCHE. DE KNANT E BOX ENTERGOP 15 6C ENTAY20 MC EPOI, XE NTOK ME TA NOWITE. LATU ON SE MAI KAIOC WAYET 20 EBOY SYSEM WHY. DYW NTNPUTUA NIXW WITHA 25 SE ETCHZ

SE TAMNITSA

SE WITPPAULE

illoi. Xe di

ZE, +NATW

OYN ON: TE MOYGE NECHHY NTWTN THP TN 2104COM 24PEZ EPUTN ENTAFAMH W MNOYTE. XE KAC ENNEY MS MITHILL TEMAKH N NANOUOC. NITETINZE' E BOX STUTIETN TAXPO, ETE Tai TETNEY HOWONH ET XHK' EBOX WUNTPUN JUIN THS DISOL MAN DEPATTHY TN SNTITICTIC MPO NITETN EUGON. NE TN2BHYE TH POY, MAPOY YOUR SHOY DOLDILLH. drw on Kata

say these things: truly I love you greatly. I counsel you as a brother that you may repent and escape the snares of the devil, as it is written, "You will bring me out of this snare which they have hidden for me, for you are my protector". And again, "The righteous always escapes out of nets". And we are worthy to speak the word which is written, "Do not rejoice over me, my enmity, because I fell; I shall rise again". Now therefore brethren, all of you together keep yourselves in the love of God in order that you may not be taken in the error of the lawless and fall from your steadfastness, that is to say your constancy which is full of all wisdom. And be vigilant, stand fast in the faith, be strong and mighty, let all your works be in love? And again as

Jude 21.

^{&#}x27;Ps.30.5.

'Prov.11.8.

Both the Hebrew and the LXX have "my enemy" (f.) 'ΓΑΤΙΚ΄ ξχθρώ μου . Perhaps the reading here arose because έχθρω and ξχθρω would have been indistinguishable in early unaccented MSS.

Mic.7.8.

Note ENNEYSI ... for NNEYSI ...
I Cor.16.13-14.

	DE ENTAMAMO	OP. TETHTN
	CTOXOC XOE	ENIEPTATHO
	XE Trapaka	HTS+ . YOOB3
	YEI THUMIN	TH EMPOULE
5	NOCNHY, ETPE	ENTANDAIUUT
	TNOWUT E	PLOGIC EPSY.
	NETEIPE NI	UTTPTPEYCKA
	MUPY LINE	saxize run
	CKANDAYON	TN. EUMAI TAP
10	MAPATECBÛ	NTAUXOOC N
	ENTATETINS	GITAMOCTO
	CBÛ EPOC. N	YOC ZE EIXCU
	TETNICAZE	JUDG KATA
	THYTH EBOX	OYCUW. TE
15	ibn room	TNANEXE TAP
	TAP INTEILINE.	INVI MIHUSE
	MCEÓ AN MEU	DONT. ENTE
	SAX WITSOEIC	TNEENCABE
	MEXC. alla	EY. TETN
20	FOTHSM OF	anexe tap a
	is loss with	METEZALTATA
	TINTERFINING	incutiv. is
	DE ETZONO	METKTÔ E
	UNITECUOY	BOX- WHET
25	WAYEZAITATA	EIPE WWWTN
	MIN THSTIM	Netizar. ii
	BaleHT:	METOYWW.
	HTST JA MO WITE	anersi. a
	TH EMIOYED	METXICE TUNG.
	8	

the apostle has said, "I beseech you my brethren that you mark those who make divisions and scandals contrary to the teaching which you learned, and withdraw yourselves from them. For such are not the servants of the Lord Christ, but of their belly. And through their fair speech and flattery they beguile the hearts of the innocent." And again, "Beware of the dogs, beware of the evil workers", beware of the men over whom the demons ruled. Do not let them give you occasion for stumbling. For on this the apostle said, "I speak by way of reproach." For you, being wise, bear willingly with the foolish. For you bear with him who beguiles you, him who turns away, him who enslaves you, devours, and seizes, him who exalts himself.

Rom.16.17-18.

²Phil.3.2.

³II Cor.11.21.

II Cor.11.19.

^{5*-*} This clause, though not in the Greek N.T., is to be found in all extant Sah. MSS. cf. Thompson. Acts.

THE

THETRIOYE EZOYN EME TO H . OSVIT 406. MNOBE AN ITE XE TE TNXI AYW TE Try UNIKO CLIKON' MA PATETNOUN NNETNEID TE ETUI WITE THPOOTY. MAXICTA EC KH EZPAI EBOX SITMMENEI 15 OTE SINTY PIT LE MINEPU ME DI, HET MAPATEYTNW WY6 HU. 20 JU, MENEIO TE ENTAYBUK TENDY EPA TU WITHOUTE WYS 'MUST'S 25 SYMAPAMEI YE YE ACSOL OPT NOTTE

THAXI, DYW

NUT ENOURPY DISPANNEREID IN DE MELLO M WYOODHIP NPWILE ETZA TETHYTN ET EXXWOY EPW TN. ETENETN WHPE NE. N BE ENTATE TNOUDITOY E POUTN ETBE MNOYTE. N TETNUITIPO OYW ON TITEY LIDINS HXYY TH WITHOY TE. YE YCHE XE +MAPAKA YEIGE MINE MPECBYTE POC ETNEHT THYTH ZWC WEPTTPECBY TEPOC, DYW WUNTPE NIL MOKEC TITLE XC. DYW EWC

him who smites you in the face." Is it not a great sin that you buy and sell with the laymen contrary to the judgment of your fathers who take care of you? It is especially laid down by our fathers from the beginning that men shall not buy or sell contrary to their judgment. And again our fathers who have now gone to God, bade us and commanded saying, "Cursed is he who shall buy and sell covertly without his fathers." But you, elders, take care of the men under you who are entrusted to you and who are your children, since you received them for the sake of God. Take care also of their souls in the love of God, because it is written, "I exhort therefore the elders who are among you, as fellow-elder and as witness of the sufferings of Christ, and as

'II Cor.11.20.

DIKONOUCC WITEODY ET NAGULTI EBOX SE LLOONE II MOSE WITH 5 TE. ETNICHT THITH, STONI STOP an. dy NTHINSS DX KATATINOYTE. 10 YOMS STYO YHSIBUTYUL MUXOU AN. YOYONS LAKE POT. ZWCE 15 TETINO AN N YOU'C ENE KYHPOC. OX NO ETETINO OTT' NTYMOC 20 ALTOSE. ETE THEIPE WITHE OKYO SK SYS OC XE ZNOY TO EBOX. CE 25 NUXOI EBOX YUNTIGHAS JY WITH . AX MENTAYGALE

SAS EPOY. CE NAWATU NEAR. NTETNUMPO YUYSTA WYO XH KATATINY TE. DYW ON NTETNTUKA IN TEASUNG YO TEYXPEID KD TATTENBIOC. XE DYLOOC XE EWWITE OTN OYCON, HOY CWNE KH Kd SHY. DYM EY SYSSTY TECHE WITESODY, ME 2004. NITE OYÀ XOOC NAY EBOX NIZHT THYTH LE BUK EMOYEIPHNH; NTETNZUOU NITETNICI. NO Trut DE NOT SPRIOTSMIN NAY, NITETICW Ud. OF THE OHY. EMMLLE PE

steward of the glory which shall be revealed. Tend the flock of God which is among you, not under constraint but willingly according to God; not with love of shameful gain but gladly; not as being lord over the charges but being examples to the flock." You remember that it was said, "Freely I will be spent for your souls", and, "To whom much is entrusted, from him will much be required", that you may care for their souls according to God and not leave them lacking that which is needful for our way of life; because it has been said, "If there is a brother or a sister naked and lacking daily food, and one among you say to them, 'Go in peace and be warmed and be satisfied', but does not give them the things of the body which they need, what is the use?". If, however,

^{&#}x27;OKONOMOC is probably an error for KONOMOC, the N.T. reading. A conscious adaptation, by no means unknown in Besa's use of the Bible (cf. p. 60f), seems unlikely here. ²I Pet.5.1-3.

³Cf. II Cor.12.15.

⁴Lk.12.48.

⁵Jam.2.15-16.

1.4H

NCEWADT' AN ETWOTE NOW NITERPE UN OS PU AN 20 OBCO. WINTER youc. axxa Waxe way MAPEOTONOU EXW. AYW N MOYUT WW 5 TOK ZWWK ME Nay, THPOY SIOYCOTI N ON' KNOWW TE NATNOBE. DE ETCH2 XE allya POEIC OYOSAMATI NTOU ETUKA WITUP2DYO. 10 MOLOBING LP DYW MAMKONI ECYON. WH WTUCBOK. XEKAC EPECY MOTE NITON SOEINE EX UTON WWITE AI WITEYUTO 15 NOT THPOY. KE OTNITAY NCEYTUYE PULLE TULAY. UTNOYTE SN OYTUT' NICHT. NITEM SOEINE SWOOWE ELLINAPIKE SNOYKWXX WOOTT. OTTE 20 SAXIFORILL UNTPEUXIZO: VITOUTN DE N LE WINTON POULLE TOUCH EIDTE MMHI ETBETTAI OY WYOOGTILD NOG, NNOBE 25 NINPOULE EN THE ZULLY FITE! STYPONTIGT SE ETPEYYI GAYMOY, EPW MISS NEOINE. IN SNOYZOTE MCEKAZOINE. NTEMNOTTE

they do not lack food and clothing, they have no complaint to make, and you yourself also will be sinless. But be vigilant not to let them prefer one more than another, lest you find some being at their ease because they have a friend, but others walking in distress and grief because they have no friend. Therefore it is a great sin in such a place that they should favour some and neglect others, not regarding them at all. But let there be the same equality for all of them together as it is written, "He who had much did not exceed, and he who had little did not lack" in order that there may be peace for them all and in order that they may serve God in contentment, without fault-finding or favouritism. And you, fathers of the houses, in the fear of God take care of the men whom God entrusted to you,

Lit. "no word to say".

^{&#}x27;Lit. "bent state", cf. Crum, Dict., p.107b.

³Cf. II Cor.8.14.

[&]quot;II Cor.8.15, cited from Ex.16.18.

ETETNICEW NAY EMOYSAI MNEYYYXA. SE GUYOOC XE NEIDTE WITH NOYEC MINETINUSHPE. dalla canor STYS YOU CBW WINTED 10 BO WHYDEIC. DYW ON SE TIE TEOYNPOULE GAYMOY EDOY. CENAXNOYU 15 EP04. 20 MOINC METE LINPULLE 6d YOUN, EPOY. 20 CENALNOYU ETEUWYXH THE THOU ETETNICOOY SE NOE WHE TAYXI JUTTOY 25 MEINEMP, 911 PEUB MEHTOY. DYPSHY NIKE tor. syw

TIENTAUSI Ü

TIECNAY: AU

†2HY KIKECNAY:

TAII ZWITTHY

TIN TETINZE:

ETETINUJAN

WOONE ÜWO

OY KANWC KI

DE ÜHYWC

ETNANOYÜ

EWAYKÛ KITEU

WYXH ZANEU

ECOOY:

MXDEIC TAP XW THE DOWN UNATATIH E Ndddy ETai. NCATPETTPW ME KOU TITEY PAYRY PAXRY WBEEP - DE KAC NITOUTN. YOUTH WYD ETETNEPL MON SIONCH EBUK EZOY ETTUR NOVE YEEL MINH TWEYEEL

teaching them for the salvation of their souls. For it has been said, "Fathers, do not provoke your children to wrath but nurture them in the teaching and the instruction of the Lord.", and again, "He to whom a man is entrusted, of him he shall be required. Likewise he to whom no man is entrusted, his own soul shall be required of him?" You know that even as he who received five talents worked with them and gained another five, and as he who received two gained another two, so also are you if you tend them well like the good shepherd who lays down his life for his sheep! For the Lord says, "There is no love greater than this that a man lay down his life for his friends", in order that you and they together may be worthy to go into the bridechamber with the true bridegroom,

Eph.6.4.

The context suggests that this is a Biblical quotation but I have been unable to trace it.

³Cf. Mt.25.16-17.

⁴Cf. Jn.10.11.

[°]Cf. Jn.15.13.

^{&#}x27;Cf. Mt.25.10.

THE IC. EAPER NTOY DYW PO EIC JUTTPTPEY GNOYÀ NZHTN EPETEUZB Cũ LAQUE H EC TAKHY. NICE XOOC NOU SIN DYWITE SE MECUBHP' NACY 10 NZE OKET E 20YN EMEILLA ELINEBOW IL MÀ MUELEET ZIWWK. H 15 NICEXODO XE NOXU EBOX ETKAKE ET SIBOX. OYO! No WYG . I'DM 20 DI MOYON NIL EPWANTAI TWUT EPON: NTWIN ZUIT JAY W MITHT 25 CNHY. CWTU NCANETHEL OTE ETTCBÛ

NHTH ZNUNT

CTUHT NILL ENGHOYÚ UN HILFTOTIKS MILL. XE DYXO OC SE 241TO THOSE MINETN EPHY, ZNOOTE WITEXC . AYW SE NWHPE CUTU NICONE THEIOTE EN CLUOT' NILL. ITAI THE ME MOY ww urxoic. T drw on the cw TU NEANETN NOG, NITETN SYMOTACCE NOTIN YOU TAP CEÔ NOY WH MPOEIC PUNTINGS XH. XE EYND PITHI ENOYPH WE ENCEAULA sou an. DYW ON SE TN COMO DE LL WOUTH NECHHY Jesus. Take heed and be vigilant, do not let one of us be found whose garment is filthy or perished and it be said to him with shame, "Friend, how did you come hither, without wearing a wedding-garment?", or it be said, "Cast him out into the outer darkness". Woe to me and woe to every one if this befall us! But you, O brethren, obey your fathers who teach you with all proper obedience and submission, because it has been said, "Submit to one another in the fear of Christ", and, "Children, obey your fathers in every respect, for this is the will of the Lord", and again, "Obey your great ones and submit to them, for they themselves keep vigil for your souls, that they may do so with joy and not groan", and again, "But we beseech you, brethren,

Mt.22.12.

²Mt.22.13.

³Eph.5.21.

⁴Col.3.20. ⁵Cf. Heb.13.17.

		,
	ECOTINET	Mai ME ENGLA
	20CE NEHT	EÎ EBOX ZILMEÏ
	THYTN, DYW	MÀ, NITHEINE
	ETMPOZICTA	NOYTAPPH
5	EPUTN ZUNSO	CID MNDSPAY
	EIC, DYW ETT	ETUTING ETIL
	CBW NHTN.	May:
	NTETNKAdy	ETBETTATI NE
	MNOSPHTN	CNHY MAPN
10	vis orostovis	& KTON NITNIA
	TATAITH ETBE	SENENSBHIE
	MEYZWB. XE	EPATOY, LIN
	KAC ETETNE	NENSIOOTE.
	WWITE NKILL	NUMTIN WIS
15	MUNICULA	NE MCANESI
	DYW RITEXHA	DOYE FIGHE
	NEODY NINET	NES ITASOIC
	NOW EPON, WIN	XEKAC ENEGI
	NETHATWAT	NE NOYTBBO
20	EPON THPOY.	MNENYXH:
	EYKTÓ LÍNOY	MXDEIC DE ME
	WETANOIA.	& XC IC MUHPE
	DYW NIETN	TITTETCUALLA
	WWITE TIWOY	STYDING TH
25	WOY, TINEM	MMGOW MITTAN
	EIOTE THPOY	TOKPATWP
	STUTTEROOY	EUECOOYTH
	MHEXC. ETE	NNETNEHT

to know those that labour among you and preside over you in the Lord and teach you, and to esteem them highly in love because of their work", that you may become a crown of pride and a joy of glory to those who see us and all those who shall meet us, for a return and a repentance, and that you may become the pride of all our fathers on the day of Christ, that is, when we come out of this world and find freedom in their presence in that place. Therefore, brethren, let us turn and establish our works and our ways, and seek the eternal ways of the Lord, that we may find purification for our souls? And the Lord Christ Jesus the Son of the Blessed, God of hosts, the Almighty, shall direct your hearts

^{&#}x27;I Thes.5.12-13. ²Cf. Jer.6.16.

YNB

EZOYN ETATA TH WITHOU TE DYW EDY TOUGHT I MEXC. DYW EUNA+6014 NHTN THPTN 210YCOTT. EI TE NOG. EITE 10 KOYEI. EITE EIWT. GITE WHPE. EITE MADY. EITE WEEPE. 15 EITE DYON NILL SIOYCOM' ETPETNYI 2d NETNEPHY. SEKAC ETE THEXUK EBY 20 NINDUOC IL MEXC: FUTT 36 POT TE NIPHNH PRINCIPLE 25 WITCATANAC SANETNOY YOU'S STHAS

6617H - 9700

EUNATEON NHTN THPTN ETPETETIN EIPE INTEUDY WW Ndg. EU EIPE JUTIETP MTHSM UDMA TITELLITO E BOX RITNIC MEXC. DYW EUNOSEKTHY THEBOX NOY WW NING ET NANOYÚ - ETPE TNOWINE N CODOC ETTA TABON. NAKE PHIOC DE EMME 900Y:

BOOY:

TOAXIN ON THA

XÛ NHTN IL

REIKEWAXE

ETEOYOCE

NHTN AN ME.

AXXA OYSHY

NTOY NHTN

ME LINOYED

OY: ETETTAII

ME: XE STUTE

towards the love of God and the patience of Christ. And he will give all of you together power, whether great or small, father or son, mother or daughter, or every one together, to support each other in order that you may fulfil the laws of Christ. And the God of peace will crush Setan quickly under your feet, and he will give all of you power to perform his will, doing that which is pleasing amongst us before him through Jesus Christ; and he will fill you with every good desire that you may become wise in respect of good, but innocent in respect of evil. Furthermore, I shall also tell you this saying, which is no loss to you, but rather a profit and a glory, and that is this: that in the

II Thes.3.5.

²Cf. Gal.6.2. ³Rom.16.20.

^{*}II Thes.1.11. - XWK EBOX can also mean "to complete", "to fulfil". The pronominal suffix -THYTH has no equivalent in the Greek N.T. There, as here, the meaning of the passage is doubtful since it is not clear whether OYWW - EUGOKUA is God's or man's, cf. Kittel, TWNT, vol.II, p.744.
*Rom.16.19.

	YOOSIN JUS	CNdy, CNdy, 21
	ETOYKHPYC	WYG - YOOTH
	ce rangy su	ON, EDILIDA
	TIKAZ THPY	ON' CEKCAB
5	ETPEDYON	BOTON. WOLL
	NILL ATWNIZE	CTA NECNHY
	IJS PTHSM.	THIS DITTE
	MKOCLLOC TH	OY WONON XE
	PY MOYÀ MOYÀ	CEZWTP TH
10	KATATEY6OM.	POY, SINNEX
	EITE NOG.	LOGI ETELLIN
	EITE KOYEI.	60m moor
	akuhni etp	MAKMHDE
	2010 STAPATEY	WHILL ETCO
15	601. tauta	BK. alla MEY
	M SASTINO DX	SOYO ON' CEK
	SHITHITHS	4TOOY, SICOB
	PLOSISHIZ	BOTON, EYP
	60u Tupoy	LIKEOAMIC
20	EPROYÓ. EY	DEIK AN. EY
	rogis juuro	EIPE JUTTUE
	SE TUHNE.	EYE JULIENY
	EUTUPPOPU	EIC TC. AYW
	NAY, DE OYET	LIKEMMACHC.
25	MISOOY, ET'	MINSHAIDC, E
	MKESOOY TH	GALLESME, LI
	SPSYLOS . LOd	PAHT YOOS
	TKOCLIKON	MOYCOTT' MOY
	ZIBOX EIPE	WT ENTRY

forty days during which it is proclaimed in all the earth that every one in the whole world should strive with himself, each one according to his strength, be it great or small, and even going beyond his strength. I hear that many among you in whom there is strength to excel eat every evening, and care not that these days are one thing and all the other days another, while many laymen outside do periods of two days together or four, and also that some fast a week, especially the brethren of this monastery with us, for not only do they all act as a team from the old men who have no strength down to the little children who are small, but also most of them fast four days or a week without even eating bread, remembering that our Lord Jesus² and Moses³ too, and Elijah⁴, did the whole forty days on end without

Note et for over after Nizoov

²Cf. Mt.4.2 and Lk.4.2.

³Cf. Ex.34.28. ⁴Cf. III Kg.19.8.

TETTY OY TE DEIK. OTTE UDOY. ANO DE WINTH TUNIN EPOS 5 SOLUC SINTE YEAVIUE ME AdXICTON. STI STI FO WITE SOYO SE AME? EBOX ZINTKO NYOSE DOWN EMEIBIOC MAI ETNUMUM though an. 15 ETBETTAI II MPTPENDUE her alla ua PNATWNIZE THPN MOYÀ MOYÀ KATA TEUGOU. Ka TATTENTATIE TATTXOEIC XO oy. Xe arw 25 NIBE EBWK MTIS MYOSS TITTIZH ETGHY. Tai ENTAUXO

OC DE SENKYI NETNABUK ESOYN NEHTC. THYAH DE N TOY ETOYOU'C EDZ NETBHK ESOYN NEHTC. ETEMAI ME XE NAWE' NETEL PE WITEYOY ST THSM WW MOY MOE ETOY dujc. ETNA MUS TIMEY SHI SMMA EYWANEI E BOX STUTETUL SENKOYI DE NETNUREX SULY, NOE MOKSOY, ETBE MOYTE. DE PWWS IZBMY3 MILEACOYCY UNITEYTUT PULLINS THISK ETOYNUBUK EPOU-WK IN MYDEIC YOU

tasting anything, either bread or water. But we have not resembled them in the very least. What is the use of our having retired from the world into this life of which we are not worthy? So let us not be negligent, but let us all strive, each one according to his strength, even as the Lord said, "Strive to go in through the narrow gate", of which he said, "Few are they who will go in by it. But many are they who go through the wide gate". And that means: those who do their hearts' desire now, as they wish, are many; but they will break their hearts when they leave this world. On the other hand, they who will be distressed and grieved for God's sake are few; but they will receive their comfort and their hearts' content in the place to which they will go. Again the Lord says,

²⁰⁴⁰ here as if 244, for other examples cf. Crum, Dict., p.735a.

²Note the duplication of MENTA - which is due to ditto-graphy.

graphy.

3Lk.13.24.

Cf. Mt.7.14.

⁵Cf. Mt.7.13.

[&]quot;Note ETOYAUTE for ETOYOYAUTE as often.

THE THE THUSE' ETEU WYXH. UNDCOP WEC. METNY CUPU DE NITEU 5 WYXH ETBHHT. angse Eboc. EYWNZ WHE NES: ENOITO DE N 10 TEMYORIC TO dC NAN' ETPEY SE EDON, EN POEIC, 27W ENTKAPMOC. 15 ENEIPE LITTLE EYE NNEGEN TONH. ENKA Odpize ino 20 EBOX ENXW VIII WIN UIS THSTUNT CNAY. ATW TUNTPEUT TWN, NTUNT 25 WHPE WHLL. UNTUNIXA CIZHT! Tai E WAPETINOY

TE + OYBHC. ENSÚI EPON JUNGTE ETE CBÛ ETOYOX. NINENEIDTE UNNEYENTO VI ENTAYSO NOY ETOOTH. XEKAC ETE TNEPUTOUS MBUK EZOYN KOIS SYMMIS COTT: NTWIN UNNETNUH PE UNNETN CNHY, WINNE TNUGGY, UN NETNWEEPE. UNNETNPW WE THPOY. + KAPYNING XPORT NHTN: Kai rap Nitai CSDINDI DN EI +CBW NHTN. dNOK TAP ANOK WITHALATTO POC, ENTITHE

AN ENEIWI.

"He who finds his life will lose it, but he who loses his life for my sake will find it unto eternal life!" May it come to pass that the Lord grant that we be found vigilant and fruitful, remembering his commandments, purging ourselves of every impurity, hesitancy; youthful quarrelsomeness, and arrogance which God resists! We are quite satisfied with the sound teaching of our fathers and their commandments which they have laid upon us in order that you may become worthy to enter the life together, you, your sons, your brethren, your mothers, your daughters, and all men, there being nothing to cause you to stumble. For indeed I have not written these things to teach you. Myself, I am a wretched man, not having attained to these measures,

Mt.10.39 and Jn.12.25.

²Cf. Lk.12.37.

Lit. "double-mindedness". Here the meaning clearly is lack of single-mindedness resulting in doubt and irresolution. Cf. Prov.3.34, I Pet.5.5, Jam.4.6.

Probably the reference is to "life eternal". But the possibility cannot be excluded that the reference is either to "monastic life" as opposed to secular life, or to the "Christian life" as opposed to pagan life.

DYW NITEWAHA EXWI NITE MNOYTE NO KOBS TENS 5 KOOBSTUS MIM. XE ANOK OYSHKE ANT OYEBIHN. ax MULTOIS PY ETPENPBOX THPN ETEKPI CIC WITHOY TE. NTHPU MUNDA JUME USENES 21 15 OYCOIT:

BHOW MENAXI

CTOC MET

CRAIT WITHEUME

PIT' NICON MAD

DAIDC. FRUITH

PE SE NITETE

RINDYGETTH

DIKTIWWNE

WITHERMOT' NI

JIC MEXC MAIT

ENTAYTAZUEK EBOX SUTIKA KE. EZOYN E MOYOEIN. DYW EBOX ZU TUDY. EZOY ETTUNZ. EAK KW NOWK N TEKZYMOWO NH, WINTEK MINTALLOTA KTIKOC': AK apria whok THE THICK TUNYOUS 6UB WNOY TIMBU THS with amin dikuepertei dIWN' DKBWK EBECCAYO NIKH. ETE THSTATUMT TE. WNOE EN TAKKTOK' E YOURS YOSATI WITTE ETPEK WINTE NXPR' NOYWHHUE.

TUTKP

and I pray for myself that God may deliver me from every evil, for I am a poor man and a miserable. But I desire us all to escape the judgment of God and become worthy of eternal life together.

Besa the most humble writes to his beloved brother
Matthew. I marvel that you have turned so quickly from
the grace of Jesus Christ, who called you out of the darkness into the light and from death into life, having forsaken your constancy and your monastic way of life. You
have discounted your very self through weakness and estrangement. You loved this present age and went to Thessalonica,
which is foolishness and the way in which you turned shamefully back so as to become a stumbling-block for the many.
You did not

For ATEWAHA read probably ATAWAHA. But if the former be the correct reading, translate: "and you (fem. sg.) pray for me....". It might then refer to the prayers of the CYMARWFH, as the letter is addressed to monks.

2Cf. Gal.1.6.

³Cf. I Pet.2.9.

^{*}Cf. II Tim.4.10. - Probably only metaphorically, and Matthew did not in fact go to Thessalonica. For a discussion of this point cf. p.94f.

THEETE THEY STEET THIN THOK. WITH THE AKKÜ NOWK ENTAUXOOC NTMHEH THOY SE METNACKA WINS. 9KW DATIBE NOVA 5 KE NOK NEEN MNIKOYI ET WHI EYOYO MICTEYE EPOI . 617 ENCENDW CPNOUPE NOU dudate an a SEKAC EYE MUDDY. EU WYON SYOU TKLEKLOY NE NCIKE E KK OYTE ELL ITEGUARE NOE TIKENTEKSHT DUCY ETITE ETPEKEILLE YOKOC' NEWYOC SE DYWITTE Cd. EZOYETPEU 15 NOK' NNOSPN CKANDALIBE DYON NILL ITE NOYÀ MNIKOYI MEWB ENTAK ETITICTEYE ZITOOTK E EPOI . pay Eddy. Kal Tap almowe 20 OYTE ON WITK NOYKOYI N PITUEEYE U CKANDATON MENTAMYORC AN ITE NTAY LOOY LE ME CYWHE MEDE MOTHSPAT 25 EBOY SITOO NE WABOX. TK EYPOUTH MAI METNADY PE FUBE ENTAK Sdi. DYW XE DAC EDKITO OTHSMITHIS NHPEYE EPOK NH ETETNA

remember the word of the Lord, how he said, "He who will offend one of these little ones who believe in me, it is better for him that a millstone should be tied to his neck and he be sunk in the depth of the sea, rather than that he should offend one of these little ones who believe in me". For truly it is not a small offence which befell many through you, for they were amazed at what you did, in that you have acted wickedly against yourself. You have forsaken the fountain of living water and have dug for yourself broken cisterns which will not be able to hold water. You did not consider nor did you learn to understand that the thing that you undertook to do was a disgrace to you in the sight of every one. Nor again did you remember what the Lord said, "He who will endure to the end, he shall be saved", and, "In your constancy you shall

Mt.18.6.

²Cf. Lk.17.2.

³Cf. Jer.2.13.

⁴Mt.10.22, Mt.24.13, Mk.13.13. 5For 24000H read 240000H.

	1			
-	11	J	+	4
	-	7		

	/	
	MITHM ONX	EdiEIPE NAK.
	METNYXA.	OYTE NTOK.
	EITH ON' YE	OYTE GE. A
	MEKLOW EU	MIXINDAY FAP
5	WOOH TINE	NEONC . OY
	THOUGHT E	TE JUTITAKE
	BOX. MENEÏ	34r0 - r661
	EBHYE PULLY	THIYEGHAAY.
	Nak. NTOK	MYOEIC MET
10	ETCOOTN.	O TUNTPE,
	MYDEIC EN	ary on he
	NAKTÓ EXU	CNHY THPOY
	Arom Arom	COOTH FISUB
	NTEYDIKAI	NIU UNUL
15	OCYNH, UN	XE MILL EUM
	TEUITICTIC.	HE ANOK OY
	HEATIEKSHT	PEUXI MEONIC
	rukas stvoy	EIKUNYE N
	ewb, Haily	MPWILL EP
20	TEI WUOK	MOYWW' II
	EICOOTH AN'	MNOTE. ME
	WITBOX NITE	EKKU TUDE
	TOAH WITNOY	ETBENEKWH
	TE. ETBEON	PE. NILL HE
25	WITK TO LUDI	TAYTUT' N
	LE EINDEILLE.	CWOY. EIWH
	anok tap ñ	TI EPOOT WAY
	tooln an,	day, ETBENEY
	ÜNE000Y	SBHYE EOSY.
		,

win your souls." Thus again, "The crown is for those who shall endure". Can it be that these things are profitable to you? It is you who know. The Lord shall return to every one his righteousness and his faithfulness! If the fact was that your heart was grieved about something or that I pained you unwittingly contrary to the commandment of God, why did you not tell me that I might know? For neither I nor you nor any one else knows any evil that I did you. For I have done no evil nor have I corrupted anybody, nor have I robbed anybody. The Lord is witness and also all the brethren know of every deed and every word. If I am an evil-doer preventing men from doing the will of God, can you say it of your sons? Who pursued them except on their own account, because of their evil works?

Lk.21.19.

²Zech.6.14.

³For this construction cf. 17r, note 1.

⁴I Kg.26.23.

⁵This passage is difficult, but can perhaps be paraphrased thus: Even if I should be an evil-doer preventing men from doing the will of God, can you say that your sons are so prevented by me?

BYOTI BILLD MOYÀ PWINE. amok tord AB EBOX ZU 5 MECHOY NOY ON NIM. UCHS TAP METNAT EDDY NAT. +NA tEDOY NAU. METNACOWT 10 DE. + Not cour NOG. ETBE VEKWHPE DE ON' KHIL, ED MUEEYE Ü 15 MUDICE ENTA MYDEIC YOOG XE METUE N WHIPE ZIE EPE EZOYE 20 POI. NUMITURA JUOI dN. DIW METERIA NOUI AN WITEU cfoc Myor 25 dzy Nowi. Ny TOUR TOUR an. grw IN XE EPETIPU

ME NATEHY, N OP, EUWANT SHY WITKO CLUCK THPU NUTOCE DE HXYWDSTM. H OY METERE MPWILE NOTA dy NUBEIÙ MITEUWYXH: ULTIPLIEENEGE W MOON LE OY Taio Nak ME SE AKAPNA N TEKEYMOULO NH, H AKKÛ NOWK NITCH ATWITH TINEK EIDTE, ENTAY CAMOYUK N PHTC . OYTE MITKPITUE EYE JUTHICUT 3KYO. OYNE UTKPITUE EYE NINEK WHPE. OYDE ON WITKPITUE EYE NINPOLLIE

Each one is responsible. As for me, I am innocent of the blood of every one. For it is written, "I will honour him who will honour me, but I will despise him who will despise me." But also concerning your sons you ought to remember the word which the Lord spoke, "He who loves son and daughter more than me is not worthy of me. And he who will not take up his cross and follow me is not worthy of me." And again, "What will man profit if he gain the whole world but forfeit his soul? What shall man give in exchange for his soul?" Do not think then, O brother, that it is an honour for you that you have denied your constancy or that you have forsaken the community of your fathers who nurtured you therein. You did not remember my father superior, nor did you remember your sons, nor yet did you remember the men

^{&#}x27;Acts 20.26.
'I Kg.2.30.

³Mt.10.37-38. ⁴Mt.16.26, Mk.8.36.

The reference is almost certainly to Shenoute whose influence is still great, though he is dead, and whose memory is revered.

	ENTAKCOMIC
	EXWOY, WAN
	TKATOY EZOY.
	and eakpitke
5	nous rom
	SUM JOHN THUS
	OYPEUZIOYE.
	EKMEE1666
	XE EKNYTSHY
10	NTE 12E
-0	Папостоле
	TAP DU JUOC
S	EYELLYINOY
	MNETNOSEK
15	TEYSYTOUD
	NH EBOY SIN
	OYUNTXWW
	PE, XE MAPN
	OBM STSBULD
20	MOYOLIA WAEY
	MIC, DANPIKE.
	OYMICTOC
	TAP TIE TIEN
	TAGEPHT' N
25	THEWUT N
	CANEMEPHY
	EYMAPOZY
	cuoc Nara
	TH WINSEN

SBHIE ENGNOY DY. ELLTINKÛ NOWN NITEN CYNATULTI, N DE ETICUNT MEDEINE ME. all de ETETN Mapakahel, STISTIN WITE 3 38M GYOSM TETNINAY EITE SOOY EYSWN ESOTH. EMP NOBE FAP NITE 604 unrica TPENSI UTICO OYN NTUE. JUNDYCHOE AS TIXWULDEN NOBE. OY SOTE DE ME EWUT EBOX 2HTC NITEKPI CIC UNITIKUS' NITCATE, ET MADYWU NÃ XXXE. AYW OSTO 3X MO TE ITE ZE EZPAÏ

for whom you prayed until you brought them in. Do you suppose, then, that you can thus derive profit, even after having run away secretly like a thief? The apostle says, in commending those who shall vigorously perfect their constancy, "Let us hold fast the confession of hope undeviating, for he is faithful who promised. And let us look to one another for an encouragement to love and good works, not forsaking our assembly as the custom of some is, but exhorting, and all the more so, as you see the day approaching. For if we sin wilfully after receiving knowledge of the truth there will no more remain sacrifice for sin. But it is a fearful thing to expect the judgement and the fierceness of the fire which will devour the adversaries?" And again, "It is a fearful thing to fall into

This agrees with the Greek 3 has against all other Sah. authorities which read Kwat, an obvious corruption, cf. p.77,80.

2 Heb. 10.23-27.

ENGIX WITHOY TE ETONE: DO 36 DOOKUM SE APITTUEYE M YOOSSMM 5 CUOPIT ENTA TETNYIOYO FOTHSM MIS EATETNEY 10 TOWING SMOT NOG, NABAHCIC. MUNTPEYOUT SICE. MAI LIE EYCUBE NOW TH SMSENNOG 15 NEG; LINSEN OXIVEIC MEÏ KET' DE ON E *<u>dTETNPKOI</u>* NUMBER PINET 20 MOOLI, SING!. KAI TAP SITE TNUTTRICE UNNETUHP. DIGWITT WYD 25 PATTYSMTJAM STE LATIOX

THUYOTTY EPW

IN SNOYPAWE.

ETETNEILLE XE OYNTHIN TILLYON, YOUNT Piuvaô ECCO TIT ECUHN' E BOX. WITPNY LEGE EBOX N TETNITAPPH CId. Tai ETE OVINTO OTIMOS NTOYEIG NBE KE. ETETNÉ XPEID TOP NOY SYMOUONA. XEKAC EATE TNPHOYWY WITNOYTE. NTETNXI IL MEPHT': (NOTE TE WBHP drw MICON YE HE TNAPHOYUW WITNOYTE drow MUXEK

DUOLIKSKAL

METHAXI Q

MEPHT'.

NH EBOX. NTOU

the hands of the living God!" And he also said, "Remember the former days in which you were enlightened, having endured a great conflict of sufferings. So you are on the one hand mocked with reproaches and tribulations and on the other hand also you became partakers with those who are thus! For you even suffered with those who are bound, and the spoiling of your possessions you accepted joy-fully, knowing that you have a better possession which abides. Therefore cast not your boldness away, which has great recompense of reward. For you have need of constancy, in order that, having done the will of God, you may receive the promise?" You see therefore, friend and brother, that he who will do the will of God and perfect his constancy, shall receive the promise.

Heb.10.31.

²I.e. mocked etc.

³Heb.10.32-36.

	ETBEHAT TXW	MEYOOYE EN
	tuoc Nak	Tacpathua.
	XE WITPTET	FO 3X MO WYS
	MEKSHT EPOK	EPOK TE TE
5	MITEIRE, NIT	EIA TIKHUE
	MSTATION.	ETPEKCW E
	that block tap	BOX ETITLE
	MNOUPE ZIL	OY FITHWH
	METKEIPE	MAI ETTHE .
10	inod. Thok	91M MINT ELOK
	TAP ETYIPO	TE TEZIÀ NAC
	DYW SAPOK	COMP, ELLEK
	RITEÏZE. XE	CELLOOY EBOX
	MNEKOYÚ	313r3MMS
15	NTPETHK ZN	bmon. ECE
	TEKZAH.	tobu Nak N
	KAI TAP ITIXOTC	6ITEKUNTAT
	a sur vivoc A	curtu. 2100
	NETKTÓ II	ECEXILIOK
20	MOON EL1950A	NEITEKKAKIA.
	in 'THSPONS	EILLE, DYW NT
	UNTOJANO	Nay, XE yea
	SE ANOK dito	WE NAK ETPEK
	EK MOYBU N	KAAT' NOWK.
25	EXOONE N	SE ZIMENES
	YATOTTAS' TH	akorwują
	pc time. Mass	TUTTEKNAZB
	rice, apkto	aru akcusta
	EYCIWE TEW	MNEKCHAYZ.

Therefore I say to you, do not persuade yourself thus: you shall not profit, for there is no profit in what you do. I am anxious for you thus, because you will not have repented at your end. Moreover the Lord says of those who turn back in disaffection, "I planted you as a vine all fruitful and genuine. How did you turn to bitterness, vine that became strange?" And again, "What is the way of Egypt to you that you drink of the water of Geon² which is turbid; and what is the way of Assyria to you that you drink water from their rivers? Your disobedience will teach you and your wickedness will upbraid you. Know and see that it is bitter for you to forsake met For of old you broke your yoke and burst your bonds.

Jer.2.21.

2I.e. the Nile, cf. J. Hastings, A Dictionary of the Bible, Edinburgh, 1900 ff., II, p.174, and IV, p.498f. The LXX reads \(\text{reads}\) for the Hebrew \(\text{in}\) in \(\text{in}\).

3The clause "which is turbid" is not extant in the Hebrew or the LXX. It appears to be a gloss on \(\text{in}\), (probably "black" hence "turbid").

4Jer.2.18-19.

	YKZOOC ZE	
	NTHAPEUSAL	
	an unipue	
	EYE SE EÏUD	
5	CTE TUNOK	
	EÏXÛ FINDÎ.	
	alla eine a	
	MOK NTOY N	
	zorô Eïor	4
10	WY ETPEK	
	KTOK EMEK	
	HAISTONS PM	
	MH SE TINEK	
	FOCE NITER	
15	WYXH ZINTEK	
	UNTNOS, MPW	
	ME. MIM	
	Trap STUNENTAY	
	& BUK EBOX N	
20	POPHT MITHS	
	METERATUP	
	2THY. SE KNA	
	PETHK AN N	
	TOK. H NILL	
25	MENTAUTEHY.	
	DE EKNATSHY	
	NTOK. TEIN	
	BUK TAP EN	
	TAKAAC, COY	

WHIS WUCK EBOX AN XE EK + DYBENIU. H EKWONNE annia. Kalwa OHN 3X 200Krb MOYÀ MOYÀ MA PEURAPER E POY ETTETZI TOYOUY. DYW MITPKARTH TN ENETHONHY. XE CON NILL IXTURYOUS +BC. GNASH BC. DYW WBHP MILL NALLOO WE STNOYKPY. поча поча NACWBE WITEY WBHP NOETL DELLE. YE a MEYNAC' TCA BO EGYAXE N SEMUNTINGS. H NTANKOOKK MOYZUB' XE EKNABWK

You said, 'I will not be a servant'". Do not think that I hate you, saying these things, but know rather that I wish you to return to your monastery in peace, that you may not forfeit your soul in your old age. For who amongst all those who have left us did not regret it, that you should not regret it? Or who benefited, that you should benefit? The act of desertion which you have committed does not disclose whom you contend with or with whom you take counsel. Rightly then it was said, "Let every one beware of his neighbour, and do not trust your brethren, because every brother will utterly supplant and every friend will walk craftily. Every one will mock his friend and they will not speak the truth, because their tongue was taught to speak lies." Did we send you on a mission in order that you might go

Jer.2.20.

Lit. "will, with a tripping, trip up by the heels". The construction can only be explained by reference to the Hebrew apple aiple, which is followed by the LXX πτέρνη πτερνιεί. As the Infinitive Absolute in Hebrew serves to strengthen the verb, I have translated "utterly". The Hebrew of Jer. 9.4 would clearly call to mind the story of Jacob's naming (Gen.25.26) which is referred to elsewhere in the 0.T. (e.g. Gen.27.36, Hos.12.3), but the pun has been lost in Greek and Coptic alike.

Jer.9.4-5.

イラン

NITCUPIL NITEK

UYXH. KAI FAP

NITANCOTITIK

SUIC PULLE NI

CHOYDAIOC

ANDOOYK.

EULISE HEK

SHT' LLOTIN AN

ETPEKBUK.

TO ETBEOÙ JUTIK

TOUON' XE E

NEEIUE, NITN

TUXOOYK

THEYWAXE

AN PITETOE SA TILLUCY JULIA LADAY TAP PIPOU UE EQUETA

MOEI EBOX ZIN TEUKAKIA EU ZW JULOC SE ON MENTAIA AU. METITHT

dykatooty

EBOX ZUTTEU

ULL TUTTUT' TO

EPETEUJUU

TE ZIWWY E

BOX ZUTTEU

ZUZU:

LUTTUPGE ETPEY

XOOC SE TE

ZIĤ NTYJEEPE WITALAOC NIC YOOTT AN EY COOYTN, OY WE EYTBBÔ

H NICEXOOC

XE OYO'I NINET

XW WWOC XE

NAMOY, TITLE

HOO'Y AYW

TITLET NAMOYY

200Y NET

WIT' WITKAKE

NOYOEIN AYW

MOYOEIN NIKA

KE NETXW

WWOC XE THET

CAWE, 20X6.

DST3M WYD

TO CACHE.

X

25

20

5

15

25

and lose your soul? For we in fact chose you as an earnest man, and sent you. If your mind was not at rest about your going, why did you not tell us that we might know and not send you? Nevertheless, know that it was said, "Hearken therefore now and hear; but they were not speaking thus openly, for no man is repenting of his wickedness saying, 'What have I done?'. The runner has ceased from his course like a horse with his sweat on him from his neighing!" Do not therefore let it be said, "The way of the daughter of my people is not towards uprightness nor towards purity?" And do not let it be said, "Woe unto them who call evil good and good evil, who count darkness for light and light for darkness, who say that bitter is sweet and sweet is bitter?

Jer.8.6.
Jer.4.11.

	OTON TIMETO	EANETWHPE
	NCABE MAY	DYW NEYCHHY
	WAYDAY, DYW	BUK EBOX N
	EYÓ NPUTIENT	гнти, шпоч
5	TITTEYTO E	KILL STITEYSY
	BOX.	MOUDNH ETBE
	TIMOUPEE MA	MNOYTE. EX
	CON' ECOPUEK	M 3X MYOOD
	MAJAAK. AYW	CENDENCYHPE
10	TOUTH NTUCY	an' Epoor. H
	CUT NOWK' N	WEEPE. H NET
	DE NITECZILLE	HIT' EPOOT KA
	ENTATECCA	TACAPZ JUTINAY
	TEEPE CUPIL	NTEYANAPKH.
15	EACCESPITEC	EYWANET ESPAT
	HI ECLIOYUT	ENGIS JUTIETE.
	H ECKUTE	and the
	CHANTEZE E	ETEPETTOYÂ
	POC, EdCLUOY	MOYÀ NOODY.
20	TE ENECUBE	NTOU METU
	EPE, WINNET	NAGNTU EPOU
	23 SWYOTIS	TITINAY ETTL
	su ituoc. Se	May. This
	PACYE NTULLA"	TEIWT' TAP NA
25	DE dize ETA	& MOY, SAWHPE.
	GICKITE, EM	DS . 39HW WY6
	a Taicopuec.	EIWT . H CON.
	OYNEAR TAP RA	SACON. AXXA
	A THN SMNECHHY	moyâ moyâ

Woe unto them that are wise in their own eyes and prudent in their own sight." Do not therefore, my brother, lead yourself astray. Arise and search yourself like the woman who, having lost her coin; swept her house, searching and looking around until she found it, and called her friends and neighbours saying. "Rejoice with me because I have found my penny which I lost " For many of the brethren amongst us did not waver in their constancy towards God when their sons and their brothers departed from us, since they knew that they would not find a son beside them or a daughter or any of those related to them by the flesh, in the time of their need, when they come into the hands of Christ. But it is the good that each one will have done that he will find beside him at that time. For father will not die for son, nor son for father, nor brother for brother, but every one

Is.5.21.

Lit. "stater" which equals four drachmas. But when the coin is found it is called SICKITE which is one drachma. It may therefore be assumed that the writer was not aware of the actual value of the coins and uses CATEEPE to mean "coin" or "drachma".

[&]quot;Lit. "drachma".

⁴Cf. Lk.15.8-9.

EUNAMOY Ed MEUNOBE IL MN TUDY.

YOUNTED WITE

ELIEYEYSUX.

NTOU METE

PENEUNOXE

NAMOYUE N

DE ETEPETE

TRACH XW TUE.

EPWANOYON

TAP NILL LIEETE

ETIAI ETPEU

XI NOU MOYEHT

auntanuo

SMOTUNTOUR

NOE ENTAKA

dC. NILL MET

PS 200078PM

THNEUEPHY. 20

H ENEUTENE

EIOTE LIOYN

EBOX ZINTEY

SYMOUOTIYS

NEMNAGNTOY

TWN ME ETPE

GOI'VE EPOOT:

TEMOYEE ANE

EIDTE YEK

OUNDTYSYET

NH EBOX. EXY

BUK EPHTY IL

MNOYTE.

MUMS MOND

EMULANTINTO

NIN EPOOT. OT

YHSTON SOSM

EBOX 21TOO

TN. ENWAN

KTON DE ETG

ENGLATIN YOS

DITEMENTO

SASTINO HYOU

NATOCE ETBH

TN, DYW NOE

CKANDANIBE:

STBETTAI TNITA PAKANEI WIK

EBOX 2ITU

MIN STYDINT

MENYDEIC IC

NICKTOK' ESOY

EMEKLIÀ. XE

KUC EPETTEK

SHT' NOTUTON

MILTSHY WUCK.

NITUCUTU

NCANETCYLL

5

15

25

shall die for his own sin, and it is the teeth of him what eats sour grapes that shall be set on edge, as the scripture says. For if every one thinks thus, weakly to become estranged as you did, who will live with his fellows? Unless our fathers had persevered in their constancy, where were we to find them that we might dwell with them? But now our fathers perfected their constancy and went to God. If we ourselves are like them many will profit through us, but if we turn back and renounce our constancy, many will be lost because of us and stumble. Therefore we exhort you through God and our Lord Jesus that you return to your monastery in order that your mind may be at rest and that you may profit and not obey those who

^{&#}x27;Jer.38.30.
'Note ETBHTN (the Achm. and Fay. form) for the normal Sah.
ETBHHTN, cf. Crum, Dict., p.6la.

BOYNEYE NAK EKAMEKUA Ñ NTEKANATKH:

CWK. MCENAW thoroc TAP an SAPOK JUTINAY

5

RHOÀ METCZAÏ NONTINOI. EMEIAH dIXOOY NE' NOYCOM' DYW CHOY, XE **UITEIUNTABHT** EBOX QUO, 27W NTE+CO EMOY LAC TYPEUSE NOG NOVAXE. dyw MOYCTIO TOY ETUXÛ WITETENYWO OT AN OTTE NTE COOTH TUDY 25 an. EICSHH TEGE WITERW EPO OYTE a METCO CHASOT

ETEMOY - dx

Ad aportus' E TOOTE SINTOY UNTPEYCULL MEDYO. MET COUNTAP INTET 21TOYWU. EU cay away in inoy. DYW METERIO WITEGOON, H METZITOYWY. EUTEDIO JULIOU WYG - UDBYBU EUPNOBE ETEU WYXH QUIN I MOY NETP 20TE 2HTQ Q MXDEIC · WAY too Eponor DONY JULY WILL NEG, MNEY CNHY. H NET SHN EPOOT. dilla EULATTA 1007 NTOU N in with foros CETEDOY NAY. EYCOOTH XE

METRAPEZ E

advise you to forsake your monastery. For they will not be able to speak for you at the time of your need.

Besa writes to Antinoe. Although I have told you more than once to put this foolishness from you and restrain your boastful tongue and your lips, that they do not speak of things which are not so or which you do not know, nevertheless you have not ceased nor left off up till now, but even added more in your scorn. He who despises his neighbour despises himself, and he who condemns his brother or his neighbour condemns himself and sins against his own soul. Those who fear the Lord restrain their mouth and do not reproach their brethren or their neighbours, but rather honour them the more and give them glory, knowing that he who guards

^{&#}x27;A Greek name with the ending -is abbreviated to -i, cf. Heuser, Personennamen, p.89. - Part of another letter to an Antinoe (possibly the same nun) is contained in Zoega CCIV, fols. CN - CNB, cf. p.20f.

2Lit. "yet behold".

POUG VINTEY YAC. EUSAPES ETEUWYXA. ETBETTAT +CYLL BOYNEYE NE 2WC CON' ETPE NO SMITEIUNT EHTWHU. ETE Matchy Epoc an. UNTEINNT PEYCUW EMXT SH ETEUNNO UPE NEHTC. WH MOTE NITED STH STUTESO OY ETEPETA MPO NILL NO TOU'S KITNOW ME THPN 2d MONTH THAST 20 TE. SYLOOC TAP SE OYTINET WASE, EYO NOE MEENCHUE EY 25 KUNTE. WAPE FINAC DE FIRCO DOC TALGO. 2200 EPECUW

NTOYCUNE

DYW EPENOG NEG. ILLOC. WH ECWANBUK ETBHHTE. H HUGODAYOTH IJOYZHT NAIL TON. UH NITE MONYTTEI AM. H NTEUKAZ N SHT. EPAKPI NE EEINE ERAÏ EXW UTWAXE ETCHS' SE TPEY GETTIPWILE EBOX. EPULAN COLYCC. EP cay two way date. dru ep WANTUATOC. EPTUATO TUDO THE THIS. EQUITE EP WANNOI NIN ENTORA WITSO EIC IC, DYW N TETETH EPO DY. TENDINO! WITETEUNE. MUDINE, ET

his mouth and his tongue, guards his soul. So, therefore I advise you as a brother to cease from this petulance by which you will not profit, and this pointless contempt in which there is no advantage, lest you regret on the day when every mouth will be shut and we shall all be under the judgment of God. For it was said, "There are those who speak like piercing swords, but the tongues of the wise heal2" Why do you despise your sister and reproach her? Will your heart be at ease if she departs because of you or at your instigation? Will you not grieve or be pained? Will you choose to bring down upon your head the word which is written, "slave-dealer"? If you insult her, you insult yourself, and if you justify her, you justify yourself. If you understand the commandments of the Lord Jesus and heed them you will understand what is seemly. Good counsel

Prov.21.23. Prov.12.18.

Note EPA - for EPENA -, cf. Stern, para 380.

⁴Cf. I Tim.1.10. It is adapted to the fem. sg. The Greek rendered is Δνσραποσίετής . Here the meaning seems to be that Antinoe would, by causing a fellow-nun to leave the convent, condemn her from the monastic point of view to slavery.

on 78v. There may possibly exist the by-form cwwc (from cww), cf. cwwu. For verb formations, perhaps analogical to cwwc, cf. Stern, para 99.

MANOYÚ NAZA PEZ EPÓ. NITE MUEEYE ETOY 3 PHIST BOD PO. XE EYNA NAZUE EZWB MILL EUROOY: TAHN +XW is MOC NE, TE ED THSIMIPUT NCOG, EBOX i U. SYW NITE KAEMICTHUH MUO. TNATPE MOYZHT NIKAZ. SUPPLY MADE XE iluò an. MTAMXOEIC YOUR YE ETE TNUMBRE 20 NETNEPHY DYON MINE NO EILLE, JE NITE THINGUADHTHC. METLUCTE 25 TAP WHEYCO EYMOOWE 2TU MKAKE, ENY COOTH AN SE

EUBHK ETWN XE STIKAKE TOUR MNEUBOX. DYXOOC DE ON be wapeonca BH NCZILLE KET OYHI. TETNA PAPHT DE NA CUPULUPU EN NECEIX. ETE Mai ME. XE WA PETCABH NOZI WE KETTET MS SWYOTIS POTE WITHOU TE, UNTATATTH ETELLIECENT EZOYN ETEC CUNE, WINEC CNHY. TET NOPABHT DE MTOY. CHAWP JUNES rOPULL WAXE ETUES NCIWE, 2140 CTE. SITTONH Pid. ZICWW. MOE ETCHS TE OYGERUB

shall guard you and holy thought keep you, for it shall deliver you from every evil thing? Nevertheless I tell you, if you do not abandon this foolish attitude and get you understanding, I will cause your heart to be grieved and I will no more forbear with you. The Lord said, "If you love each other, every one shall know that you are my disciples? For he who hates his brother walks in darkness, not knowing where he is going because the darkness has closed his eyes." And it was also said, "A wise woman builds a house, but the foolish will destroy it with her hands", which means that the wise woman encourages her neighbour in the fear of God and the love which is in her heart towards her sister and her sisters. But on the other hand the foolish woman will destroy them by her words full of bitterness, hatred, wickedness, and scorn, even as it is written, "A rod

^{&#}x27;Prov.2.11.

²Cf. Prov.2.12.

³Cf. Jn.13.35.

⁴Cf. I Jn.2.11.

⁵Prov.14.1.

This represents the same Coptic word (KWT) as that translated "builds" in Prov.14.1 above.

	NOWY MET	STITEYEUNT
	IN OGITATINS	EBOX THPY.
	NAPHT: ETE	AYOU XE TTATTPO
	NTO ME. KON	TUTABHT, OY
5	TAP METUE IL	OYWWIG NAG
	MUNTS. UNAT	TE. DYW OYTH
	CÔ EPWY. MET	WY FITEGYY
	TOURC DE NTOY	XÀ NE NEUCH
	MEENWASE.	TOY. NITECO
10	MACYSAI AM.	7 OYN AN' XE MET
	EPELLEEYE; E	cuy unpu
	OÀ EPÔ NITEÏ	ME, ETGATO II
	RE. NTEREX	auoy. Ey
	MIBE AN' EEÎ E	COUCH TATHOY
15	EPAI ENGIS a	TE, DYW EYKD
	MNOTE WA	TAMPONEI JŪ
	TEON WWITE	MOY. Kal rap
	EPEÓ NABHT	NTAYTALLIE
	NITEIZE THPC.	MPWILE EZN
20	ENTEPROTE	DEIKUN' II
	AN EHTY TITLE MA	MNOTE: ATW
	TE. OYTE FITE	NEIZBHYE N
	MILE AN SH	TEIZE NAMYA
	TO NPWLE.	XE NE FISIABO
25	OTTE ON TITE	λος ετφθο
	WEELE AN EBOX	NEI EPON. EU
	EFFOCE NTOY	THEY TOWNT
	WYXA. XE WA	MAN ESOLN, E
	PETHONT ME	NEMEPHY

of scorn is in the mouth of the foolish", and that means you. For he who loves life will restrain his mouth, but he who goads with words shall not be saved? Why do you think thus? Do you not hope to come into the hands of God? How long are you continuing to be so very foolish? You do not fear God, nor do you respect man, nor do you consider the forfeiting of your soul. "The foolish pours out all his wrath and, "The mouth of the foolish is ruin to him, and his lips are a snare to his soul." Do you not know that he who despises man to the extent of condemning him, despises God and scorns him? For man was made in the image of God? and such things are of the devilish enemy who envies us, hardening our hearts towards one another

Prov.14.3.
Prov.16.17.
Prov.19.4.
Cf. Lk.18.2.
Prov.29.11.
Prov.18.7.
Tor many read may.
Cf. Gen.1.26-27.

LATITUTYONUL CIZHT' ENNA +SHY EPOC AN. ELEIZH GAXO OC XE TUNT 5 SACISHT, OY BOTE TE FIND SPUTTNOYTE. TUDBATT WITE THE WITH BEPWILE. MADI MOC PINTY: STUTTAT TAP N Tay XOOC NOT TPULLE TITIS TE ATA ANTW MIDC, LE EN PLPN 20002 dN. GAYTPE +SAM, ENENE 20 PHY, ENCERD X THN PW an. MINEYUNT PEYCOW E 25 IN SKYONYOT MOOY EZPAI ELLENSHI, SM OYUNTXACI SHT. END N

MACUTEHT! AYOU ENCOUN, MINEMEPHY. ENÓ NWOY WO WINNEN EPHY, ZUMEN WAXE ETNA CUT. ENLIGHTS YOUN THSIN MILL ENENA PIKE ENENE PHY. DYW EPO JULY JUON. AN. ENLIEFIE XE EPEMZICE WOOTT NAN E BOX SITNINE EPHY. ENO N PEYTRAM' ENE TOTONIZ EBOX. EPETTCOONE THPY WOOTT · IHTILL MYOSIS WINSENTW. MUNZENZAIPE CIC, ENT UN MENEPHY N RHTOY, WAN TNTAZE, MEN

with pride by which we shall not profit, since it has been said, "Pride is an abomination in the sight of God", and, "As for the presumptuous and the boastful, Pestilence is his name?" On this matter the man of God, Apa Antonius, said, "While we are alone, they make us sit in judgment on one another, even in their absence from us. With their slanders which they arrogantly plant in our hearts, we are hard of heart and we decry one another, we are boastful to each other with our hard words, we are always troubled at heart, we blame one another and not ourselves, we think that our trouble comes through our neighbours, we are judges of those that are shown up while the archrobber is inside the house; with quarrels and factions we fight each other, until we establish our

Cf. Lk.16.15.

There follows NZHTOT which, when translated, seems redundant. It is omitted in the quotation on 73r.

²Prov.21.24.

³For the following quotation cf. Migne, PG, 40, 983B f., also 40, 1012B f. It is also part of a longer Antony quotation on 72v-73v. For the relationship between the various versions, cf. G.Garitte, A propos des lettres de S.Antoine l'Ermite, Mus.LII, p.11ff.

⁴Probably demons.
5For ETOYMOYAE TUMOOY the quotation on 72v has ETELYAYTAAY
6For MENEPHY the quotation on 73r has wrongly METNEPHY.
7Probably the Devil.

WAXE EPATU. ETBEMAI +20 MOYOLE! ME, TITIEUTO EBÀ WINDYTE SE EWWITE NITE MACARW AN E BOX NITEIUNT PEYCUW. TE NACE EUWIE 10 WHOYWKAZ MEHT. Kal Tap EIGIPOOYW EUPO NITETZE. ETOYUU AN' E 15 TPENCUTU EMOYME88Y ONTE ETPEY TAYELLOUBAN Kakcuc . 27W ON SE MNEOY OCE WWITE NE: EMOYEE +MOY

TEMOYEE THOY

ZHT ETECBÜ.

ZHT ETECBÜ.

ZHU NITECOB

TE NIMOYUJA

XE ENWAXE

NITAICOHCIC.

XEKAC EPEDY TWK' NEHT WW THE NE' EXUTING TE. DYW WAPE NOYBAN GUILLYT ENETODYTOU NTEMOYBOY RE EKUPTU EN UNTUE. TAPE EINE ETTETE WWE. AYOU R TENO! XE OY CABE HE HET to same sor WAXE EBOX EY NACUT. OYCH BE DE ME MPW ME NZAPWZHT. ETBETTAI LITE! UNTPEGHEW NT EBOX IIIIG. UNTEILINT WYL . WHUSTHS TEILUNTPEU cours. TE 91 SOOC SE NE CMOTOY IL MARHT NAN TU EZENTIET

word". Therefore I declare to you before God that if you will not turn away from this insulting behaviour, you too will be filled with grief. For I am so anxious for you that I do not wish that we may hear of your wickedness, or that your name may be evilly spoken of, or that harm may befall you. Now therefore pay heed to teaching and prepare your ears for the words of knowledge, that you may have confidence in God². And let your eyes look at things that are upright and your eyelids open wide³ to the truths in order that you may learn what is fitting, and that you may understand that he who refrains from uttering a hard word is wise, and the patient man is wise⁵. So put this provocation to anger from you, and this petulance, and this insulting behaviour, for it was said, "The lips of the fool shall bring him into

^{&#}x27;Cf. Prov.23.12.

²Cf. Prov.22.19.

³Cf. 50**v**, note 2.

Cf. Prov.4.25.

⁵Prov.17.27.

2004 EPETEU TAMPO DE ET NAWT EMIKA LEI TITUOY. 5 ETBETTAI UTTP WWITE NAGHT. ST STILL SE WUNTON 37 PO UTXOEIC - AYW NITENDY DE 200' TE TEZIH ET MANOYC. NITE HSY 3WOON TC. XEKAC E PAGINE NOTTB 15 BO NTOYUY XH. SYLOOC TAP DE MAC OYKOYI TILLE YOU LE GAM 20 USE'NOG, NWA XE. DYW XE WAPEOTKOTI MKWET DEPE YSM, BOMFO 25 YH. LYGC, SON WU OYKWET ME. MAI ETYW EU UTCUUL

THPY . DYW ET TUZO WHETPO XOC WITEXTO. Mai ETWIP TWP EDOOY ETLIEZ' ILUA TOY, MPEULLOY M ILASS .TYO ENTY TNOW EMNOYTE MI CUT: DYCU SPAI WEHTY THICK 201 NIPOLUE. Nai ENTAYTA MOOY, KATA MEINE, WIN TE. DYTAUD SE NUMBE AN ETPENdi WW HE NITEIZE. DYW SE WHI WAPEROBNE MS ILASS OYLOT TEILLOYLLE N OYUT' TITUO OY ETZONE WINTETUDÍS. HI XE MA OVIN 60LL ETPEDY

evils and his stubborn mouth calls for death." So do not be foolish, but learn what the will of the Lord is, and see which is the good way, and walk in it, that you may find purification for your soul. For it has been said, "The tongue is a little member and speaks great words", and "A little fire sets much wood alight. The tongue also is a fire which defiles the whole body and sets on fire the cycle of generation, and which is restless, evil, and full of deadly poison. With it we bless God the Father, and with it we curse men who were made in God's likeness". We have been told, "These things ought not to be so," and, "Does a fountain send forth fresh and salty water from the same well?" And, "Can a

Prov.18.6.

Note EPA - for EPENA -, cf. Stern, para 380.

Cf. Jer.6.16.

⁴Cf. Jam.3.5.

⁵Cf. Jam. 3.5-6.

⁶Cf. Jam. 3.8-9.

^{&#}x27;Cf. Jam.3.10.

For 208NE read 20NBE .

[°]Cf. Jam.3.11.

BÛ NKNTE TAYÊ YOUT EBOX. H NTEOYBÛ NELOOLE TAYEKNITE E BOX- OYTE MNEWWEZ P UDOY EURO No. EUXÚ UTAI DE CUNT MILL' ENTATION TE TALLIOOY NEYWIBE I MEYCLLOT' N BE ENTAUCO 15 TOY ILLOC. MPOULLE DE N TOU UTWW ME KATACHY 20 DYW KATAKAI POC' EBOX ZU TITETHANOYU. ETITE BOOY. YEIPE WITBOX MUTOYEZCA YOMITH JANS TE ENTAGEW

MUDY ETOO

Ty. 24m you

BE NTEUDY CIC. MAPABE ENTAMXOEIC MOYTE TO wy wwoc. TICUNT THPY SYMOTACCE WITHOUTE. EITE NTOOY. MINICIRT. EITE BALLOCA. WINIEPWOY. DYW TKAZ' WIN TOIKOTHENH. DETUS WYD WAXE, NITHIL MHYE TAXPO. DYW NEYGOU THPOY ZUME MIND MPULI. IL MOYPHBOX N NETTOW. MU HALT WYD MVIV SOOM CIOY, TUTTON WIBE MOE EN THYTOWOY TUDE. ALLA CEXWK' EBOX

fig tree bring forth olives or a vine bring forth figs, or shall salt be able to produce sweet water?" It is meant by this that all creatures which God created do not change the likeness wherein he created them. But man, time and again, turns from the good to the evil, acting contrary to the command of God which he laid upon him, and he changes his nature contrary to the manner which the Lord God ordained for him. All creation is subject to God, whether mountains and hills or the sea and the rivers, or the earth and the inhabited world. And by his word he established the heavens, and all their hosts by the breath of his mouth? They did not escape their bounds, and the sun, the moon, and the stars did not change from the way which he ordained for them, but they perform

^{&#}x27;Cf. Jam.3.12.
²Ps.32.6.

STEYAITOYP LEIG ELDONO EIN ETICUNT THPU. SIM 34 MOND BIHN, DYW NI TANGITHUPOC NPWLLE NPEY PNOBE. TNOW WINE BYW TN 10 PITBOX NINEM TOW . DYW TN KW NOWN I MNOUDC I 15 MNOYTE UN NEGENTOAH MUSPINA JUDOY ETOO TN. ENTIAPABA rous roaus 20 UNTATZOTE. MOYUNTAT WITE. NOE ET CH2' SE KATA MEKNWOT' DE 25 WINTEKSHT" ETENULIETA MOEI AN, EK CMOJS, MYK, E

SOYN ÑOYOP

TH STUTTESOOY

ÑTOPTH UTU

THEWNTH EBON

THOUNTH EBON

THOUNTH, THIS

ETNINOYTE, THIS

ETNINOYTE, THIS

ETNINOYTE

THOUBE

KATANEUSBH

OYE: FTBETTHISE PO EIC, DYW NITE CAZIN EBOX N MILLIUSE, LIN NITTUM. MICE ing dos LHSt DYW CEWOYEIT. SENOCE DE NE DYW SEMWOP WP NE FINEUY XH MINETON EMLIELONZA!. DYW ETUE' IL MIN STYCHT MENYOGIC TC. Mai ENTAYTA dy Noute 2d WILD WIN MORO AYLLOY, ETBH

their service by giving light to the whole creation. We, on the other hand, miserable, wretched, sinful men that we are, turn and escape from our bounds, and forsake the law of God and his commandments which he laid upon us, irreverently and shamelessly transgressing them, as it is written, "Because of your hardness and your impenitent heart you treasure up for yourself wrath in the day of wrath and the revelation of the just judgment of God, who will render to every man according to his works." For this reason then be vigilant, and turn away from feuds and quarrels, for they are useless and trivial. They are harmful and destructive for the souls of those who desire their salvation and who love God and our Lord Jesus who gave himself a ransom for every one and died for

[']Rom.2.5-6. ²Cf. I Tim.2.6.

HTN. XEKAC EUECOTIV EBY ENANOMIA MILL. DYW MUTBBON NOU NOYLLOC. 5 EUTOYHT: N PEUKUS' ESE SBHYE ENDINOY OY. NOT ENTA MNOYTE CBTW TOY, LEKAC E NEWDOWE SPAI NIZHTOY: ETBETTAI Drw NIZE EPÔ. ELL MATEURY. LYW NTEPOEIC EMOYSICE NE' ETILTAKOÙ EUTHTOE! N 20 GITEYMOY THI

ETOYNATO

KU NTEUYXA

EVOTA FOOTA.

EZPHI NZHTY.

VITE'SE FUP IN

TAYXOOC XE

CBTENEKSBH

ONE ETEZIÀ.

25

ETEMAI ME XE CBTENEKEBH ONE ETEKGIN EI EBOX ZNOW Ud: MXOIC FUETOE NE ~ DY DESTRUC WAS THPN SIOYCOTT ETPENCYSUN EBOX JUTITET BUTH 1005 PE WITHETHA NOYÚ. ELLITA TUE! NOITKAI POC. EYWAXE EUZWK' EBOX DYW EQUIWUT METEREMINY WXIS PARAM ST LIKAS. EANA KPINE FAP NITOI KOYLIENH ZN OYDIKGIOCY MH. DYW MYD OC ZNOYCOOT TM. NENTAY EIPE MUTTET NAMOTY. EY ANACTACIC N

us, that he might redeem us from all lawlessness, and purify us for himself a people specially his own, zealous for good works' which God has prepared in order that we should walk in them3. Therefore strive with yourself before you die, and watch over your struggle with yourself so as not to invalidate it before the hour comes when the soul of every one will be plucked out from him. For thus it was said. "Prepare your works for the way" which means. prepare your works for your departure out of the body. The Lord will give to you the chance, yea to all of us together, to put evil away from us and do good before the time comes, for it is a sentence, completing and cutting short. which the Lord will execute upon the earth. For he will judge the world in righteousness and the peoples in uprightness; those who did good things unto a resurrection of

See the Detached Note on the next page.

²Tit.2.14.

³Cf. Eph.2.16.

Prov.24.42.

Cf. Ps.36.27.

⁶Cf. Rom.9.28.

For NAME read probably NNAME agreeing with the Sah. text of Ps.9.9, of. Budge, Ps., and also with the LXX. Cf. Ps.9.9.

Detached Note to follow 70v.

TO HT stands for the N.T. Greek περιούδιος meaning
1) "having more than enough", "wealthy"; 2) "especial",
"peculiar". It may be noted that in the LXX περιούδιος
stands for the Hebrew πρίο "property", "wealth", (e.g.
Deut.7.6, 14.2). The Biblical meaning is therefore clearly
"a people for God's own peculiar possession".

The Coptic form TONHT presents difficulties. According to Crum, Dict., p.447b it is the qual. of TOONTE "to gather", "to collect", or perhaps of TONO (p.443b) "to

show", " to teach", "to send".

The ancient Egyptian equivalent of TOOTE is twt. But two more ancient Egyptian words of the same form (twt) are relevant: 1) "to be like", "to be similar", "to correspond"; hence, "to be fit", "to be meet", "to be due", "to be suited to", (cf. the Coptic noun TOTOT "idol", p.447a). 2) "to be perfect", "to be beautiful", "to be completely equipped", " to be provided with". The fact that TOTHT is paraphrased in Crum's examples by COTT, TACHT, CEBTOT, CHONTMAY be an indication that this qual. form is a relic of one of the old words twt or a conflation of them.

(For the ancient Egyptian material, I am indebted to Dr. M.F.L. Macadam).

WNZ. NENTAY EIPE MÜTTE HOOY, EYANA CTACIC NKPI

5

BHCA MENAXI

CTOC MET

CZAI NZHRAII.

NAME KATAMUJA

10

XE WITAMO

CTOC, FRYMH

PE XE NITEÏZE

ZNOYGEMH,

TEMWUNE N

TUMENTAU

TARME RUTE

15

MOJO, ELDE STUDIO, LORD STUDIO,

20

WINTE MOY anapxà jung TE. SE Macy M ZE, apkantua jundiabotoc

25

NE TAXY EBOX STUTLUEETE ETMANOTÚ.

ETPEUTTOO

ESOUN ELLINE

FYE EBOOY.

MS KOB3 WYD

BYMOUDHA.

EMLEEYE N

EHT' NUTUUS.

MS KOBS WITH

TATATTH WINT

PHNH. EZOYN

EMUDCIE, UN

MITTUN' NITE

COOTH AN SE

MICATANAC, OY

MACTITETNA

NOYY ME, EY

OF ISMOBO

DEIGN WITH EME

TOYEVITIEYOY

, Xdi. sturdi

TAP NTAYXOCC NEITTENEIUT

1.011.101.101

ETOYADB DITA

distursion

MENTAYCOYN

WHONHPIA W

MYAXE, ETUD

CTE PINETUE

WITNOYTE,

Nai ENTAY

life, those who did evil things unto a resurrection of judgment!

Besa the most humble writes to Herai². Truly according to the word of the apostle³, I marvel that you so quickly turn from him who called you in the grace of Jesus Christ⁴ unto a good hope to be a firstfruit of God, and how you have given place to the devil that he might turn you speedily from the good thought unto the evil thought, and from constancy to the attitude of disaffection, and from love and peace to hatred and quarrelling. Do you not know that Satan is a hater of good, always envying those who desire their salvation? For on this said our holy father, Apa Antonius, who knew the wickedness of the enemy who hates those who love God, those who

^{&#}x27;Jn.5.29.

The name comes from the Greek 'Hραϊς, the final s being omitted. Heuser, Personennamen, mentions this Greek name in various Coptic forms but not as it is here 2ΗΡΑΪ . For part of another letter to a Herai (probably the same nun), see 78ν-86ν, cf. p.16.

Tor ΔΠΟC ΤΟς read ΔΠΟC ΤΟΛΟς.

'Cf. Gal.1.6.

10H

METOTO EPOU ZUTIEY2HT THPU. XE DITH OWC MALLERA TE, TENUNTA MEXHC, WINTE OBBIO UNTE SINPIKE EBOX MNEYWOOM NAN', AN' MOTO CE, MAYDAN AX NA NKEATTE LOC, NEYLYO ISYON, YOU 'TO CE, LINNETOY US YOGHT 866

DANHOUC ON NA
WHPE MENGB
BIO, WAUTE
KAZ NAY THPOY.
MAXIN ON ME
OYSAI WINTE
WOYWOY, WAU
YOYNOU AYW
NUTUTON NAY
THPOY. ETBE
MITAI POÙ CEKW
TE NOWN TICHY

MEXO IC:

MIM. KATABE ETCHZ XE CHAPE rarreloc uniso EIC KOUTE ENET PROTE SHTY MUNDELLOY. gram on mark OC SE + NOTA MUTTIN DE EKE SUB EUTASÔ MS SULUPTION TEGAPXH. EWWITE EP WANTPULLE +MEYONO! E MNOYTE EP us pay house MEUZHT' THPU.

TINOTTE FRI
OTHOG, NGOU
NAY UNOTHOG
NPAUJE, SWCTE
NTETIZUB TH
PY UTINOTE
SLOG, NTOOTY
TAPATTEBIÛ
UNITUOTÎZ

I YOGHT IS

advanced to him with all their heart, "Truly, my beloved, our carelessness and our humiliation and our perversion have not been hurtful to us alone, but they have also been painful to the angels and to all the saints in Christ Jesus. Truly also, my sons, our humiliation gives pain to them all, whereas our salvation and our glory give joy and rest to them all. Therefore indeed they seek us always, as it is written, 'The angel of the Lord surrounds those who fear him and delivers them.'2" Again he says, "But I shall tell you another thing that touches man from his beginning. If man advances to God to serve him with all his heart, God gives him great power and great joy so that every work of God is sweeter to him than honey and the honeycomb, and all the pains of

For the following quotation, cf. Migne, PG, 40, 986D f. For this and the two subsequent Antony quotations, cf. also G.Garitte, A propos des lettres de S.Antoine l'Ermite, Mus.LII, p.11ff.

2Ps.33.8.

³For the following Antony quotation, cf. Migne, PG, 40, 1050D f. ⁴Cf. Ps.18.11.

	LICMING 5400		MOYTE WAN
	NTOOTY. UN		TUTTOOTU NU
	QUELETA. UN		Spo Epooy.
	MOYUH MPO		SHUM EMMLE
5	EIC. DIW FITE		EYWANIPÔ E
	MY PASSEU TH		POOT. WAPE
	Py TITUTING		METTING WITH
	TE 2X06, NTO		TE CYWITE NIL
	OTY. UTVICA		MAY NOHY MIM.
10	Noti DE, WATSO		EUTEOU Nay
	TY STINATI EW		ETUPSOTEGE
	CTE NTUBEIÙ		SHTY WYDDY.
	Novembron.		MSCUB' EURSY.
	MOYAPOY.		OYTE CWW N
15	NTWBEIW N		PWILE. OTTE
	OYACAII. MOY		ZOTE FLAILUUT.
	SPOY. NITUB		THAT FAP TUTAY
	EIÛ NOTPAYE.		& XOOC XE NHOE
	MOYUKAZ MEHT.		MTETMPOEIC
20	MOSTONIA		SE METHANTI
	YELL MINB	×	DIKOC MAIABO
	EIW FIOTUE.		you moome
	OTLLOCTE.	X	SON MASKUS
	NTWBEIW N	0	MNIMOY! EU
25	072/06. 07		WINE TICHW
	ciye. Wape		LIK MNETHUY
	Ndi THPOY TA		OTO XH. NITE
	SEMPOULE ET		DE ON FITAUSO
	KOUTE FICA		& OC MEITIENTO

the body are sweet to him, and the exercises and vigils and the whole yoke of godliness are sweet to him. But afterwards he is tested by these things, so that there is coldness for warmth, heaviness for lightness, grief and weariness for joy, hatred for love, bitterness for sweetness. All these things come upon the man that seeks after God until he helps him and he overcomes them. And when he overcomes them, the Spirit of God is always with him, giving him power not to fear again any evil thing; or contempt of man, or fear of demon." For this has been said, "Be sober and vigilant, because your adversary the devil goes, roaring as the lions, seeking to devour your souls". Thus also said the good abbot,

I.e. God.

²I.e. the man that seeks after God.

³Here our text ceases to correspond to that of Migne, but it is impossible to say where the Antony quotation ended for Besa - here, after "demon", or at the end of I Pet.5.8.

⁴I Pet.5.8.

	Prombata	ra inaknoks
	and antuni	TPO WHENSHT
	OC XE ANHOUS	ESYDONYELL IN
	NACYHPE CE	HULL YOTHS
5	PONEI EPW	ME. LINNEY
	TH THAT MILL	GUNT THPOY.
	STUTTEYWOYNE	MINNEYKATA
	EDOOY, WNITEY	LAXIA ETOY
	DIWTUDG ET	TOUBO TUDA
10	YEARING :THIS	EPOOY SANE
	Kakia Etyo	EPHY, WINTEY
	OUE. WINEY	UNTPEYTUA
	MND ETO NPEU	ELOOY, MAYA
	cupi. WINEY	dy, eturietor
15	WEETE FIXI	EIPE ITMOY.
	Ord. WINNEY	TIME TETUTE
	MINTALLICTOC	PEYTEATT' ETOY
	ETOYCITE II	NOYSE TUDO
	MOON ESPATE	EZPAÏ EMEN
20	MENSHT' LL	M3 WK . THS
	WHITE, WINEY	SMOOC MAYA
	TOUGH TIZHT	an. WAYTPE
	WINNEYONUTC.	tsan, enene
	MINNEYTIKAS	PHY, ENCERA
25	MEHT' ETOW	THN PW AN.
	ETOTEINE II	TIMEYUMT
	MOOY ESPAI	PEYCUW ETE
	EXUN TINAY	S KRETKALD
	MILL LINNEY	SPAI EMENSHT

Apa Antonius, "Truly my sons, they always bear ill-will towards you in their wicked counsel, and their secret persecution and their subtle evils and their spirits that lead astray, and their blasphemous thoughts and their unbeliefs which they sow in our heart daily, and their hardenings of heart and their perplexities, and their many sorrows which they bring upon us always, and their despondencies with which they cause our heart to be plagued daily, and all their rages and their calumnies which they teach us one towards another, and their self-justification in what they do, and their condemnation which they cast into our heart. And while we are alone, they make us sit in judgment on one another even in their absence from us. With their slanders which they arrogantly put into our hearts,

For the following quotation, cf. Migne, PG, 40, 983B ff., and also 40, 1012B ff. Part of this quotation occurs also on 68r.

²Probably demons.
³For ETEQUATARY the quotation on 68r has ETOYMOYE JULOOY.

		7 13
	DATMUYOMS	TNTAZEMEN
	CISHT: ENO	WAXE EPATY.
	MNACYTEHT'	XEKAC ENEOY
	91M ENCORA	WHZ EBOX EN
5	MNEMEPHY.	TUDIHY, TITTELL
	ENÓ MUOTUJÓ	TO EBOX JUNZO
	UTINENEPHY;	THENEPHY.
	STUTIENWAXE	EXTORPOT, MY
	ETNAUT.	ENESBHYE ETE
10	ENLUCKS MISHT	WHOOL WUON
	MNAY NILL.	EGAY. AYOU ELL
	ENGNAPIKE E	MCHY, POÙ AN ME.
	MENEPHY, DYW	EYTPÓ TULON
	EPON JUNI	ESYOLIYELI E
15	JUN an. EMUE	Maii ETNOSO
	EYE DE EPE	ON' NEHTO
	LISICE MOOLL,	MYW ETO FISHY
	NAN EBOX ZITN	NAM. ETBE
	METMEPHY.	Maii pûi War
20	ENO RIPEUT	TPENCUBE 2TU
	EATT ENETRY	MCHT; PIPLUE.
	ONE EBOX. EPE	DYW WATTPE
	MCOONE TH	PILLE, ZILTICHY
	PY W0017 21	FICUBE. 2d
25	- THTILL MYOS	MAZ ZAMAWC
	UNSENTO.	EYMWWE
	MINSENSAIPE	ITUON NICHY
	CIC. ENT WIN	MILL EBOX ETL
	MENEPHY, WY	MUDEIT, ET

we are hard of heart and we decry one another, we are boastful to each other with our hard words, we are always troubled at heart, we blame one another and not ourselves, we think that our trouble comes through our neighbours, we are judges of those that are shown up while the archrobber inside the house; with quarrels and factions we fight each other, until we establish our word, in order that we may appear justified before each other. They incite us to things which we cannot do, and at the wrong time. They cause us to be weary of our lot, which is in fact profitable for us. So they also make us laugh when it is time to weep, and weep when it is time to laugh. In short, they always turn us away from the straight path

^{&#}x27;For METMEPHY the quotation on 68r has correctly MEMEPHY.
Probably the Devil.
The quotation on 68r adds here MEHTOY.

いって

COYTWN' WIN SENKEMHH WE NAMATH EYEIPE WUON 5 YELL KASILISM MEHTOY EUL MEYCHY, AN ME TENOY EOYON 20Y EBOX THPOY. 20 TAN DE EY 10 WANUEZHE SHT' EBOX 2N Ndi. DYW TITH HSM SMOON TOY. DYW NICE 15 PEPE' NAM. TO TE WAPETING TE GUINT EPO: STRETTHISE IL 20 TPETKAKE! ETETNTUBE. NTUNTAGADE WHEIWT! APHY NITEON 25 BOHBEID NTO OTU EÎ EBOX NUMBER E TPETETNICA

BETHYTN, E

COYNTETE : JUYOUS JUW ENOYGE TITUP ETPEMYAXE Tako wittor 2HT ETNANGU Mdi ENTAPT MOYOYI EMNY TE NEHTU. al LA WWITE KITCH EPETAXPHY. ENTEMWWE AN. N'BE EN TAYLOOC XE ANGWITE TAP EMEXC. EWW THE ENWANA MASTE NITAP XH WITAXPO ECTASPHY GUA BOX. STUTE QUOTIYSMT NH TAP MEXAG NOITYDEIC. ETETNEXHÔ NHTN NINETN WYXH. dyw ON SE MET MAZYMOWINE

with many other deceptions by which they make us their slaves, and all of which it is not now the time to reveal. But whenever they fill our heart with these things and we feed on them and they provide sustenance for us, then God is angry with us. Therefore do not be remiss in craving the goodness of the Father; perhaps help for you will come from him, that you may teach yourselves to know what is in truth fitting." So on no account let the enemy destroy your good purpose in which you advanced towards God, but be firm and do not alter, as it was said, "For we have become partakers of Christ if we hold fast the beginning of the confidence firm unto the end?" "For in your constancy", said the Lord, "you shall win your souls?" And again, "He who will endure

The reference is to the devil or the demons.

²For moyori read moyoroi

³Heb.3.14. ⁴Cf. Lk.21.19.

WABOX. THI TE TNOOYXai: EYWPY DE ON MOYON NILL DYW EUTAXPO MAY YOUN YOUR JE 961 MUSEYE NO! WE FIXUT! II MIPKETTHY IN YOSHTIS VIT DE NINETILLAY THI ENTACKO TO ETTARDY, do YOYON STRUK 15 CEIT NEUDY. LEKAC EPECY ON MINE MOSI CBW EBOX 21 TOOTC . WITY 20 YOOK XE 90 YOYON STUW DEIT NUME. OFOTON DAKE EIT NZUOY. 25 EMEIDH ME SMOY YOKE. LE EPENET NOT THPOY

MYOSTSM WYD Product THS NOTETHY ETTE TAYWWITE II Moc. Through GE EKTÓ ETHZOY NOE NITETU May. FITE to CE JUTENTAP ZITOOTE, EPOY. MH TAP TETTEL BE, H TEOYWW ETPEYYWTE EBOX WHOY PAN STUTIXUU ME TUTUNE UNNICATPEY CAZU. H LINN CATPEYXIHITE THE LINNET OYDAB. DYW NCEOME ETE CTPATEIA N TITE. DYW E IN MUSIKE ITYONS OU CTIC, Edpcorn MYDEIC. TUKEE NIZHT

to the end, he shall be saved." And again, encouraging all men and assuring them, he says, "Remember Lot's wife?" Do not turn back like her who turned back and became a pillar of salt, so that every one might take a lesson from her. For it was not said that she became a pillar of stone, but a pillar of salt, since salt is seasoned, that all those who know and understand may give heed to what happened to her. Do not therefore turn back like her, or endanger that which you began. Are you persuaded and do you wish that your name should be blotted out of the book of life after it has been written, after you have been numbered with the saints and counted among the host of heaven, though you have been promised in faith and have known the Lord? Accordingly take courage,

^{&#}x27;Mt.10.22, 24.13, Mk.13.13.

²Lk.17.32.

³Cf. Gen.19.26.

⁴Cf. Ps.68.29.

YITA

TITIPKOTE E YOURS YOSUT UNTOWB. XE 247700C RE CAY PETTPWILE ET DYEW/MWPX ENEQUIBEEP WINE MCdoy YOIGE. OYTE UTTPPOE NINE TAYZE EXNTITE TPA. DYW NITEY MOY, dyforw DE LINEAZ TIKAZ HALL -LOOPPR 15 DE NTEPEU Wa. DYPKAY Md. dym EBOX SULVOINE 3X JUDOY, OYTE 20 atbec, ayyo OYE. ETETTAI THE SE WAYTI CTEYE, NITEY 25 NOY, MPOCOY MS WIBORD WISOLOLO DE JUTIEIPACUE WAYKOTOY

EBOX NOE EN TAMISOEIC SO oc: alla and STE JUTILET WKG . PLONDA NTEPOEIC N BE NINENTAY SE' EXTUTIVAS PLANOTA dy+Kapmoc QUOTISYOMS NH NOVE TIKUB: EUWITE TAP & EPWANKTO EMAZOY. OYN SOLD NAPACYE in with auri CECUBE NOW ZNNETWOCTE wrb and HILYONYO MO HUSE MANYTHEI DYW NCEJUKAS MEHTN EEN NETPROTE YOMPIN PTHS TE. NOI ETOY EWMOYTAIO. MUNTOYCH

do not weakly turn back, for it has been said, "The man who wishes to part from his friends seeks an excuse". And do not be like those who fell upon the rock and immediately sprouted because there was not much earth under them, and who were scorched when the sun rose and withered because they had neither root nor moisture; that is to say they immediately believe for a while, but in a time of temptation they turn away; as the Lord said. But lay hold on the good and be vigilant like those who fell on the good ground and bore fruit in constancy a hundredfold. For if you turn back, many of those who hate you will deride you and mock you, and many of us, too, who fear God and desire your honour, position, and establishment, will sorrow and grieve.

^{&#}x27;Prov.18.1.

²Cf. Mt.13.5-6 and Lk.8.6.

³Cf. Lk.8.13.

⁴Cf. Lk.8.15.

NE. DYW MOY MYDEIC IC TIE TC TCOBO IL COOSE. THI THP TE DE MON' AN EKET ENTATIXORIC MYPTOC. AXXA XOOC XE NILL EYTCOBO ILLO EBOX FISHT ETPENCOOY THYTH EUDY TN NTENZIÀ WUY EKUT N UNTENEHT OYTHPFOC. EZPAI ETME. WH NUNDER DETME NO BOM OC AN NEWOFT YOOC YE WE NAGITUT' N PEXDAY TAKE TEYDAMANH TOOTY EXNOY XE NEOYNTAU ZBBE EYEWYT EXOKU EBOX. EMUSOY, NYCO YEKAC EMNEY THUTH MITTO CUNCITE NO EPO JUTINOY TUBUGOU E TE. ETEMET DORY EBOX. WAXE ON THE. NITEOTON NILL 20 EUTAVIO TUOT ETNAY EPOY ETUTPENKTO COUBE FICOUL ETTAZOY ZINTE EYXU ILLOC · HYOUOTYS SE. AMIPWILE ETBETTAI II apxel NKWT. TTP TPENWW 25 TITTYEWELL TE NABHT. dh 60LL EXOKU LO 3X SIME XE OF EBOX. ME MOYWW Kai Tap EPE ILITYDEIC.

For thus the Lord said, "Who amongst you, wishing to build a tower, will not first sit down and count its cost, to see whether he has enough to complete it, lest he lay the foundation and be unable to finish it, and all who see him mock him saying, 'This man started building but was not able to complete it'?" Truly the Lord Jesus Christ does not teach us to build a tower but rather teaches us to direct our way and our heart towards heaven, as he said, "No one can put his hand on the plough, and look back, and yet be fit for the kingdom of God", and by this saying he tells us not to turn back from our constancy. Therefore do not be foolish, but know what the will of the Lord is

Lk.14.28-30.

¹Lk.9.62.

5

15

20

25

AYW NTELLE

CTETTTEGO

OY, ETETTEHT

THE WINTYUM

WO. NTELLE

PETITIETINA

NOYY. ETEGY

THOMONH TE

ETXHK' EBOX.

NOBE ENTAY

LOOC XE BY

THOMONH DE.

MAPECYUU ME EOYNTAC MUSY, NOYSUB NTEXEION.

KAI TAP EÏYIPO
OYUY ZAPO Ñ
TEÏZE, AYU
EÏCYLLBOY
AEYE NE' ETIL

ETKAKEI ZN OYBXIYIC TAI' ETEPETEN

MOORT EBOX MOORT EBOX MOORT AUXO OC TAP XE EPE MENOYXAI, THOYOTOEIUS
THORITORIES

NOSE ON ENTAY

XOOC STITEY

TATTPO THE

XE CLUDY, ENET

CASON, THE

TIN. WINHA E

XINNETITHT

TICATHYTIN.

AYW XE THET

NAPASTIK E

XINTEKOYO

DOE. KTÔ E

POY TITEKKE

and hate the evil which is disaffection, and love the good' which is constancy perfected, as it was said, "And let constancy have a perfect work". So I am concerned for you, and I counsel you not to behave remissly in tribulation, for therein our progress lies. It has been said, "Our salvation is in the time of tribulation." For if they despise you and you bear it as the Lord bore it when they despised him and mocked him, all the more will you receive honour and glory from God and men. As he said with his truthful mouth, "Bless them that curse you, pray for them that persecute you", and, "He who will smite you on your cheek, to him turn your other one."

^{&#}x27;Cf. Amos 5.15.

²Jam.1.4.

³Is.33.2.

^{*}Note EPA - for EPENA -, cf. Stern, para 380. 5Lk.6.28.

Lk.6.29.

JAYW ON LUE' EÏUDKE NEHT ETBHHTE. EI OYOUW AN ETE HOCE NITOY 5 WYXA ETELL MKOCLUOC TH pu unua a MCC an. AYW ETUTPE6W IN YOTHS FIT N EXEMMES POWLE. H NICE TAKÓ ILMOY SHT' ETNANGU 15 NOVERTHUS DOPUH NZE CHEVILLE STRUCK NEHTOY. NOE 20 X ETCHS' YE CHA PENIGUAXE E DOOY, TAKE MIZHT ETNA NOYOY. Ndi 25 TAP ZENWO EIW' NE DIW 34 KORKMAS MNASPNNET ME WTINOYTE

UNITEUXC. HAI EYCAZOY TULLI. EMMCGSOY. EUWITZICE. NEUNOSC dN. LE. ANON SM (I)N METERYWE EPON ME ETPE TNTWNN EPOU. MAI ENTAUKOÙ NAN NOYCULT' BEKAC ENEOY DEN NEANEU SIDONE. YE E NEWWITE NIL udy NONKAH PONOUCC. DYW NCTULLE TOXOC STUTUT EPO NITHHE: ETBETTAI drw NIZE EPÔ ELL MATURI NOIOY Kaipoc Emoyà MOYÀ NAMUZ' MITEURHT' N ZHTY DE ETBE DY TAP NEIDY dylor, an, TIE

Concerning you, too, I am indeed grieved, for I do not wish you to forfeit your soul, which the whole world is not worth, or to be overcome by words of man, or for your good behaviour to be destroyed because occasion has been found for unprofitable talk, as it is written, "Evil communications corrupt good manners." For these things are dust, and they are nothing in the sight of those who love God and his Christ, who, when he was cursed, did not curse, and when he suffered, was not provoked. For it is fitting that we should be like him who has set us an example in order that we may follow his ways and be fellow-heirs and partners with him in the kingdom of heaven. Therefore strive with yourself before a time comes when each one shall break his heart saying, "Why did I not want them

Cf. Mt.16.26, Mk.8.36.

²I Cor.15.33. - Lit. "Evil words destroy good hearts." The Greek so rendered is Φθείρουδιν ήθη χρηστὰ ομιλίαι κακαί. St. Paul is using a line from Menander's comedy 'Thais', which has become proverbial.

For ENTICASOY read (E) NUTUCASOY

⁴I Pet.2.23. ⁵I Pet.2.21.

For the combination of the two words CYNKAHPONOMOC and CYMMETOXOC, cf. Eph.3.6.

一

EYTCBÜ Naï. THSATIS WYS PIKE EBOX N NEXTIÔ. EP EIPE JUTILE EYE WITENTAY YOUR ETBE NETOYALB LE DYNAY ENEPHT ETZNTUNTE 10 PO UTNOTTE. gasomorei ME AMON SEN WYL OUNTED dNON SENPL 15 NEOI'VE SIXIL TIKAZ NETXW TAP MNOI NITE! SE. EYOYWNS THOOY EBOX 20 ME EYWINE N CYOLLOYIC. ENEYPHLEYE DE NITENTAY 25 EÎ EBON NIZHTO. NEXYPTE ME NKOTOY EPOC. TEMOY DE EY OYEWTETCO

THE ETETATIVE
TE. ETBENTAII

ANTINOYTE +

WITHE NAY AN

ETPEYENTIKA

AEI ALLOY N'NY

TE EXWOY. AY

COBTE TAP NAY

NOYHOLIC.

NTO NEWWIE

EPEEIPE ATTUE

EYE MINA! WITP KTÓ ETTAZOY STUTTOYEPHT' ENTAPEPHT' WWOY. NOE NINENTAYKO OC ETBHHTOY JE GYZIWNE EPOOT . DYOY ACTOY. DYLLOY ENOYZWTB NCHUE. 24124 TOY WITOY WWIT' EPOOY UTICUTE IL MEYCWUA- XE EYEXI NTANA CTACIC ETCO

to teach me, and my heart turn away from reproofs?" You remember what was said concerning the saints, "They saw the promises which are in the kingdom of God. They confessed saying, 'We are strangers and sojourners on the earth' 2. For they who say such things make it manifest that they seek a city, and if they remembered the one they came from. they would have opportunity to return to it. But now they wish for the better one, that is to say the heavenly. Therefore God is not ashamed for them to invoke him as God over them. For he has prepared a city for them." You yourself "remember these things. Do not go back on your promise which you made, like those concerning whom it was said, "They were stoned, they were sawn apart, they died by the sword: they were beaten, they did not accept the deliverance of their body, that they might receive the more excellent resurrection."

Prov.5.12.

²Cf. Heb.11.13.

³Heb.11.14-16.

For Newwite read swute .

⁵Heb.11.37.

There is no equivalent for WEXWWW in the Greek text of Heb.11.35.

⁷Heb.11.35.

TH. OY DE ME LE MUNOTUMIT EPOOY WITCH TE WHEYOU Ud. EILLHTI XE WWYOYUW EKOTOY ENE 2BHYE WUNT KOCLUKON. WWYOYS BALLE ETWUNE E BOX. ETPEY WINTE WITH TE . ITXOEIC Fyet60W NE SYW MUTAXPE THYTH ENZUB MILL ENAMOYU. ETPEP 2010 ETUTIZUB II MYDEIC MOYO EIW MILL EP COOTH LE MY ZICE WOYET AN SUTT SOEIC: ファンーーンシーンツー

5

10

15

20

25

BHCA MIENAXICTOC FETBENENTAYAPNA Ñ TEYZYMOLLONH EAY BUK EBON ÑZHTÑ:

ENEIDTE ET OYALB XINTE KETM3 . YOUS CEYZ'NEITOTT? FOTH : MYOS YOUY NCAPW WE EXXU TWO NOXOC NINDE. OTTE WTOY andrkage N Addy NPWILE ETBENEUZNA dy. OTTE aNO in no numes MINPITAI. MNEY KEYEPWUE TAP AN ETAPE TH. alla ane FIOTE KASEN MOMOC MAN, E SPAI SINNEYCY NATOUTH ETBE TENCUINE.

DYW ETBENTA

What does 'they did not accept the deliverance of their body' mean, unless that they did not wish to turn to the works of worldliness, but wished to turn away and be with God? The Lord will give you strength and will confirm you in every good work, that you may excel in the work of the Lord always. You know that in the Lord your suffering is not vain?

Besa the most humble on those who have renounced their constancy by leaving us.

Our holy fathers since the day when they gathered together these monasteries have not sent for a man to make
him a monk by force, nor have they compelled any man in
the matter of his property, nor have we curselves done so
either. For they used not to compel man to virtue, but our
fathers appointed laws for us in their communities concerning our confirmation and concerning the

Cf. II Thes.2.17.

²Cf. I Cor.15.58.

³See the Detached Note on the next page.

[&]quot;An exception to the rule that durative tenses must take an 'Oblique' Object, cf. Plumley, para 328ff.

Note the apparently misplaced accent after 2 in Kazennoucc, cf. p. ||.

Detached Note to follow 77r.

ere could equally well mean "on account of". If the translation "in the matter of" be accepted, there are two possible meanings of the passage: 1) Though on becoming a monk a man had to renounce his property, the fact that no one was compelled to become a monk meant that he was also free "in the matter of his property". 2) Besa claims that the superiors did not interfere with the manner in which a man disposed of his property on becoming a monk. (This interpretation is supported by Shenoute's practice, cf. Leipoldt, Schenute, p.107, but seems to be contradicted by Besa's own words on 77v.)

If, on the other hand, the translation "on account of" be accepted, the meaning would be that Besa defends himself and his fathers against the charge that they compelled men to become monks because they wanted to get their property. For a further discussion of Besa's views on the renunciation of property, cf. p./25ff

?		
1	Ç	J
	7	

	20 EPHTY TIME	Ndy Nyczaii
	CNHY. XEKAC	COY ETKOINW
	EYEWWITE	MID TUTNOY
	WHOOGIAM	TE LINTAIAKO
5	MCEGNOE M	MID MINISHKE.
	winge inso	dyw rinegew
	EIC ZIVOYTCA	KTOU EGYINE
	NO WNOYGIN	MCd Addy. OY
	DEPATOY E	TE NTOY . OY
10	MYDEIC KAKWO	TE POULLE EY
	WYOOGNIXA	HIT' EPOY KA
	KATAMETCHZ	TABE ENTA
	LE NEPEÑKÀ	поча поча
	NIU WOOT	SOMOYOLEI
15	NAY, SIOYCOTT.	TATTEQUAXE.
	dru neunta	BOY WONON SE
	dy su thoc	MAREMECHHY
	ENETWOOT	THPOY CRAI N
	Ndy SE NOTI	DE ETULIAY
20	NE. DYW TAI'	DINTKOYI WA
	TE BE ENTA	MNOG. alla
	MENEIOTE	NENKEEIOTE
	KADO NAN EZPAÏ	ON ENTAYOUN
-	YOSƏ PHMTƏN ƏK	CNTE NINETTO
25	EPLIONAXOC	MOC DYPUPTI
	EUND : WHILDS	Mcsai swor
	DITOTACCE N	NOE ETIMAY.
	CUOPIT NINKA	TKAI WHN' ANE
	MILL ETGYDOTT'	& EIOTE CZAÏ

establishment of the brethren, in order that they might be free from care and find means of serving the Lord in propriety and of standing before the Lord virtuously and without care, as it is written, "All things belonged to them in common, and there was not one who said of the things which he had that they were his own!" And our fathers laid it down for us in this manner namely, that whoever comes in to be a monk with us shall from the first renounce everything which he has and make it over to the fellowship of God and the service of the poor; and that neither he nor any man related to him shall be able to go back and ask for anything, inasmuch as each one has pledged his word. Not only all the brethren, from the least to the greatest, always subscribe in that way, but also our fathers who laid the foundation of these monasteries themselves began by subscribing thus. Moreover our fathers wrote.

Cf. Acts 4.32.

XE EIWANOY WYS HYOUDT WW EBUK. ETLINE UN EINAUOPT N MNOYTE CE N YOTSLAYO YOUS MYOOD TABUK. NINE! 5 UTINOUDC ET EWKTOI EWI KH NON' ESPAT NE NEDYDDY. XINHE200Y di TE TKOINW ENTAYET EPUD NID ETOYADB NOXOC. CETEL ELLNOYON XI DE AN EPOU. TITTEGUTON. NILL MENTAY EUKW NOYO dNdrkaze i MINOYMO6 WOOY. ETBE WYONKONI. O' WHOYBUK axya orguw 15 ETTING ENTAY NOYUT MET ET JULY EUTH WOOT NAY TOYALTOTAC YOIS YOUHT CE, DYW EUTH COTT. SINI TOYCZA". MEIWT ETUI 20 KAI TAP NINO LU WYOOD MOC NINEK SPAI ETKOYI KYHCIA- AYW WHILL ETCOBK. NNOUCC NI Kal MHN' EYUI WONACTHPI 25 UTTPOOTU. ON. EYHM' EWW WITKOYI ETCO TE SMOYNOG BK NZOYO: NUPS. Mali NAI TEMOY ENTAY CTA NKOINO YSYSTY BUYD BIOC.

"If I want to depart, I shall gird myself with a cowl and go: I shall not be able to go back and ask for anything."
This is the holy fellowship, where no one from the greatest to the least takes his ease and neglects another, but the same equality is for them all together, from the abbot who is in charge down to the very humblest - indeed the humblest are taken greater care of. These now who have renounced their constancy and oppose God have themselves, since the day they came to become monks, known the law laid down for us. Yet they do not obey it. Who compelled them? Why did they not depart to the place whence they had come before renouncing and resigning their belongings? For the laws of the churches and the laws of the monasteries are accounted to be quite inflexible especially concerning the common life.

The meaning of PARTOY is doubtful, it is possibly an apron or some other part of the monks' dress, cf. Crum, Dict., p.312b.

BEMAI ANE CIOTE XIKE DEION FPALL UL ETBETTE! 5 2WB. XE MEN Taut NEU 2 NA DY EITE ETTRY POC. EITE & TPAGOC. NINEY KTOOY EWI NE NEWOY DEKAC ENNEY BLIBE TINE CNHY. NAT SE ENTOLA NW 15 NE NE NATBO YOU EBOY:

BHCA METCRAII
NICHPAII TEN
TACAPNA NITHI
CTIC NITEC
SYMTOMONH

25

AYW TENTAC
KW NICWC N
TMHPH WWOY
WNIS. ACWIKE
NAC NISENWHII

EYOYOFT. EN CENAUJANAZTE on unuon. FITEILA APCW TH NE WHILLY WEDTO ETTW NZ. TWEEPE ETCHW' DYW TENTAYCOUE. dPLLEPETICA OFOSTI , YOS ELLECTION. arm aphiere LIKAKE. ESONO EMOYOEIN. DPWM'TIET CACHE DE ON DE UZOÃO. 9/08/13/1 MLP LE yeave. CENAXOOC

ME DIKAIWC

XE BWK ETTE

CHT' SUDOC

STUTIKAS THAP

BENOC TWE

EPE NTBABY

LUN. SUBC

STUTTOYCWW

Therefore our fathers received another divine law concerning this matter, namely that whosoever has given up his belongings, whether by written or unwritten agreement? shall not return and ask for them. lest he cause the brethren hardship. These are commandments of life which cannot be undone.

Besa writes to Herai3 who broke the pledge of her constancy and forsook the fountain of living water and dug for herself broken cisterns which will not be able to hold water ! Since you have chosen for yourself death rather than life, despised and abominated daughter, loved the curse rather than the blessing and loved the darkness rather than the light and also reckoned the bitter sweet and the sweet bitter, they shall rightly say of you, "Get down, sit on the ground, virgin daughter of Babylon, sit in your dishonour,

See 77v where the law is laid down that a monk must renounce his property and that neither he nor his relatives have any claim on it ever again. The latter point here receives elaboration.

²Cf. p.126.

³Cf. 7lr, note 2. ⁴Cf. Jer.2.13.

Cf. Jer.8.3, cf. also Deut.30.19.

^{&#}x27;Cf. 66v, note 5.

⁷Cf. Ps.108.17, cf. also Deut.30.19.

⁸Cf. Jn.3.19.

Note the Achm. construct form wn - instead of the Sah. En -. °Cf. Is.5.20.

	TBABYYWN TUE	EPE TINEXAL
	EPE MINEXAL	DOIDC. FINEY
	DOLOC. FICE	MOTTE EPÓ
	NAKOTOY AN	XINTENOY, XE
5	ELLOYTE EPÔ	TEOM NTUNT
	SE TETOHN'	EPO. EBOX XE
	DYW TETYHK.	denebelicason.
	EMATI EBOX N	age NE. The
	TOY600 NEC.	CHEW'MECLICY.
10	EWITH EBOX TO	dynut EBOX
	MOYCKINI. 6W	tuo aru ap
	THE BOX NINCH	MCGSON SIMM
	BE NPATE.	TE THE TOYED
	XIOOP' MZEN	EITE. dy BWK
15	EIEPWOY.	FROM EMOY
	MOYWITE NA	YOM JOHN TSBU
	EUNTH EBOX.	is with room
	NOTHOGNEG	MS SAMON 30
	MADYWNZ EBX.	MOJKEEC.
20	THASI NITURIT	EBOX LE MUA
	ME', EBOX FIZH	ENTAYYOTTE
	TE'. NINATALTE	EPOOY NICHTY.
	RPULLE SINTE	roathe mrp
	NOY, ETPEY	NE apcour.
25	TCBW NE. 21	EPEXU TUDO
	Ad SUDOC EPE	XE OINHU N
	MOKS FISHT.	THE TE TETN
	BUK ESOYN	ZENEETH. NA
	ETKAKE TWE	ME BITHU N

Babylon, daughter of the Chaldeans. You shall not again be called tender and soft. Uncover your veil, uncover your grey hairs, uncover the shins, cross the rivers. Your shame shall be revealed, your reproaches shall be manifest. I shall exact from you what is just. From henceforth I will not hand you over to man to teach you'. Sit you in grief, go into the darkness, daughter of the Chaldeans: they will no more call you the power of the kingdom? Forasmuch as you loved the curse, it came upon you; you did not desire the blessing, it fled from you, and you put on the curse like a garment. It went like water into your bowels and like oil into your bones? For the convent into which you were received and where they gave you glory you insulted, saying, "Your monastery is the heavenly Jerusalem, truly it is the heavenly Jerusalem,

Is.47.1-3. - The phrase "to teach you" has no equivalent in the LXX.

²Is.47.5. ³Cf. Ps.108.17-18.

THE TE. DYW ITAI TITAKO NHY MTOOY ME EN EXW NITETU TATMOYTE EIME. DYW TUNT CLUOY EPOY. XHPA UNTUNT NTO DE ATTNOY 5 STUMPE NHY TE COWE: DYW SNOYWENE dutadio du EXW 2Pai 2N MECTIN EBOX TOYMITTEU PITARPE UN OTTENECHHY THPOY ETOY TOOK MNOY 10 dab dru ETP PEQUOYTE 20TE 2HTY W KABIA OYOSTA MNOYTE ETOY DIC NTOYTO PUNDANNS SH NHPIA. EILLE ETOYOGB. ITUG 15 SE TOYUNT ENTAPCOWU PEUKATAOPO THURTOTHS NEI, DYW TOY AddISHT UN MOPNEID NO TOYUNTBUBE WWITE NE N 20 PULLE. TWE WITTE - XE N EPE NKPOU BE NOTHOY! DYW NAMOCTA N BUTTUS N THC. DYW TWE WHN. THI TE EPE NIOYAGO DE ENTAPOY ПЕПРОДОТИС. 25 UN MPOÙ AP NTO TAP APLO covy tirrua OC XE ANOK ETOYALB II LE GAM MAKE TINOYTE. DYEI . ETBE ETBETTAI ZW

and it is the mount God blessed." But you God has despised and condemned. He hated you alone out of all the holy and god-fearing sisters who are in his holy monasteries, the place which you insulted in your arrogance and boastfulness, deceitful and rebellious daughter and daughter of Judas the traitor. For you have said, "I and no one else". For this reason destruction is coming upon you unawares, and widow-hood and childlessness is coming upon you suddenly in your witchcraft and the power of your magic spells exceedingly, for the confidence in your wickedness. Know that your contempt and your fornication shall become your shame, because you, like a lion in the forest, opened the mouth, and insulted the holy monastery of God. That is why

This saying attributed to Herai is difficult. Does Besa accuse her of having uttered it in arrogant complacency? Or did she behave abominably in spite of having acknowledged the sanctity of the monastery? Or again, were her words meant scornfully, implying that she alone was free from complacency? The term "heavenly Jerusalem" is known to have been applied to the White Monastery in Shenoute's day, cf. Leipoldt, Schenute, p.161.

2Cf. Lk.6.16.

 $^{^{3}}$ Is.47.8 and 47.10.

⁴Is.47.11.

Cf. Is.47.9.

[°]Cf. Is.47.10.

	my dynecting.	CTEMMETNA
	SYON DE WILL	NOYY. ETBE
	EBOX ETTTEU	THE THOUSE
	ud Etoydab.	copyage as
5	NOE ENTAY	BOX. AUGOGE
	2000, XE THA	SMOOTING WYD
	MOZON EBOX	EBOX STUTION
	ZILITAHII. NT	rud NOVUME.
	MACYUZ' AN E	3 SMYOT WYD
10	TOOT' ELLEPI	BOY STATKAS
	TOY. APTION	FINETONZ.
	WINE TOP I	CENANAY EPÔ
	LISALI, EXXOYH	MEINDIKAIOC
	DYW MKAPME	ETPZOTE 2H
15	NTAIKAIOCY	TY THEXT. N
	NH EOYCIWE	CEXOOC XE EIC
	EMEIDA AMOY	OYCZINE EN
	SHT' TaKO.	TICKATINOTE
	dpwit'itkake	NAC NBOHBOC.
20	TAP NOYOEIN	and accepti
	DYW MOYDET	3E EXTUTACUAT
	NKAKE. ETBE	NTECUNTIA
	Mai Tai TE DE	CIZHT. LINTEC
	ENTAPSÓ FIZE	UNTPEYKA
25	corô. apouzo	STHC EPOC
	MSENUJONTE.	MAYDAC. FIBE
	MOE FOR EN	ENTAYLOOC
	TAPLIEPETITIE	HT IDNING 3X
	BOOT. APLIE	POY WITCHO

he has hated you and cast you out of his holy monastery, even as he said. "I will cast them out of my house. I will not love them any more." For you turned judgment into gall. and the fruit of righteousness into bitterness, because your heart was corrupted, for you counted darkness for light and light for darkness. Thus, therefore, you sowed wheat and reaped thorns. For inasmuch as you loved the evil you hated the good! So God has overthrown you utterly. he has plucked you up, he has removed you from your dwelling, and your root from the land of the living. The righteous who fear Christ will see you and say, "Behold a woman who did not make God her helper, but hoped on the abundance of her arrogance and her confidence in herself". even as it was said, "In all these things

Hos.9.15.

²Cf. 49r, note 3.

³Cf. Amos 6.12.

⁴Cf. 78v. note 9. ⁵Cf. Is.5.20.

[°]Cf. Jer.12.13.

Cf. Ps.51.5 and also Mic.3.2.

For Torne read TOTHOTHE.

[°]Cf. Ps.51.7-9.

	TO EPOI ZUITE	EYE TIKPOY.
	IN POHT THS	AYW APKW N
	GITABHT' NITE	NOTETHERE
	ionda alla	VILL LOSPILL
5	YONKS ILASS	POPUL OPBOYO
	WITHOYS.	PO. WANTE
	ECETCBÛ NE	KOTE ETIKAS
	MOITOYUNT	ETUDÍS EN
	atoutu ayu	TAYLITE EBOX.
10	ECENTIÓ NO	MEHTU. XE N
	TOYKAKIA.	TÔ OYKAZ. DP
	EILLE DYW FITE	KOTE ON E
	NOY, SE YCAWE	MKAZ. EBOX
	NE' ETPEKÛ	LE aprei ue
15	NICW WITKO	ENOYCOOY
	EIC MNOTTE.	TN. WHEXWK
	EPHEETE TAP	DE EBOX ETVOY
	XE EPYLANOYE	COOTTN. al
	MUOI, EPOLON	NS PARTIN DA
20	dp . orosho	OYKPOY. AP
	MEPENETN	BUK ON ENOY
	KOTK NILLIE	WITHOUX.
	ETERIDALLIA	ETBEMAI MCA
	NE. DYW DPTA	MULOPH LOS
25	YO NTOYMOP	NCW NITETU
	MEID MULLEY	MOTHE CEE
	THSPORTUS	THE EBOX FIZH
	ETÔ NKAKE	TE, OTTE WIZE.
	JUNONUE	NTAPEI ENOY

foolish Judah did not turn to me with all her heart, but with falsehood." Your disobedience will teach you and your wickedness will upbraid you. Know and see that it is bitter for you to forsake the Lord God. For you think that if you are away from me you will profit. You have loved those who sleep with you who are the demons, you have multiplied your fornication with them in your darkened heart and your decitful thoughts, and you have placed your remembrances behind the posts of your door until you return to the salty earth out of which you were taken: for you are earth and to earth you have returned. Though you came in uprightness, you did not finish in uprightness. Or rather you came in deceit and also departed in falsehood. Therefore the curse shall devour you and neither root nor branch shall be left of you. You came in

"Cf. Mal.4.1.

The LXX reads LEUVBETOS . Our reading AOHT may possibly have arisen out of a confusion between δεύνθετος 2Note the irregular use of NTE - for N -. ³Jer.3.10. ⁴Cf. Jer.2.19. Note EPA - for EPENA-, cf. Stern, para 380. 6Is.57.8. 7Is.57.9. 8Is.57.8. - The reference in the O.T. seems to be to some form of idolatry. Here Besa uses the passage to underline that Herai, by her behaviour, has brought herself into communion with demons. I.e. barren, unfruitful earth, cf. e.g. Deut.29.23, Jer. 17.6. "Cf. Gen.3.19.

METWOYEIT' APBUK ON 2N OYMETWOY EIT! DEKAC E 5 PETTOYPAN NA ZWBC ZWTKA KE. LE NTEDY KAKE SNOY 2BHYE THPOY DUNDIN MOUN NAZWEC EBOX EXW. EBOX XE APKU NOW NTENTOLH. APCOUTH NE' IL 15 MITAKO. WITE NOI TAP. OTTE TITLETTE DE MNOYTE WEY KOULYY OY 20 TE WEYKOTA opone imay. dilla NTOU TIE TAYKOULLYE. 25 NTO DYW DU COUNCE NOE NOTUDOY EU CWK. ETBE THI NOE WITCH

TE NOTPEUSI OYE EYULANTA 204. TAI TE DE ENTAPLIUI THE LILLOC XE AYGOTTE. EBOX XE APTOTO E BOX LITULIANE LITINOTTE.

J AYW FIBE EN TAMYORIC XO OC ETBETTO LIC MNECHW MA. RE RISALI, OYBHC, dyw NLOYONE MAC EBOX NINECA NOWID THPOY. Tai TE DE ETOY MAXISAM' SW OY, OYBH, H NILL WE DYW NICE EUNIT NE' EBOX PINONPLONIN THPOY, EYKU THUCK SE W TITOXIC ETTE STCNOY EBOX SINTECUHTE

vanity and in vanity you departed, so your name shall be covered in darkness; for you yourself are darkness in all your affairs, and shame shall cover you, because you forsook the commandment and chose destruction for yourself. For you did not know and you did not ascertain that God is not mocked nor is he despised. Rather it is he who has mocked you, and it is you he has despised like flowing water. Therefore even as the shame of a thief when arrested, so were you ashamed at being caught because you rejected the word of God, and as the Lord said concerning the bloody city, "Give judgment against her and make manifest to her all her iniquities, so also they shall condemn you, adjudge you, and reveal to you all your iniquities, saying, "O city that sheds blood in her midst,

^{&#}x27;Cf. Eccles.6.4.

² For SNOYSBHYE read SNNOYSBHYE

³Cf. Gal.6.7.

⁴Cf. Jer.8.9. ⁵Cf. Ez.22.2.

	/	
	ETPEMECOY	HUJE. DYW DP
	OEILY EI. ETBE	EIPE MEEMOY
	LE APCKANDA	WY FISHT EY
	213E. DYW DP	+ OYBH ETPE
5	CHUTE NIXPR'	DUST STINE
	MNENTAYTHEY	CHWWY EN
	PALLE 13010	TAPITOONOY
	TE. NOE ET	EBOX. APZE
	CHS XE MET	TAP EBOX. AYW
10	NACKANDANI	MESBHIE ENE
	3E NOYÀ NINI	EIPE JUDOY
	KOYEI ETMI	AXWEU TIZHTOY.
	CTEYE EPOI:	dptpene20
	CPNOUPE NOU	OT, ZUN EZOT.
15	YEKAC ELE	APEINE UTTOY
	Molin jalon	DEILY KINDY
	NE MCIKE, E	PTUTOOTE.
	MEYLLAKS N	ETBETTAI ATTXO
	CEOUCY SPAI	EIC TAUTE EY
20	SUMMERATOR	MOGNEG WIN
	NODALACCA.	OYCUBE A
	NZOYÔ ETPEY	NETZHN' EPÔ
	CKANDALIZE	WHYOTSHYW
	NOTÀ NINIKOTI	TUO. TAKA
25	ETTICTEYE	PAPTOC TET
	EPOI - ETEN	O NOOEIT.
	TO TIE. LE AP	TETOW ZINE
	SWITE FICH	anoura. ay
	ATE NOTUH	XOOC ON EN

that her time may come". For you became an offence and a stumbling-block to those who advanced towards God, as it is written. "He who will offend one of these little ones who believe in me, it is better for him that a millstone should be tied to his neck and he be sunk in the depth of the sea2 rather than that he should offend one of these little ones who believe in me3." This refers to you. for you have become a stumbling to many and have formed such desires as go against you and make you defiled in the blood you have shed. You have fallen by the way, and in the deeds you have been doing you have been unclean. You have caused the days to approach, you have brought on the time of your years. So the Lord has made you to be a reproach and a jest both for those who are near to you and those who are far from you, you who are notoriously foul in your numerous iniquities. He also said,

^{**}Ez.22.3.

*Mt.18.6.

*Cf. Lk.17.2.

*Note ENEEIPE for ENEPEEIPE

*Note AXWEW for AP(E)XWEW.

*Cf. Ez.22.3-5.

*I.e. Ezekiel.

	04 12 4-	_
	OYAMEINH XE	ETBEITAII TE
	GRANK, EBOY Y	NOTWEE NOY
	BAH NTOYKA	TWEE NATICTO.
	KID SNOYSI N	DYW OYCHEP
5	60NC. ANOK	Ud NOTNOZTE.
	DE APHAWBY	TENGTHANA
	HEXENYOIC.	AE STUTESOOY
	SZSPANPRAIS	ETENATOEY.
	DE MINDELL E	40 DE NO WED
10	INNEYEPHY.	oi NE DE ala
	EXMNETMA	KTE EBOX II
	NTOY EXÛ 2A	romro iau
	NENTADAY, E	UNTEBIHN NO
	WWITE EPE	TAZÓ. DE AP
15	MOYENT NACY	WAYTE EPOI.
	41. H MOYEIX	YOM DE MOY
	NAWAUDRIE	VIII 37001S
	POOSSTUS	MOYEBHYE DY
	ETNAPNAI NE.	PNOI NE TOI
20	anok myoic	TE TOYKAKIA
	allyake, tha	LE CCAUJE LE
	ddy. dyw te	ACITURE WARDY
	NAWWITE N	ELLOASHI.
	Saire, SE APKA	PAR NO WAS
25	MOTTE NOW	YOOC YE EBOY
	MOYCUTHP.	XE APPLACED
	AYW WITEP	TROMPA WILD
	MUSEYE IL	ziridzoy ū
	MONTOFIC.	MOYCUUA
		The state of the s

as a threat. "'You have perfected' the end of your wickedness in violence, but me you have forgotten' says the Lord. 'If I clap my hands together over the things which I shall bring upon you for what you have done, will your heart endure or your hands be able to prevail on the day on which I shall do these things to you? I, the Lord, have spoken and will do it. " And you shall be desolate because you forsook God your saviour and did not remember your Lord. Therefore you shall plant an unfaithful plant and an unbelieving seed, and you shall go astray on the day when you shall plant it. Again, "Woe to you because you turned6 away from me. Misery shall overtake you because you did iniquity against me" and, "Your ways and your works did these things to you; this is your wickedness, for it is bitter, because it reached unto your heart?" Again it is said, "Because you forgot" me and put me behind you"

Note axwk for ap (E) xwk.

Note apridus for appridus.

Note NENTAAAY for NENTAPAAY.

Ez.22.12-14.

Is.17.9-11.

Note apakte for appakte.

Note apwayte for appwayte.

Hos.7.13.

Jer.4.18.

Note apridus for appridus.

"Ez.23.35.

MONE, FITETIL MONE, FITETIL MANDA TOO E PO. DYW FIT MANDA NE DN.

MONE ON ENS COUTU ON ENS COUST INDITION TE ANOK DITO

EYOOYE MAA! OLIAS, LHEC

THE MAY NO

CIEVE TRU N

EYOOYE EM

TACPUTULLÀ.

NE, EMETILLE

ETMATUTÀ

WITSOEIC.

ESOMEDOC E

TREAPNA FUTOY

· HYALLOTYS

MINTENTOLH

ETOYAAB EN

TAYTADC ETO

OTE - dipoe'

TAP EXTUTION

YOTUS 3817 OS

EIWT' "OYDAC

MEMPODOTHO

aprilly sintor

WHITE DIVETU

HT MYOSYOTI

POT, TWN EBY

SE NTO OYKPOU

NOE WHETH

MAY. ENEN

TAPPITMEETE

THE FOR ETOY

NOKONOJE IL

us rusc spair ou

3 H. STYLLLEVIS

NENTAPPITUE

EYE NITUR N

WTON ETEN

TUNTEPO NIL

THYE. NEPA

KATAOPONEI

AN ME NITE IZE

THPC, ETPEKÛ

NCW NTOYEY

MOUDINA UN

MEPHT ENTAP

EPHT' MUDY.

TPEYCWW

10

15

20

25

I will cast you away, my eye will not spare you, and I will have no mercy on you." Listen again to your disgrace and shame. He² says, "I planted you as a vine all fruitful and genuine. How did you turn to bitterness, vine that became strange?" For it were better for you that you had not come into the communities of the Lord than that you should have denied your constancy and the holy commandment which was given to you. For you have fallen upon your face like your father Judas the traitor, you have burst asunder and all your bowels have gushed out, because you are deceitful like that man. For if you had remembered how you would be punished in Amente and if you had remembered the resting-places which are in the kingdom of heaven, you would not have been so contemptuous as to betray your constancy and the promise which you made. Repudiator

Ez.5.11, cf. also Ez. passim.

²I.e. God. ³Jer.2.21.

⁴Cf. Acts 1.18.

⁵Note NEPA - for NEPENA -.

		/
	MNECUMTU	MOYTCABÔ E
	PE. DYW TPEY	TPEZAPEZ EPÔ
	YIOYA' ENEN	ELLLEBOOA.
	THYWOME EPO	OZM WITEMSO
5	OY, EPETOLIU	EIC TC +CO EPO
	STUTTOYCHOU.	EEIPE NE' NOYÀ
	MOYEIWT OY	MAN THPOY
	amoppaioc ITE.	ETPEUWNZTHU
	MALLY WYLD	Sapô. akka ay
10	OYXETTAID TE-	eî espai escû
	JJS ONLYON	dynar, EPO EPE
	MESODY ENTAY	TOTU SUTTOY
	AMÓ TIZHTU.	CNOY. 2450
	THOUSE	OC NE SE EBOX
15	THEEKIBE.	ETUTOYCHOU.
	DAYOU WYS	acuai zurou
	KLIE ZNOTUO	NZ. NTO DE NE
	OY. OYTE WITH	DEKH KASHY
	vois solan	ME, DYW NEPE
20	in who rans	OCXHUONEI.
	ΠΟΥΣΟΥΛωλε	YOUTH WYD
	NZENTON.	TE PITOTUE
	ETEMAII ME. SE	EYE ZUTTOY
	TITOYEBÛ	OBBIO, UN
25	ME, ENES ELLLE	Moranoma.
	WYS . PROMPMT	dyrapay ñ
	NEPECOOYN	NEUTINE EBOX
	AN ME MIENTO	EXW AYRW
	AA. OTTE II	BC NTOYACXH
		OF THIS IDENT

of pledges and denouncer of those who took you in, you are defiled in your blood. Your father is an Amorite and your mother a Hittite. As for your birth - on the day on which you were born, they did not bind the breasts or wash you with water or salt you with salt, and they did not wrap you in swaddling-clothes! This means that you were never taught virtue, you did not know the commandment, and you were not taught to beware of evil. The Lord Jesus had no pity on you to do any of these things for you and have mercy on you. But he came upon you and saw you defiled in your blood, and said to you, "Out of your blood, increase in life?" You were naked and unseemly and God remembered you in your humiliation and your iniquities. He spread out his wings over you, he covered your unseemliness,

Ez.16.3-4.
²Cf. Ez.16.5-7.

WKG-HUKDOW LYWER NE 24 EI EZOYN NIL HODIATOMS BU 5 KH. DYW APE WWITE NOU. DUXOKUE EN WKG . YOULYO dueiù EBOX TUD TUTOY 10 CNOY. DYW DUTARCE NOY NEZ. ETELTAI THE XE AUWO ME EPOU EN 15 TEUUNTUdi POWLE. DYW dytobû NE' INJUPATINS araboc. arw 20 dymupiu ii MEUND EBOX EXW ENTEY . PHTSMALDTIMM 25 SE APA TENA CLUNE, DYW NTEPZOTE ZHTY JUTIXO EIC. NTO LE

aprtapaite in Ndi THPOY. dpkto ETW TULLYOU'S YOS 6WB. DYW DP OTTYSTOTIA DA HOWONH. ETBETTAT ZW WY YNAXOOC THUBTOMS 3M WNOYOPTH SE MNEEIGE EZOT. OYNE TINEC WWITE - ETBE XE DYWWIE NEHTE NOISE SBHIE EYED OUE . DYW I MEPITULEEYE TVULTOTIVI KOYI, WITERD OY EPEKH KA SHY, DYW EPE OCXHUONEI. EPETONU ZU MOYCHOU. OPEUINS. ETBETTAT CE NAXOOC NE

and he swore to you, he entered into a covenant with you, and you became his. He washed you with water, and he washed your blood from you, and he ancinted you with oil, that is to say he received you to himself in his loving-kindness, he taught you in his goodness, and he spread out his mercy upon you in his pity that you might perhaps be set right and fear the Lord. But you rejected all these things, you feebly turned back and you denied your constancy. So he will say to you in anger and wrath, "Therefore you shall not enter, nor shall it be so; because there have been perverse works in you, and you did not call to mind your infancy, the day when you were naked and unseemly and lived defiled in your blood. So therefore it shall be said concerning you

^{&#}x27;Cf. Ez.16.8-9.

²For appla read apapha.

For symonomonh read symonomy.

^{*}Cf. Ez.16.8. The passage may therefore be paraphrased: you shall not enter into a covenant with me. The second phrase may perhaps also be dependent on Ez.16.8 and therefore mean: nor shall she (you) become mine.

SEZ.16.22.

	ZWWTE KATA	TETSTA.
	MOYUMUUA.	ha apetito
	SE W TETKW	ON TINAWA
	RESUR SUDA	· ATW APP
5	DOYE ETCOY	EUTU NO
	TWN. ETCWTT	MINO.
	NAC TIMEZIO	BETTAÏ ZŴ
	ONE MKAKE.	X ACCUBE NICA
	ETEYOPANE	YTAKÔ †
10	EXMMPEYPME	Page de i
	900Y. ETCW). EPWAN
	BE EXMINEDO	THO ET EXW.
	OY NOT EPE	N EDMAN
	NEYZIOOYE	STOPTP
15	600UE- 27W	Swrons ô.
	EPENETUA II	· NITETTUP
	LOOME ZHY	EÎ EXW Ñ
	NKOTC . ETPEK	·YHTLSYOM
	OYE, DYW ED	EPWANITTA
20	ak rigituo	eî exû.
	ETETHWITH	n Ebayan
	MMAIKAIOC.	HAIGIC EÎ
	DIW ON CENA	MOYKTO
	LOOC NE LE	· CHAYW
25	EMEIDH divor	TOP NITE
	TE EPO. TIME	NTE EZPAÏ
	CUTU EPOI.	YOTTE. NU
	arw diripay	COUTU EPÔ.
	MACHAXE EBOX.	ECTETCO

as you deserve, "O forsaker of straight ways, who chooses for herself the ways of darkness, who takes pleasure in them that do evil and who rejoices at the wicked, whose ways are twisted, and whose paths are so devious that you become remote and estrange yourself from the purpose of the righteous?" And again it shall be said concerning you, "When I called you, you did not hear me, I spread abroad my words: you paid no heed. But you rejected my words and you disobeyed my upbraidings. Therefore I will also mock at your perdition and I will deride you when perdition comes upon you, when trouble befalls you suddenly and overthrow comes upon you like a whirlwind, when perdition comes upon you, and when tribulation comes to you and you are in straits. It shall come to pass that you call upon God and he will not hear you, for you hated

^{&#}x27;Cf. Prov.2.13.
2Cf. 4lr, note 2.

³Prov.2.14-16.

⁴Cf. 27r, note 2.

⁵Cf. Prov.1.24-28.

	DID TOP. DYW IL	Now Figure Nic
	MECUTH NE	NOC NCOS, NC
	NTUNTUAI	MOYUNS, GE
		AN ETOOTC
-	WAS STROM	ETWOMM. AC
5	MILEONAN	cydyle gcse,
	ETSTH ENWO	EZMUKAS, 91M
	XME WITHOU	NUWOON AN'
	TE. ALLA APE	MOINETNAY
	which rich	TOOTC . APLIE
10	NEYXMIO.	CTENEXITIÓ
	ETBETTATIOE	TAP ZIVILITYLA.
	MUNCOPHIAL	ETEITHI WING
	NNKAPHOC	TE TE. DYW TI
	WYLD, HISYOTA	WAXE ETOYA
15	NITECT NNOY	dB dpyotoy.
	UNTURAUTE.	Tapei MEN' ESOY
	EBOX XE TI	NIBOYOFINIS
	MEMITERE	WITESOOY,
	WITHOUTE.	HADALLONS
20	OYTE JUTIEZEL	CID. DPOYU
	пізе єпец	TB DE EBOX
	OYXdi ENTOY	ZIKECA NITEY
	day Nilue.	WH THE TIOY
	ETBETTAT CE	PEUZIOYE.
25	NAXW WITE!	drw orthethe
	TOEIT EZPAÏ	TE ELYNNY
	EXÚ DE ACCLA	IN MININ OUT
	DIE OCSE' N	
	61TETTAPE	NO. ETBE
		MAI MNOTTE

wisdom and did not choose for yourself the love of God.

You preferred not to pay heed to the counsels of God and sneered at his upbraidings. So therefore you shall eat the fruits of your way of life and be filled with your own iniquities? For you did not believe God or hope for his salvation which he wrought with you. Therefore this lament shall be spoken over you, "This foolish virgin stumbled, she fell, she shall no more rise. She stumbled, she fell upon the earth and there is no one to help her! For you hated the reproofs at the gates, which are the house of God, and you obliterated the holy words. You entered openly in the light of the day but you passed over by another side in the night like a thief and a robber to despoil yourself. So God

Munier 9292 (cf. p.30) contains a text parallel to 84v, col.I, line 6, beginning ENWOZNE - 85v, col.I, line 5, ending ZNNAT. Variants between the two texts will be noted.

²Cf. Prov.1.29-31.

For mitere read micters with Munier 9292.

Cf. Amos 5.1-2.

⁶Cf. Jn.10.1.

Note epa - for epena-, cf. Stern, para 380.

^aFor ATEC: Munier 9292 reads ATECE:

^bFor ATECE Munier 9292 reads ALLATE

^cFor ALLACOTE Munier 9292 reads ALLATE

^dFor ALLA Munier 9292 reads ALLATE

NAGWATT EBOX DEPATE ETTEC PLILOLIPAIN NOTE . Tai rotinum . ros TE BE ETEND INDEPE. XE TOKO SWILLTE 5 KAC EUEDYW DYW NITETU NZ EBOX NGI STUDY INSTO MOYCUW UN NE, ETBEXE TUNTULUIO apazerate e NTOYMOPHIA. MOTHONTE 10 M IXYOTI WYD decorain EBOX 60NG WINTOY YOTHS YOU'L ZUZU. EBOX UNTATWITE. DE ON XE DPEAS EMEINH HITTA EPATE ZNOY шу шпеерно UNTATBOX EP DISTONINZIS WINE NICHTE ONE THPOY. TAPTADY WITKO ETEMAIDE EIC MNOYTE YOU LIE. 9AM EAPEPHT IIII APKTÓ NTOY HXYWYOTES 20 SICE EPOU. EBOX LE 280 MITOYZO AN. TE JUTINOYTE THE WEKLOY WYG JULIE 310 KE FAP. OYNE MITEPITUREYE TITELLOWTE 25 HOSYOTIM. SE NENTAPE ETBETHI NOE PHT ILLOOY ENTAYLOOC WINDYTE. N XE TCALLAPIA NEYHIT EPO NATAKO, XE do AN XINTEINAY

will uncover the things appertaining to your hinder parts and bring them before you. that your shame may be revealed and the strangeness of your fornication. your iniquity. and your noisy behaviour; and also because you impertinently stood up to demand that which you had given the Lord God, having promised it for your soul, because the fear of God is far from you and you took no thought for your end. So. as it was said. "Samaria shall be destroyed because she stood up against her God", and you too shall be destroyed and you shall not obtain salvation, because you stood up against your God, you departed from him in your impudence, since the snare of the hunter, that is to say the devil, is upon all your ways, and you turned your back and not your face to him. For you did not consider nor did you reflect that the things you promised to God were from then on no longer yours

^{&#}x27;Cf. Jer.13.26-27. - 2020 lit. "roar", "neigh", cf. Crum, Dict., p.682b.

2Hos.14.1.

3Cf. Hos.9.8.

For Munier 9292 reads [MO]PNIA Munier 9292 reads MATE

anna EYHM' E MNOYTE . E WWITEGE EP WANUI EBOX SMMdi. NINE 5 PEÓ AN NAE JULIETUI SINNE TEMOY. alla EPEO NOE N NETCYLA II 10 MEPME WILL EIC MEIZUB DE DE EPHT MNEUTHS, 911 WAXPHUA TINA 15 TE. alla ya SPAI ECYCYA LE WNOTHPO SAIPECIC. NTOGE OPE 20 PHT'. DYW Œ EPO NOINE PHT, ZWICTE TANAFKH TE ETPETALY. 25 EICZHHTE OP MAPAITEI N NOT THPOY. ILAPAPITI AL

rud Entay WULTE MAND NIAC LINCATI MEIRA. UND aume muò AN NTO. NAE ENTAYEPHT NTACOY, W MERNY GASON UT DE EBOX ZU MENTAYEPHT MUOY. ETBE YOOSHIDD I'DI TWWWTONS EBOX NOIOY . YOOSUS YOU. NEINITAPANO MOC. ENEU MEEPHT' TAP. NEUNNOBE IS STWWDEN XW. alla EN EDCON APEPHT. HISADO WAS ETBETTAI OY NOS THE TIOY MOBE. DYW CHOKE ETPE MNOYTE KW

but God's. So if you were to withdraw some of these things you would not be like people taking their own goods, but you would resemble those who rob the temple of the Lord. And this thing, namely the promise, did not extend to belongings only, but even to words and intentions. Now you have promised, and the promises are binding, so you must keep them. Instead you have begged to be let off all these things. Will you suffer the lesson which befell Ananias and Sapphira when they promised the price of the property, but stole some of what they had promised, so that an evil death shortly overtook those transgressors? If you had not promised there would have been no sin to your charge, but inasmuch as you made a promise and went back on it, therefore your sin is great and it is hard for God to forgive

4Cf. Acts 5.1ff.

More correctly this clause should run either whether shall show a somethin I have assumed that moyor should be read for more, but it is possible that Besa, confusing the persons, has used more i.e. 2 pers. fem. sg.

²For this translation, cf. Crum, Dict., p.5la under f.(c).

³Lit. "behold", but the meaning "instead" seems to be required by the context, cf. also on 90v.

	ME EBOX. MOSE	NTAIDONKH
	ENTAMAOIC	TUTISOEIC
	5000 FINEY	STU WITEON
	UDBHTHC. SE	MM EMOOME
5	CLLOTN ETPE	SINEUSIOME.
	DYGSLUOYY EÎ	and apparte
	EBOX SITNITOY	TAXY EBOX EN
	ASYOVI SUTL	TEZIH ENTAP
	STOSM :THUTHUL	SOUDYOLE
10	TPEOTPULLAÔ	TUDE THELL
	BMK ESOLU	TO EBOX WITSO
	ETUNTEPÔ	EIC TC. WITTP
	JUTINOTTE.	WEETE SE EI
	TTAHN NOE N	SÚ FINAÏ EÏLLO
15	OYCZINE EMAC	CTE TUD. 21
•	& abeter whec	La Marie Eiro
	2di. Tai TE DE	KE MEHT' EXTU
	PATMS STWWS	THSM DWTT
	DETEI NITAI	ENTAYWUTE
20	DBHKH ENTAP	ituo. ONTUC
	CUNTO UTINY	Thai HE HOY
	TE. EBOX SE N	MMMRE 94M
	TO OYCZIUE	aytazô. ETBE
	ECGOONE EC	XE DITOYOET
25	tnoyec, eu	PKAKE EPÔ
	MEMECHNA	CYANTEAPNA
	DTYOSMAT	OTTYSYOTA
	STYONTIMU	MONA. H XE
	déliment las	APKATINOTIE

you. As the Lord said to his disciples, "It is easier for a camel to go through the eye of a needle than for a rich man to enter the kingdom of God." Moreover as a woman rejects her husband so you rejected the covenant which you established with God, because you are a perverse woman, provoking to anger, whose spirit has not trusted in God. For you neglected the covenant of the Lord, and you did not want to walk in his ways, but you turned away quickly from the way which you agreed to before the Lord Jesus. Do not think that I say these things in hatred, but truly I am grieved at the hardness of heart which has come over you. Really, this is your own injury, and it has come upon you because the light grew dark in you until you denied your constancy and forsook God

^{&#}x27;Mt.19.24, cf. also Mk.10.25 and Lk.18.25.

Note aproved for approved.

הכש חסיכש THP. ETBE Mdi Tai TE DE ENTAYLOOC ESPAI EXW. ME APRICE, DYW THEXODC. LE +NOKOTO OT' EBOX. TE 10 MOY EIGUGOLL LE dIEIPE N Ndi. ETBE ITAI NTO WITE PITALLETE. 15 OYTE WITEKA AT NE ZINNOY WEETE . DYTE THSYOTHUS DNOK SÛ EÏ WANNEY EPÖ. 20 TNOOBUT. DSGENT WYP TE SHT. DINOK EW THAXW NTALIKAIOCY MH. DYW HOY MEBOOY, Nai ETENCENAT INS aut MS

EPYLANULY' E SPAI OYBHY OXYOTYOGEN IKBYOTHS 41c. Noti Fap THPOY ITTHY NOUTOY- dyw PHTASYOVIYO MABLOON EBY. detubu Tap WITHOUTE, ET · aui usrom Mai ENTAUN TE EBOX ZINTE EPW WITENI ПЕ, ЕТЕПКО CLUCK ME. AYW DPKTO EZPA ELLAY. H EPOU. NIKECOTT. XE KAC EPABUK ESPAI EYOUE EYLLOYIS 21 TOUS. NITE+ TOOTE NICH OYTWBE. NITE DYCATE DYO HE TITULD ETTL May. MILL FAP

your saviour. Consequently it was said concerning you thus. "You wearied yourself and yet did not say, 'I will now stop being strong because I did these things'. Therefore you did not remember me and you did not put me in your thoughts or in your heart. I also, when I see you. will ignore you, and you feared me not. I also shall proclaim my righteousness and your wickednesses which shall not profit you. If you cry unto them. let them deliver you from your tribulation. All these the wind shall take and the whirlwind shall scatter." For you forgot God who saves you, who brought you out of the iron furnace, which is the world, and you turned thither, and to it again, that you may go down into the clay mixed with chaff and strengthen the brick, and a fire will devour you there! For who

^{&#}x27;Is.57.10-13.

Note aproved for approved.

³Cf. Deut.4.20, Jer.11.4, III Kg.8.51.

⁴Note EPA - for EPENA-, cf. Stern, para 380. 5Cf. Nah.3.14-15.

⁶Here the letter to Herai breaks off, cf. p. 16.

LOOC DE MOW NT THPY CE MATAROU EPA TY EXPINE IL MOY ETBEZUB MILL EXYOB WOY EPOOY. EITE ETBEOY dITHON. EITE 10 ETBEOYMO MHPON: Udpenenbal KATANETPA OH GUINT E METCOYTW. NTENENBOY ZE, EIWPILL EN UNTUE. POWTETINO EIT' NUTTET WOYEIT' MET WOOD MEXE MEKKYHCI dCTHC. ZWB MILL METUY 25 EIT' METNICH - TOY: UTPLEETE

NECNHY, DYW FIPULLE FIBE ETOYÒ TLUOC XE ENKLIEXE MITETROYIGHAL WATTOOY ETBE Y3 YOUNSMAS Natako. H E TBEZENTTPO MUS NOE EN TANCCUTU XE 9595 XOOC. txu auoc NHTN, DYW + SOMOYOLEI WITELLTO E BOX WINOY TE LINITENSO EIC IC, LE UN SUB NITEIRE 16 . THSETUIS Ad EIPROTE YOUTH PITHS TE ETBETTKOY! WHILL NATINO BE LE MINEY COKY ETITA KO DYW XE

..... savs. "For every creature shall be arraigned in judgment concerning everything that was overlooked, be it good or bad?" "Let our eyes". according to the scriptures, "look at things that are upright and our eyelids open wide" to the truths." "Vanity of vanities it is", says the preacher, "everything that is in them is vanity." Do not think, brethren and men such as they are, that we have kept this little one until to-day because of things that will perish or because of matters such as we have heard that many have said. I tell you, and I declare before God and our Lord Jesus, that there is no such thing in my heart; but I fear God for the little innocent's sake lest he be dragged to perdition, and

⁵Eccles.12.8.

One folio, the first of quire $\overline{\lambda r}$, immediately preceding this page, is missing. It must have contained the beginning of this letter. Owing to the lacuna some references in the following are obscure.

²Eccles.12.14.

³Cf. 50v, note 2. ⁴Cf. Prov. 4.25.

MNEOTHOBE WILLS SITUE TITEUTO E BOX WITHOU TE. XE DINOB WN EYWYXA NOTNOBE. DYW ENXW I UDC SE EU WANGUITEU SHT' NUCOTIV THETHONYU H MINEBOOY. graye un MOBE NAWW ME. NTAYTA dy tap unni TE. ETBETTAI andrunize EXWY. FIPW

5

15

20

EXWY. TOPW

WE DE ETWITP

TWP DYW WITO

NHPOC, NOW EN

TONITPOKO

25 MTE EMME BOOY, NOT ET COPU DYW EY CUPU MISEN

KOOYE CEPW WE DE AYRAP TOBE TUDO MANUE TURNEM MOYWW a MYG, AYW MAPATIENOY WW. MEYONG EXINTEYAITE. DYW MEYSI N GONC NHY E INTUHTE. MAWOY. TN NHY TAP ESPAT ENGIX WITHOU TE THEN NITE GYOTI GYOTI + YOULD SANE THEIPE ILLO DY. Kal Tap arcown, it as EMHPEAGE MINCHHY. Ud Priarrya pû NTPETCOWN EXTURDAN IL MNOTTE AYW ETBETTEXC

lest sin before God be on our heads because we neglected a sinless soul, and we say that when he learns wisdom and knows good and evil, he is responsible, and there shall be no sin. He was given to God, and for that reason we have striven for him. But restless and wicked men who promote evil, who have erred and who lead others astray, are responsible because they seized him by force against the will of God and against our will. Their blood is upon their head and their iniquity is coming down upon their pate? For we are all coming into the hands of God and each one shall give account for what he does! They have despised us and insulted the brethren. Let us indeed be worthy that they should despise us for the sake of God's name and for Christ,

Cf. O.T. passim.

²Cf. Ps.7.17.

³Cf. Heb.10.31.

⁴Cf. Rom.14.12.

YOURS IDNA 3X ZICE, ETBE MEUPAN. dy CEWITHOYTE rap arw arcfor JUDY ETILLOY MINNEURTO CTOXOC ETOY ddb dyw NEN 10 EIOTE THPOY ENTAYUI 2d DYNOGNEG ETBEITEUPA. NETUEETE DE ESENTE MYOSE YOOR ENTOMOC IL MIND STYDING ETZILA EYKÜ 20 MSENBYACOH JUID EZOYN E NEUCYNATOU TH EYYU TUE LE STETNUOY OTT, NZENPW 25 ME. AMON MEN' OTTE

NENEIDTE

ETCUAUDAT. UTTNUEYT PULLE ENEZ. OYTE NTINCO OYN AN ESWB NTEILUNE. WSTSW BLLD ITB NAME. CEDY ONE EBOX. ETBEITHI NET Xú MNdi, EYE MMLE EXCSOL YEMMS TOO SBHYE THPOY LITELLTO EROX WITHOUTE XE DYXU FIREMEDY ESOYN ENEU UL ETOYALB. NOE TAP ENTAY LOOC SE UTIP KAPWK' MNOY TE, OYTE WITP 60 DE EIC NEK SIXEEY, DYWW EBOX DYW NET MOCTE JUNOK CHASICE NITEY

for because of his name we have suffered. They despised God and crucified him unto death, and his holy apostles and all our fathers bore reproaches because of his name. But as for people who plot evil things against the monasteries of God, and who slanderously and blasphemously say against his communities, "You have put men to death", (I say) neither we nor our blessed fathers ever killed a man, nor do we know of such a thing. But the real murderers are plain to see. So they who say these things shall be cursed in all their works before God, because they have lied about his holy monasteries. For even thus was it said, "Be not silent, O God, and be not still," for, behold, your enemies have cried out and they who hate you have lifted up their

In the above translation I have assumed that ENTAYU stands for NTAYU. If however a relative clause was intended, the meaning is: ...and (they despised) his holy apostles and all our fathers who bore reproaches because of his name.

2Ps.82.2.

AME, AYLIWO

LINE EUROOY

EROYN EMEK

AAOC, AYW AY

UEEYE EROY

ENEKMETOY

TE DE ENTAYSO

OC ZILITEYNO

NEG, SE MNOY

TE ILITPKAPUK

ETTACLOY, SE

TTAMPO ILITPEU

PNOBE LINTA

15

25

Yac Likbon.

MEKPOY dy

20 DYKWTE EPOÏ ZNZEMYJAXE JULIOCTE: DY † NJULIAI ETIXT XH. ETILIA NOE

> MEPIT AYDIA BANDE QUOI. ANOK DE NEI WHAN ME.

dycume rise MEDOON EPO". ETTUL TOEN METNAMOYON. STOUNO WILL ETTUR TITALE. CIBEITAI dylo OC STUTIEYEW NT. LE KABICTA **LITTPEUPNOBE** EXCUOY UN NETCYNEY DOKE NIWLY. MAPETIAIABO YOU GSEPATU au upyrois OY- ZULTTPEY XIZAM. MAPOY ET EBOX EYTEN THY. WAPETIEY WYHY, WMLE NOT, ETMOBE. NTENEYZOY CBOK. MAPE NEYWHPE P OPPANOC.

DISKAN MEASIO

ME MXHPA.

heads. They have taken evil counsel against your people, and schemed against your saints!" Thus also it was said to rebuke them, "O God, be not silent concerning my praise, for the mouths of the sinner and the deceitful have opened against me; they have spoken against me with a deceitful tongue. They compassed me with words of hatred and fought against me without a cause. Instead of loving me they slandered me, but I was praying. They set up for me evil for good and hatred for my love?" So it was said in anger, "Set the sinner against them and those who approve of them. Let the devil stand at their right hand. When they receive judgment let them come forth condemned. Let their prayer become sin unto them, and their days be few. Let their children be orphans and their wives widows......

Ps.82.3-4.

³Cf. Ps.108.6-9. - Here the letter breaks off.

	MADEIC SMOY	WHPE EYZKÓ.
	TIKAZ NZHT	
	EUXW TUDO	dru nircoor
	LE CUTU EPOI	SON ETOOTE
5	MYOEK - CM	NTCHUE. Ud
		PEOYACUKAK
	The etecnis	MMUE SUNEY
	WHATUATO.	HII. SMOYUNE
	EUNE MAYE	EKEEINE, E
	MSENTERO	SPAI EXWOY
10	OY, ETILL NIZE	NZENCOONE.
	METNAMOYOY.	DOTISTS 3X
	DE DYLOW FISE	TOY EYWASE
	CHATES SXALL	ETPEYANDETE
	XH. DYW DY	Tuoi. Dyw dy
15	ZWTI' EPOÏ N	SML, Ebo! V
	TEYKONACIC.	SENTAW.
	dpitheere	NTOK DE MYO
	66 THESOON	EIC AKEILLE
	ENTAI'dZEPAT	ELEAMORNE
20	TUTEKTO E	THPY. MENTAY
	BOX EÏWAXE	day Epoi Wa
	EAPOOY FIZE	SPAI ETILLOY.
	METHANOY	WITPTBBO N
	OY, ETPEKKTO	MENZI MEONIC.
25	TUTEKOWNT	DYW MNOBE
/	3 EBOX ILLOOT.	
(ETBETIAI TIE	NINEYEIOTE
	Xay. + Timer	LITTPUOTOY
		EBOX WHEK
	<i>8</i> 6	

the voice of my justification. Do men repay evil for good? For they have spoken words against my soul, and they have hidden their punishment from me. Remember then the day when I stood before you speaking on their behalf, that you might turn your wrath from them. Therefore, he said, deliver up their sons to famine and gather them to the sword. Let there be a cry in their houses; suddenly you shall bring robbers upon them, for they have attempted to seize me and have hidden snares for me. But you, Lord, have known all their counsel which they have taken against me even unto death. Do not cleanse their iniquities and do not blot out from before you the sins of their fathers.

The two preceding folios are lost. It is impossible to say with any certainty whether the two following folios (89r-90v) are part of the letter which breaks off on 88v or not. The affinity of subject-matter - Besa encounters hostility and defends himself against accusations - may suggest that 87r-90v are all part of the same letter.

2I.e. Jeremiah.

³Jer.18.19-22.

THEY WHE WW

THE WHEKUTO

EBOX. SWHEOY

OEIW WHEKEW

NT. EKEEIPE SPAII

NICHTOY. OY NO

NON DE ANNA AY

MON DE ANNA AY

MON DE ANNA AY

OF METKNATA

AY NAY N

OYOOTE NAT

WHPE. AYW SE

EKIBE EYWOY

TO DE Û NECHHY
ETOYABB ÛNE
TOXOC ÛTTU

ZÛ ÑTITE ÎN

COOYN ETEÎN

dIATH ÑĐE ETE

TNUNHY ÛNOC

ZATANNTEBIH.

OY WOMON SE FI TOUTH . AXXA FIKE POWLE THPOY WXHX ETPENOY XAII EBOX STUTIUM

NE. NAII DE NITO

OY NOE NITOYDAC

ENTAUTIPODI

DOY NITIXOEIC

ETETTEYUNIS

THE STUTITPEY

CUNTO NUMBY

ET NAY NIBENSO

UT. TAII TE BE

ENTAYDAC NIGI

NAII TENOY EAY

TOOTOY NISE

XPHUD LEKAC

EYNALLOYOUT

JULION, H NICE

DILKON: ETBE

THAT THE ENTAGE

AOOC XE GCOOT

OPT NIGHTPULLE

ETEPETEGEN

THE GOOTT SIPW

LIE: AYW NIGHTA

XPO NITCAPZ IL

THEGEBOT EXWG

NIGHTPETEGENT

PIKE EBON IL

THISOEIC. THATE

25

5

10

15

Let their infirmity come before you. You shall deal with them in the time of your anger!" And not only this, but it was also said. "Give them Lord: what will you give them? Give them a barren womb and dry breasts." But you. O holy brethren, partakers of a heavenly calling3 we know your love. Even as you pray it for my wretchedness - not only you but all others too - pray that we may recover from the infirmity. But these men, just as Judas betrayed the Lord, that is to say his life, by letting himself be covenanted with in order to receive money, so now have these men done by grasping at money in order to kill us or maltreat us. Therefore, as it was said, "Cursed is the man who puts his hope on man and sets the flesh of his arm upon him and lets his heart turn away from the Lord & He

'Jer.18.23.

²Hos.9.14.

³Cf. Heb.3.1.

⁴The significance of "it" is obscure. Perhaps it refers forward to ETPENONSAI EBOX SUMUUNE, and may be paraphrased thus: Even as you pray for my wretched self that I may recover..... It may be noted that WAHA here seems to be used transitively, a usage not listed in Crum. Dict. ⁵In the above translation I have assumed that WAHA here is an imperative. It is however possible to take it as indicative with the subject "not only you but all others too". ⁶Probably metaphorical, as in the quotation of Jer. 18.23 above, cf. p.45.

⁷Cf. Lk.22.5.

⁸Jer.17.5.

HEWWITE NOEN TYOOSTI WIBBYO YMAND - SIDATIS OBELPHASS NO 5 EYWANET. AXXA JEMS STWWAND MA EYWOYWOY YOU SIDATUS ILAS KAR EYMONE E HSW STUWYSU 10 Ty. youand AT DE NTOY NO MPWILE ENTAU KAZTHÚ EMŠO 15 EIC; DYW MYOIC NAWWITE NAY N SEXITIC. YNDP BE MOYWHN EU YOU'ZIS TYOOG 20 MAN WYD . YOUN MOYXE TIMEY YOU'S SHYOM STBEC. NUNAP PS ME DE DIOS 25 WANE EXWY N 610YWAPBA. CE DUZIS STWWWM NOISENWAY, EY

OW NOWBE. NU NAPZOTE LE AN EPULINTUITEDYLL ME EÎ NOYPOU ME. DYW MINEU CUNTY EUTAYEKAP MOC EBOX. OY WITHPE HE HEU MOYOLAPATI THIS MILL DYW OYPW WE THE. NILLGE METNACOYUNG: ANOK TE TISOIC ETROTET NN OKTS WITH THS KINDSE MNEGAO OTE; ETPOH IL MOYA MOYA KA TANEUZIOOYE DYW KATATTKAP MOC MNEUZBHYE. TBETTAI TNTO ETOOTY WITHOY TE LINTEUXC DYW MENDOOTEN] THK EPOU ETPEU MASUN EBOX EN EUB MILL EBOOY.

shall be like a wild ass' in the desert. He shall not see good things when they come, but he shall be in dry places in the wilderness, in a salty, uninhabited land. But blessed is the man who trusts in the Lord, and whose hope the Lord shall be. He shall be like a tree flourishing by the water and he shall throw out his roots to moisture, and he shall not fear when heat comes upon him. Branches with many leaves shall be upon him, and he shall not fear if one year the rain does not come, and he shall not fail to bring forth fruit. His heart is a miracle beyond everything, and it is man. Who then is he that will know him? It is I, the Lord, who tries the hearts and proves the reins, to give to every one according to his ways and according to the fruit of his works?" Therefore we are in the hands of God and his Christ, and our care3 is cast on him, that he may deliver us from every evil thing;

The LXX here reads Lypiowupikn "tamarisk".

2Jer.17.6-10.

There is a small tear in the MS at this point. The last letter of poorw is lost, and the penultimate is damaged. Perhaps cf. I Pet.5.7, but the phrase could alternatively be translated, "our concern is fixed on him".

5Cf. II Tim.4.18.

MOXYOTUM WYD EBOX ZITNIPOU WE ETWITPTUP DYW WHOCH WYD

dru myoek eye KTO EXUTIOYÀ MOYÀ NITEUNI KOJOCYNH UN TEUTICTIC.

HOUTH DE THEPA TE NICHHY ETP SOTE SHTU WITH TE WAHA THP TN DEKAC EPE MOYTE NAZA

PEZ EPON EBOX EUNEBOOY NIM. DXYOTUN WYL EBOX EUNEIAI WN WTONHPO.

MINKINATHOC

MNECHHY MN9X:) YNGOW WEN I MON ETAMUTN EDE THPC ENTAY doc NOINETHUAY. add TENOY PW EICSHHTE ANDW

ENKÛ TITULÎ TE MNOYTE. NETIL MAY DE SMOY, E WWITE MEYZHT NAUTON. H CE NOXITUT NEHT. CEPUINE WITIN TE. ANOK WEN KATATAUNTTA AdiTIWPOC. N +NOY, AN, ETTEBO OY EdIEIPE NPW ME. AND YCHE DE METNUT N RENLIEBOOA ELLING MSENITE TNANOYOY. W MEDODY NAKILL

ションン ーー・ソンシーカン

dN ZUTEYHI:

15

20

25

and save us from restless and wicked men. The Lord shall return to every one his righteousness and his faithfulness! But you, beloved brethren who fear God, pray you all that God may guard us from every evil and save us from this evil age and the dangers of false brethren? It is possible for us to tell you fully how those men acted, but now instead we have desisted, giving place to God, and those men too, if their heart is to be at ease or if they are to have satisfaction must settle it with God. I, according to my wretchedness, do not see any evil that I did to man. But it is written, "He who shall recompense evil for good, evil will not stir from his house."

Apa Besa.

'I Kg.26.23.

2Cf. II Cor.11.26.

3Cf. 85v, note 3.

4Prov.17.13.

Index of Biblical Passages in BM Or.8810.

Old Testament. (Numeration as in LXX)

	Genesis		Psalms	
1.26-2 3.19 19.26	67v. 80v. 74r.		7.17 9.9 9.28 13.3 18.8-9	87v. 70v. 28r. 16r. 39v.
16.18 21.16 32.32 33.5 34.28	56v. 51v. 52v. 23v. 59r.		18.11 30.5 31.9 32.6 33.8 35.2 36.27	71v. 54v. 16r. 69v. 71v. 16r. 70v.
20.9	Leviticus 51v. Numbers		39.5 48.11 48.13 48.21 51.5	34r. 22r. 28v. 28v. 28v. 80r.
12.1ff 12.14 16.2ff	24r. 24r.		51.7-9 51.9 54.24 56.5 62.11	80r. 34r. 53v. 19r. 36v. 41v.
4.20 24.8 27.15 27.16 27.17	24r. 35r. 51v. 35r.	86v. 52v.	68.29 82.2-4 88.11 108.1-9 108.17 108.17-18	74r. 88r. 36r. 88v. 78v. 79r. 42v.
2.30	78v. I Kings 50r.	62r.	118.9 118.21 118.105 118.118 118.155	43r. 42r. 39v. 42r. 42r.
26.23 8.51	III Kings	90 v .	124.5	24r. 36r. 47r.
19.8	59 r .			

			ii			
Pro	verbs			21.24	68r.	
				22.19	68v.	
1.5	22r.			23.12		42v .
1.7	42v.			-3.22		68v.
1.24-27	26v.			24.8-10		46r.
1.24-31	84r.			24.22		HOL.
2.11	66v.				33r.	
2.12	67r.			24.42	70v.	
2.13-16		22.00		28.4	40v.	en
2.16-20		84r.		28.24		51v.
	40r.			29.8	47v.	
3.34		36r.		29.11	67v.	
	60r.			29.24-25	34r.	
4.19	46r.					
4.25		50v.		Eccle	siastes	
	68v.	87r.				
5.12	20r.	76r.		6.4	80v.	
5.13	20v.			8.5	39v.	
6.5	50v.			12.8	87r.	
6.23	39v.			12.14	87r.	
7.3	50v.			****	0,1.	
10.19	47v.			Job		
11.8				900		
12.18	54v.			7 7	44.4	
	66v.			7.3	44r.	
12.24	54r.			24.2	32r.	
13.1	22r.			29.3	39r.	
13.13	40r.					
14.1	67r.			Wisdo	m of Solo	omon
14.3	67r.					
14.14	22v.			1.11	53r.	
15.23	53r.					
16.17		67v.		Eccle	siasticus	3
16.27	22v.	73.0		72273		
16.28	47r.			5.12	53r.	
17.13		5lv.			75- •	
-11-3	90v.			Hosea		
17.20	22v.			110004		
17.27	68v.			7.13	47	82-
18.1	74v.					82r.
				9.8	85r.	
18.6	68v.			9.14	89v.	
18.7	67v.			9.15	80r.	
18.21	53v.			10.12	29v.	
19.4	67v.			14.1	85r.	
19.23	36r.			14.10	44v.	
19.24	20v.					
20.10	36r.					
21.23	53r.	66r.				
Section 1	3 5 7					

I	L mos	33 • 47 • 3		
5.1-2	84v.	47.		
5.2	38r.	47.8		
5.10	8 4v .		9-10 79 v .	
5.15	75v.	47.		
6.12	49r.			
0.12	471.	51.		
7	Wicah	52.		
•		5 7 .	80 v •	
3.2	80r.	57.	8 - 9 80 v •	
7.1-2	33 v •	57.	10-13 86v.	
7.8	54v.	57.	14 35 v .	
,	2444	59.		
1	Nahum		9-10 29 v .	
•		59.		39 v •
3.14-1	5 86 v .	63.		31v.
7 •	, 0011	63.		33r.
•	Habakkuk		43v	•
	(12 Cana an	64.	6 30r	•
2.15	52r.	65.		•
C • 3 J	7224		12-15 27r	•
	Zechariah	66.		. 44r.
6.14	6lv.		Jeremiah	
		2	• 4	_
	6lv. Malachi		.12 34r	
	Malachi	2.	12 34r 12-13 28r	•
		2.	34r 12-13 28r 13 38v	61r.
	Malachi 80v.	2.	34r 12-13 28r 38v 78v	61r.
	Malachi	2. 2.	34r 12-13 28r 13 38v 78v 18-20 63v	61r.
4.1	Malachi 80v. Isaiah	2.	34r 12-13 28r 13 38v 78v 18-20 63v 19 33r	61r.
	Malachi 80v. Isaiah .7 26v.	2. 2. 2. 32 v .	34r 12-13 28r 13 38v 78v 18-20 63v 19 33r 80v	61r.
4.1	Malachi 80v. Isaiah .7 26v. 43v.	2. 2. 32 v .	34r 12-13 28r 38v 78v 18-20 63v 19 33r 80v 21 63v	61r. . 44r. . 82 v .
4.1	Malachi 80v. Isaiah .7 26v. 43v. 38v.	2. 2. 32v. 45r. 2.	12 34r 12-13 28r 13 38v 78v 18-20 63v 19 33r 80v 21 63v	61r. . 44r. . 82v.
4.1 1.16-1 5.20	Malachi 80v. Isaiah .7 26v. 43v. 38v. 78v.	2. 2. 32v. 45r. 30r.	34r 12-13 28r 38v 78v 18-20 63v 19 33r 80v 21 63v 10 80r	61r. 44r. 82v.
4.1 1.16-1 5.20 5.20-2	Malachi 80v. Isaiah .7 26v. 43v. 38v. 78v.	2. 2. 32v. 45r. 30r.	12 34r 12-13 28r 13 38v 78v 18-20 63v 19 33r 80v 21 63v 10 80r 11 32r	61r. 44r. 82v.
4.1 1.16-1 5.20 5.20-2 5.21	Malachi 80v. Isaiah 7 26v. 43v. 38v. 78v. 64v. 45r.	2. 2. 32v. 45r. 30r. 4.	12 34r 12-13 28r 13 38v 78v 18-20 63v 19 33r 80v 21 63v 10 80r 11 32r 14 52r	61r. 44r. 82v. 64v.
4.1 1.16-1 5.20 5.20-2 5.21 6.10	Malachi 80v. Isaiah .7 26v. 43v. 38v. 78v. 64v. 45r. 25r.	2. 2. 32v. 45r. 30r. 4.	34r 12-13 28r 38v 78v 18-20 63v 19 33r 80v 21 63v 10 80r 11 32r 14 52r 18 32v 23-24 33r	61r. 44r. 82v. 64v.
4.1 1.16-1 5.20 5.20-2 5.21 6.10 8.18	Malachi 80v. Isaiah 7 26v. 43v. 38v. 78v. 64v. 45r. 25r. 31v.	2. 2. 32v. 45r. 30r. 4.	12 34r 12-13 28r 13 38v 78v 18-20 63v 19 33r 80v 21 63v 10 80r 11 32r 14 52r 18 32v 23-24 33r	61r. 44r. 82v. 64v. 82r.
4.1 1.16-1 5.20 5.20-2 5.21 6.10 8.18 8.20	Malachi 80v. Isaiah 7 26v. 43v. 38v. 78v. 21 64v. 45r. 25r. 31v. 40v.	2. 2. 32v. 45r. 30r. 4.	12 34r 12-13 28r 13 38v 78v 18-20 63v 19 33r 80v 21 63v 10 80r 11 32r 14 52r 18 32v 18 32v 16 58r 21 58r	61r. 44r. 82v. 64v. 82r. 69r.
4.1 1.16-1 5.20 5.20-2 5.21 6.10 8.18 8.20 10.3	Malachi 80v. Isaiah 7 26v. 43v. 38v. 78v. 64v. 45r. 25r. 31v. 40v.	2. 2. 32v. 45r. 30r. 4. 4. 56	12 34r 12-13 28r 13 38v 78v 18-20 63v 19 33r 80v 21 63v 10 80r 11 32r 14 52r 18 32v 16 58r 16 58r 78v	61r. 44r. 82v. 64v. 82r. 69r. 38r.
4.1 1.16-1 5.20 5.20-2 5.21 6.10 8.18 8.20 10.3 17.9-11	Malachi 80v. Isaiah 7 26v. 43v. 38v. 78v. 21 64v. 45r. 25r. 31v. 40v. 29r. 82r.	2. 2. 32v. 45r. 30r. 4. 4. 56	12 34r 12-13 28r 13 38v 78v 18-20 63v 19 33r 80v 21 63v 10 80r 11 32r 14 52r 18 32v 16 58r 21 78v 66	61r. 44r. 82v. 64v. 82r. 69r. 38r.
4.1 1.16-1 5.20 5.20-2 5.21 6.10 8.18 8.20 10.3 17.9-11 26.9	Malachi 80v. Isaiah 7 26v. 43v. 38v. 78v. 64v. 45r. 25r. 31v. 40v. 29r. 82r. 39v.	2. 2. 32v. 45r. 3. 45r. 44. 5688	12 34r 12-13 28r 13 38v 78v 18-20 63v 19 33r 80v 21 63v 10 80r 11 32r 14 52r 18 32v 16 58r 16 58r 16 58r 16 58r 16 58r	61r. 44r. 82v. 64v. 82r. 69r. 38r.
4.1 1.16-1 5.20 5.20-2 5.21 6.10 8.18 8.20 10.3 17.9-11	Malachi 80v. Isaiah 7 26v. 43v. 38v. 78v. 21 64v. 45r. 25r. 31v. 40v. 29r. 82r.	2. 2. 32v. 45r. 30r. 4. 45. 68. 88.	12 34r 12-13 28r 13 38v 78v 18-20 63v 19 33r 80v 21 63v 10 80r 11 32r 14 52r 18 32v 16 58r 23-24 33r 64v 9 81r 19	61r. 44r. 82v. 64v. 82r. 69r. 38r.

9 - 4-5	64r.	Ezekiel	
11.4	23v. 86v.	4.5	0.0
12.13	29v. 44v.	5.11	82v.
	80r.	11.2	47v.
13.16-17	31v. 51r.	16.3-9	83r.
13.26-27	84v.	16.8	83v.
17.5-10	89v.	16.22	83v.
18.19-23	89r.	22.2-3	8lr.
23.19-20	28r.	22.3-5	81 v .
23.24	42r.	22.12-14	82r.
28.9	36v.	23.8	15r.
38.30	65r.	23.35	82r.

Baruch

4.7-8 38r.

New Testament.

Matt	hew	Mark	
3.10 4.2	50v. 59r.	7.10 8.36	51v. 17r. 62r.
5.16	26r.		76r.
7.13	59 v •	9.48	34v.
7.14	59v.	9.50	15v.
8.12	15r.	10.25	86r.
10.22	61r. 73v.	13.13	61r. 73v.
10.37-38	62r.		
10.39	60r.	Luke	
13.5-6	74v.		
13.15	25r.	3.9	50v.
15.4	51v.	4.2	59r.
16.26	17r. 62r.	6.16	79v.
10.50	76r.	6.28-29	75v.
18.6	18v. 61r.	8.6	74v.
10.0	81v.	8.13	74v.
19.24	86r.	8.15	74v.
22.12-13	57v.	9.62	75r.
24.13	61r. 73v.	12.37	60r.
	16r. 37v.	12.48	56r.
25.1ff		13.24	59v.
25.10	57r.	14.28-30	75r.
25.16-17	57r.	15.8-9	65r.
27.48	35r.	16.15	68r.
		エロ・エン	00.

		V			
17.2	18v. 61r.	9.28	70v.		
10 10	8lv.	13.12	2lr. 43v.		
17.32	74r.	14.12	87v.		
18.2	25r. 26r.	14.20	41v.		
	67v.	16.17-18	55r.		
18.2ff	26v.	16.19	58v.		
18.25	86r.	16.20	58v.		
21.19	61r. 73v.				
21.34	43v.		inthians		
22.5	89v.				
23.46	44v.	3.16-17	37r.		
		3.17	37r.		
John		6.6	18r.		
		6.8	16v.		
3.19	38v. 78v.		41v.		
5.29	70v.	10.32	49 v .		
6.27	41v.		76r.		
8.44	30v. 40v.	15.33			
10.1		15.58	77r.		
	84v.	16.13-14	54v.		
10.11	57r.		and Coulom & Land Co		
11.9-10	39r.	II Co:	rinthians		
12.24	37r.	4.3	4.0		
2.25	60r.	2.3	18r.		
2.35	39r. 39v.	2.4	34v.		
3.35	67r.	5.10	50r.		
.5.13	57r.	8.14-15	56 v .		
		10.18	28v.		
Acts		11.19-20	55r.		
200		11.21	55r.		
1.18	82 v .	11.26	90v.		
4.32	77v.	12.10	49r.		
5.1ff	85v.	12.15	56r.		
7.51	28v. 29r.	12.20	17v. 20v.		
20.26	62r.	13.2	2lr.		
Romans		Galat	Galatians		
1.21	29r. 44v.	1.6	60v. 71r.		
1.21-22	45r.	1.6-7	46r.		
1.21-23	38 v .				
The state of the s	The state of the s	5.13	48v.		
1.26	39r.	6.2	58 v .		
1.28-32	45v.	6 .7	81r.		
2.5-6	32v. 70r.				
2.24	49 v .				
3.14	28r.				
3.18	16r.				

Ephesians		5.15 6.18	45r. 31v.	
1.21 2.10	39 r . 70v .		II Timothy	
3.6 4.17-20	76 r. 48 v .	2.25-26	22 v •	
5.6	20r.	4.10	60 v .	
5.19	52r.	4.18	30v. 90r.	
5.21	57 v .	Meletrano		
6.4	57 r .	Titus		
Pl	nilippians	2.14 3.3	70v. 48 r .	
2.12	17v.			
2.12-15		Hebrews	3	
2.12-16	31r.	0.3	2 lv .	
2.14	17v.	2.3 2.13	31 v .	
3.2	55 r .	3.1	89 v .	
Colossians		3.14	73v.	
	0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	10.23-27	62 v .	
3.8-10	49r.	10.31	87 v .	
3.20	5 7 ♥・	10.31-36	62 v .	
I Thessalonians		11.13 -1 6 11.35	76 v . 76 v .	
		11.37	76 v. 5 7v.	
2.15	47v.	13.17	214.	
4.7	47r.	James		
5.4-10	30v. 38r.	o cano o		
5.7	50r. 52r.	1.4	75v.	
5.11 5.12-13		2.15-16	56r.	
5.21-22		3.5-6	69 r.	
5.23	30v.	3.8-12	69 r.	
7.62	50.0	4.6	22r. 36r.	
I	I Thessalonians	5.9	60 r. 53 v.	
1.11	58 v .	* D		
2.17	77r.	I Pete	P F	
3.5 3.6	58 r .	0.0	60 v .	
3.6	47v.	2.9	76r.	
3.11	47v.	2.21 2.23	76r.	
I Timothy		4.1-2 4.3	37r. 48r.	
1.10	6 6v .	4.7	50v.	
2.6	70r.	4.18	21v.	

5.1-3 55v.
22r. 36r.
60r.
5.7 90r.
50v. 72r.

II Peter

1.9 40r.

I John

2.11 67r.
21v.

Jude

21 54v.

Revelation

7.17 32r. 43v.

viii

Index of Greek Words in BM Or.8810.

100 both. 19r. 31v. 36v. 44r. 50v. 58v. 65r. 87r. 90r.

27280c (NITT) 73v. 83v.

drandkte! 5lr.

STATIH 15r. 30v. 46r. 49r. 51v. 54v(2). 55v. 57r.

58r. 58v. 62v. 67r. 71r. 89v.

36v. 49v. 53v(2). 71v(2).**STREYOC**

27510N 16r. 37v.

78v. 9Lb940C

Arwn (+) 22v(2).

59r. 59v(2). 70v. 76r. 87v. arwnize

40ETEI 21v. 31v. 86r(2).

ABYHCIC 63r.

22r. 23r. 24r. 26v. 32v. 51r. DICOGNE

&ICOHCIC. 21v. 42v. 50v. 68v.

NWID 39r. 48r. 60v. 90v.

9K9B9bc19 34v. 46r. 48v. 50v. 54r.

akabaptoc 27v. 29v. 54r. 81v.

31r. 48v. 58v. **GKEBMOC**

SKUHN 59r.

& YHOMC 17r. 61r. 71v(2). 72v.

15v. 16r. 16v(3). 19r(2). 21v. 23v. 25r. 26v. $\alpha \lambda \lambda \alpha$

27v. 28v(2). 30v. 31r(2). 32v. 33v. 34r. 35r. 35v. 37r. 37v(2). 39r. 40r. 40v. 42r. 42v. 44r. 46r. 47r(2). 47v. 48v. 49r. 50v. 52v. 53r(2). 54v. 55r. 56r(3). 56v(2). 57r. 58v.

59r. 59v. 60v. 62r. 62v(2). 64r. 65r(2).

(a)) 66r(2). 69r. 69v. 71v. 73v. 74r. 74v.

75r(2). 77r(2). 77v. 78r. 79r. 80r. 80v(2). 81r. 83r. 84r. 84v. 85v(4). 86r(2). 87r.

88r. 89v(2). 90r. 90v(2).

48v. & ALAOTPIOC

22r. 59v. gueyer

piskana 29r.

QUEXHC (UNT) 71v.

77r. 78r. anarka 3e

27r. 65r. 66r. 65v. **ANATKH**

70v. 71r. 76v. anactacic

55r(2). 67r. ANEXE

32r. SMONE

24r. 27v. 29v(3). 30r. 36r. 36v. 38r. 41v. phone

46v. 47r. 70v. 81r(2). 81v. 83r.

54v. MOUDE

51r. 72r. ANTIDIKOC

antikeinenoc 31v.

42r. 46v. STUPLIP

71r. AMAPXH

46v. STUD

46v. 73v. HTOTA

21v. 82r. MIEINH

82r. MICTON

18r. - (NNT) 72v. AMICTOC

.drioctathe 79v.

αποςτολος 17v. 20y. 37r. 45r. 46r. 47v. 55r(2). 62v.

88r. - (anoctoc)71r.

ANOTAKTIKOC(NITT) 60v.

ATTOTACCE 77v. 78r.

amodacic 37r.

apa 22v. 30v. 51v. 83v.

APECKE 47v.

apeth 77r.

apria 60v. 62r. 65v. 77r. 78r. 78v. 82v. 83v. 86r.

APXH 42v. 71v. 73v. 75r.

дсевнс 21v. 28r(2). 32r. 33v. 36r. 44v. 45r.

46r(2). 5lv. - (NNT) 25r. 25v. 28r.

ackei 49v.

ACXHLLONEI 49v. 83r. 83v.

acxhaocynh 83r.

ATAKTWC 47v(2).

רסדים רסד. לים אידסי

афорин 49r. 66v. 76r.

BHUA 50v.

BIOC 49r. 56r. 59v.

власфима 88г.

BOHĐ€I 17r. 29r. 48r.

BOH8€18 40v. 73v.

.BOHOOC

34r. 40v. 80r.

TAP

(cf. also Kai rap) 18r. 19r. 20r(2). 21r. 21v. 22r. 23r(3). 25r(2). 27v(2). 26v(3). 29v(2). 30r. 30v(2). 31r. 33r(2). 34r. 34v. 35r. 36v. 38r(2). 39r. 39v(2). 40r(5). 40v(3). 41r. 42r(2). 42v(2). 43v. 45r. 47v. 48r(2). 48v. 50r. 50v. 53r(2). 55r(4). 57r. 57v(2). 60r. 61v(2). 62r. 62v(3). 63r. 63v(2). 64r(2). 64v. 65r(2). 65v. 66r(2). 66v. 67r. 68r. 69r. 70r. 70v(2). 71r. 72r. 73v(2). 74r. 74v. 75r. 75v(2). 76r(2). 76v(2). 77r. 79v. 80r(3). 80v. 81r. 81v. 82v(3). 84r. 85r. 85v. 86r. 86v(3). 87v(2). 88r(2).

rened

31r. 48v.

TENOITO

60r.

FAYITON

21v.

TNUM

41r. 55v(2). 84r.

rpauld

78v.

mpsq7

21r(2). 30r. 32v. 40r. 44r(2). 65v. 87r.

Dainan

29r. 36v. 41v. 55r. 72r. 80v.

HUPLIPA

35v. 75r.

ΣE

15r. 20r. 20v. 21r. 21v. 22r(6). 22v.
24r(2). 24v. 25v(2). 26r(2). 26v. 27r(5).
27v. 29v. 30r. 30v(3). 32r. 32v. 33r(3).
34r(3). 36r. 37r(2). 38r(2). 38v. 39r. 39v.
41v(2). 42v. 43v(2). 44r(2). 44v. 45r. 45v.
46r(3). 48r. 48v. 49r. 50r(3). 50v. 51r.
53r. 53v. 55v. 56r(2). 56v. 57v. 58r.
58v(2). 59v(3). 60r(2). 62r(3). 62v. 63r(2).
65v. 66v. 67r(3). 67v. 68v. 69r. 69v.
70r(3). 71v. 72r. 73v. 74r. 74v(2). 75v.
76v(2). 77r. 78v. 79v. 80v. 82r(3). 83r.
83v. 84r. 84v. 85r. 85v(2). 87v. 88r. 88v.
89r. 89v(3). 90r(3). 90v(2).

DIABALLE 88v.

Διαβολος 21v. 23r. 29r. 30v. 34r. 36r. 40v. 45r. 51r.

52r. 54r(2). 54v. 67v. 71r. 72r. 85r. 88v.

Дюнкн 40r. 83v. 86r(2).

DIAKONIA 37v. 77v.

DIAKPINE 43v. - (UNTAT) 44r.

\(\text{\lambda}\) \(\text{\lamb

Δικαιος γη 21v. ?9v. 43v. 46v. 49r. 52r. 61v. 70v. 80r. 86v. 90v.

DIKAIWUA 42r(2). 44v. 45v.

DIKAIWC 41r. 78v.

DIWTUOC 72v.

DOKINAJ€ 45v. 90r.

Dupea 49v.

Errpadoc 78v.

ETKAKEI 73v. 75v.

EIDWAON 48r.

EIWHTI 15v. 39v. 61v. 77r.

EIPHNH 46r. 56r. 58v. 64r. 71r.

EITA 61v.

EITE 31r(2). 35v(5). 37v(2). 50v(2). 58v(7). 59r(2). 69v(2). 78v(2). 87r(2).

EKKAHCIA 49v. 78r.

EKKNHCIACTHC 87r.

EXAXICTON 37v. 59v.

44v. 60v. 71r. 77r. EXAXICTOC

EMEPREI 31r. 48v.

ENTOAH 15r. 15v(2). 25r. 29r. 29v. 3lv. 32r. 33r.

39r. 39v(4). 40r(2). 40v(2). 41r. 42r. 42v.

44v. 48r. 50r. 60r(2). 61v. 66v. 70r. 78v.

81r. 82v. 83r.

EN SOCON (cf. also 2000N) 85v.

EZYLLY223 55r(2).

POMIDETTS 62v.

ELEIPH 18r. 19r. 26v. 52v. 66r. 68r. 74r. 78v. 80r.

84r. 85r.

87v. EMHPEAZE

37r. PINLAILIA

69r. 76v. EMIKAYEI

15v. 16v. 23r. 50r. 53r. 67r. EMICTHUH

23r(2). 24v. EMITIMA

EPTATHO 55r.

25r. ETI

21r. 46r. EYALLEYION

EYCEBHC (UNT) 40V.

19r. 27r. 41r. 84r. SUPPLALE

15v. 16r. 16v. 17r(2). 18r(2). 18v(2). H

19v(8). 21r(3). 21v. 23r(2). 24r. 25v. 26r(2). 28v(2). 32v(2). 33r. 35v(2). 37v. 41r(5). 41v(3). 46v. 48r(2). 50r. 51v. 53v(2). 54r(2). 55v. 56r. 57v(2). 61v.

62r(2). 64r(3). 64v. 65r(4). 65v. 66r(2). 66v(2). 69r. 69v. 74r(2). 76r. 81r. 82r.

82v. 84r. 86r. 86v. 87r. 87v(2). 89v. 90v.

.Od hacca

18v. 61r. 69v. 81v.

MOISA

78v.

BAIBE

78v.

DYIMIC

27r. 29r. 34v(3). 46r. 48r. 75v(2). 84r.

86v.- (-weic)63r.

BYCIA

62v.

KABAPIZE

60r.

KAPICTA

88v.

Kai Tap

(cf. also Kdi WHN and FAP) 16v. 18r. 18v.

20v. 32v. 35r. 40r. 42r. 43r. 52r. 60r. 61r. 63r. 63v. 64v. 67v(2). 68v. 75r. 75v.

78r. 87v.

KOI WHN

77v. 78r.

KAIPOC

48r. 69v. 70v. 76r.

KAKIA

15r. 27v. 32v. 33r. 44r. 45v. 48r. 49r. 52r(2). 63v. 64v. 72v. 80v. 82r(2).

KAKWC

68v.

KAYWC

43v. 47r. 57r. 64r. 77v.

KAN

49r. 50r.

KANWN

4lr.

KAPMOC

29v. 37r(2). 49r. 50v. 53v. 80r. 84v. 90r. -(+)60r. 74v.

KATA

15r. 16v. 17v(2). 20v(2). 25r. 32r. 32v. 33r(2). 36v. 37v. 38v. 46r. 47r(2). 47v. 49r. 50r. 53v(2). 54r. 54v(2). 55r. 56r(3). 59r. 59v(2). 65r. 69r. 69v(2). 70r(2). 71r.

71v. 77v(2). 84r. 87r. 90r(2). 90v.

KATANANEI

24r. 47v. - (PEQ)45v.

.Katalalia 16v. 18r. 20v. 24r. 46v(2). 52r. 52v. 53r. 54r. 72v.

Katalye 41v.

KATAΦPONEI 15r. 16r. 23v. 40v. 41v. 67v. 81r. 82v. - (μπτρεμ)29r. 79v.

KATAPPONHCIC 29r.

KATEXE 87r.

Kanua (p) 74v.

KEPALAION 22r.

KHPYCCE 59r.

KIMDYMOC 90v.

KAHPONOMEI 44r.

ΚλΗΡΟC 29v. 56r.

Koinobioc 78r.

KOINWNIA 47r. 77v. 78r.

KOINWHOC 36r. 51v. - (\$\bar{p}\$)63r.

KOZAZE 82v.

KODACIC 31v. 89r.

KOCLLIKON 17r. 55v. 59r. - (WIT) 77r.

KOCLOC 15r. 17r(2). 23v. 31r. 39r. 44r. 48r. 48v. 49v. 59r. 59v. 62r. 76r. 86v.

KPINA 17r. 25r. 53v.

KPINE 32v. 36v. 53v. 66v. 70v. 87r.

KPICIC 29r. 60v. 62v. 71r.

KPITHC 26v. 53v.

SYKWY.

37v. 53r. 61v.

YYOC

21r. 21v. 23v. 25r. 26r. 32r. 32v. 33r. 35r(2). 35v. 45r. 64v. 70v(2). 88v.

AHCTHC

84v.

AITOYPTEID

70r.

YOLOC

42r. - (+)66r. 87v.

youroc

24r. 34v. 46r. 54r. 68r.

ISMKK

18r. 19r. 37v. 61v. 66v. 74v.

HTIPK

18r. 20r. 38v. 43r. 52v.

MAPHTHC

49v. 67r. 86r.

MAXICTA

17r. 20r. 37v. 41r. 53v. 55v. 59r. 78r.

DIMBU

34r.

MEXETA

20v.

MEXETH

29v. - (-Ta)72r.

MEYOC

69r.

MEN

35r. 37v(2). 41v. 44v. 46v. 63r. 84v. 88r. 90v(2).

METANDEI

19v. 64v. 70r. - (-01)32v.

DIONATON

23r. 58r.

METOXOC

89v.

MH

18r. 19v(2). 20r. 21r(2). 21v(2). 22v. 23r. 23v. 27v. 31v. 32v. 33r. 42r(2). 53v(2). 66v(2). 69r. 74r. 75r. 85v.

MHN

cf. Kai JUHN

MHMOTE

17v(2). 20r. 20v(2). 25r. 42v(2). 56v. 66v.

MHUMC

20r. 21v. 23v.

.WHTI 69r.

WOTIC 21v.

MONACTHPION 78r.

MONAXOC 26r. 77r. - (p) 77v. 78r.

MONON (cf. also or MONON) 48v.

NHCTEID 29V.

NHOE 23r. 30v(2). 50v(2). 72r.

Noï 25r. 43v. 45r. 45v. 51r. 66v(2). 68v. 74r. 81r. - (NOE))33r.

Nouse 32v. 33r. 39r. 39v(2). 40v(4). 45r. 58v. 70r. 77r. 78r(3).

OIKOHOLOC 56r.

OKOYWENH 38r. 45r. 69v. 70v.

ONOUACTOC 52v.

ONTWC 86r.

OPTH 20r. 26v. 28r(2). 30r. 31r. 32v(2). 35r. 44r. 49r. 70r(2). 83v.

OPPANOC (P) 884.

OYDE 24v. 25v. 32v. 45v. 61v. 62r(2). 64v. 83v. 85r.

OHKOHN 17r. 40r. 43r.

of woman (cf. also woman) 16v. 19r. 39r. 46r. 59r. 77v. 89v(2).

01N 64r.

ONTE 16r(3). 18v(2). 20r(2). 22r. 24r. 25r. 26v(2). 28r(2). 29r. 30r. 30v. 32v. 34v. 37r. 40v. 41v. 43r(2). 43v(3). 51r(2). 51v(2). 52v. 56r. 56v. 59v(2). 61r(2).

xviii

61v(3). 62r. 66r(2). 67v(2). 68v. 69v. 72r(2). 74v(2). 77r(2). 77v(2). 80v. 81r(2). 83r(2). 84v. 86v(2). 88r(3). (OYTE)

17200C 39r.

> 36r. 38r. 41v. 44r. 53r. 54r(2). 58v. 71v. コムシュ

MANTOKPATUP 58r.

26r. 55r. 55v(2). 59r. 69v. 7lv. 87v(2). MAPA

90r.

15v. 40r 41r. 50r. 70r. MAPABA

LIGITALIEIYE 39r. 47v. 55v.

85**v**. MAPADITUA

83v. 85v. MAPAITEI

55r. 55v. 62v. 65v. MAPAKAZEI

33v. 35r. DIMONAPATI

Mapanouon 34v.

85v. Mapanousc

Mapantona 21r.

MAPEUBOXH 24r.

MAPBENOC 37v. 38r. 78v. 84v.

62v. Mapozychoc

30v. MAPOYCIA

43r. 50r. 53r. 58r. 63r. 84v. MAPPHCIA

74r. 78r. HEIBE

74v. MEIPACHOC

18v. 8lv. - (- Koc) 6lr. MEXATOC

.перікефалаід 30 г.

METPA 74v.

ПНГН 28r. 38v. 44v. 61r. 78v.

MICTERE 18v(2). 61r(2). 74v. 81v(2). - (MITERE) 84v.

MICTIC 30v. 54v. 61v. 74r. 78v. 90v.

TICTOC 28v(2). 62v.

mlana 48v. 82r.

ΠλαΝΗ 54v.

п\hrh 23v.

ΠλΗΝ 17v. 18r. 24v. 38v. 43r. 64v. 67r. 86r.

mnerua (ma) 26v. 27v. 29r. 30v. 33r. 37v. 39v. 43v. 44v. 49r. 69v. 72r. 72v. 86r.

TINEYWATIKON (TINIKON)521.

moxic 47v. 48r. 76v(2). 81r(2).

moditia 44r.

MONHPEYE 33v. 61r.

MONHPIA 25r. 25v. 30r. 32v. 43v. 45v. 48r. 67r. 71r. 79v.

ПОМНРОМ 17r. 17v. 24v. 25v. 26r. 30r. 33r. 33v. 34r. 36r. 36v. 39r. 39v. 48r. 50r. 87r. 90v.

MONHPOC 34r. 38r. 38v. 53v. 87v. 90v.

MOPNEIA 15r. 79v. 80v. 85r.

mparua 87r.

THECOTTEPOC 55v(2).

MPODIDOY 89V.

.продотнс 79v. 82v.

прокопн 75.

прокопте 43v. 87v.

mpoc 50v. 74v.

MPOCTATUA 39v.

MPOSSIPECIC 85v.

MPOZICTA 58r.

ΠΥλΗ 59√(2). 84v.

THPTOC 75r(2).

CABBATON 59r(2).

CAPKIKON 49r.

Capz 37r. 44r. 49r. 65r. 89v.

CKANDALIZE 18v(3). 55r. 61r(2). 65v. 81v(3).

CKANDALON 16v. 18v. 55r. 61r.

CKIPTA 16r.

copia 40r. 42v. 44v. 84r.

COPOC 26r. 44v. 58v. 66v.

CMEPUA 26r. 28v. 82r.

CMOYDAJE 19r.

CMOYDAIOC 64v.

CTACIC 48r. 53v.

CTAYPOC (cfoc)62r.

CT27907 (Efor)88r.

74r. ·CTPATEIA

85v. PYKO

54v. 65v. 66v. 75v. CHUBOHYELE

76r. CHLUETOXOC

16r. 18v. 27v. 28r. 38r. 41r(2). 47v. 62r. CYNATWTH

62v. 77r. 82v. 88r.

CHMENDOKEI 46r. 88v.

CYNKAMPONOUOC 76r.

28v(2). CYMSICTA

30v. 32r. 37r. 37v. 47r. 50r. 50v. 53v. 54r. 56r. 69r. 70v. 72r. 76v. 77r. 82r. coma

39r. 82r. 86v. COUTHP

23r. 31v. 60r. 70r. - (MNT)90v. TAXAITIWPOC

15r. TOZIC

71r. 86r. YXLOT

75v. TEXEION

TIMEUPIA 39r.

16v(2). 77r. 77v. 88r. TOTIOC

73v. TOTE

22r. 3lv. 39r. YOTES YOT

41v. 49r. ТРОФН

69r. TPOXOC

56r. TYMOC

40v. 67v. 71r. 72v. PHONE

> DONOC 48r.

xxii

שיכוכ 69v. 44v. XYIBE 23v. XAPIC 26v. 88v. - (UNT) 79v. MAPA XOYH 49r. 80r. 33v. 34v. 35r(2). 35v(2). 49r. 56r. - (p)63r. XDEM 85v. 89v. XPHUA JONYPA 52r. σοδιστική 43r. 17r. 22r. 22v(2). 25v. 26v. 30v. 31v. 32r. HXYY 33v. 34r. 39v. 51r(2). 51v. 53r. 55v. 56r(2). 57r(4). 57v. 58r. 60r(2). 61v. 62r(2). 64r. 64v. 66r. 66v. 67v(2). 69r. 70r. 70v. 72r. 73v. 76r. 85r. 87v. 89r. 52r. HAW 68r. 73r. 2 dipecic 73r. SATIAS 64v. 73r. SALIYOR 87v. SAPTTABE 49v. ZEONOC 67v. SEIKUN 34r. 49v. 67v. 80r. 84v. PENMIZE SEYLIC 25v. 30v. 62v. 71r. 79v. 89v. 90r. 35v. 56v. 59v. SOYMC

57r.

Somorma

xxiii

16v. 19v. 68v. 76v. 77v. 86r. 87r. ·somoyous!

62v. sombyolia

NOVIDOS 19r. 21r. 43v.

(cf. also EN 20con) 39r. SOCON

42v. 73v. MATOS

HKKS 69r.

STMOX9BTHS 63r.

34MOMKS 29v. 44r. 61r. 63r. 73v.

54r(2). 54v. 58v. 60v. 62r. 62v. 63r(2). 65r. 65v(3). 71r. 73v. 74v. 75r. 75v(2). 77r. 78r. 78v. 82v(2). 86r. - (24710NH) 61r. HYDOUGHYS

(24MONONONH)83V.

57v. HJATOTIKS

17v. 57v(2). 69v. SYMOTACCE

53v(2). 54r(2). 54v. 55v(2). 56r. 64v. 66v. SUC

18v. 26r. 44v. 49v(2). 71v. 72r. 85v. SMCLE

xxiv

Index of Proper Names in BM Or.8810.

.dodnacioc 49v.

DANTE 26v. 27r. 29v. 34v. 40r. 82v.

amoppaioc 83r.

andniac 85v.

dntinoi 66r.

ANTWNIOC 68r. 71r. 72v.

dccorp 63v.

Babylun 36v. 78v. 79r.

BHCa 19r. 44v. 60v. 66r. 71r. 77r. 78v. 90v.

Talada 21r. 32v.

resenna 29r.

THUN 63v.

BECCADONIKH 607.

iHCOYC (ic) (cf. also ic xc , xc , xc ic.) 19v. 24r. 24v.
 30v. 31r(2). 35r. 37v. 42r. 42v. 43v. 57v.
 59r. 65v. 66v. 70r. 83r. 86r. 87r.

TC XC (cf. also TC, XC, XC TC.) 21r. 30v. 39r. 47v. 58v. 60v. 71r. 75r.

.v08 6440ï

1072di 49v.

"ONDAC 79v. 82v. 89v.

icaak 24v.

ι ραμλ (ιμλ) 23v. 24r. 38r.

iwednite 15v. 18r.

15r. 63v. .KHME

74r. AWT

2016 Paul 60v.

15v. 18v. MAKAPIOC

15v. 18r. 22v. MAPIA

24r. MASISAM

22v. UdTdi

24r. 52v. 59r. MUYCHC

85r. Comply

85v. CAMMEIPA

37r. 45r. 54r. 58v. 71r. CATANAC

21v. CIWN

COYOUWN 22r.

15v. 16r. 18v. roket

XYYYYOC 79r(2).

83r. LIBTTSX

XPICTOC (XC) (cf. also TC, TC XC, XC TC.) 16r. 16v. 17r. 17v. 19r. 26r. 31r. 32r. 34r. 34v. 35v. 36v. 49r. 49v. 50v. 51r. 55r. 55v. 57v. 58r.

58v(2). 65r. 73v. 76r. 80r. 87v. 90r.

XC TC (cf. also TC, TC XC, XC.) 19v. 44r. 46r. 58r. 71v.

WENOTTE 26r.

SEYYHN 49v.

SHYIGC 59r.

xxvi

.2HPai 71r. 78v.

2ιερογεαλμα (θίλημα)38r. 52r. 79r(2).